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QUEST DIAGNOSTICS INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2012 AND 2011
(unaudited)
(in thousands, except per share data)
Three Months Ended March 31,
2012
Net revenues

$

2011

1,936,456

$

1,821,577

Operating costs and expenses:
Cost of services
Selling, general and administrative
Amortization of intangible assets

1,116,538

1,096,998

500,641

447,858

20,231

Other operating (income) expense, net

9,849

(539)

Total operating costs and expenses
Operating income

235,912

1,636,871

1,790,617

299,585

30,960

Other income (expense):
Interest expense, net

(42,333)

(37,929)

Equity earnings in unconsolidated joint ventures

7,609

7,699

Other income, net

4,757

2,208

(29,967)

(28,022)

Total non-operating expenses, net
Income from continuing operations before taxes

269,618

2,938

Income tax expense

101,377

49,226

Income (loss) from continuing operations

168,241

(46,288)

274

(374)

168,515

(46,662)

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes
Net income (loss)

9,397

Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests
Net income (loss) attributable to Quest Diagnostics

7,199

$

159,118

$

(53,861)

$

158,844

$

(53,487)

Amounts attributable to Quest Diagnostics’ stockholders:
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes
Net income (loss)

274

(374)

$

159,118

$

(53,861)

$

1.00

$

(0.33)

$

1.00

$

(0.33)

$

0.99

$

(0.33)

Earnings (loss) per share attributable to Quest Diagnostics’ common stockholders - basic:
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Income (loss) from discontinued operations
Net income (loss)

—

—

Earnings (loss) per share attributable to Quest Diagnostics’ common stockholders - diluted:
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Income (loss) from discontinued operations
Net income (loss)

—
$

0.99

—
$

(0.33)

Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic

158,293

161,489

Diluted

159,706

161,489

Dividends per common share

$

0.17

$

0.10

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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QUEST DIAGNOSTICS INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2012 AND 2011
(unaudited)
(in thousands)

Three Months Ended March 31,
2012
Net income (loss)

$

2011

168,515

$

(46,662)

Other comprehensive income (loss):
Currency translation

18,216

24,504

Market valuation, net of tax

201

(1,250)

Net deferred loss on cash flow hedges

210

(1,671)

Other comprehensive income

18,627

21,583

Comprehensive income (loss)

187,142

(25,079)

9,397

Less: Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Quest Diagnostics

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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177,745

7,199
$

(32,278)

Table of Contents

QUEST DIAGNOSTICS INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
MARCH 31, 2012 AND DECEMBER 31, 2011
(in thousands, except per share data)
March 31,
2012

December 31,
2011

(unaudited)
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

$ 145,439

Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $249,513 and $237,339 at March 31, 2012 and December 31,
2011, respectively

$

164,886

973,888

906,455

88,262

89,132

Deferred income taxes

171,815

153,328

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

139,200

87,459

1,518,604

1,401,260

Inventories

Total current assets

781,427

799,771

Goodwill

5,835,075

5,795,765

Intangible assets, net

1,041,513

1,035,612

Property, plant and equipment, net

Other assets

274,825

280,971

Total assets

$9,451,444

$ 9,313,379

$ 971,092

$

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term debt
Total current liabilities

906,764

554,356

654,395

1,525,448

1,561,159

Long-term debt

3,365,257

3,370,522

Other liabilities

664,682

666,699

2,151

2,146

Additional paid-in capital

2,347,152

2,347,518

Retained earnings

4,395,647

4,263,599

Stockholders’ equity:
Quest Diagnostics stockholders’ equity:
Common stock, par value $0.01 per share; 600,000 shares authorized at both March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011; 215,059
shares and 214,607 shares issued at March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

10,560

Treasury stock, at cost; 56,541 shares and 57,187 shares at March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively
Total Quest Diagnostics stockholders’ equity
Noncontrolling interests
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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(8,067)

(2,886,217)

(2,912,324)

3,869,293

3,692,872

26,764

22,127

3,896,057

3,714,999

$9,451,444

$ 9,313,379
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QUEST DIAGNOSTICS INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2012 AND 2011
(unaudited)
(in thousands)

Three Months Ended March 31,
2012

2011

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss)

$

168,515

$

(46,662)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization

72,174

Provision for doubtful accounts

63,365

80,718

77,376

(15,437)

(38,766)

Stock-based compensation expense

20,068

18,945

Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation arrangements

(3,298)

(4,680)

Deferred income tax benefit

Provision for special charge

—

Other, net

236,000

(197)

3,474

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable

(147,174)

(171,275)

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

(116,209)

(47,126)

112,039

78,676

Income taxes payable
Other assets and liabilities, net

(9,932)

Net cash provided by operating activities

(8,747)

161,267

160,580

Cash flows from investing activities:
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired

(50,556)

Capital expenditures

(29,998)

(38,991)

(2,689)

(1,762)

(83,243)

(40,753)

Increase in investments and other assets
Net cash used in investing activities

—

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from borrowings

365,000

Repayments of debt
Purchases of treasury stock
Exercise of stock options
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation arrangements
Dividends paid

1,818,329

(467,312)

(576,891)

(50,000)

(835,001)

64,399

53,788

3,298

4,680

(26,900)

(17,136)

Distributions to noncontrolling interests

(5,884)

(5,268)

Other financing activities

19,928

(17,387)

(97,471)

425,114

Net change in cash and cash equivalents

(19,447)

544,941

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period

164,886

449,301

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

$
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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145,439

$

994,242
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QUEST DIAGNOSTICS INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2012 AND 2011
(unaudited)
(in thousands)
Quest Diagnostics Stockholders’ Equity
Shares of
Common Stock
Outstanding
Balance, December 31, 2011

157,420

Common
Stock

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings

$ 2,146

$2,347,518

$4,263,599

Net income

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive Income (Loss)
$

(8,067)

Treasury
Stock, at
Cost
$(2,912,324)

159,118

Other comprehensive income, net of tax

Noncontrolling
Interests

Total Stockholders’
Equity

$ 22,127

$ 3,714,999

9,397

168,515

18,627

Dividends declared

18,627

(27,070)

(27,070)

Distributions to noncontrolling interests

(5,884)

Issuance of common stock under benefit plans

851

8

Stock-based compensation expense
Exercise of stock options

1,401

Shares to cover employee payroll tax withholdings on stock
issued under benefit plans

(307)

659

3,920

4,587

19,258

810

20,068

71,377

64,399

(6,978)
(3)

(17,730)

Tax benefits associated with stock-based compensation plans
Purchases of treasury stock

(17,733)

4,425

4,425

(847)

(50,000)

Other
Balance, March 31, 2012

158,518

(5,884)

$ 2,151

$2,347,152

$4,395,647

Common
Stock

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings

$ 2,142

$2,311,421

$3,867,420

$

10,560

$(2,886,217)

(50,000)
1,124

1,124

$ 26,764

$ 3,896,057

Noncontrolling
Interests

Total Stockholders’
Equity

$ 20,645

$ 4,054,125

Quest Diagnostics Stockholders’ Equity
Shares of
Common
Stock
Outstanding
Balance, December 31, 2010

170,717

Net income (loss)

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income
$

10,626

Treasury
Stock, at
Cost

$(2,158,129)

(53,861)

7,199

Other comprehensive income, net of tax

21,583

Dividends declared

21,583

(15,763)

(15,763)

Distributions to noncontrolling interests

(5,268)

Issuance of common stock under benefit plans

839

7

Stock-based compensation expense
Exercise of stock options

1,285

Shares to cover employee payroll tax withholdings on stock
issued under benefit plans

(334)

4,098

4,667

18,121

824

18,945

64,820

(19,013)

5,765

5,765

(15,378)

(835,001)

Other
Balance, March 31, 2011

53,788

(19,010)

Tax benefits associated with stock-based compensation plans
Purchases of treasury stock

157,129

$ 2,146

(5,268)

562

(11,032)
(3)

(46,662)

$2,305,827

$3,797,796

$

32,209

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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$(2,923,388)

(835,001)
838

838

$ 23,414

$ 3,238,004
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QUEST DIAGNOSTICS INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(dollars in thousands unless otherwise indicated)
1.

DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS
Background

Quest Diagnostics Incorporated and its subsidiaries ("Quest Diagnostics" or the "Company") is the world's leading provider of diagnostic testing,
information and services, providing insights that enable patients and physicians to make better healthcare decisions. Quest Diagnostics offers patients and
physicians the broadest access to diagnostic laboratory services through the Company's nationwide network of laboratories and patient service centers. The
Company provides interpretive consultation through the largest medical and scientific staff in the industry, with hundreds of M.D.s and Ph.D.s, primarily
located in the United States. Quest Diagnostics is the leading provider of clinical testing, including gene-based and esoteric testing, and anatomic pathology
services, and the leading provider of risk assessment services for the life insurance industry in North America. The Company is also a leading provider of
testing for clinical trials and testing for drugs-of-abuse. The Company's diagnostics products business manufactures and markets diagnostic test kits and
specialized point-of-care testing. Quest Diagnostics empowers healthcare organizations and clinicians with robust information technology solutions.

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation

The interim consolidated financial statements reflect all adjustments which in the opinion of management are necessary for a fair statement of
results of operations, comprehensive income, financial condition, cash flows and stockholders' equity for the periods presented. Except as otherwise disclosed,
all such adjustments are of a normal recurring nature. The interim consolidated financial statements have been compiled without audit. Operating results for
the interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the full year. These interim consolidated financial statements should
be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements included in the Company’s 2011 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
The year-end balance sheet data was derived from the audited financial statements as of December 31, 2011, but does not include all the disclosures
required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”).
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Earnings Per Share
The Company’s unvested restricted common stock and unvested restricted stock units that contain non-forfeitable rights to dividends are
participating securities and, therefore, are included in the earnings allocation in computing earnings per share using the two-class method. Basic earnings per
common share is calculated by dividing net income, adjusted for earnings allocated to participating securities, by the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding. Diluted earnings per common share is calculated by dividing net income, adjusted for earnings allocated to participating securities, by the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding after giving effect to all potentially dilutive common shares outstanding during the period. In
calculating losses on a fully diluted basis, certain potentially dilutive securities, which would otherwise reduce the loss per share, are excluded from the
calculation. Potentially dilutive common shares include the dilutive effect of outstanding stock options and performance share units granted under the
Company’s Amended and Restated Employee Long-Term Incentive Plan and its Amended and Restated Non-Employee Director Long-Term Incentive Plan.
Earnings allocable to participating securities include the portion of dividends declared as well as the portion of undistributed earnings during the period
allocable to participating securities.
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QUEST DIAGNOSTICS INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – CONTINUED
(dollars in thousands unless otherwise indicated)
Adoption of New Accounting Standards
On January 1, 2012, the Company adopted an amendment issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") to the accounting
standards related to fair value measurements and disclosure requirements. This standard provides certain amendments to the existing guidance on the use and
application of fair value measurements and maintains a definition of fair value that is based on the notion of exit price. The adoption of this standard did not
have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
On January 1, 2012, the Company adopted amendments issued by the FASB to the accounting standards related to the presentation of
comprehensive income. These standards revise the manner in which entities present comprehensive income in their financial statements and remove the
option to present items of other comprehensive income in the statement of changes in stockholders’ equity. These standards require an entity to report
components of comprehensive income in either (1) a continuous statement of comprehensive income, or (2) two separate but consecutive statements of net
income and other comprehensive income. The Company modified its financial statements presentation using the latter alternative.
On January 1, 2012, the Company adopted revised guidance issued by the FASB related to the testing of goodwill for impairment. Under the
revised guidance, an entity has the option to perform a qualitative assessment of whether it is more-likely-than-not that a reporting unit’s fair value is less than
its carrying value prior to performing the two-step quantitative goodwill impairment test. If, based on the qualitative factors, an entity determines that the fair
value of the reporting unit is greater than its carrying amount, then the entity would not be required to perform the two-step quantitative impairment test for
that reporting unit. However, if the qualitative assessment indicates that it is not more-likely-than-not that the reporting unit’s fair value exceeds its carrying
value, then the quantitative assessment must be performed. An entity is permitted to perform the qualitative assessment on none, some or all of its reporting
units and may also elect to bypass the qualitative assessment and begin with the quantitative assessment of goodwill impairment. This amendment did not
have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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QUEST DIAGNOSTICS INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – CONTINUED
(dollars in thousands unless otherwise indicated)

3.

EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE
The computation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per common share was as follows (in thousands, except per share data):
Three Months Ended March 31,
2012

2011

Amounts attributable to Quest Diagnostics’ stockholders:
Income (loss) from continuing operations

$

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes

158,844

$

(53,487)

274

(374)

Net income (loss) attributable to Quest Diagnostics’ common stockholders

$

159,118

$

(53,861)

Income (loss) from continuing operations

$

158,844

$

(53,487)

$

158,240

$

(53,577)

Less: Earnings allocated to participating securities

604

Earnings (loss) available to Quest Diagnostics’ common stockholders – basic and diluted
Weighted average common shares outstanding – basic

90

158,293

161,489

1,413

—

159,706

161,489

Effect of dilutive securities:
Stock options and performance share units
Weighted average common shares outstanding – diluted
Earnings (loss) per share attributable to Quest Diagnostics’ common stockholders – basic:
Income (loss) from continuing operations

$

Income (loss) from discontinued operations

1.00

$

(0.33)

—

Net income (loss)

—

$

1.00

$

(0.33)

$

0.99

$

(0.33)

$

(0.33)

Earnings (loss) per share attributable to Quest Diagnostics’ common stockholders – diluted:
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Income (loss) from discontinued operations

—

Net income (loss)

$

0.99

—

The following securities were not included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share due to their antidilutive effect (shares in thousands):
Three Months Ended March 31,
2012
Stock options and performance share units

1,995

9

2011
3,746
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QUEST DIAGNOSTICS INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – CONTINUED
(dollars in thousands unless otherwise indicated)

4.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
The following table provides a summary of the recognized assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis:
Basis of Fair Value Measurements

March 31, 2012

Quoted
Prices in
Active
Markets for
Identical
Assets /
Liabilities

Significant
Other
Observable
Inputs

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Assets:
Interest rate swaps

$

51,265

Trading securities

50,155

Cash surrender value of life insurance policies

$

—

$

51,265

50,155

—

$

—
—

23,357

—

23,357

—

Available-for-sale equity securities

975

—

—

975

Foreign currency forward contracts

482

—

482

—

Total

$

126,234

$

50,155

$

75,104

$

975

$

77,726

$

—

$

77,726

$

—

$

78,187

$

—

$

78,187

Liabilities:
Deferred compensation liabilities
Foreign currency forward contracts
Total

461

—

461

—
$

—

Basis of Fair Value Measurements

December 31, 2011

Quoted
Prices in
Active
Markets for
Identical
Assets /
Liabilities

Significant
Other
Observable
Inputs

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Assets:
Interest rate swaps

$

56,520

$

—

$

56,520

$

—

Trading securities

46,926

46,926

—

Cash surrender value of life insurance policies

20,936

—

20,936

—

646

—

—

646

Available-for-sale equity securities
Foreign currency forward contracts
Total

180

—

—

180

—

$

125,208

$

46,926

$

77,636

$

$

71,688

$

—

$

71,688

$

646

Liabilities:
Deferred compensation liabilities
Foreign currency forward contracts
Total

1,648
$

73,336

—
$

—

1,648
$

73,336

$

A full description regarding the Company's fair value measurements is contained in Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in the
Company's 2011 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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QUEST DIAGNOSTICS INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – CONTINUED
(dollars in thousands unless otherwise indicated)
Investments in available-for-sale equity securities consist of the revaluation of an existing investment in unregistered common shares of a publiclyheld company. This investment is classified within Level 3 because the unregistered securities contain restrictions on their sale, and therefore, the fair value
measurement reflects a discount for the effect of the restriction.
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate fair value based
on the short maturities of these instruments. At March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the fair value of the Company’s debt was estimated at $4.3 billion
and $4.4 billion, respectively, using quoted market prices and yields for the same or similar types of borrowings, taking into account the underlying terms of
the debt instruments. At March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the estimated fair value exceeded the carrying value of the debt by $367 million and $387
million, respectively.

5.

SETTLEMENT OF CALIFORNIA LAWSUIT

On May 9, 2011, the Company announced an agreement in principle to settle, and on May 19, 2011, the Company finalized a settlement of, a qui
tam case filed by a competitor under the California False Claims Act in California state court (the "California Lawsuit") related to the Company's billing
practices to Medi-Cal, the California Medicaid program. While denying liability, in order to avoid the uncertainty, expense and risks of litigation, the
Company agreed to resolve these matters for $241 million. As a result of the agreement in principle, the Company recorded a pre-tax charge to earnings in the
first quarter of 2011 of $236 million (the "Medi-Cal charge"), which represented the cost to resolve the matters noted above and related claims, less amounts
previously reserved for related matters. The Company funded the $241 million payment in the second quarter of 2011 with cash on hand and borrowings
under its existing credit facilities.

6. TAXES ON INCOME
Income tax expense for the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2011 was $101.4 million and $49.2 million, respectively. The decrease in the
effective income tax rate for the three months ended March 31, 2012, compared to the prior year period, is primarily due to the Medi-Cal charge in the first
quarter of 2011 (see Note 5), a portion for which a tax benefit was not recorded.

7.

GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The changes in goodwill for the three months ended March 31, 2012 and for the year ended December 31, 2011 are as follows:
March 31,
2012

Balance at beginning of period

$

Goodwill acquired during the period

5,795,765

December 31,
2011
$

28,144

Increase (decrease) related to foreign currency translation

701,087

11,166

Balance at end of period

$

5,835,075

5,101,938
(7,260)

$

5,795,765

Approximately 90% of the Company’s goodwill as of March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 was associated with its clinical testing business.
For the three months ended March 31, 2012, goodwill acquired was principally associated with the acquisition of S.E.D. Medical Laboratories. Of
the all-cash purchase price of $50.5 million, approximately $28 million and $19 million, respectively, represented goodwill, which is deductible for tax
purposes, and intangible assets, principally comprised of customer-related intangibles.
For the year ended December 31, 2011 , goodwill acquired was principally associated with the Athena Diagnostics ("Athena") and Celera
Corporation ("Celera") acquisitions. A full description of the Company’s acquisitions is contained in Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in the
Company’s 2011 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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QUEST DIAGNOSTICS INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – CONTINUED
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Intangible assets at March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 consisted of the following:
Weighted
Average
Amortization
Period

March 31, 2012

Cost

December 31, 2011

Accumulated
Amortization

Net

Cost

Accumulated
Amortization

Net

Amortizing intangible assets:
Customer-related intangibles

19 years

Non-compete agreements

4 years

46,176

(17,356)

28,820

45,798

(14,633)

31,165

Technology

14 years

167,708

(32,109)

135,599

165,113

(27,929)

137,184

Other

8 years

149,799

(29,110)

120,689

146,613

(23,552)

123,061

16 years

1,013,753

(280,561)

733,192

988,195

(259,245)

728,950

302,892

300,648

—

300,648
5,250

Total

$

650,070 $

(201,986)

$

448,084 $

630,671 $

(193,131)

$

437,540

Intangible assets not subject to amortization:
Tradenames
In-process research and development
Other
Total intangible assets

302,892

—

4,270

—

4,270

5,250

—

1,159

—

1,159

764

—

$ 1,322,074 $

(280,561)

$ 1,041,513 $ 1,294,857 $

(259,245)

764
$ 1,035,612

Amortization expense related to intangible assets was $20.2 million and $9.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2011 ,
respectively.
The estimated amortization expense related to amortizable intangible assets for each of the five succeeding fiscal years and thereafter as of
March 31, 2012 is as follows:
Fiscal Year Ending December 31,
$

Remainder of 2012

78,205

2014

75,850

2015

64,487

2016

57,777

2017

53,187

Thereafter

343,829

Total

8.

59,857

2013

$

733,192

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company uses derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to market risks for changes in interest rates and foreign currencies. This
strategy includes the use of interest rate swap agreements, forward starting interest rate swap agreements, treasury lock agreements and foreign currency
forward contracts to manage its exposure to movements in interest and currency rates. The Company has established policies and procedures for risk
assessment and the approval, reporting and monitoring of derivative financial instrument activities. These policies prohibit holding or issuing derivative
financial instruments for speculative purposes. The Company does not enter into derivative financial instruments that contain credit-risk-related contingent
features or requirements to post collateral.
12
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A summary of the fair values of derivative instruments in the consolidated balance sheets is stated in the table below:
March 31, 2012
Balance Sheet
Classification

December 31, 2011
Fair Value

Balance Sheet
Classification

Fair Value

Derivatives Designated as Hedging Instruments
Asset Derivatives:
Interest rate swaps

Other assets

$

51,265

Other assets

$

56,520

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments
Asset Derivatives:
Foreign currency forward contracts

Other current assets

482

Other current assets

Other current liabilities

461

Other current liabilities

180

Liability Derivatives:
Foreign currency forward contracts

$

Total Net Derivatives Asset

51,286

1,648
$

55,052

A full description regarding the Company's use of derivative financial instruments is contained in Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in the Company's 2011 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Interest Rate Risk
The Company is exposed to interest rate risk on its cash and cash equivalents and its debt obligations. Interest income earned on cash and cash
equivalents may fluctuate as interest rates change; however, due to their relatively short maturities, the Company does not hedge these assets or their
investment cash flows and the impact of interest rate risk is not material. The Company's debt obligations consist of fixed-rate and variable-rate debt
instruments. The Company's primary objective is to achieve the lowest overall cost of funding while managing the variability in cash outflows within an
acceptable range. In order to achieve this objective, the Company has entered into interest rate swaps. Interest rate swaps involve the periodic exchange of
payments without the exchange of underlying principal or notional amounts. Net settlements between the counterparties are recognized as an adjustment to
interest expense.
Interest Rate Derivatives – Cash Flow Hedges
The Company has entered into various interest rate lock agreements and forward starting interest rate swap agreements to hedge part of the
Company's interest rate exposure associated with the variability in future cash flows attributable to changes in interest rates. The total net loss, net of taxes,
recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), related to the Company's cash flow hedges as of March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 was
$7.4 million and $7.7 million, respectively. The loss recognized on the Company's cash flow hedges for the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, as
a result of ineffectiveness, was not material. The net amount of deferred losses on cash flow hedges that is expected to be reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) into earnings within the next twelve months is $1.3 million.
Interest Rate Derivatives – Fair Value Hedges
The Company maintains various fixed-to-variable interest rate swaps which have an aggregate notional amount of $550 million and variable
interest rates based on six-month LIBOR plus 0.54% and one-month LIBOR plus 1.33%. These derivative financial instruments are accounted for as fair
value hedges of a portion of the Senior Notes due 2016 and a portion of the Senior Notes due 2020 and effectively convert that portion of the debt into
variable interest rate debt. These interest rate swaps are classified as assets with fair values of $51.3 million and $56.5 million at March 31, 2012 and
December 31, 2011, respectively. Since inception, the fair value hedges have been effective; therefore, there is no impact on earnings for the three months
ended March 31, 2012 and 2011 as a result of hedge ineffectiveness.
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Foreign Currency Risk
The Company is exposed to market risk for changes in foreign exchange rates primarily under certain intercompany receivables and payables.
Foreign exchange forward contracts are used to mitigate the exposure of the eventual net cash inflows or outflows resulting from these intercompany
transactions. The objective is to hedge a portion of the forecasted foreign currency risk over a rolling 12-month time horizon to mitigate the eventual impacts
of changes in foreign exchange rates on the cash flows of the intercompany transactions. As of March 31, 2012, the gross notional amount of foreign currency
forward contracts in U.S. dollars was $34.4 million and principally consists of contracts in Swedish krona. The Company does not designate these derivative
instruments as hedges under current accounting standards unless the benefits of doing so are material. The Company's foreign exchange exposure is not
material to the Company's consolidated financial condition or results of operations. The Company does not hedge its net investment in non-U.S. subsidiaries
because it views those investments as long-term in nature.

9.

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Components of Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The market valuation adjustments represent unrealized holding gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities, net of taxes. The net deferred loss on
cash flow hedges represents deferred losses on the Company’s interest rate related derivative financial instruments designated as cash flow hedges, net of
amounts reclassified to interest expense (see Note 8). For the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, the tax effects related to the market valuation
adjustments and deferred losses were not material. Foreign currency translation adjustments are not adjusted for income taxes since they relate to indefinite
investments in non-U.S. subsidiaries.
Dividend Program
Through the third quarter of 2011, the Company's Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.10 per common share. In October
2011, the Company's Board of Directors declared an increase in the quarterly cash dividend from $0.10 per common share to $0.17 per common share. During
the first quarter of 2012, the Company's Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.17 per common share.
Share Repurchase Plan
In January 2012, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized the Company to repurchase an additional $1 billion of the Company’s common
stock, increasing the total available authorization at that time to $1.1 billion. The share repurchase authorization has no set expiration or termination date.
For the three months ended March 31, 2012, the Company repurchased 847 thousand shares of its common stock at an average price of $59.00 per
share for a total of $50 million. For the three months ended March 31, 2012, the Company reissued 1.5 million shares for employee benefit plans. At
March 31, 2012, $1.0 billion remained available under the Company’s share repurchase authorizations.
For the three months ended March 31, 2011, the Company repurchased 15.4 million shares of its common stock from SB Holdings Capital Inc., a
wholly-owned subsidiary of GlaxoSmithKline plc., at an average price of $54.30 per share for a total of $835 million. For the three months ended March 31,
2011, the Company reissued 1.4 million shares for employee benefit plans.
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10.

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW & OTHER DATA
Three Months Ended March 31,
2012

Depreciation expense

$

Interest expense

2011

51,943

$

(42,987)

Interest income

(38,280)

654

Interest expense, net

53,516

351

(42,333)

(37,929)

Interest paid

49,782

55,044

Income taxes paid

10,253

10,602

1,192

821

Assets acquired under capital leases

Businesses acquired:
Fair value of assets acquired

50,800

—

Fair value of liabilities assumed

269

—

Fair value of net assets acquired

50,531

—

25

—

50,556

—

Merger consideration paid
Cash paid for business acquisitions
Less: Cash acquired

—

Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired

11.

$

50,556

—
$

—

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company has a line of credit with a financial institution totaling $85 million for the issuance of letters of credit (the “Letter of Credit Line”).
The Letter of Credit Line, which is renewed annually, matures on November 18, 2012.
In support of its risk management program, to ensure the Company’s performance or payment to third parties, $62 million in letters of credit were
outstanding at March 31, 2012. The letters of credit primarily represent collateral for current and future automobile liability and workers’ compensation loss
payments. In addition, $5 million of bank guarantees were outstanding at March 31, 2012 in support of certain foreign operations.
Contingent Lease Obligations
The Company is subject to contingent obligations under certain leases and other instruments incurred in connection with real estate activities and
other operations associated with LabOne, Inc., which the Company acquired in 2005, and certain of its predecessor companies. No liability has been recorded
for any of these potential contingent obligations. See Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements contained in the Company’s 2011 Annual Report on
Form 10-K for further details.
Other Legal Matters
The Company is involved in various legal proceedings. Some of the proceedings against the Company involve claims that could be substantial in
amount.
In November 2009, the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York partially unsealed a civil complaint, U.S. ex rel. Fair Laboratory
Practices Associates v. Quest Diagnostics Incorporated, filed against the Company under the whistleblower provisions of the federal False Claims Act. The
complaint alleged, among other things, violations of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute and the federal False Claims Act in connection with the Company's
pricing of laboratory services. The complaint seeks damages for alleged false claims associated with laboratory tests reimbursed by government payors, treble
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damages and civil penalties. In March 2011, the district court granted the Company's motion to dismiss the relators' complaint and disqualified the relators
and their counsel from pursuing an action based on the facts alleged in the complaint; the relators filed a notice of appeal. The government was given
additional time to decide whether to join the case. In July 2011, the government filed a notice declining to intervene in the action and the Court entered a final
judgment in the Company's favor. The relators' appeal is pending.
In April 2010, a putative class action was filed against the Company and NID in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of New York on
behalf of entities that allegedly purchased or paid for certain of NID's test kits. The complaint alleges that certain of NID's test kits were defective and that
defendants, among other things, violated RICO and state consumer protection laws. The complaint alleges an unspecified amount of damages. The Company
filed a motion to dismiss this complaint.
In August 2010, a shareholder derivative action entitled Cornish v. Quest Diagnostics Incorporated, et al. was filed in New Jersey state court on
behalf of the Company against the directors and certain officers of the Company. The complaint alleges that the defendants breached their fiduciary duties in
connection with, among other things, alleged overcharges by the Company to Medi-Cal, the California Medicaid program, for testing services, and seeks
unspecified compensatory damages and equitable relief. The action was dismissed without prejudice. On July 21, 2011, the action was re-filed. In June 2011
and October 2011, two additional shareholder derivative actions were filed in New Jersey state court raising allegations similar to those in the Cornish case.
The Company filed motions to dismiss each of the three complaints. The court granted the Company's motion to dismiss the Cornish complaint; motions to
dismiss the two other cases remain pending.
In November 2010, a putative class action entitled Seibert v. Quest Diagnostics Incorporated, et al. was filed against the Company and certain
former officers of the Company in New Jersey state court, on behalf of the Company's sales people nationwide who were over forty years old and who either
resigned or were terminated after being placed on a performance improvement plan. The complaint alleges that the defendants' conduct violates the New
Jersey Law Against Discrimination ("NJLAD"), and seeks, among other things, unspecified damages. The defendants removed the complaint to the United
States District Court for the District of New Jersey. The plaintiffs filed an amended complaint that adds claims under ERISA. The Company filed a motion
seeking to limit the application of the NJLAD to only those members of the purported class who worked in New Jersey and to dismiss the individual
defendants. The motion was granted.
In 2010, a purported class action entitled In re Celera Corp. Securities Litigation was filed in the United States District Court for the Northern
District of California against Celera Corporation and certain of its directors and current and former officers. An amended complaint filed in October 2010
alleges that from April 2008 through July 22, 2009, the defendants made false and misleading statements regarding Celera's business and financial results with
an intent to defraud investors. The complaint was further amended in 2011 to add allegations regarding a financial restatement. The complaint seeks
unspecified damages on behalf of an alleged class of purchasers of Celera's stock during the period in which the alleged misrepresentations were made. The
Company's motion to dismiss is pending.
In August 2011, the Company received a subpoena from the U.S. Attorney for the Northern District of Georgia seeking various business records,
including records related to the Company's compliance program, certain marketing materials, certain product offerings, and test ordering and other policies.
The Company is cooperating with the request.
In January 2012, a putative class action entitled Beery v. Quest Diagnostics Incorporated was filed in the United States District Court for the
District of New Jersey against the Company and a subsidiary, on behalf of all female sales representatives employed by the defendants from February 17,
2010 to the present. The amended complaint alleges that the defendants discriminate against these female sales representatives on account of their gender, in
violation of the federal civil rights and equal pay acts, and seeks, among other things, injunctive relief and monetary damages.
In September 2009, the Company received a subpoena from the Michigan Attorney General's Office seeking documents relating to the Company's
pricing and billing practices as they relate to Michigan's Medicaid program. The Company cooperated with the requests. In January 2012, the State of
Michigan intervened as a plaintiff in a civil lawsuit, Michigan ex rel. Hunter Laboratories LLC v. Quest Diagnostics Incorporated, et al., filed in Michigan
Superior Court. The suit, originally filed by a competitor laboratory, alleges that the Company overcharged Michigan's Medicaid program.
In addition, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries have received subpoenas from state agencies in three states and from the Office of the
Inspector General of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services which seek documents
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relating to the Company's billing practices. The Company is cooperating with the requests.
The federal or state governments may bring claims based on new theories as to the Company's practices which management believes to be in
compliance with law. In addition, certain federal and state statutes, including the qui tam provisions of the federal False Claims Act, allow private individuals
to bring lawsuits against healthcare companies on behalf of government or private payers. The Company is aware of certain pending individual or class action
lawsuits, and has received several subpoenas, related to billing practices filed under the qui tam provisions of the Civil False Claims Act and/or other federal
and state statutes, regulations or other laws. The Company understands that there may be other pending qui tam claims brought by former employees or
other "whistle blowers" as to which the Company cannot determine the extent of any potential liability.
Management cannot predict the outcome of such matters. Although management does not anticipate that the ultimate outcome of such matters will
have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial condition, given the high degree of judgment involved in establishing loss estimates related to these
types of matters, the outcome of such matters may be material to the Company's results of operations or cash flows in the period in which the impact of such
matters is determined or paid.
Reserves for Legal Matters
These matters are in different stages. Some of these matters are in their early stages. Matters may involve responding to and cooperating with
various government investigations and related subpoenas. Reserves for legal matters totaled less than $5 million at both March 31, 2012 and December 31,
2011. As of March 31, 2012, the Company does not believe that any losses related to the Other Legal Matters described above are probable. While the
Company believes that a reasonable possibility exists that losses may have been incurred related to the Other Legal Matters described above, based on the
nature and status of these matters, potential losses, if any, cannot be estimated.
Reserves for General and Professional Liability Claims
As a general matter, providers of clinical testing services may be subject to lawsuits alleging negligence or other similar legal claims. These suits
could involve claims for substantial damages. Any professional liability litigation could also have an adverse impact on the Company's client base and
reputation. The Company maintains various liability insurance coverages for, among other things, claims that could result from providing, or failing to
provide, clinical testing services, including inaccurate testing results, and other exposures. The Company's insurance coverage limits its maximum exposure
on individual claims; however, the Company is essentially self-insured for a significant portion of these claims. Reserves for such matters, including those
associated with both asserted and incurred but not reported claims, are established by considering actuarially determined losses based upon the Company's
historical and projected loss experience. Such reserves totaled approximately $165 million and $127 million as of March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011,
respectively. Management believes that established reserves and present insurance coverage are sufficient to cover currently estimated exposures.
Management cannot predict the outcome of any claims made against the Company. Although management does not anticipate that the ultimate outcome of
any such proceedings or claims will have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial condition, given the high degree of judgment involved in
establishing accruals for loss estimates related to these types of matters, the outcome may be material to the Company's results of operations or cash flows in
the period in which the impact of such claims is determined or paid.
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12.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Summarized financial information for the discontinued operations of NID, a test kit manufacturing subsidiary which was closed in 2006, is set forth

below:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2012
Net revenues

$

Income (loss) from discontinued operations before income taxes
Income tax expense
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes

$

2011
—

$

—

981

(92)

(707)

(282)

274

$

(374)

The remaining balance sheet information related to NID was not material at March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011.

13.

BUSINESS SEGMENT INFORMATION

Clinical testing is an essential element in the delivery of healthcare services. Physicians use clinical tests to assist in the detection, diagnosis,
evaluation, monitoring and treatment of diseases and other medical conditions. Clinical testing is generally categorized as clinical laboratory testing and
anatomic pathology services. Clinical laboratory testing is generally performed on whole blood, serum, plasma and other body fluids, such as urine, and
specimens such as microbiology samples. Anatomic pathology services are principally for the detection of cancer and are performed on tissues, such as
biopsies, and other samples, such as human cells. Customers of the clinical testing business include patients, physicians, hospitals, employers, governmental
institutions and other commercial clinical laboratories. The clinical testing business accounted for greater than 90% of net revenues from continuing
operations in 2012 and 2011.
All other operating segments include the Company's non-clinical testing businesses and consist of its risk assessment services, clinical trials testing,
healthcare information technology, and diagnostics products businesses. The Company's risk assessment services business provides underwriting support
services to the life insurance industry including electronic data collection, specimen collection and paramedical examinations, laboratory testing, medical
record retrieval, case management, motor vehicle reports, telephone inspections, prescription histories and credit checks. The Company's clinical trials testing
business provides clinical testing performed in connection with clinical research trials on new drugs, vaccines and certain medical devices. The Company's
healthcare information technology business is a developer and integrator of clinical connectivity and data management solutions for healthcare organizations,
physicians and clinicians that can help improve patient care and medical practice. The Company's diagnostics products business manufactures and markets
products that enable healthcare professionals to make healthcare diagnoses, including products for point-of-care, or near-patient, testing for the professional
market. During the second quarter of 2011, the Company acquired Athena and Celera. Athena is included in the Company's clinical laboratory testing
business. The majority of Celera's operations are included in the Company's clinical laboratory testing business, with the remainder in other operating
segments. A full description of the Company’s acquisitions is contained in Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in the Company’s 2011 Annual
Report on Form 10-K.
On April 19, 2006, the Company decided to discontinue NID’s operations and results of operations for NID have been classified as discontinued
operations for all periods presented (see Note 12).
At March 31, 2012, substantially all of the Company’s services are provided within the United States, and substantially all of the Company’s assets
are located within the United States.
The following table is a summary of segment information for the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2011. Segment asset information is not
presented since it is not used by the chief operating decision maker at the operating segment level. Operating earnings (loss) of each segment represents net
revenues less directly identifiable expenses to arrive at operating income for the segment. General management and administrative corporate expenses,
including amortization of intangible assets and the Medi-Cal charge in the first quarter of 2011 of $236 million (see Note 5), are included in general corporate
expenses below. The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those of the Company as set forth in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
contained in the Company’s 2011 Annual Report on Form 10-K and Note 2 to the interim consolidated financial statements.
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Three Months Ended March 31,
2012

2011

Net revenues:
Clinical laboratory testing business

$

All other operating segments

1,767,987

$

168,469

Total net revenues

1,662,165
159,412

$

1,936,456

$

1,821,577

$

355,715

$

310,284

Operating earnings (loss):
Clinical laboratory testing business
All other operating segments

11,627

8,012

General corporate expenses

(67,757)

(287,336)

Total operating income

299,585

30,960

Non-operating expenses, net

(29,967)

(28,022)

Income from continuing operations before taxes

269,618

2,938

Income tax expense

101,377

49,226

Income (loss) from continuing operations

168,241

(46,288)

274

(374)

168,515

(46,662)

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes
Net income (loss)

9,397

Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests
Net income (loss) attributable to Quest Diagnostics

14.

$

159,118

7,199
$

(53,861)

SUMMARIZED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The Company’s floating rate senior notes due 2014, senior notes due 2015, senior notes due 2016, senior notes due 2017, senior notes due 2020,
senior notes due 2021, senior notes due 2037 and senior notes due 2040 are fully and unconditionally guaranteed, jointly and severally, by certain of the
Company's domestic, wholly-owned subsidiaries (the "Subsidiary Guarantors"). With the exception of Quest Diagnostics Receivables Incorporated (“QDRI”)
(see paragraph below), the non-guarantor subsidiaries are primarily foreign subsidiaries and less than wholly-owned subsidiaries.
In conjunction with the Company’s secured receivables credit facility, the Company maintains a wholly-owned non-guarantor subsidiary, QDRI.
The Company and certain of its Subsidiary Guarantors transfer certain domestic receivables to QDRI. QDRI utilizes the transferred receivables to collateralize
borrowings under the Company’s secured receivables credit facility. The Company and the Subsidiary Guarantors provide collection services to QDRI. QDRI
uses cash collections principally to purchase new receivables from the Company and the Subsidiary Guarantors.
The following condensed consolidating financial data illustrates the composition of the combined guarantors. Investments in subsidiaries are
accounted for by the parent using the equity method for purposes of the supplemental consolidating presentation. Earnings (losses) of subsidiaries are
therefore reflected in the parent’s investment accounts and earnings. The principal elimination entries relate to investments in subsidiaries and intercompany
balances and transactions.
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Income
Three Months Ended March 31, 2012
Parent

Net revenues

$

Subsidiary
Guarantors

NonEliminations Consolidated
Guarantor
Subsidiaries

202,165

$ 1,615,622

$ 196,203

120,828

930,385

65,325

63,878

335,493

108,969

287

17,093

2,851

—

20,231

108,061

—

—

—

$

(77,534)

$ 1,936,456

Operating costs and expenses:
Cost of services
Selling, general and administrative
Amortization of intangible assets
Royalty (income) expense

(108,061)

Other operating income, net

(146)

Total operating costs and expenses

(266)

—

1,116,538

(7,699)

(127)

500,641

—

(539)

76,786

1,390,766

177,018

(7,699)

1,636,871

Operating income

125,379

224,856

19,185

(69,835)

299,585

Non-operating (expense) income, net

(42,396)

(60,296)

2,890

69,835

(29,967)

Income from continuing operations before taxes

82,983

164,560

22,075

—

269,618

Income tax expense

31,562

64,388

5,427

—

101,377

Income from continuing operations

51,421

100,172

16,648

—

168,241

—

274

Income from discontinued operations, net of taxes

—

274

—

Equity earnings from subsidiaries

107,697

—

—

(107,697)

—

Net income

159,118

100,446

16,648

(107,697)

168,515

Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests

—

—

Net income attributable to Quest Diagnostics

$

159,118

$ 100,446

$

Net income

$

159,118

$

$

Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Comprehensive income

$

$

159,118

16,648

$

$

168,515

18,216

159,529

100,446

34,864

—

—

9,397

159,529

$ 100,446

20

9,397

$ (107,697)

—

$

—

7,251

411

Less: Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests
Comprehensive income attributable to Quest Diagnostics

100,446

9,397

25,467

(107,697)
—

18,627

(107,697)

187,142

—

$ (107,697)

9,397

$

177,745
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Income
(Loss)
Three Months Ended March 31, 2011
Parent

Net revenues

$

Subsidiary
Guarantors

NonEliminations Consolidated
Guarantor
Subsidiaries

198,489

$ 1,503,344

$ 191,287

123,591

907,390

66,017

38,436

311,729

105,053

163

8,149

1,537

—

9,849

102,356

—

—

—

$

(71,543)

$ 1,821,577

Operating costs and expenses:
Cost of services
Selling, general and administrative
Amortization of intangible assets
Royalty (income) expense

(102,356)

Other operating expense (income), net

236,278

Total operating costs and expenses

296,112

(214)

—

1,096,998

(7,360)

(152)

447,858

—

235,912

1,329,410

172,455

(7,360)

1,790,617

Operating income (loss)

(97,623)

173,934

18,832

(64,183)

30,960

Non-operating (expense) income, net

(38,420)

(57,154)

3,369

64,183

(28,022)

(136,043)

116,780

22,201

—

2,938

(3,614)

46,165

6,675

—

49,226

(132,429)

70,615

Income (loss) from continuing operations before taxes
Income tax (benefit) expense
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations, net of taxes

—

Equity earnings from subsidiaries

78,568

Net income (loss)

(53,861)

Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests

—

15,526

—

(46,288)

(374)

—

—

(374)

—

—

(78,568)

70,241

15,526

(78,568)

—

7,199

—
(46,662)

—

7,199

Net income (loss) attributable to Quest Diagnostics

$

(53,861)

$

70,241

$

8,327

$

(78,568)

$

(53,861)

Net income (loss)

$

(53,861)

$

70,241

$

15,526

$

(78,568)

$

(46,662)

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax
Comprehensive income (loss)

(2,921)

—

24,504

(56,782)

70,241

40,030

—

7,199

Less: Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling
interests
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Quest Diagnostics $

—
(56,782)
21

$

70,241

$

32,831

—

21,583

(78,568)

(25,079)

—
$

(78,568)

7,199
$

(32,278)
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QUEST DIAGNOSTICS INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – CONTINUED
(dollars in thousands unless otherwise indicated)

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet
March 31, 2012
Parent

Subsidiary
Guarantors

NonGuarantor
Subsidiaries

Eliminations

Consolidated

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

69,585

$

10,885

$

64,969

$

—

$

13,135

154,586

806,167

Other current assets

99,391

215,049

86,006

(1,169)

399,277

182,111

380,520

957,142

(1,169)

1,518,604

159,936

577,264

44,227

—

781,427

Goodwill and intangible assets, net

154,913

6,261,035

460,640

—

6,876,588

Intercompany (payable) receivable

(749,903)

(169,353)

—

—

Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net

Investment in subsidiaries
Other assets
Total assets

919,256

—

145,439

Accounts receivable, net

973,888

8,082,783

—

—

(8,082,783)

—

297,581

40,275

50,368

(113,399)

274,825

$ 8,127,421

$

8,178,350

$

$

$

173,515

$

1,343,024

$

(8,197,351)

$

9,451,444

36,944

$

(1,169)

$

971,092

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term debt
Total current liabilities

761,802
281,451

7,263

265,642

1,043,253

180,778

302,586

—

554,356

(1,169)

1,525,448

Long-term debt

3,020,304

17,243

327,710

Other liabilities

194,571

530,659

52,851

(113,399)

—

3,365,257
664,682

3,869,293

7,449,670

633,113

(8,082,783)

3,869,293

—

—

26,764

3,869,293

7,449,670

659,877

Stockholders’ equity:
Quest Diagnostics stockholders’ equity
Noncontrolling interests
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

$ 8,127,421

22

$

8,178,350

$

1,343,024

—

26,764

(8,082,783)
$

(8,197,351)

3,896,057
$

9,451,444
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QUEST DIAGNOSTICS INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – CONTINUED
(dollars in thousands unless otherwise indicated)

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet
December 31, 2011
Parent

Subsidiary
Guarantors

NonGuarantor
Subsidiaries

Eliminations

Consolidated

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

71,762

$

44,053

$

49,071

$

—

$

Accounts receivable, net

10,846

178,813

716,796

Other current assets

51,292

188,978

91,686

(2,037)

329,919

133,900

411,844

857,553

(2,037)

1,401,260

Total current assets

—

164,886
906,455

Property, plant and equipment, net

164,785

591,962

43,024

—

799,771

Goodwill and intangible assets, net

155,596

6,228,611

447,170

—

6,831,377

Intercompany (payable) receivable

(566,071)

(253,415)

—

—

Investment in subsidiaries
Other assets
Total assets

819,486

7,963,131

—

—

(7,963,131)

—

318,944

39,965

48,580

(126,518)

280,971

$ 8,170,285

$

8,091,868

$

1,142,912

$

(8,091,686)

$

$

$

172,207

$

41,748

$

(2,037)

$

9,313,379

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term debt
Total current liabilities

694,846
561,438

7,327

85,630

—

906,764
654,395

1,256,284

179,534

127,378

Long-term debt

3,026,235

18,606

325,681

(2,037)

1,561,159

Other liabilities

194,894

544,504

53,819

(126,518)

666,699

3,692,872

7,349,224

613,907

(7,963,131)

3,692,872

—

—

22,127

—

3,370,522

Stockholders’ equity:
Quest Diagnostics stockholders’ equity
Noncontrolling interests
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

3,692,872
$ 8,170,285
23

7,349,224
$

8,091,868

—

636,034
$

1,142,912

22,127

(7,963,131)
$

(8,091,686)

3,714,999
$

9,313,379
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QUEST DIAGNOSTICS INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – CONTINUED
(dollars in thousands unless otherwise indicated)

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
Three Months Ended March 31, 2012
Parent

Subsidiary
Guarantors

NonEliminations Consolidated
Guarantor
Subsidiaries

$159,118

$ 100,446

$

Depreciation and amortization

9,867

56,863

5,444

—

72,174

Provision for doubtful accounts

1,271

9,831

69,616

—

80,718

(88,603)

(24,858)

6,900

107,697

1,136

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income

16,648

$ (107,697)

$

168,515

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities:

Other, net

14,934

(20,734)

(155,476)

—

(161,276)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

96,587

121,548

(56,868)

—

161,267

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

171,990

(73,540)

(1,414)

(180,279)

(83,243)

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities

(270,754)

(81,176)

74,180

180,279

(97,471)

(2,177)

(33,168)

15,898

—

(19,447)

71,762

44,053

49,071

—

164,886

Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

$ 69,585

$

10,885

$

64,969

$

—

$

145,439

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
Three Months Ended March 31, 2011
Parent

Subsidiary
Guarantors

NonEliminations Consolidated
Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss)

$ (53,861) $

70,241

$

15,526

$

(78,568)

$

(46,662)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by
(used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization

11,335

47,997

4,033

—

63,365

Provision for doubtful accounts

1,418

14,046

61,912

—

77,376

—

236,000

Provision for special charge
Other, net

236,000

8,351

38,251

Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

—
(739)

78,568

(21,027)

(40,044)

(146,679)

—

(148,472)

125,936

100,591

(65,947)

—

160,580

(12,603)

(27,920)

(2,076)

1,846

(40,753)

431,146

(67,994)

63,808

(1,846)

425,114

544,479

4,677

392,525

928

Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

—

(107,207)

$937,004
24

$

5,605

$

(4,215)

—

544,941

55,848

—

449,301

51,633

$

—

$

994,242
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Item 2.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Our Company

Quest Diagnostics is the world's leading provider of diagnostic testing, information and services, providing insights that enable patients and
physicians to make better healthcare decisions. Our clinical testing business currently represents our one reportable business segment and accounted for
greater than 90% of our net revenues from continuing operations in both 2012 and 2011. Our other operating segments consist of our risk assessment services,
clinical trials testing, healthcare information technology and diagnostic products businesses. Our business segment information is disclosed in Note 13 to the
interim consolidated financial statements.
Critical Accounting Policies
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires us to make
estimates and assumptions and select accounting policies that affect our reported financial results and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.
While many operational aspects of our business are subject to complex federal, state and local regulations, the accounting for most of our business
is generally straightforward with net revenues primarily recognized upon completion of the testing process. Our revenues are primarily comprised of a high
volume of relatively low dollar transactions, and about one-half of our total costs and expenses consist of employee compensation and benefits. Due to the
nature of our business, several of our accounting policies involve significant estimates and judgments. There have been no significant changes to our critical
accounting policies from those disclosed in our 2011 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Initiatives to Improve Operating Efficiency
The diagnostic testing industry is labor intensive. Employee compensation and benefits constitute approximately one-half of our total costs and
expenses. Cost of services consists principally of costs for obtaining, transporting and testing specimens. Selling, general and administrative expenses consist
principally of the costs associated with our sales and marketing efforts, billing operations, bad debt expense and general management and administrative
support. In addition, performing diagnostic testing involves significant fixed costs for facilities and other infrastructure required to obtain, transport and test
specimens. Therefore, relatively small changes in volume can have a significant impact on profitability in the short-term.
On February 28, 2012, we committed to a course of action related to our multi-year program designed to reduce our cost structure by $500 million
by the end of 2014. This effort is intended to address continued reimbursement pressures and labor and benefit cost increases, free up additional resources to
invest in science and innovation, and enable us to improve operating profitability. We anticipate roughly one-third of the savings from client support/billing,
procurement and supply chain; one-third from laboratory operations and specimen acquisition; and one-third from selling, general and administrative
expenses, including information technology. Common themes across many of the opportunities include standardizing systems and processes and data bases,
increased use of automation and technology, and centralizing and selective outsourcing of certain activities.
On April 27, 2012, we communicated to our employees the course of action and how employees might be affected. We have developed high-level
estimates of the pre-tax charges expected to be incurred in connection with the course of action totaling $100 million to $175 million through 2014 consisting
of: $40 million to $80 million of employee separation costs; $30 million to $45 million of facility-related costs; $10 million to $20 million of asset
impairment charges; and $20 million to $30 million of systems conversion and integration costs. Of the total estimated pre-tax charges expected to be
incurred, we estimate that $90 million to $155 million are anticipated to result in cash expenditures. The actual charges incurred in connection with the multiyear course of action could be materially different from these estimates. As detailed plans to implement the multi-year course of action are approved and
executed, it will result in charges to earnings.
Recent Acquisitions
Acquisition of Athena Diagnostics
On February 24, 2011, we signed a definitive agreement to acquire Athena Diagnostics (“Athena”) from Thermo Fisher Scientific, Inc., in an allcash transaction valued at approximately $740 million. We completed the acquisition of Athena on April 4, 2011.
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Acquisition of Celera Corporation
On March 17, 2011, we entered into a definitive merger agreement with Celera Corporation (“Celera”) under which we agreed to acquire Celera for
$8 per share, in a transaction valued at approximately $344 million, net of $326 million in acquired cash and short-term marketable securities. We completed
the acquisition of Celera on May 17, 2011.
Acquisition of S.E.D. Medical Laboratories
On January 6, 2012, we completed the acquisition of S.E.D. Medical Laboratories ("S.E.D.") for approximately $50.5 million.
The acquisitions of Athena, Celera and S.E.D. (collectively "the acquisitions") are further described in Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements in our 2011 Annual Report on Form 10-K and Note 7 to the interim consolidated financial statements.

Results of Operations
Three Months Ended March 31, 2012 Compared with Three Months Ended March 31, 2011
Continuing Operations
2012

2011

% Change:
Increase
(Decrease)

(dollars in millions, except per share data)

Net revenues

$

Income (loss) from continuing operations

1,936.5

$

158.8

Earnings (loss) per diluted share

$

0.99

$

1,821.6

6.3%

(53.5)

396.8%

(0.33)

400.0%

Results for the three months ended March 31, 2012 were affected by certain items that impacted earnings per diluted share by $0.08. During the
first quarter of 2012, we incurred costs of $13.1 million, or $0.05 per diluted share, primarily associated with professional fees and other costs associated with
further restructuring and integrating our business. Results for the quarter also included $7.1 million, or $0.03 per diluted share, principally associated with
severance and other separation benefits as well as accelerated vesting of certain equity awards in connection with the succession of our CEO.
Results for the three months ended March 31, 2011 were affected by a number of items which impacted earnings per share by $1.33. During the
first quarter of 2011, we recorded the Medi-Cal charge of $236 million, or $1.19 per diluted share, in other operating (income) expense, net (see Note 5 to the
interim consolidated financial statements for further details). In addition, results for the three months ended March 31, 2011 included $13.3 million of pre-tax
charges, or $0.05 per diluted share, principally associated with workforce reductions. Results for the quarter also included $4.7 million of pre-tax transaction
costs, or $0.02 per diluted share, associated with the acquisitions of Athena and Celera. Of these costs, $2.3 million, primarily related to professional fees,
were recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses and $2.4 million of financing related costs were recorded in interest expense, net. In addition,
we estimate that the impact of severe weather, which reduced revenues during the quarter, adversely affected operating income by $18.5 million, or $0.07 per
diluted share.
Net Revenues
Net revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2012 were 6.3% above the prior year level with the Athena, Celera and S.E.D. acquisitions
contributing 3.2% revenue growth in the quarter.
Clinical testing revenue, which accounted for over 90% of our consolidated revenues, increased by 6.4% for the three months ended March 31,
2012 over the prior year period. The acquisitions of Athena, Celera and S.E.D. contributed about 2.8% to clinical testing revenue growth in the quarter.
Clinical testing volume, measured by the number of requisitions, increased 3.4% for the first quarter of 2012 , compared to the prior year period. We estimate
that the impact of weather favorably affected the year-over-year volume comparisons by about 2%, and acquisitions contributed about 0.5%. After
considering the favorable impact of weather and acquisitions, underlying volume growth was about 1%. Pre-employment drug testing volume grew about 5%
in the quarter.
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Revenue per requisition for the three months ended March 31, 2012 was 2.9% above the prior year period. Revenue per requisition continues to
benefit from an increased mix in gene-based and esoteric testing, particularly from the impact of the acquired operations of Athena and Celera. Partially
offsetting this benefit was business and payor mix changes including: an increase in lower priced drugs-of-abuse testing and a decrease in higher priced
anatomic pathology testing.
Our businesses other than clinical laboratory testing accounted for approximately 9% of our net revenues in both 2012 and 2011. These businesses
contain most of our international operations and include our risk assessment services, clinical trials testing, healthcare information technology and diagnostic
products businesses. For the three months ended March 31, 2012, combined revenues in these businesses grew by approximately 6%, primarily from the
diagnostics products operations acquired as part of the Celera acquisition.
Operating Costs and Expenses
2012
$

2011
% Net
Revenue

$

Change: Increase
(Decrease)
% Net
Revenue

$

% Net
Revenue

(dollars in millions)

Cost of services

$

Selling, general and administrative expenses (SG&A)

1,116.5

57.7 %

$

1,097.0

60.2%

$

19.5

(2.5)%
1.2 %

500.6

25.8 %

447.9

24.6%

52.7

Amortization of intangible assets

20.2

1.0 %

9.8

0.5%

10.4

Other operating (income) expense, net

(0.4)

—%

235.9

13.0%

(236.3)

(13.0)%

(153.7)

(13.8)%

Total operating costs and expenses

$

1,636.9

84.5 %

$

1,790.6

98.3%

$

Bad debt expense (included in SG&A)

$

80.7

4.2 %

$

77.4

4.2%

$

3.3

0.5 %

—%

Total Operating Costs and Expenses
For the first quarter of 2012, total operating costs and expenses decreased $154 million, compared to the prior year period, primarily driven by the
impact in 2011 of the Medi-Cal charge and, to a lesser extent, actions we have taken to reduce our cost structure. This decrease was partially offset by an
increase in operating expenses associated with the acquired operations of Athena, Celera and S.E.D., higher costs associated with employee compensation and
benefits, and costs incurred in connection with the succession of our CEO. The decrease in total operating expenses as a percentage of net revenues compared
to the prior year is principally due to the Medi-Cal charge recorded in 2011.
Results for the three months ended March 31, 2012 included costs of $13.1 million, primarily associated with professional fees and other costs
incurred in connection with further restructuring and integrating our business ($4.0 million in cost of services and $9.1 million in selling, general and
administrative expenses). In addition, $7.1 million of pre-tax charges, associated with severance and other separation benefits as well as accelerated vesting of
certain equity awards in connection with the succession of our CEO, were recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses in the first quarter of 2012.
Results for the three months ended March 31, 2011 included the Medi-Cal charge of $236 million recorded in connection with the California
Lawsuit. In addition, results for the three months ended March 31, 2011 included $13.3 million of pre-tax charges incurred in connection with further
restructuring and integrating our business, principally associated with workforce reductions. Of these costs, $9.0 million and $4.3 million were included in
cost of services and selling, general and administrative expenses, respectively. Selling, general and administrative expenses for the three months ended March
31, 2011 also included $2.3 million of pre-tax transaction costs, primarily related to professional fees associated with the acquisitions of Athena and Celera.
Also, year-over-year comparisons of operating costs were unfavorably impacted by approximately $3 million, associated with gains on investments
in our supplemental deferred compensation plans. Under our supplemental deferred compensation plans, employee compensation deferrals, together with
Company matching contributions, are invested in a
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variety of investments held in trusts. Gains and losses associated with the investments are recorded in earnings within other income, net. A corresponding and
offsetting adjustment is also recorded to the deferred compensation obligation to reflect investment gains and losses earned by the employee. Such
adjustments to the deferred compensation obligation are recorded in earnings principally within selling, general and administrative expenses and offset the
amount of investment gains and losses recorded in other income, net. Results for the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2011 included an increase in
operating costs of $4.8 million and $2.1 million, respectively, representing increases in the deferred compensation obligation to reflect investment gains
earned by employees participating in our deferred compensation plans.
Cost of Services
The decrease in cost of services as a percentage of net revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2012, compared to the prior year period,
reflects the impact of actions we have taken to reduce our cost structure and the impact of the acquired operations of Athena and Celera, which serve to reduce
the percentage. In addition, severe weather in 2011, which served to reduce revenues and increase costs as a percentage of revenues, as well as higher
restructuring and integration costs in 2011, contributed to higher cost of services as a percentage of revenues in 2011 compared to the current year period.
These factors were partially offset by the impact of a legal settlement in the first quarter of 2012 which served to increase the percentage by approximately
0.3%.
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
The increase in selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of net revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2012, compared
to the prior year period, primarily reflects the impact of the acquired operations of Athena and Celera, higher costs associated with employee compensation
and benefits, costs incurred in connection with the succession of our CEO, and a $4.8 million increase in pre-tax charges associated with restructuring and
integration costs. These increases were partially offset by actions we have taken to reduce our cost structure and the favorable impact on the year over year
comparisons due to the severe weather in 2011 and the transaction costs associated with the Athena and Celera acquisitions that were incurred during the first
quarter of 2011.
For the three months ended March 31, 2012, bad debt expense as a percentage of net revenues remained unchanged, compared to the prior year
period, reflecting continued strong performance in our billing operations and collection metrics.
Amortization of Intangible Assets
The increase in amortization of intangible assets for the three months ended March 31, 2012 , compared to the prior year period, reflects primarily
the impact of amortization of intangible assets acquired as part of the Athena and Celera acquisitions.
Other Operating (Income) Expense, net
Other operating (income) expense, net includes special charges, and miscellaneous income and expense items related to operating activities. For the
three months ended March 31, 2011, other operating (income) expense, net included the Medi-Cal charge of $236.0 million recorded in connection with the
California Lawsuit.
Operating Income

2012

2011

Change:
Increase
(Decrease)

(dollars in millions)

Operating income

$

Operating income % of net revenues

299.6
15.5%

$

31.0
1.7%

$

268.6
13.8%

The impacts of the Medi-Cal charge and severe weather in the first quarter of 2011 served to decrease operating income as a percentage of net
revenues in 2011 and are the principal drivers of the improved operating income as a percentage of net revenues in 2012. Also contributing to the
improvement are actions we have taken to reduce our cost structure. Partially offsetting these improvements are higher costs associated with employee
compensation and benefits, costs incurred in connection with the succession of our CEO, costs associated with a legal settlement and costs associated with
investment gains
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on assets in our deferred compensation plans.
Interest Expense, net
2012

2011

Change:
Increase
(Decrease)

(dollars in millions)

Interest expense, net

$

42.3

$

37.9

$

4.4

Interest expense, net for the three months ended March 31, 2012 increased from the prior year period primarily due to higher average outstanding
debt balances in 2012, compared to the prior year period. This increase was partially offset by a $2.4 million reduction in financing commitment fees incurred
in the prior year related to the acquisition of Celera.
Other Income, net
Other income, net represents miscellaneous income and expense items related to non-operating activities, such as gains and losses associated with
investments and other non-operating assets. For the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, other income, net consisted of the following:
2012

2011

Change:
Increase
(Decrease)

(dollars in millions)

Investment gains associated with our supplemental deferred compensation plans

$

4.8

$

4.8

Other income items, net

$

2.1

$

2.2

—

Total other income, net

$

0.1

2.7
(0.1)

$

2.6

Income Tax Expense
2012

2011

Change:
Increase
(Decrease)

(dollars in millions)

Income tax expense

$

101.4

$

49.2

$

52.2

The increase in income tax expense for the three months ended March 31, 2012 is primarily due to an increase in income from continuing
operations before income taxes. The decrease in the effective income tax rate is due primarily to the Medi-Cal charge in the first quarter of 2011, a portion for
which a tax benefit was not recorded.
Discontinued Operations
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes, for the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2011 was $0.3 million and $(0.4) million ,
respectively, with no impact on diluted earnings per share. See Note 12 to the interim consolidated financial statements for further details.
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
We address our exposure to market risks, principally the market risk of changes in interest rates, through a controlled program of risk management
that includes the use of derivative financial instruments. We do not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes. We believe that our
exposures to foreign exchange impacts and changes in commodity prices are not material to our consolidated financial condition or results of operations. See
Note 8 to the interim consolidated financial statements for additional discussion of our financial instruments and hedging activities.
At March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the fair value of our debt was estimated at approximately $4.3 billion and $4.4 billion, respectively,
using quoted market prices and yields for the same or similar types of borrowings, taking into account the underlying terms of the debt instruments. At
March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the estimated fair value
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exceeded the carrying value of the debt by $367 million and $387 million, respectively. A hypothetical 10% increase in interest rates (representing 43 basis
points and 41 basis points at March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively) would potentially reduce the estimated fair value of our debt by
approximately $108 million and $112 million at March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively.
Borrowings under our floating rate senior notes due 2014, our term loan due May 2012, our senior unsecured revolving credit facility and our
secured receivables credit facility are subject to variable interest rates. Interest on our secured receivables credit facility is based on rates that are intended to
approximate commercial paper rates for highly-rated issuers. Interest on our term loan due May 2012 and our senior unsecured revolving credit facility are
subject to a pricing schedule that can fluctuate based on changes in our credit ratings. As such, our borrowing cost under these credit arrangements will be
subject to both fluctuations in interest rates and changes in our credit ratings. At March 31, 2012, the borrowing rates under these debt instruments were: for
our floating rate senior notes due 2014, LIBOR plus 0.85%; for our term loan due May 2012, LIBOR plus 0.40%; for our senior unsecured revolving credit
facility, LIBOR plus 1.125%; and for our secured receivables credit facility, 0.95%. At March 31, 2012, the weighted average LIBOR was 0.3%. As of
March 31, 2012, $200 million was outstanding under our floating rate senior notes due 2014, $280 million was outstanding under our term loan due May
2012, and $265 million was outstanding under our $525 million secured receivables credit facility. There were no borrowings outstanding under our $750
million senior unsecured revolving credit facility as of March 31, 2012.
We seek to mitigate the variability in cash outflows that result from changes in interest rates by maintaining a balanced mix of fixed-rate and
variable-rate debt obligations. In order to achieve this objective, we have entered into interest rate swaps. Interest rate swaps involve the periodic exchange of
payments without the exchange of underlying principal or notional amounts. Net settlements are recognized as an adjustment to interest expense.
In March 2011, we entered into various fixed-to-variable interest rate swap agreements which have a notional amount totaling $200 million and a
variable interest rate based on six-month LIBOR plus 0.54%. These derivative financial instruments are accounted for as fair value hedges of a portion of our
senior notes due 2016. In addition, in previous years we entered into various fixed-to-variable interest rate swap agreements with a notional amount of $350
million and a variable interest rate based on one-month LIBOR plus 1.33% that were accounted for as fair value hedges of a portion of our senior notes due
2020. Based on our net exposure to interest rate changes, a hypothetical 10% change in interest rates on our variable rate indebtedness (representing 4 basis
points) would impact annual interest expense by approximately $0.5 million , assuming no changes to the debt outstanding at March 31, 2012 .
The fair value of the fixed-to-variable interest rate swap agreements related to our senior notes due 2016 and our senior notes due 2020 was an asset
of $51.3 million at March 31, 2012. A hypothetical 10% change in interest rates (representing 15 basis points) would potentially change the fair value of the
asset by approximately $5.5 million.
For further details regarding our outstanding debt, see Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in our 2011 Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011. For details regarding our financial instruments, see Note 8 to the interim consolidated financial statements.
Risk Associated with Investment Portfolio
Our investment portfolio includes equity investments comprised primarily of strategic equity holdings in privately held companies. These securities
are exposed to price fluctuations and are generally concentrated in the life sciences industry. The carrying value of our equity investments was $12.6 million
at March 31, 2012.
We regularly evaluate the fair value measurements of our equity investments to determine if losses in value are other than temporary and if an
impairment loss has been incurred. The evaluation considers whether the security has the ability to recover and, if so, the estimated recovery period. Other
factors that are considered in this evaluation include the amount of the other-than-temporary decline and its duration, the issuer’s financial condition and
short-term prospects, and whether the market decline was caused by overall economic conditions or conditions specific to the individual security.
We do not hedge our equity price risk. The impact of an adverse movement in equity prices on our holdings in privately held companies cannot be
easily quantified, as our ability to realize returns on investments depends on, among other things, the enterprises’ ability to raise additional capital or derive
cash inflows from continuing operations or through liquidity events such as initial public offerings, mergers or private sales.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at March 31, 2012 totaled $145 million, compared to $165 million at December 31, 2011. Cash and cash equivalents
consist of cash and highly liquid short-term investments. For the three months ended March 31, 2012, cash flows from operating activities of $161 million,
together with cash on hand, were used to fund investing and financing activities of $83 million and $97 million, respectively. Cash and cash equivalents at
March 31, 2011 totaled $994 million, $750 million of which was used to fund the acquisition of Athena and related costs, shortly after the end of the first
quarter of 2011. This compares to $449 million at December 31, 2010. For the three months ended March 31, 2011, cash flows from operating activities of
$161 million, together with cash flows from financing activities of $425 million, were the principal contributors to the increase in the cash balance.
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net cash provided by operating activities for the three months ended March 31, 2012 was $161 million , unchanged from the prior year period.
Improvements in the operating performance of the Company positively impacted cash flows from operating activities in 2012. This benefit was offset by an
increase in payments primarily associated with the timing and amount of employee compensation and benefits. Days sales outstanding, a measure of billing
and collection efficiency, was 44 days at March 31, 2012, compared to 45 days at December 31, 2011 and 44 days at March 31, 2011 .
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2012 was $83 million, and consisted principally of $50.5 million related
to the S.E.D. acquisition and capital expenditures of $30 million. Net cash used in investing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2011 was $41
million, and consisted principally of capital expenditures.
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net cash used in financing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2012 was $97 million, consisting primarily of net decreases in debt of
$102 million, purchases of treasury stock of $50 million, dividend payments of $27 million and distributions to noncontrolling interests of $6 million. These
decreases were partially offset by proceeds from the exercise of stock options and related tax benefits totaling $68 million. The net decrease in debt consists of
$365 million of borrowings and $467 million of repayments.
In the first quarter of 2012, borrowings of $365 million under our secured receivables credit facility, together with $100 million of cash on hand,
were used to fund repayments of $280 million under our term loan due May 2012 and $185 million of borrowings outstanding under our secured receivables
credit facility.
Net cash provided by financing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2011 was $425 million, consisting primarily of net increases in debt
of $1.24 billion, and proceeds from the exercise of stock options and related tax benefits totaling $58 million, partially offset by purchases of treasury stock of
$835 million, dividend payments of $17 million and $10 million of payments primarily related to debt issuance costs incurred in connection with our senior
notes offering in the first quarter of 2011.
In February 2011, borrowings of $500 million under our secured receivables credit facility and $75 million under our senior unsecured revolving
credit facility, together with $260 million of cash on hand, were used to fund purchases of treasury stock totaling $835 million. In addition, we completed a
$1.25 billion senior notes offering in March 2011 (the “2011 Senior Notes”). We used $485 million of the $1.24 billion in net proceeds from the 2011 Senior
Notes offering, together with $90 million of cash on hand, to fund the repayment of $500 million outstanding under our secured receivables credit facility, and
the repayment of $75 million outstanding under our senior unsecured revolving credit facility. The remaining portion of the net proceeds from the 2011 Senior
Notes offering were used to fund our acquisition of Athena on April 4, 2011. The 2011 Senior Notes are further described in Note 11 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements in our 2011 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Dividends
Through the third quarter of 2011, our Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.10 per common share. In October 2011, our
Board of Directors declared an increase in the quarterly cash dividend from $0.10 per common share to $0.17 per common share. During the first quarter of
2012, our Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of
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$0.17 per common share. We expect to fund future dividend payments with cash flows from operations, and do not expect the dividend to have a material
impact on our ability to finance future growth.
Share Repurchases
In January 2012, our Board of Directors authorized $1 billion of additional share repurchases of our common stock, increasing our total available
authorization at that time to $1.1 billion. The share repurchase authorization has no set expiration or termination date.
For the three months ended March 31, 2012, we repurchased 847 thousand shares of our common stock at an average price of $59.00 per share for a
total of $50 million. At March 31, 2012, $1.0 billion remained available under the share repurchase authorizations.
For the three months ended March 31, 2011, we repurchased 15.4 million shares of our common stock from SB Holdings Capital Inc., a whollyowned subsidiary of GlaxoSmithKline plc., at an average price of $54.30 per share for a total of $835 million.
Contractual Obligations and Commitments
The following table summarizes certain of our contractual obligations as of March 31, 2012 :

Payments due by period
(in thousands)
Contractual Obligations
Outstanding debt

Total
$

Capital lease obligations
Interest payments on outstanding debt
Operating leases
Purchase obligations
Merger consideration obligation
Total contractual obligations

$

Remainder
of 2012

3,845,000

$

545,000

1-3 years
$

3-5 years

200,000

$

After 5 years

800,000

$

2,300,000

46,711

7,019

17,527

7,874

14,291

2,108,502

110,654

307,655

273,328

1,416,865

629,456

135,222

247,553

129,247

117,434

93,917

26,364

47,347

15,742

4,464

970

970

—

—

—

6,724,556

$

825,229

$

820,082

$

1,226,191

$

3,853,054

Interest payments on our long-term debt have been calculated after giving effect to our interest rate swap agreements, using the interest rates as of
March 31, 2012 applied to the March 31, 2012 balances, which are assumed to remain outstanding through their maturity dates.
A full description of the terms of our indebtedness and related debt service requirements and our future payments under certain of our contractual
obligations is contained in Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in our 2011 Annual Report on Form 10-K. A full discussion and analysis
regarding our minimum rental commitments under noncancelable operating leases and noncancelable commitments to purchase product or services at
December 31, 2011 is contained in Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in our 2011 Annual Report on Form 10-K. A full discussion and analysis
regarding our acquisition of Celera and the merger consideration related to shares of Celera which had not been surrendered as of December 31, 2011 is
contained in Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in our 2011 Annual Report on Form 10-K .
As of March 31, 2012, our total liabilities associated with unrecognized tax benefits were approximately $211 million, which were excluded from
the table above. We believe it is reasonably possible that these liabilities may decrease by up to approximately $17 million within the next twelve months,
primarily as a result of the expiration of statutes of limitations, settlements and/or the conclusion of tax examinations on certain tax positions. For the
remainder, we cannot make reasonably reliable estimates of the timing of the future payments of these liabilities. See Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements in our 2011 Annual Report on Form 10-K for information regarding our contingent tax liability reserves.
Our credit agreements and our term loan due May 2012 contain various covenants and conditions, including the maintenance of certain financial
ratios, that could impact our ability to, among other things, incur additional indebtedness. As of March 31, 2012, we were in compliance with the various
financial covenants included in our credit agreements and we do not expect these covenants to adversely impact our ability to execute our growth strategy or
conduct normal business
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operations.
Unconsolidated Joint Ventures
We have investments in unconsolidated joint ventures in Phoenix, Arizona; Indianapolis, Indiana; and Dayton, Ohio, which are accounted for under
the equity method of accounting. We believe that our transactions with our joint ventures are conducted at arm’s length, reflecting current market conditions
and pricing. Total net revenues of our unconsolidated joint ventures equal less than 6% of our consolidated net revenues. Total assets associated with our
unconsolidated joint ventures are less than 2% of our consolidated total assets. We have no material unconditional obligations or guarantees to, or in support
of, our unconsolidated joint ventures and their operations.
Requirements and Capital Resources
We estimate that we will invest between $200 million to $225 million during 2012 for capital expenditures, including assets under capitalized
leases, to support and expand our existing operations, principally related to investments in information technology, equipment and facilities. We expect to
fund the repayment of our short-term borrowings and the current portion of our long-term debt using cash on hand and existing credit facilities.
As of March 31, 2012, $1.0 billion of borrowing capacity was available under our existing credit facilities, consisting of $260 million available
under our secured receivables credit facility and $750 million available under our senior unsecured revolving credit facility.
We believe the banks participating in our various credit facilities are predominantly highly-rated banks, and that the borrowing capacity under the
credit facilities described above is currently available to us. Should one or several banks no longer participate in either of our credit facilities, we would not
expect it to impact our ability to fund operations. We expect that we will be able to replace our existing secured receivable credit facility with alternative
arrangements prior to its expiration.
We believe that cash and cash equivalents on-hand and cash from operations, together with our borrowing capacity under our credit facilities, will
provide sufficient financial flexibility to meet seasonal working capital requirements, capital expenditures, debt service requirements and other obligations,
cash dividends on common shares, share repurchases and additional growth opportunities for the foreseeable future. We believe that our credit profile should
provide us with access to additional financing, if necessary, to fund growth opportunities that cannot be funded from existing sources.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Effective
There have been no new accounting pronouncements not yet effective that have significance, or potential significance, to our consolidated financial
statements.
Forward-Looking Statements
Some statements and disclosures in this document are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements include all statements that do not
relate solely to historical or current facts and can be identified by the use of words such as “may,” “believe,” “will,” “expect,” “project,” “estimate,”
“anticipate,” “plan” or “continue.” These forward-looking statements are based on our current plans and expectations and are subject to a number of risks and
uncertainties that could cause our plans and expectations, including actual results, to differ materially from the forward-looking statements. Risks and
uncertainties that may affect our future results include, but are not limited to, adverse results from pending or future government investigations, lawsuits or
private actions, the competitive environment, changes in government regulations, changing relationships with customers, payers, suppliers and strategic
partners and other factors discussed in “Business,” “Risk Factors,” “Cautionary Factors That May Affect Future Results,” “Legal Proceedings,”
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market
Risk” in our 2011 Annual Report on Form 10-K and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and
“Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk” in our 2012 Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and other items throughout the 2011 Form 10-K
and our 2012 Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K.

Item 3.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
See Item 2. "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations."
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Item 4.

Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, we
have evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
under Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended). Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and our
Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this quarterly report.
During the first quarter of 2012, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1.

Legal Proceedings
See Note 11 to the interim consolidated financial statements for information regarding the status of legal proceedings involving the Company.

Item 2.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

The table below sets forth the information with respect to purchases made by or on behalf of the Company of its common stock during the first
quarter of 2012.

ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Period

Total Number of
Shares
Purchased

Average Price
Paid per Share

Total Number of
Shares Purchased
as Part of Publicly
Announced Plans
or Programs

Approximate
Dollar Value of
Shares that May
Yet Be Purchased
Under the Plans
or Programs
(in thousands)

January 1, 2012 – January 31, 2012
Share Repurchase Program (A)

—

$

—

—

443

$

57.32

N/A

Share Repurchase Program (A)

303,266

$

57.70

303,266

Employee Transactions (B)

305,022

$

57.73

N/A

544,144

$

59.73

544,144

1,676

$

58.51

N/A

Share Repurchase Program (A)

847,410

$

59.00

847,410

Employee Transactions (B)

307,141

$

57.73

N/A

Employee Transactions (B)

$

1,065,056
N/A

February 1, 2012 – February 29, 2012
$

1,047,557
N/A

March 1, 2012 – March 31, 2012
Share Repurchase Program (A)
Employee Transactions (B)

$

1,015,056
N/A

Total
$

1,015,056
N/A

(A) In January 2012, our Board of Directors authorized the Company to repurchase an additional $1 billion of the Company’s common stock, increasing the
total available authorization at that time to $1.1 billion. Since the share repurchase program’s inception in May 2003, our Board of Directors has
authorized $5.5 billion of share repurchases of our common stock through March 31, 2012. The share repurchase authorization has no set expiration or
termination date.
(B) Includes: (1) shares delivered or attested to in satisfaction of the exercise price and/or tax withholding obligations by holders of stock options (granted
under the Company’s Amended and Restated Employee Long-Term Incentive Plan and its Amended and Restated Non-Employee Director Long-Term
Incentive Plan, collectively the “Stock Compensation Plans”) who exercised options; (2) restricted common shares withheld (under the terms of grants
under the Stock Compensation Plans) to offset tax withholding obligations that occur upon vesting and release of the restricted common shares; and (3)
shares withheld (under the terms of grants under the Stock Compensation Plans) to offset tax withholding obligations that occur upon the delivery of
common shares underlying restricted stock units and performance share units.
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Item 5.

Other Information

Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities
On February 28, 2012, the Company committed to a course of action related to its multi-year program designed to reduce the Company's cost
structure by $500 million by the end of 2014. This effort is intended to address continued reimbursement pressures and labor and benefit cost increases, free
up additional resources to invest in science and innovation, and enable the Company to improve cost competitiveness and operating profitability.
On April 27, 2012, the Company communicated to its employees the course of action and how employees might be affected. The Company has
developed high-level estimates of the pre-tax charges expected to be incurred in connection with the course of action totaling $100 million to $175 million
through 2014 consisting of: $40 million to $80 million of employee separation costs; $30 million to $45 million of facility-related costs; $10 million to $20
million of asset impairment charges; and $20 million to $30 million of systems conversion and integration costs. Of the total estimated pre-tax charges
expected to be incurred, the Company estimates that $90 million to $155 million are anticipated to result in cash expenditures. The actual charges incurred in
connection with the multi-year course of action could be materially different from these estimates. As detailed plans to implement the multi-year course of
action are approved and executed, it will result in charges to earnings.

36

Table of Contents

Item 6.

Exhibits
Exhibits:

10.1

The Celera Corporation Non-Qualified Savings and Deferral Plan - Plan Agreement

10.2

The Celera Corporation Non-Qualified Savings and Deferral Plan - Adoption Agreement

10.3

Celera 401(k) Plan - Plan Agreement

10.4

Celera 401(k) Plan - Adoption Agreement

10.5

Celera 401(k) Plan - Adoption Agreement Amendment

31.1

Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer

31.2

Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Officer

32.1

Section 1350 Certification of Chief Executive Officer

32.2

Section 1350 Certification of Chief Financial Officer

101.INS

dgx-20120331.xml

101.SCH

dgx-20120331.xsd

101.CAL

dgx-20120331_cal.xml

101.DEF

dgx-20120331_def.xml

101.LAB

dgx-20120331_lab.xml

101.PRE

dgx-20120331_pre.xml
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Signatures
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
April 27, 2012
Quest Diagnostics Incorporated

By

/s/ Surya N. Mohapatra
Surya N. Mohapatra, Ph.D.
Chairman of the Board, President and
Chief Executive Officer

By

/s/ Robert A. Hagemann
Robert A. Hagemann
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer
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Exhibit 10.1

The CORPORATEplan for RetirementSM
EXECUTIVE PLAN
BASIC PLAN DOCUMENT

IMPORTANT NOTE

This document has not been approved by the Department of Labor, the Internal Revenue Service or any
other governmental entity. The Employer must determine whether the plan is subject to the Federal
securities laws and the securities laws of the various states. The Employer may not rely on this document
to ensure any particular tax consequences or to ensure that the Plan is “unfunded and maintained
primarily for the purpose of providing deferred compensation to a select group of management or highly
compensated employees” under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act with respect to the
Employer’s particular situation. Fidelity Management Trust Company, its affiliates and employees
cannot and do not provide legal or tax advice or opinions in connection with this document. This
document does not constitute legal or tax advice or opinions and is not intended or written to be used,
and it cannot be used by any taxpayer, for the purposes of avoiding penalties that may be imposed on the
taxpayer. This document must be reviewed by the Employer’s attorney prior to adoption.

(07/2007)

ECM NQ 2007 BPD

CORPORATEplan for Retirement EXECUTIVE
BASIC PLAN DOCUMENT

ARTICLE I
ADOPTION AGREEMENT
ARTICLE 2
DEFINITIONS
2.01 – Definitions
ARTICLE 3
PARTICIPATION
3.0 I - Date of Participation
3.02 - Participation Following a Change in Status
ARTICLE 4
CONTRIBUTIONS
4.01 - Deferral Contributions
4.02 - Matching Contributions
4.03 - Employer Contributions
4.04 - Election Forms
ARTICLE 5
PARTICIPANTS' ACCOUNTS
ARTICLE 6
INVESTMENT OF ACCOUNTS
6.0 I - Manner of Investment
6.02 - Investment Decisions, Earnings and Expenses
ARTICLE 7
RIGHT TO BENEFITS
7.01 - Retirement
7.02 - Death
7.03• Separation from Service
7.04 - Vesting after Partial Distribution
7.05 - Forfeitures
7.06 - Change in Control
7.07• Disability
7.08 - Directors
ARTICLE 8
DISTRIBUTION OF BENEFITS
8.01 - Events Triggering and Form of Distributions
8.02 - Notice to Trustee
8.03 - Unforeseeable Emergency Withdrawals

(07/2007)

i

ECM NQ 2007 BPD

ARTICLE 9
AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION
9.01 - Amendment by Employer
9.02 – Termination
ARTICLE 10
MISCELLANEOUS
10.01 - Communication to Participants
10.02 - Limitation of Rights
10.03 - Nonalienability of Benefits
10.04 - Facility of Payment
10.05 - Plan Records
10.06 - USERRA
10.07 - Governing Law
ARTICLE II
PLAN ADMINISTRATION
11.01 - Powers and Responsibilities of the Administrator
11.02 - Claims and Review Procedures

(07/2007)

-ii-

ECM NQ 2007 BPD

PREAMBLE

It is the intention of the Employer to establish herein an unfunded plan maintained solely for the purpose of providing deferred
compensation for a select group of management or highly compensated employees as provided in ERISA. The Employer further
intends that this Plan comply with Code section 409A, and the Plan is to be construed accordingly.
If the Employer has previously maintained the Plan described herein pursuant to a previously existing plan document or description,
the Employer’s adoption of this Plan document is an amendment and complete restatement of, and supersedes, such previously
existing document or description with respect to benefits accrued or to be paid on or after the effective date of this document (except
to the extent expressly provided otherwise herein).

Article 1.
Article 2.
2.01

Adoption Agreement.
Definitions.

Definitions.

(a)

Wherever used herein, the following terms have the meanings set forth below, unless a different meaning is clearly
required by the context:

(1)

“Account” means an account established on the books of the Employer for the purpose of recording amounts credited to
a Participant and any income, expenses, gains, or losses attributable thereto.

(2)

“Active Participant” means a Participant who is eligible to accrue benefits under a plan (other than earnings on amounts
previously deferred) within the 24-month period ending on the date the Participant becomes a Participant under Section
3.01. Notwithstanding the above, however, a Participant is not an Active Participant if he has been paid all amounts
deferred under the plan, provided that he was, on and before the date of the last payment, ineligible to continue or to
elect to continue to participate in the plan for periods after such last payment (other than through an election of a
different time and form of payment with respect to the amounts paid).

(A)

For purposes of Section 4.01(d), as used in the first paragraph of the definition of “Active Participant” above,
means an account balance plan (or portion thereof) of the Employer or a Related Employer subject to Code
409A pursuant to which the Participant is eligible to accrue benefits only if the Participant elects to defer compen
thereunder, and the “date the Participant becomes a Participant under Section 3.01” refers only to the da
Participant becomes a Participant with respect to Deferral Contributions.

(B)

For purposes of Section 8.01(a)(2), as used in the first paragraph of the definition of “Active Participant” above,
means an account balance plan (or portion thereof) of the Employer or a Related Employer subject to Code
409A pursuant to which the Participant is eligible to accrue benefits without any election by the Participant to
compensation thereunder, and the “date the Participant becomes a Participant under Section 3.01” refers only to th
the Participant becomes a Participant with respect to Matching or Employer Contributions.

(07/2007)
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(3)

“Administrator” means the Employer adopting this Plan (but excluding Related Employers) or other person designated
by the Employer in Section 1.01(c).

(4)

“Adoption Agreement” means Article 1, under which the Employer establishes and adopts or amends the Plan and
selects certain provisions of the Plan. The provisions of the Adoption Agreement are an integral part of the Plan.

(5)

“Beneficiary” means the person or persons entitled under Section 7.02 to receive benefits under the Plan upon the death
of a Participant.

(6)

“Bonus” means any Performance-based Bonus or any Non-performance-based Bonus as listed and identified in the table
in Section 1.05(a)(2) hereof.

(7)

“Change in Control” means a change in control with respect to the applicable corporation, as defined in 26 CFR section
1.409A-3(i)(5). For purposes of this definition “applicable corporation” means:

(A)

The corporation for which the Participant is performing services at the time of the change in control event;

(B)

The corporation(s) liable for payment hereunder (but only if either the accrued benefit hereunder is attributable
performance of service by the Participant for such corporation(s) or there is a bona fide business purpose fo
corporation(s) to be liable for such payment and, in either case, no significant purpose of making such corpora
liable for such benefit is the avoidance of Federal income tax); or

(C)

A corporate majority shareholder of one of the corporations described in (A) or (B) above or any corporation in a
of corporations in which each corporation is a majority shareholder of another corporation in the chain, endin
corporation identified in (A) or (B) above.

(8)

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.

(9)

“Compensation” means for purposes of Article 4:

(A)

If the Employer elects Section 1.04(a), such term as defined in such Section 1.04(a).

(B)

If the Employer elects Section 1.04(b), wages as defined in Code section 3401(a) and all other payme
compensation to an Employee by the Employer (in the course of the Employer’s trade or business) for whi
Employer is required to furnish the Employee a written statement under Code sections 6041(d) and 6051
excluding any items elected by the Employer in Section 1.04(b), reimbursements or other expense allowances,
benefits (cash and non-cash), moving expenses, deferred compensation and welfare benefits, but including amoun
are not includable in the gross income of the Employee under a salary reduction agreement by reason of the appl
of Code section 125, 132(f)(4), 402(e)(3), 402(h) or 403(b). Compensation shall be determined without regard
rules under Code section 3401(a) that limit the remuneration included in wages based on the nature or location
employment or the services performed (such as the exception for agricultural labor in Code section 3401(a)(2)).

(07/2007)
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(C)

If the Employer elects Section 1.04(c), any and all monetary remuneration paid to the Director by the Em
including, but not limited to, meeting fees and annual retainers, and excluding items listed in Section 1.04(c).

For purposes of this Section 2.01(a)(9), Compensation shall also include amounts deferred pursuant to an election under Section 4.01.
(10)

“Deferral Contribution” means a hypothetical contribution credited to a Participant’s Account as the result of the
Participant’s election to reduce his Compensation in exchange for such credit, as described in Section 4.01.

(11)

“Director” means a person, other than an Employee, who is elected or appointed as a member of the board of directors
of the Employer, with respect to a corporation, or to an analogous position with respect to an entity that is not a
corporation.

(12)

“Disability” is described in Section 1.07(a)(2).

(13)

“Employee” means any employee of the Employer.

(14)

“Employer” means the employer named in Section 1.02(a) and any Related Employers listed in Section 1.02(b).

(15)

“Employer Contribution” means a hypothetical contribution credited to a Participant’s Account under the Plan as a
result of the Employer’s crediting of such amount, as described in Section 4.03.

(16)

“Employment Commencement Date” means the date on which the Employee commences employment with the
Employer.

(17)

“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as from time to time amended.

(18)

“Inactive Participant” means a Participant who is not an Employee or Director.

(19)

“Matching Contribution” means a hypothetical contribution credited to a Participant’s Account under the Plan as a
result of the Employer’s crediting of such amount, as described in Section 4.02.

(20)

“Non-performance-based Bonus” means any Bonus listed under the column entitled “non-performance based” in
Section 1.05(a)(2).

(21)

“Participant” means any Employee or Director who participates in the Plan in accordance with Article 3 (or formerly
participated in the Plan and has an amount credited to his Account).

(22)

“Performance-based Bonus” means any Bonus listed under the column entitled “performance based” in Section 1.05(a)
(2), which constitutes compensation, the amount of, or entitlement to, which is contingent on the satisfaction of preestablished organizational or individual performance criteria relating to a performance period of at least 12 consecutive
months and which is further defined in 26 CFR section 1.409A-1(e).

(23)

“Permissible Investment” means the investments specified by the Employer as available for hypothetical investment of
Accounts. The Permissible Investments under the Plan are listed in the Service Agreement, and the provisions of the
Service Agreement listing the Permissible Investments are hereby incorporated herein.
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(24)

“Plan” means the plan established by the Employer as set forth herein as a new plan or as an amendment to an existing
plan, such establishment to be evidenced by the Employer’s execution of the Adoption Agreement, together with any
and all amendments hereto.

(25)

“Related Employer” means any employer other than the Employer named in Section 1.02(a), if the Employer and such
other employer are members of a controlled group of corporations (as defined in Code section 414(b)) or trades or
businesses (whether or not incorporated) under common control (as defined in Code section 414(c)).

(26)

“Separation from Service” means the date the Participant retires or otherwise has a termination of employment (or a
termination of the contract pursuant to which the Participant has provided services as a Director, for a Director
Participant) with the Employer and all Related Employers, as further defined in 26 CFR section 1.409A-1(h); provided,
however, that

(A)

For purposes of this paragraph (26), the definition of “Related Employer” shall be modified as follows:

(i)

In applying Code section 1563(a)(1), (2) and (3) for purposes of determining a controlled group of cor
Code section 414(b), the phrase “at least 50%” shall be used instead of “at least 80 percent” each pl
percent” appears in Code section 1563(a)(1), (2) and (3); and

(ii)

In applying 26 CFR section 1.414(c)-2 for purposes of determining trades or business (whether or n
under common control for purposes of Code section 414(c), the phrase “at least 50%” shall be used ins
80 percent” each place “at least 80 percent” appears in 26 CFR section 1.414(c)-2.

(B)

In the event a Participant provides services to the Employer or a Related Employer as an Employee and a Director

(i)

The Employee Participant’s services as a Director are not taken into account in determining whether the
a Separation from Service as an Employee; and

(ii)

The Director Participant’s services as an Employee are not taken into account in determining whether th
a Separation from Service as a Director

provided that this Plan is not aggregated with a plan subject to Code section 409A in which the Director Participant participates as an
employee of the Employer or a Related Employer or in which the Employee Participant participates as a director (or a similar position with
respect to a non-corporate entity) of the Employer or a Related Employer, as applicable, pursuant to 26 CFR section 1.409A-1(c)(2)(ii).
(27)

“Service Agreement” means the agreement between the Employer and Trustee regarding the arrangement between the
parties for recordkeeping services with respect to the Plan.

(28)

“Specified Employee,” (unless defined by the Employer in a separate writing, in which case such writing is hereby
incorporated herein) means a Participant who meets the requirements in 26 CFR section 1.409A-1(i) applying the
default definition components provided in such regulation (those that would apply absent elections, as described in 26
CFR section 1.409A-1(i)(8)), including an identification date of December 31. In the event that such default definition
components are applicable, the Employer has elected Section 1.01(b)(2) and, immediately prior to the date in Section
1.01(b)(2), the Plan applied an identification date (the “prior date”) other than the December 31, the prior date shall
continue to apply, and December 31 shall not apply, until the date that is 12 months after the date in Section 1.01(b)(2).
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(29)

“Trust” means the trust created by the Employer, pursuant to the Trust agreement between the Employer and the
Trustee, under which assets are held, administered, and managed, subject to the claims of the Employer’s creditors in
the event of the Employer’s insolvency, until paid to Participants and their Beneficiaries as specified in the Plan.

(30)

“Trust Fund” means the property held in the Trust by the Trustee.

(31)

“Trustee” means the individual(s) or entity appointed by the Employer under the Trust agreement.

(32)

“Unforeseeable Emergency” is as defined in 26 CFR section 1.409A-3(i)(3)(i).

(33)

“Year of Service” is as defined in Section 7.03(b) for purposes of the elapsed time method and in Section 7.03(c) for
purposes of the class year method.

(b)

Pronouns used in the Plan are in the masculine gender but include the feminine gender unless the context clearly
indicates otherwise.

Article 3.

Participation.

3.01
Date of Participation. An Employee or Director becomes a Participant on the date such Employee’s or Director’s participation
becomes effective (as described in Section 1.03).
3.02

Participation following a Change in Status.

(a)

If a Participant ceases to be an Employee or Director and thereafter resumes the same status he had as a Participant
during his immediately previous participation in the Plan (as an Employee if previously a Participant as an Employee
and as a Director if previously a Participant as a Director), he will again become a Participant immediately upon
resumption of such status, provided, however, that if such Participant is a Director, he is an eligible Director upon
resumption of such status (as defined in Section 1.03(b)), and provided, further, that if such Participant is an Employee,
he is an eligible Employee upon resumption of such status (as defined in Section 1.03(a)). Deferral Contributions to
such Participant’s Account thereafter, if any, shall be subject to (1) or (2) below.

(1)

If the Participant resumes such status during a period for which such Participant had previously made a valid deferral
election pursuant to Section 4.01, he shall immediately resume such Deferral Contributions. Deferral Contributions
applicable to periods thereafter shall be made pursuant to the election and other rules described in Section 4.01.

(2)

If the Participant resumes such status after the period described in the first sentence of paragraph (1) of this Section
3.02, any Deferral Contributions with respect to such Participant shall be made pursuant to the election and other rules
described in Section 4.01.

(b)

When an individual who is a Participant due to his status as an eligible Employee (as defined in Section 1.03(a))
continues in the employ of the Employer or Related Employer but ceases to be an eligible Employee, the individual
shall not receive an allocation of Matching or Employer Contributions for the period during which he is not an eligible
Employee. Such Participant shall continue to make Deferral Contributions throughout the remainder of the applicable
period (as described in Section 4.01) in which such change in status occurs, if, and as, applicable.
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(c)

When an individual who is a Participant due to his status as an eligible Director (as defined in Section 1.03(b))
continues his directorship with the Employer or a Related Employer but ceases to be an eligible Director, the individual
shall not receive an allocation of Matching or Employer Contributions for the period during which he is not an eligible
Director. Such Participant shall continue to make Deferral Contributions throughout the remainder of the applicable
period (as described in Section 4.01) in which such change in status occurs, if, and as, applicable.

Article 4.

Contributions .

4.01
Deferral Contributions. If elected by the Employer pursuant to Section 1.05(a) and/or 1.06(a), a Participant described in such
applicable Section may elect to reduce his Compensation by a specified percentage or dollar amount. The Employer shall credit an amount to
the Participant’s Account equal to the amount of such reduction. Except as otherwise provided in this Section 4.01, such election shall be
effective to defer Compensation relating to all services performed in the calendar year beginning after the calendar year in which the
Participant executes the election. Under no circumstances may a salary reduction agreement be adopted retroactively. If the Employer has
elected to apply Section 1.05(a)(2), no amount will be deducted from Bonuses unless the Participant has made a separate deferral election
applicable to such Bonuses. A Participant’s election to defer Compensation may be changed at any time before the last permissible date for
making such election, at which time such election becomes irrevocable. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the conditions
under which a Participant may make a deferral election as provided in the applicable salary reduction agreement are hereby incorporated
herein and supersede any otherwise inconsistent Plan provision.
(a)

Performance Based Bonus. With respect to a Performance-based Bonus, a separate election made pursuant to Section
1.05(a)(2) will be effective to defer such Bonus if made no later than 6 months before the end of the period during
which the services on which such Performance-based Bonus is based are performed.

(b)

Fiscal Year Bonus. With respect to a Bonus relating to a period of service coextensive with one or more consecutive
fiscal years of the Employer, of which no amount is paid or payable during the service period, a separate election
pursuant to Section 1.05(a)(2) will be effective to defer such Bonus if made no later than the close of the Employer’s
fiscal year next preceding the first fiscal year in which the Participant performs any services for which such Bonus is
payable.

(c)

Cancellation of Salary Reduction Agreement.

(1)

The Administrator may cancel a Participant’s salary reduction agreement pursuant to the provisions of 26 CFR section
1.409A-3(j)(4)(viii) in connection with the Participant’s Unforeseeable Emergency. To the extent required pursuant to
the application of 26 CFR section 1.401(k)-1(d)(3) (or any successor thereto), a Participant’s salary reduction agreement
shall be automatically cancelled.

(2)

The Administrator may cancel a Participant’s salary reduction agreement pursuant to the provisions of 26 CFR section
1.409A-3(j)(4)(xii) in connection with the Participant’s disability. Such cancellation must occur by the later of the end
of the Participant’s taxable year or the 15th day of the third month following the date the Participant incurs a disability.
For purposes of this paragraph (2), a disability is any medically determinable physical or mental impairment resulting in
the Participant’s inability to perform the duties of his or her position or any substantially similar position, where such
impairment can be expected to result in death or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than six
months.
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In no event may the Participant, directly or indirectly, elect such a cancellation. A cancellation pursuant to this subsection (c) shall apply only
to Compensation not yet earned.
(d)

Initial Deferral Election. Notwithstanding the above, if the Participant is not an Active Participant, the Participant may
make an election to defer Compensation within 30 days after the Participant becomes a Participant, which election shall
be effective with respect to Compensation payable for services performed during the calendar year (or other deferral
period described in (a) or (b) above, as applicable) and after the date of such election. For Compensation that is earned
based upon a specified performance period (e.g., an annual bonus) an election pursuant to this subsection (d) will be
effective to defer an amount equal to the total amount of the Compensation for the performance period multiplied by the
ratio of the number of days remaining in the performance period after the election over the total number of days in the
performance period.

4.02 Matching Contributions. If so provided by the Employer in Section 1.05(b) and/or 1.06(b)(1), the Employer shall credit a Matching
Contribution to the Account of each Participant entitled to such Matching Contribution. The amount of the Matching Contribution shall be
determined in accordance with Section 1.05(b) and/or 1.06(b)(1), as applicable, provided, however, that the Matching Contributions credited
to the Account of a Participant pursuant to Section 1.05(b)(2) shall be limited pursuant to (a) and (b) below:
(a)

The sum of Matching Contributions made on behalf of a Participant pursuant to Section 1.05(b)(2) for any calendar year
and any other benefits the Participant accrues pursuant to another plan subject to Code section 409A as a result of such
Participant’s action or inaction under a qualified plan with respect to elective deferrals and other employee pre-tax
contributions subject to the contribution restrictions under Code section 401(a)(30) or 402(g) shall not result in an
increase in the amounts deferred under all plans subject to Code section 409A in which the Participant participates in
excess of the limit with respect to elective deferrals under Code section 402(g)(1)(A), (B) and (C) in effect for the
calendar year in which such action or inaction occurs; and

(b)

The Matching Contributions made on behalf of a Participant pursuant to Section 1.05(b)(2) shall never exceed 100% of
the matching amounts that would be provided under the qualified employer plan identified in Section 1.05(b)(2) absent
any plan-based restrictions that reflect limits on qualified plan contributions under the Code.

4.03
Employer Contributions. If so provided by the Employer in Section 1.05(c)(1) and/or 1.06(b)(2), the Employer shall make an
Employer Contribution to be credited to the Account of each Participant entitled thereto in the amount provided in such Section(s). If so
provided by the Employer in Section 1.05(c)(2) and/or 1.06(b)(3), the Employer may make an Employer Contribution to be credited to the
Account maintained on behalf of any Participant in such an amount as the Employer, in its sole discretion, shall determine, subject to the
provisions of the applicable Section.
4.04 Election Forms. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the terms of an election form with respect to the conditions under
which a Participant may make any election hereunder, as provided in such form (whether electronic or otherwise) are hereby incorporated
herein and supersede any otherwise inconsistent Plan provision.
Article 5. Participants’ Accounts. The Administrator will maintain an Account for each Participant, reflecting hypothetical contributions
credited to the Participant, along with hypothetical earnings, expenses, gains and losses, pursuant to the terms hereof. A hypothetical
contribution shall be credited to the Account of a Participant on the date determined by the Employer and accepted by the Plan recordkeeper.
The Administrator will maintain such other accounts and records as it deems appropriate to the discharge of its duties under the Plan.
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Article 6.

Investment of Accounts.

6.01 Manner of Investment. All amounts credited to the Accounts of Participants shall be treated as though invested and reinvested only
in Permissible Investments.
6.02 Investment Decisions, Earnings and Expenses. Investments in which the Accounts of Participants shall be treated as invested and
reinvested shall be directed by the Employer or by each Participant, or both, in accordance with Section 1.09. All dividends, interest, gains,
and distributions of any nature that would be earned on a Permissible Investment will be credited to the Account as though reinvested in
additional shares of that Permissible Investment. Expenses that would be attributable to such investments shall be charged to the Account of
the Participant.
Article 7.

Right to Benefits .

7.01 Retirement. If provided by the Employer in Section 1.08(e)(1), the Account of a Participant or an Inactive Participant who attains
retirement eligibility prior to a Separation from Service will be 100% vested.
7.02
Death . If provided by the Employer in Section 1.08(e)(2), the Account of a Participant or former Participant who dies before the
distribution of his entire Account will be 100% vested, provided that at the time of his death he is earning Years of Service.
A Participant may designate a Beneficiary or Beneficiaries, or change any prior designation of Beneficiary or Beneficiaries, by giving notice
to the Administrator on a form designated by the Administrator. If more than one person is designated as the Beneficiary, their respective
interests shall be as indicated on the designation form.
A copy of the death certificate or other sufficient documentation must be filed with and approved by the Administrator. If upon the death of
the Participant there is, in the opinion of the Administrator, no designated Beneficiary for part or all of the Participant’s Account, such
amount will be paid to his surviving spouse or, if none, to his estate (such spouse or estate shall be deemed to be the Beneficiary for purposes
of the Plan). If a Beneficiary dies after benefits to such Beneficiary have commenced, but before they have been completed, and, in the
opinion of the Administrator, no person has been designated to receive such remaining benefits, then such benefits shall be paid to the
deceased Beneficiary’s estate.
A distribution to a Beneficiary of a Specified Employee is not considered to be a payment to a Specified Employee for purposes of Sections
1.07 and 8.01(e).
7.03

Separation from Service .

(a)

General. If provided by the Employer in Section 1.08, and subject to Section 1.08(e)(2), if a Participant has a
Separation from Service, he will be entitled to a benefit equal to (i) the vested percentage(s) of the value of the
Matching and Employer Contributions credited to his Account, as adjusted for income, expense, gain, or loss, such
percentage(s) determined in accordance with the vesting schedule(s) and methodology selected by the Employer in
Section 1.08, and (ii) the value of the Deferral Contributions to his Account as adjusted for income, expense, gain, or
loss. The amount payable under this Section 7.03 will be distributed in accordance with Article 8.
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(b)

Elapsed Time Vesting . Unless otherwise provided by the Employer in Section 1.08, vesting shall be determined based
on the elapsed time method. For purposes of the elapsed time method, “Years of Service” means, with respect to any
Participant or Inactive Participant, the number of whole years of his periods of service with the Employer and any
Related Employers (as defined in Section 2.01(a)(26)(A)), subject to any exclusion elected by the Employer in
Section 1.08(c). A Participant or Inactive Participant will receive credit for the aggregate of all time period(s)
commencing with his Employment Commencement Date and ending on the date a break in service begins, unless any
such years are excluded by Section 1.08(c). A Participant or Inactive Participant will also receive credit for any period
of severance of less than 12 consecutive months. Fractional periods of a year will be expressed in terms of days.

A break in service is a period of severance of at least 12 consecutive months. A “period of severance” is a continuous period of time
beginning on the date the Participant or Inactive Participant incurs a Separation from Service, or if earlier, the 12-month anniversary of the
date on which the Participant or Inactive Participant was otherwise first absent from service.
Notwithstanding the above, the Employer shall comply with any service crediting rules to the extent required by applicable law.
(c)

Class Year Vesting. If provided by the Employer in Section 1.08, a Participant’s or Inactive Participant’s vested
percentage in the Matching Contributions and/or Employer Contributions portion(s) of his Account shall be determined
pursuant to the class year method. Pursuant to such method, amounts attributable to the applicable contribution types are
assigned to “class years” established in the records of the Plan. Such class years are years (calendar or non-calendar) to
which the contribution is assigned by the Administrator, as described in the Service Agreement between the Trustee and
the Employer. The Participant’s or Inactive Participant’s vested percentage in amounts attributable to a particular
contribution is determined from the beginning of the applicable class year to the date the Participant or Inactive
Participant incurs a Separation from Service. For purposes of the class year method, a Participant or Inactive Participant
is credited with a Year of Service on the first day of each such class year.

7.04 Vesting after Partial Distribution. If a distribution from a Participant’s Account has been made to him at a time when his Account is
less than 100% vested, the vesting schedule in Section 1.08 will thereafter apply only to amounts in his Account attributable to Matching
Contributions and Employer Contributions credited after such distribution. The balance of his Account attributable to Matching Contributions
and Employer Contributions immediately after such distribution will be subject to the following for the purpose of determining his interest
therein.
At any relevant time prior to a forfeiture of any portion thereof under Section 7.05, a Participant’s nonforfeitable interest in the portion of his
Account described in the sentence immediately above will be equal to P(AB + (RxD))-(RxD), where P is the nonforfeitable percentage at the
relevant time determined under Section 1.08; AB is the account balance of such portion at the relevant time; D is the amount of the
distribution; and R is the ratio of the account balance of such portion at the relevant time to the account balance of such portion after
distribution. Following a forfeiture of any portion of such portion under Section 7.05 below, any balance with respect to such portion will
remain fully vested and nonforfeitable.
7.05 Forfeitures. Once payments are to commence to a Participant or Inactive Participant hereunder, the portion of such Account subject to
the same payment commencement date but not yet vested, if any. (determined by his vested percentage at such payment commencement date)
will be forfeited by him.
7.06 Change in Control . If the Employer has elected to apply Section 1.07(a)(3)(D), then, upon a Change in Control, notwithstanding any
other provision of the Plan to the contrary, all Participant Accounts shall be 100% vested.
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7.07 Disability . If the Employer has elected to apply Section 1.08(e)(3), then, upon the date a Participant incurs a Disability, as defined in
Section 1.07(a)(2), notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary, all Accounts of such Participant shall be 100% vested.
7.08 Directors. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary, all Accounts of a Participant who is a Director shall be
100% vested at all times, including Accounts attributable to the Participant’s service as an Employee, if any.
Article 8.
8.01

Distribution of Benefits.

Events Triggering, and Form of, Distributions.

(a)

Events triggering the distribution of benefits and the form of such distributions are described in Section 1.07(a),
pursuant to the Employer’s election and/or the Participant’s election, as applicable.

(1)

With respect to the form and time of distribution of amounts attributable to a Deferral Contribution, a Participant
election must be made no later than the time by which the Participant must elect to make a Deferral Contribution, as
described in Section 4.01.

(2)

With respect to the form and time of distribution of amounts attributable to Matching or Employer Contributions, a
Participant election must be made no later than the time by which a Participant would be required to make a Deferral
Contribution as described in Section 4.01 with respect to the calendar year for which the Matching and/or Employer
Contributions are credited. For purposes of applying Section 4.01(d) “Active Participant” shall have the meaning
assigned in Section 2.01(a)(2)(B).

(3)

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, an election choosing a distribution trigger and payment method
pursuant to Section 1.07(a)(1) will only be effective with respect to amounts attributable to contributions credited to the
Participant’s Account for the calendar year (or other deferral period described in 4.01(a) or (b)) to which such election
relates. Amounts attributable to contributions credited to a Participant’s account prior to the effective date of any new
election will not be affected and will be paid in accordance with the otherwise applicable election.

(b)

If the Employer elects to permit a distribution election change pursuant to Section 1.07(b), then any such distribution
election change must satisfy (1) through (3) below:

(1)

Such election may not take effect until at least 12 months after the date on which such election is made.

(2)

In the case of an election related to a payment not on account of Disability, death or the occurrence of an Unforeseeable
Emergency, the payment with respect to which such election is made must be deferred for a period of not less than five
years from the date such payment would otherwise have been paid (or in the case of installment payments, five years
from the date the first amount was scheduled to be paid).
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(3)

Any election related to a payment at a specified time or pursuant to a fixed schedule may not be made less than 12
months prior to the date the payment is scheduled to be paid (or in the case of installment payments, 12 months prior to
the date the first amount was scheduled to be paid).

With respect to any initial distribution election, a Participant shall in no event be permitted to make more than one distribution election
change.
(c)

A Participant’s entitlement to installments will not be treated as an entitlement to a series of separate payments.

(d)

If the Plan does not provide for Plan-level payment triggers pursuant to Section 1.07(a)(3), and the Participant does not
designate in the manner prescribed by the Administrator the method of distribution, and/or the distribution trigger (if
and as required), such method of distribution shall be a lump sum at Separation from Service.

(e)

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, with respect to any Specified Employee, if the applicable payment
trigger is Separation from Service, then payment shall not commence before the date that is six months after the date of
Separation from Service (or, if earlier, the date of death of the Specified Employee, pursuant to Section 7.02). Payments
to which a Specified Employee would otherwise be entitled during the first six months following the date of Separation
from Service are delayed by six months.

(f)

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Administrator may, in its discretion, automatically pay out a
Participant’s vested Account in a lump sum, provided that such payment satisfies the requirements in (1) through (3)
below:

(1)

Such payment results in the termination and liquidation of the entirety of the Participant’s interest under the plan (as
defined in 26 CFR section 1.409A-1(c)(2)), including all agreements, methods, programs, or other arrangements with
respect to which deferrals of compensation are treated as having been deferred under a single nonqualified deferred
compensation plan under 26 CFR section 1.409A-1(c)(2);

(2)

Such payment is not greater than the applicable dollar amount under Code section 402(g)(1)(B); and

(3)

Such exercise of Administrator discretion is evidenced in writing no later than the date of such payment.

(g)

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Administrator may, in its discretion, delay a payment otherwise
required hereunder to a date after the designated payment date due to any of the circumstances described in (1) through
(4) below, provided that the Administrator treats all payments to similarly situated Participants on a reasonably
consistent basis.

(1)

In the event the Administrator reasonably anticipates that, if the payment were made as scheduled, the Employer’s
deduction with respect to such payment would not be permitted due to the application of Code section 162(m), provided
the delay complies with the conditions in 26 CFR section 1.409A-2(b)(7)(i).

(2)

In the event the Administrator reasonably anticipates that the making of such payment will violate Federal securities
laws or other applicable law, provided the delay complies with the conditions in 26 CFR section 1.409A-2(b)(7)(ii).

(3)

Upon such other events and conditions as the Commissioner of the Internal Revenue Service may prescribe in generally
applicable guidance published in the Internal Revenue Bulletin.
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(4)

Upon a change in control event, provided the delay complies with conditions in 26 CFR section 1.409A-3(i)(5)(iv).

(h)

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Administrator may provide an election to change the time or form
of a payment hereunder to satisfy the requirements of the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights
Act of 1994, as amended, 38 USC sections 4301 through 4344.

8.02
Notice to Trustee. The Administrator will provide direction to the Trustee, as provided in the Trust agreement, whenever any
Participant or Beneficiary is entitled to receive benefits under the Plan. The Administrator’s notice shall indicate the form, amount and
frequency of benefits that such Participant or Beneficiary shall receive.
8.03
Unforeseeable Emergency Withdrawals. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, a Participant may apply to the
Administrator to withdraw some or all of his Account if such withdrawal is made on account of an Unforeseeable Emergency as determined
by the Administrator in accordance with the requirements of and subject to the limitations provided in 26 CFR section 1.409A-3(i)(3).
Article 9.

Amendment and Termination .

Amendment by Employer. The Employer reserves the authority to amend the Plan in its discretion. Any such amendment
9.01
notwithstanding, no Participant’s Account shall be reduced by such amendment below the amount to which the Participant would have been
entitled if he had voluntarily left the employ of the Employer immediately prior to the date of the change.
9.02 Termination . The Employer has no obligation or liability whatsoever to maintain the Plan for any length of time and may terminate
the Plan at any time by written notice delivered to the Trustee without any liability hereunder for any such discontinuance or termination.
Such termination shall comply with 26 CFR section 1.409A-3(j)(4)(ix) and other applicable guidance.
Article 10. Miscellaneous.
10.01
Communication to Participants . The Plan will be communicated to all Participants by the Employer promptly after the Plan is
adopted.
10.02 Limitation of Rights. Neither the establishment of the Plan and the Trust, nor any amendment thereof, nor the creation of any fund
or account, nor the payment of any benefits, will be construed as giving to any Participant or other person any legal or equitable right against
the Employer, Administrator or Trustee, except as provided herein; in no event will the terms of employment or service of any individual be
modified or in any way affected hereby.
10.03 Nonalienability of Benefits. The benefits provided hereunder will not be subject to alienation, assignment, garnishment, attachment,
execution or levy of any kind, either voluntarily or involuntarily, and any attempt to cause such benefits to be so subjected will not be
recognized, except to such extent as may be required by law and as provided pursuant to a domestic relations order (defined in Code section
414(p)(1)(B)), as determined by the Administrator. Pursuant to a domestic relations order, payments may be accelerated to a time sooner, and
pursuant to a schedule more rapid, than the time and schedule applicable in the absence of the domestic relations order, provided that such
payment pursuant to such order is not made to the Participant and provided further that this provision shall not be construed to provide the
Participant discretion regarding whether such payment time or schedule will be accelerated.
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10.04 Facility of Payment. In the event the Administrator determines, on the basis of medical reports or other evidence satisfactory to the
Administrator, that the recipient of any benefit payments under the Plan is incapable of handling his affairs by reason of minority, illness,
infirmity or other incapacity, the Administrator may disburse such payments, or direct the Trustee to disburse such payments, as applicable,
to a person or institution designated by a court which has jurisdiction over such recipient or a person or institution otherwise having the legal
authority under State law for the care and control of such recipient. The receipt by such person or institution of any such payments shall be
complete acquittance therefore, and any such payment to the extent thereof, shall discharge the liability of the Trust for the payment of
benefits hereunder to such recipient.
10.05

Plan Records. The Administrator shall maintain the records of the Plan on a calendar-year basis.

USERRA . Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Administrator shall permit any Participant election and make any
10.06
payments hereunder required by the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994, as amended, 38 USC
4301-4334.
10.07 Governing Law. The Plan and the accompanying Adoption Agreement will be construed, administered and enforced according to
ERISA, and to the extent not preempted thereby, the laws of the State in which the Employer has its principal place of business, without
regard to the conflict of laws principles of such State.
Article 11.

Plan Administration.

11.01 Powers and Responsibilities of the Administrator. The Administrator has the full power and the full responsibility to administer
the Plan in all of its details, subject, however, to the applicable requirements of ERISA. The Administrator’s powers and responsibilities
include, but are not limited to, the following:
(a)

To make and enforce such rules and regulations as it deems necessary or proper for the efficient administration of the
Plan;

(b)

To interpret the Plan, its interpretation thereof in good faith to be final and conclusive on all persons claiming benefits
under the Plan;

(c)

To decide all questions concerning the Plan and the eligibility of any person to participate in the Plan;

(d)

To administer the claims and review procedures specified in Section 11.02;

(e)

To compute the amount of benefits which will be payable to any Participant, former Participant or Beneficiary in
accordance with the provisions of the Plan;

(f)

To determine the person or persons to whom such benefits will be paid;

(g)

To authorize the payment of benefits;

(h)

To appoint such agents, counsel, accountants, and consultants as may be required to assist in administering the Plan; and

(i)

By written instrument, to allocate and delegate its responsibilities, including the formation of an administrative
committee to administer the Plan.
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11.02

Claims and Review Procedures .

(a)

Claims Procedure. If any person believes he is being denied any rights or benefits under the Plan, such person may file
a claim in writing with the Administrator. If any such claim is wholly or partially denied, the Administrator will notify
such person of its decision in writing. Such notification will contain (i) specific reasons for the denial, (ii) specific
reference to pertinent Plan provisions, (iii) a description of any additional material or information necessary for such
person to perfect such claim and an explanation of why such material or information is necessary, and (iv) information
as to the steps to be taken if the person wishes to submit a request for review, including a statement of the such person’s
right to bring a civil action under ERISA section 502(a) following as adverse determination upon review. Such
notification will be given within 90 days after the claim is received by the Administrator (or within 180 days, if special
circumstances require an extension of time for processing the claim, and if written notice of such extension and
circumstances is given to such person within the initial 90-day period).

If the claim concerns disability benefits under the Plan, the Plan Administrator must notify the claimant in writing within 45 days after the
claim has been filed in order to deny it. If special circumstances require an extension of time to process the claim, the Plan Administrator
must notify the claimant before the end of the 45-day period that the claim may take up to 30 days longer to process. If special circumstances
still prevent the resolution of the claim, the Plan Administrator may then only take up to another 30 days after giving the claimant notice
before the end of the original 30-day extension. If the Plan Administrator gives the claimant notice that the claimant needs to provide
additional information regarding the claim, the claimant must do so within 45 days of that notice.
(b)

Review Procedure. Within 60 days after the date on which a person receives a written notice of a denied claim (or, if
applicable, within 60 days after the date on which such denial is considered to have occurred), such person (or his duly
authorized representative) may (i) file a written request with the Administrator for a review of his denied claim and of
pertinent documents and (ii) submit written issues and comments to the Administrator. This written request may include
comments, documents, records, and other information relating to the claim for benefits. The claimant shall be provided,
upon the claimant’s request and free of charge, reasonable access to, and copies of, all documents, records, and other
information relevant to the claim for benefits. The review will take into account all comments, documents, records, and
other information submitted by the claimant relating to the claim, without regard to whether such information was
submitted or considered in the initial benefit determination. The Administrator will notify such person of its decision in
writing. Such notification will be written in a manner calculated to be understood by such person and will contain
specific reasons for the decision as well as specific references to pertinent Plan provisions. The decision on review will
be made within 60 days after the request for review is received by the Administrator (or within 120 days, if special
circumstances require an extension of time for processing the request, such as an election by the Administrator to hold a
hearing, and if written notice of such extension and circumstances is given to such person within the initial 60-day
period). The extension notice shall indicate the special circumstances requiring an extension of time and the date by
which the Plan expects to render the determination on review.

If the initial claim was for disability benefits under the Plan and has been denied by the Plan Administrator, the claimant will have 180 days
from the date the claimant received notice of the claim’s denial in which to appeal that decision. The review will be handled completely
independently of the findings and decision made regarding the initial claim and will be processed by an individual who is not a subordinate of
the individual who denied the initial claim. If the claim requires medical judgment, the individual handling the appeal will consult with a
medical professional whom was not consulted regarding the initial claim and who is not a subordinate of anyone consulted regarding the
initial claim and identify that medical professional to the claimant.
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The Plan Administrator shall provide the claimant with written notification of a plan’s benefit determination on review. In the case of an
adverse benefit determination, the notification shall set forth, in a manner calculated to be understood by the claimant - the specific reason or
reasons for the adverse determinations, reference to the specific plan provisions on which the benefit determination is based, a statement that
the claimant is entitled to receive, upon the claimant’s request and free of charge, reasonable access to, and copies of, all documents, records,
and other information relevant to the claim for benefits.
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Exhibit 10.2

The CORPORATEplan for RetirementSM
EXECUTIVE PLAN

Adoption Agreement

IMPORTANT NOTE
This document has not been approved by the Department of Labor, the Internal Revenue Service or
any other governmental entity. An Employer must determine whether the plan is subject to the
Federal securities laws and the securities laws of the various states. An Employer may not rely on
this document to ensure any particular tax consequences or to ensure that the Plan is “unfunded
and maintained primarily for the purpose of providing deferred compensation to a select group of
management or highly compensated employees” under the Employee Retirement Income Security
Act with respect to the Employer’s particular situation. Fidelity Management Trust Company, its
affiliates and employees cannot and do not provide legal or tax advice or opinions in connection
with this document. This document does not constitute legal or tax advice or opinions and is not
intended or written to be used, and it cannot be used by any taxpayer, for the purposes of avoiding
penalties that may be imposed on the taxpayer. This document must be reviewed by the Employer’s
attorney prior to adoption.
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ADOPTION AGREEMENT
ARTICLE 1

1.01

PLAN INFORMATION

(a)

Name of Plan:

This is the Celera Corporation Non-Qualified Savings and Deferral Plan (the “Plan”).
Plan Status (Check one.):

(b)
(1)

Adoption Agreement effective date: 11/07/2008 .

(2)

The Adoption Agreement effective date is (Check (A) or check and complete (B)):

(A)

q

(B)

þ An amendment and restatement of the Plan. The original effective date of the Plan was: 7/1/2008.

(c)

A new Plan effective date __________.

Name of Administrator, if not the Employer:

________________________________________________________________________
1.02
(a)

EMPLOYER
Employer Name: Celera Corporation

(b)
The term “Employer” includes the following Related Employer(s)
(as defined in Section 2.01(a)(25)) participating in the Plan:
Berkeley HeartLab, Inc.
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1.03

COVERAGE

(Check (a) and/or (b).)
(a)

þ The following Employees are eligible to participate in the Plan (Check (1) or (2)):

(1)

þ Only those Employees designated in writing by the Employer, which writing is hereby incorporated herein.

(2)

q

Only those Employees in the eligible class described below:

_________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________
(b)

q

The following Directors are eligible to participate in the Plan (Check (1) or (2)):

(1)

q

Only those Directors designated in writing by the Employer, which writing is hereby incorporated herein.

(2)

q

All Directors, effective as of the later of the date in 1.01(b) or the date the Director becomes a Director.

(Note: A designation in Section 1.03(a)(1) or Section 1.03(b)(1) or a description in Section 1.03(a)(2) must include the effective date of such participation.)
1.04

COMPENSATION

(If Section 1.03(a) is selected, select (a) or (b). If Section 1.03(b) is selected, complete (c)).
For purposes of determining all contributions under the Plan:
(a)

q

Compensation shall be as defined, with respect to Employees, in the ____________________ Plan maintained by the Employer:

(1)

q

to the extent it is in excess of the limit imposed under Code section 401(a)(17).

(2)

q

notwithstanding the limit imposed under Code section 401(a)(17).

(b)

þ Compensation shall be as defined in Section 2.01(a)(9) with respect to Employees (Check (1), and/or (2) below, if, and as,
appropriate):

(1)

þ

but excluding the following:

value of nonqualified stock options to the extent such value is includable in taxable income; severance pay.
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q

(2)
q

(c)

but excluding bonuses, except those bonuses listed in the table in Section 1.05(a)(2).

Compensation shall be as defined in Section 2.01(a)(9)(c) with respect to Directors, but excluding the following:

________________________________________________________________________

1.05

CONTRIBUTIONS ON BEHALF OF EMPLOYEES
Deferral Contributions (Complete all that apply):

(a)

þ Deferral Contributions. Subject to any minimum or maximum deferral amount provided below, the Employer shall make
a Deferral Contribution in accordance with, and subject to, Section 4.01 on behalf of each Participant who has an
executed salary reduction agreement in effect with the Employer for the applicable calendar year (or portion of the
applicable calendar year).

(1)

Deferral Contributions
Type of Compensation

Dollar Amount
Min

% Amount
Max

Base Salary

Min

Max

0

50

(Note: With respect to each type of Compensation, list the minimum and maximum dollar amounts or percentages as whole dollar amounts or whole number
percentages.)
þ Deferral Contributions with respect to Bonus Compensation only. The Employer requires Participants to enter into a
special salary reduction agreement to make Deferral Contributions with respect to one or more Bonuses, subject to
minimum and maximum deferral limitations, as provided in the table below.

(2)

Treated As
Deferral Contributions
Type of Bonus

Performance
Based

Dollar Amount
NonPerformance
Based

Min

Max

% Amount
Min

Max

Annual Bonus

Yes

0

100

Other Periodic Bonus

Yes

0

100

(Note: With respect to each type of Bonus, list the minimum and maximum dollar amounts or percentages as whole dollar amounts or whole number
percentages. In the event a bonus identified as a Performance-based Bonus above does not constitute a Performance-based
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Bonus with respect to any Participant, such Bonus will be treated as a Non-Performance-based Bonus with respect to such Participant.)
(b)

Matching Contributions (Choose (1) or (2) below, and (3) below, as applicable):

(1)

þ The Employer shall make a Matching Contribution on behalf of each Employee Participant in an amount described
below:

(A)

q

____% of the Employee Participant’s Deferral Contributions for the calendar year.

(B)

q

The amount, if any, declared by the Employer in writing, which writing is hereby incorporated herein.

(C)

q

Other:

(2)

q

(A)

___________________________________________________

Matching Contribution Offset. For each Employee Participant who has made elective contributions (as defined in 26 CFR
section 1.401(k)-6 (“QP Deferrals”)) of the maximum permitted under Code section 402(g), or the maximum
permitted under the terms of the ____________________ Plan (the “QP”), to the QP, the Employer shall make a
Matching Contribution in an amount equal to (A) minus (B) below:
The matching contributions (as defined in 26 CFR section 1.401(m)-1(a)(2) (“QP Match”)) that the Employee
Participant would have received under the QP on the sum of the Deferral Contributions and the Participant’s QP
Deferrals, determined as though -

•

no limits otherwise imposed by the tax law applied to such QP match; and

•

the Employee Participant’s Deferral Contributions had been made to the QP.

(B)

The QP Match actually made to such Employee Participant under the QP for the applicable calendar year.

Provided, however, that the Matching Contributions made on behalf of any Employee Participant pursuant to this Section 1.05(b)(2) shall be limited as
provided in Section 4.02 hereof.
(3)
(A)

Plan Number: 44423
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q

Deferral Contributions in excess of ____% of the Employee Participant’s Compensation for the calendar year
shall not be considered for Matching Contributions.
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q

(B)
(c)

Employer Contributions

(1)

q

Matching Contributions for each Employee Participant for each calendar year shall be limited to $__________.

Fixed Employer Contributions. The Employer shall make an Employer Contribution on behalf of each Employee
Participant in an amount determined as described below:

_________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________
þ Discretionary Employer Contributions. The Employer may make Employer Contributions to the accounts of Employee
Participants in any amount (which amount may be zero), as determined by the Employer in its sole discretion from
time to time in a writing, which is hereby incorporated herein.

(2)

1.06 CONTRIBUTIONS ON BEHALF OF DIRECTORS
(a)

q

Director Deferral Contributions

The Employer shall make a Deferral Contribution in accordance with, and subject to, Section 4.01 on behalf of each Director Participant who has an executed
deferral agreement in effect with the Employer for the applicable calendar year (or portion of the applicable calendar year), which deferral agreement shall be
subject to any minimum and/or maximum deferral amounts provided in the table below.

Deferral Contributions
Type of Compensation

Dollar Amount
Min

% Amount
Max

Min

Max

(Note: With respect to each type of Compensation, list the minimum and maximum dollar amounts or percentages as whole dollar amounts or whole number
percentages.)
(b)

Matching and Employer Contributions:

(1)

q

Matching Contributions. The Employer shall make a Matching Contribution on behalf of each Director Participant in an
amount determined as described below:

_________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________
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q

(2)

Fixed Employer Contributions. The Employer shall make an Employer Contribution on behalf of each Director
Participant in an amount determined as described below:

_________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________
q

(3)

Discretionary Employer Contributions. The Employer may make Employer Contributions to the accounts of Director
Participants in any amount (which amount may be zero), as determined by the Employer in its sole discretion from
time to time, in a writing, which is hereby incorporated herein.

1.07 DISTRIBUTIONS
The form and timing of distributions from the Participant’s vested Account shall be made consistent with the elections in this Section 1.07.
(a)

(1)

Distribution options to be provided to Participants

(A) Specified
Date

Deferral
Contribution

Matching
Contributions

Employer
Contributions

(B) Specified
Age

(C) Separation
From Service

(D) Earlier of
Separation or
Age

(E) Earlier of
Separation or
Specified Date

(F) Disability

þ Lump Sum

q Lump Sum

þ Lump Sum

q Lump Sum

q Lump Sum

q Lump Sum

þ Installments

q Installments

þ Installments

q Installments

q Installments

q Installments

q Lump Sum

q Lump Sum

þ Lump Sum

q Lump Sum

q Lump Sum

q Lump Sum

q Installments

q Installments

q Installments

q Installments

q Installments

q Installments

q Lump Sum

q Lump Sum

þ Lump Sum

q Lump Sum

q Lump Sum

q Lump Sum

q Installments

q Installments

þ Installments

q Installments

q Installments

q Installments

(G) Change in
Control

q
Lump Sum

(H) Death

q Lump Sum
q Installments

q
Lump Sum

q Lump Sum
q Installments

q
Lump Sum

q Lump Sum
q Installments

(Note: If the Employer elects (F), (G), or (H) above, the Employer must also elect (A), (B), (C), (D), or (E) above, and the Participant must also elect (A), (B),
(C), (D), or (E) above. In the event the Employer elects only a single payment trigger and/or payment method above, then such single payment trigger and/or
payment method shall automatically apply to the Participant. If the employer elects to provide for payment upon a specified date or age, and the employer
applies a vesting schedule to amounts that may be subject to such payment trigger(s), the employer must apply a minimum deferral period, the number of
years of which must be greater than the number of years required for 100% vesting in any such amounts. If the employer elects to provide for payment upon
disability and/or death, and the employer applies a
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vesting schedule to amounts that may be subject to such payment trigger, the employer must also elect to apply 100% vesting in any such amounts upon
disability and/or death.)
þ A Participant incurs a Disability when the Participant (Check at least one if Section 1.07(a)(1)(F) or if Section 1.08(e)(3)
is elected):

(2)

(A)

q

(B)

þ is, by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment that can be expected to result in
death or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than 12 months, receiving income
replacement benefits for a period of not less than 3 months under an accident and health plan covering
employees of the Employer.

(C)

q

is determined to be totally disabled by the Social Security Administration or the Railroad Retirement Board.

(D)

q

is determined to be disabled pursuant to the following disability insurance program: _______________ the
definition of disability under which complies with the requirements in regulations under Code section
409A.

is unable to engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason of any medically determinable physical or
mental impairment that can be expected to result in death or can be expected to last for a continuous
period of not less than 12 months.

(Note: If more than one box above is checked, then the Participant will have a Disability if he satisfies at least one of the descriptions corresponding to one of
such checked boxes.)
þ Regardless of any payment trigger and, as applicable, payment method, to which the Participant would otherwise be
subject pursuant to (1) above, the first to occur of the following Plan-level payment triggers will cause payment to
the Participant commencing pursuant to Section 1.07(c)(1) below in a lump sum, provided such Plan-level payment
trigger occurs prior to the payment trigger to which the Participant would otherwise be subject.

(3)

Payment Trigger
(A)

q

Separation from Service prior to:
__________________________

(B)

q

Separation from Service

(C)

þ

Death

(D)

q

Change in Control
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(b)

Distribution Election Change

A Participant
(1)

þ

shall

(2)

q

shall not

be permitted to modify a scheduled distribution election in accordance with Section 8.01(b) hereof.
(c)

Commencement of Distributions

(1)

Each lump sum distribution and the first distribution in a series of installment payments (if applicable) shall commence as
elected in (A), (B) or (C) below:

(A) þ

Monthly on the 15th day of the month which day next follows the applicable triggering event described in
1.07(a).

(B) q

Quarterly on the _____ day of the following months __________, __________, or __________ (list one
month in
each calendar quarter) which day next follows the applicable triggering
event described in 1.07(a).

(C) q

Annually on the _____ day of __________ (month) which day next
follows the applicable triggering event described in 1.07(a).

(Note: Notwithstanding the above: a six-month delay shall be imposed with respect to certain distributions to Specified Employees; a Participant who chooses
payment on a Specified Date will choose a month, year or quarter (as applicable) only, and payment will be made on the applicable date elected in (A), (B) or
(C) above that falls within such month, year or quarter elected by the Participant.)
(2)

The commencement of distributions pursuant to the events elected in Section 1.07(a)(1) and Section 1.07(a)(3) shall be
modified by application of the following:

(A)

q

Separation from Service Event Delay - Separation from Service will be treated as not having occurred for ____
months after the date of such event.

(B)

q

Plan Level Delay - all distribution events (other than those based on Specified Date or Specified Age) will be
treated as not having occurred for _____ days (insert number of days but not more than 30).

(d)

Installment Frequency and Duration

If installments are available under the Plan pursuant to Section 1.07(a), a Participant shall be permitted to elect that the installments will be paid (Complete 1
and 2 below):
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(1)

at the following intervals:

(A)

q

Monthly commencing on the day elected in Section 1.07(c)(1).

(B)

q

Quarterly commencing on the day elected in Section1.07(c)(1) (with payments made at three-month intervals
thereafter).

(C)

þ Annually commencing on the day elected in Section I.07(c)(1).

(2)

over the following term(s) (Complete either (A) or (B)):

(A)

þ Any term of whole years between 2 (minimum of 1) and 15 (maximum of 30).

(B)

q

Any of the whole year terms selected below.

q1

q2

q3

q4

q5

q6

q7

q8

q9

q 10

q 11

q 12

q 13

q 14

q 15

q 16

q 17

q 18

q 19

q 20

q 21

q 22

q 23

q 24

q 25

q 26

q 27

q 28

q 29

q 30

(Note: Only elect a term of one year if Section 1.07(d)(1)(A) and/or Section 1.07(d)(1)(B) is elected above.)
(e)

Conversion to Lump Sum

q

(f)

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary , if the Participant’s vested Account at the time such Account becomes
payable to him hereunder does not exceed $_____ distribution of the Participant’s vested Account shall automatically be made
in the form of a single lump sum at the time prescribed in Section 1.07(c)(1).
Distribution Rules Applicable to Pre-effective Date Accruals

þ

Benefits accrued under the Plan (subject to Code section 409A) prior to the date in Section 1.01(b)(1) above are subject to
distribution rules not described in Section 1.07(a) through (e), and such rules are described in Attachment A Re: PRE
EFFECTIVE DATE ACCRUAL DISTRIBUTION RULES.

1.08 VESTING SCHEDULE
(a)

(1)

The Participant’s vested percentage in Matching Contributions elected in Section 1.05(b) shall be based upon the following
schedule and unless Section 1.08(a)(2) is checked below will be based on the elapsed time method as described in Section
7.03(b).

Years of Service
Plan Number: 44423
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0

0

1

25

2

50

3

75

4

100
q

(2)
(b)

(1)

Vesting shall be based on the class year method as described in Section 7.03(c).

The Participant’s vested percentage in Employer Contributions elected in Section 1.05(c) shall be based upon the following
schedule and unless Section 1.08(b)(2) is checked below will be based on the elapsed time method as described in Section
7.03(b).

Years of Service

(c)

0

1

25

2

50

3

75

4

100
q

(2)

Vesting %

0

Vesting shall be based on the class year method as described in Section 7.03(c).

Years of Service shall exclude (Check one.):

(1)

q

for new plans, service prior to the Effective Date as defined in Section 1.01(b)(2)(A).

(2)

q

for existing plans converting from another plan document, service prior to the original Effective Date as defined in
Section 1.01(b)(2)(B).

(Note: Do not elect to apply this Section 1.08(c) if vesting is based only on the class year method.)
(d)

q

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, a Participant will forfeit his Matching Contributions and Employer Contributions
(regardless of whether vested) upon the occurrence of the following event(s):

________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
(Note: Contributions with respect to Directors, which are 100% vested at all times, are subject to the rule in this subsection (d).)
(e)

A Participant will be 100% vested in his Matching Contributions and Employer Contributions upon (Check the appropriate box(es)):
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(1)

q

Retirement eligibility is the date the Participant attains age ____ and completes ____ Years of Service, as defined in
Section 7.03(b).

(2)

þ

Death.

(3)

þ

The date on which the Participant becomes disabled, as determined under Section 1.07(a)(2).

(Note: Participants will automatically vest upon Change in Control if Section 1.07(a)(1)(G) is elected.)
þ

(f)

Years of Service in Section 1.08(a)(1) and Section 1.08(b)(1) shall include service with the following employers:

Applera Corporation
Berkley HeartLab, Inc.
1.09

INVESTMENT DECISIONS

A Participant’s Account shall be treated as invested in the Permissible Investments as directed by the Participant unless otherwise provided below:
_______________________________________________________________________________________
_______________________________________________________________________________________
1.10

ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS

The Employer may elect Option below and complete the Superseding Provisions Addendum to describe overriding provisions that are not otherwise reflected
in this Adoption Agreement.
þ

The Employer has completed the Superseding Provisions Addendum to reflect the provisions of the Plan that supersede provisions of this
Adoption Agreement and/or the Basic Plan Document.
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EXECUTION PAGE
(Fidelity’s Copy)

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Employer has caused this Adoption Agreement to be executed this 27 day of October, 2008.

Employer Celera Corporation
By
Title
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(07/2007)

/s/ Paul Arata
VP HR & Admin
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Employer has caused this Adoption Agreement to be executed this 27 day of October, 2008.

Employer
By
Title
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Celera Corporation

/s/ Paul Arata
VP HR & Admin
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Plan Name: Celera Corporation Non-Qualified Savings and Deferral Plan (the “Plan”)
Employer:

Celera Corporation

(Note: These execution pages are to be completed in the event the Employer modifies any prior election(s) or makes a new election(s) in this Adoption
Agreement. Attach the amended page(s) of the Adoption Agreement to these execution pages.)
The following section(s) of the Plan are hereby amended effective as of the date(s) set forth below:

Effective Date

Section Amended

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Employer has caused this Amendment to be executed on the date below.

Employer:
By:
Title:
Date:

Plan Number: 44423
(07/2007)

____________________________________

____________________________________
____________________________________
____________________________________
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Plan Name: Celera Corporation Non-Qualified Savings and Deferral Plan (the “Plan”)
Employer:

Celera Corporation

(Note: These execution pages are to be completed in the event the Employer modifies any prior election(s) or makes a new election(s) in this Adoption
Agreement. Attach the amended page(s) of the Adoption Agreement to these execution pages.)

Effective Date

Section Amended

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Employer has caused this Amendment to be executed on the date below.

Employer:
____________________________________
By:
____________________________________
Title:
____________________________________
Date: ____________________________________
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ATTACHMENT A
Re: PRE EFFECTIVE DATE ACCRUAL DISTRIBUTION RULES

Plan Name:
1.

Celera Corporation Non-Qualified Savings and Deferral Plan (the “Plan”)
Benefits for Kathy Ordonez pursuant to the Applera Corporation Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan shall be subject to the
distribution provisions as if such amounts were a deferral contribution pursuant to Section 1.07 of the Adoption Agreement. Ms. Ordonez
shall, on or prior to December 31, 2008, make an election with respect to such distribution.
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ATTACHMENT B
Re: SUPERSEDING PROVISIONS
for

Plan Name:
(a)

Celera Corporation Non-Qualified Savings and Deferral Plan (the “Plan”)
Superseding Provision(s) - The following provisions supersede other provisions of this Adoption Agreement and/or the Basic Plan
Document as described below:

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, for purposes of Sec. 1.08(e) Retirement shall be defined as the later of age 65 or five years of service.
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Preamble.
This volume submitter plan consists of three parts: (1) an Adoption Agreement that is a separate document incorporated by reference into this Basic Plan
Document; (2) this Basic Plan Document; and (3) a Trust Agreement that is a part of this Basic Plan Document and is found in Article 20. Each part of the
volume submitter plan contains substantive provisions that are integral to the operation of the plan. The Adoption Agreement is the means by which an
adopting Employer elects the optional provisions that shall apply under its plan. The Basic Plan Document describes the standard provisions elected in the
Adoption Agreement. The Trust Agreement describes the powers and duties of the Trustee with respect to plan assets.
The volume submitter plan is intended to qualify under Code Section 401(a). Depending upon the Adoption Agreement completed by an adopting Employer,
the volume submitter plan may be used to implement a profit sharing plan with or without a cash or deferred arrangement intended to qualify under Code
Section 401(k). Provisions appearing on the Additional Provisions Addendum of the Adoption Agreement, if present, supplement or alter provisions
appearing in the Adoption Agreement in the manner described therein. Provisions appearing on the Additional Provisions Addendum of the Basic Plan
Document, if present, supplement or alter provisions appearing in the Basic Plan Document in the manner described therein. Provisions appearing on the
Superseding Provisions Addendum of the Adoption Agreement, if present, supersede any conflicting provisions appearing in the Adoption Agreement, Basic
Plan Document or any addendum to either in the manner described therein.
Article 1.

Adoption Agreement.

Article 2.

Definitions.

2.01. Definitions. Wherever used herein, the following terms have the meanings set forth below, unless a
different meaning is clearly required by the context:
(a)
"Account" means an account established for the purpose of recording any contributions made on behalf of a Participant and any income,
expenses, gains, or losses incurred thereon. The Administrator shall establish and maintain sub-accounts within a Participant's Account as necessary to depict
accurately a Participant's interest under the Plan.
(b)
"Active Participant" means any Eligible Employee who has met the requirements of Article 4 to participate in the Plan and who may be
entitled to receive allocations under the Plan.
(c)
"Administrator" means the Employer adopting this Plan, as listed in Subsection 1.02(a) of the Adoption Agreement, or any other person
designated by the Employer in Subsection 1.01(c) of the Adoption Agreement.
(d)
"Adoption Agreement" means Article 1, under which the Employer establishes and adopts, or amends the Plan and Trust and designates the
optional provisions selected by the Employer, and the Trustee accepts its responsibilities under Article 20. The provisions of the Adoption Agreement shall be
an integral part of the Plan.
(e)
"Annuity Starting Date" means the first day of the first period for which an amount is payable as an annuity or in any other form permitted
under the Plan.
(f)
"Basic Plan Document" means this Fidelity volume submitter plan document, qualified with the Internal Revenue Service as Basic Plan
Document No. 14.
(g)
"Beneficiary" means the person or persons (including a trust) entitled under Section 11.04 or 14.04 to receive benefits under the Plan upon the
death of a Participant.
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(h) "Break in Vesting Service" means a 12-consecutive-month period beginning on an
Employee's Severance Date or any anniversary thereof in which the Employee is not credited with an Hour of Service.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the following special rules apply in determining whether an Employee who is on leave has incurred a Break in
Vesting Service:

(1)
If an individual is absent from work because of maternity/paternity leave on the first anniversary of his Severance Date, the 12-consecutivemonth period beginning on the individual's Severance Date shall not constitute a Break in Vesting Service. For purposes of this paragraph, "maternity/
paternity leave" means a leave of absence (i) by reason of the pregnancy of the individual, (ii) by reason of the birth of a child of the individual, (iii) by reason
of the placement of a child with the individual in connection with the adoption of such child by the individual, or (iv) for purposes of caring for a child for the
period beginning immediately following such birth or placement.
(2)
If an individual is absent from work because of FMLA leave and returns to employment with the Employer or a Related Employer following
such FMLA leave, he shall not incur a Break in Vesting Service due to such FMLA leave. For purposes of this paragraph, "FMLA leave" means an approved
leave of absence pursuant to the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993.
(i) "Catch-Up Contribution" means any Deferral Contribution made to the Plan by the
Employer in accordance with the provisions of Subsection 5.03(a).
(j)

"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.

(k) "Compensation" means wages as defined in Code Section 3401(a) and all other payments of
compensation to an Eligible Employee by the Employer (in the course of the Employer's trade or business) for services to the Employer while employed as an
Eligible Employee for which the Employer is required to furnish the Eligible Employee a written statement under Code Sections 6041(d) and 6051(a)(3).
Compensation must be determined without regard to any rules under Code Section 3401(a) that limit the remuneration included in wages based on the nature
or location of the employment or the services performed (such as the exception for agricultural labor in Code Section 3401(a)(2)). Compensation shall include
amounts that are not includable in the gross income of the Participant under a salary reduction agreement by reason of the application of Code Section 125,
132(f)(4), 402(g)(3), 402(h), 403(b), or 457.
For any Self-Employed Individual, Compensation means Earned Income; provided, however, that if the Employer elects to exclude specified items
from Compensation, such Earned Income shall be adjusted in a similar manner so that it is equivalent under regulations issued under Code Section 414(s) to
Compensation for Participants who are not Self-Employed Individuals.
Compensation shall generally be based on the amount actually paid to the Eligible Employee during the Plan Year or, for purposes of Article 5, if
so elected by the Employer in Subsection 1.05(b) of the Adoption Agreement, during that portion of the Plan Year during which the Eligible Employee is an
Active Participant. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, Compensation for purposes of Section 6.12 (Code Section 415 Limitations) and Article 15 (TopHeavy Provisions) shall be based on the amount actually paid or made available to the Participant during the Limitation Year for purposes of Section 6.12 and
during the Plan Year for purposes of Article 15.
If the initial Plan Year of a new plan consists of fewer than 12 months, calculated from the Effective Date listed in Subsection 1.01 (g)(1) of the
Adoption Agreement through the end of such initial Plan Year, Compensation for such initial Plan Year shall generally be determined as follows:
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(1)
For purposes of determining Highly Compensated Employees under Subsection 2.01(cc) and, if selected in Subsection 1 .05(b)(1)(A) or (2)(A)
of the Adoption Agreement, for purposes of allocating Nonelective Employer Contributions under Section 1.12 of the Adoption Agreement (other than 401(k)
Safe Harbor Nonelective Employer Contributions), the initial Plan Year shall be the 12-month period ending on the last day of the Plan Year.
(2)
For purposes of Section 6.12 (Code Section 415 Limitations), if the Employer has designated in Subsection 1.01(f) of the Adoption Agreement
that the Limitation Year is based on the Plan Year, the Limitation Year shall be the 12-month period ending on the last day of the Plan Year.
(3)
For all other purposes, the initial Plan Year shall be the period from the Effective Date listed in Subsection 1.01 (g)(1) of the Adoption
Agreement through the end of the initial Plan Year.
The annual Compensation of each Active Participant taken into account for determining benefits provided under the Plan for any 12-month
determination period shall not exceed the annual Compensation limit under Code Section 401 (a)(1 7) as in effect on the first day of the determination period
(e.g., $210,000 for determination periods beginning in 2005). A "determination period" means the Plan Year or other 12- consecutive-month period over
which Compensation is otherwise determined for purposes of the Plan (e.g., the Limitation Year).
The annual Compensation limit under Code Section 401(a)(17) shall be adjusted by the Secretary to reflect increases in the cost of living, as
provided in Code Section 401 (a)(1 7)(B); provided, however, that the dollar increase in effect on January 1 of any calendar year is effective for determination
periods beginning in such calendar year. If a Plan determines Compensation over a determination period that contains fewer than 12 calendar months (a "short
determination period"), then the Compensation limit for such "short determination period" is equal to the Compensation limit for the calendar year in which
the "short determination period" begins multiplied by the ratio obtained by dividing the number of full months in the "short determination period" by 12;
provided, however, that such proration shall not apply if there is a "short determination period" because (i) the Employer elected in Subsection 1.05(b) of the
Adoption Agreement to determine contributions based only on Compensation paid during the portion of the Plan Year during which an individual was an
Active Participant or (ii) an Employee is covered under the Plan less than a full Plan Year.
In lieu of requiring an Active Participant to cease making Deferral Contributions for a Plan Year after his Compensation has reached the annual
Compensation limit under Code Section 401(a)(17), the annual Compensation limit shall be applied with respect to Deferral Contributions by limiting the
total Deferral Contributions an Active Participant may make for a Plan Year to the product of (i) such Active Participant's Compensation for the Plan Year up
to the annual Compensation limit multiplied by (ii) the deferral limit specified in Subsection 1 .07(a)(1)(A) of the Adoption Agreement or Subsection 5.03(a),
as applicable.
(l)
"Contribution Period" means the period for which Matching Employer and Nonelective Employer Contributions are made and calculated. The
Contribution Period for Matching Employer Contributions described in Subsection 1.11 of the Adoption Agreement is the period specified by the Employer in
Subsection 1.11(d) of the Adoption Agreement.
The Contribution Period for Nonelective Employer Contributions is the Plan Year, unless the Employer designates a different Contribution Period
in Subsection 1.12(c) of the Adoption Agreement.
(m)

"Deferral Contribution" means any contribution made to the Plan by the Employer in accordance with the provisions of Section 5.03.
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(n)

"Early Retirement Age" means the early retirement age specified in Subsection 1.14(b) of the Adoption Agreement, if any.

(o)
"Earned Income" means the net earnings of a Self-Employed Individual derived from the trade or business with respect to which the Plan is
established and for which the personal services of such individual are a material income-providing factor, excluding any items not included in gross income
and the deductions allocated to such items, except that net earnings shall be determined with regard to the deduction allowed under Code Section 164(f), to the
extent applicable to the Employer. Net earnings shall be reduced by contributions of the Employer to any qualified plan, to the extent a deduction is allowed
to the Employer for such contributions under Code Section 404.
(p)
"Effective Date" means the effective date specified by the Employer in Subsection 1.01(g)(1). The Employer may select special Effective Dates
with respect to specified Plan provisions, as set forth in Section (a) of the Special Effective Dates Addendum to the Adoption Agreement. In the event that
another plan is merged into and made a part of the Plan, the effective date of the merger shall be reflected in the Plan Mergers Addendum to the Adoption
Agreement.
(q)
"Eligibility Computation Period" means each 12-consecutive-month period beginning with an Employee's Employment Commencement Date
and each anniversary thereof
(r)
"Eligibility Service" means an Employee's service that is taken into account in determining his eligibility to participate in the Plan as may be
required under Subsection 1.04(b) of the Adoption Agreement. Eligibility Service shall be credited in accordance with Article 3.
(s)
"Eligible Employee" means any Employee of the Employer who is in the class of Employees eligible to participate in the Plan. The Employer
must specify in Subsection 1.04(d) of the Adoption Agreement any Employee or class of Employees not eligible to participate in the Plan. Regardless of the
provisions of Subsection 1.04(d) of the Adoption Agreement, the following Employees are automatically excluded from eligibility to participate in the Plan:
(1)
any individual who is a signatory to a contract, letter of agreement, or other document that acknowledges his status as an independent contractor
not entitled to benefits under the Plan or who is not otherwise classified by the Employer as a common law employee, even if such individual is later
determined to be a common law employee; and
(2)

any Employee who is a resident of Puerto Rico.

If the Employer elects, in Subsection 1 .04(d)(2)(A) of the Adoption Agreement, to exclude collective bargaining employees from the eligible class,
the exclusion applies to any Employee of the Employer included in any unit of Employees covered by an agreement which the Secretary of Labor finds to be a
collective bargaining agreement between employee representatives and one or more employers, unless the collective bargaining agreement requires the
Employee to be covered under the Plan. The term "employee representatives" does not include any organization more than half the members of which are
owners, officers, or executives of the Employer.
If the Employer does not elect, in Subsection 1 .04(d)(2)(C) of the Adoption Agreement, to exclude Leased Employees from the eligible class,
contributions or benefits provided by the leasing organization which are attributable to services performed for the Employer shall be treated as provided by the
Employer and there shall be no duplication of benefits under this Plan.
Anything to the contrary herein notwithstanding, unless the Employer elects to exclude statutory employees who are full-time life insurance
salespersons (as described in Code Section 7701(a)(20)) from the eligible class in Subsection 1 .04(d)(2)(E) of the Adoption Agreement, such statutory
employees are Eligible Employees.

The CORPORATEplan for RetirementSM
© 2008 FMR LLC
All rights reserved.
4

(t)
"Employee" means any common law employee (or statutory employee who is a full-time life insurance salesperson as described in Code
Section 7701(a)(20)) of the Employer or a Related Employer, any Self-Employed Individual, and any Leased Employee. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a
Leased Employee shall not be considered an Employee if Leased Employees do not constitute more than 20 percent of the Employer's non-highly
compensated work-force (taking into account all Related Employers) and the Leased Employee is covered by a money purchase pension plan maintained by
the leasing organization and providing (1) a nonintegrated employer contribution rate of at least 10 percent of compensation, as defined for purposes of Code
Section 41 5(c)(3), (2) full and immediate vesting, and (3) immediate participation by each employee of the leasing organization.
(u)

"Employee Contribution" means any after-tax contribution made by an Active Participant to the Plan.

(v)
"Employer" means the employer named in Subsection 1.02(a) of the Adoption Agreement and any Related Employer designated in the
Participating Employers Addendum to the Adoption Agreement. If the Employer has elected in Subsection (b) of the Participating Employers Addendum to
the Adoption Agreement that the term "Employer" includes all Related Employers, an employer that becomes a Related Employer as a result of an asset or
stock acquisition, merger or other similar transaction shall not be included in the term "Employer" for periods prior to the first day of the second Plan Year
beginning after the date of such transaction, unless the Employer has designated therein to accept such Related Employer as a participating employer prior to
that date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the term "Employer" for purposes of authorizing any particular action under the Plan means solely the employer
named in Subsection 1.02(a) of the Adoption Agreement.
If the organization or other entity named in the Adoption Agreement is a sole proprietor or a professional corporation and the sole proprietor of
such proprietorship or the sole shareholder of the professional corporation dies, then the legal representative of such sole proprietor or shareholder shall be
deemed to be the Employer until such time as, through the disposition of such sole proprietor's or sole shareholder's estate or otherwise, any organization or
other entity succeeds to the interests of the sole proprietor in the proprietorship or the sole shareholder in the professional corporation. The legal representative
of a sole proprietor or shareholder shall be (1) the person appointed as such by the sole proprietor or shareholder prior to his death under a legally enforceable
power of attorney, or, if none, (2) the executor or administrator of the sole proprietor's or shareholder's estate.
If a participating Employer designated through Subsection 1.02(b) of the Adoption Agreement is not related to the Employer (hereinafter "unRelated Employer"), the term "Employer" includes such un-Related Employer and the provisions of Section 18.05 shall apply.
(w)

"Employment Commencement Date" means the date on which an Employee first performs an Hour of Service.

(x)
"Entry Date" means the date(s) specified by the Employer in Subsection 1.04(e) of the Adoption Agreement as of which an Eligible Employee
who has met the applicable eligibility requirements begins to participate in the Plan. The Employer may specify different Entry Dates for purposes of
eligibility to participate in the Plan for purposes of (1) making Deferral Contributions and (2) receiving allocations of Matching and/or Nonelective Employer
Contributions.
(y)

"ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as from time to time amended.

(z)
" 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contribution" means any Matching Employer Contribution made by the Employer to the Plan in
accordance with Subsection 1.11 (a)(3) of the Adoption Agreement, the 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions Addendum to the Adoption
Agreement, and Section 5.08, that is intended to satisfy the requirements of Code Section 401(k)(12)(B).
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(aa) " 401(k) Safe Harbor Nonelective Employer Contribution" means any Nonelective Employer Contribution made by the Employer to the Plan in
accordance with Subsection 1. 12(a)(3) of the Adoption Agreement, the 401(k) Safe Harbor Nonelective Employer Contributions Addendum to the Adoption
Agreement, and Section 5.10, that is intended to satisfy the requirements of Code Section 401(k)(12)(C).
(bb)

"Fund Share" means the share, unit, or other evidence of ownership in a Permissible Investment.

(cc)

"Highly Compensated Employee" means both highly compensated active Employees and highly compensated former Employees.

A highly compensated active Employee includes any Employee who performs service for the Employer during the "determination year" and who
(1) at any time during the "determination year" or the "look-back year" was a five percent owner or (2) received Compensation from the Employer during the
"look-back year" in excess of the dollar amount specified in Code Section 414(q)(1)(B)(i) adjusted pursuant to Code Section 415(d) (e.g., $95,000 for
"determination years" beginning in 2005 and "look-back years" beginning in 2004) and, if elected by the Employer in Subsection 1 .06(d)(1) of the Adoption
Agreement, was a member of the top-paid group for such year.
For this purpose, the "determination year" shall be the Plan Year. The "look-back year" shall be the twelve-month period immediately preceding the
"determination year", unless the Employer has elected in Subsection 1 .06(c)(1) of the Adoption Agreement to make the "look-back year" the calendar year
beginning within the preceding Plan Year.
A highly compensated former Employee includes any Employee who separated from service (or was deemed to have separated) prior to the
"determination year", performs no service for the Employer during the "determination year", and was a highly compensated active Employee for either the
separation year or any "determination year" ending on or after the Employee's 55th birthday, as determined under the rules in effect for determining Highly
Compensated Employees for such separation year or "determination year".
The determination of who is a Highly Compensated Employee, including the determinations of the number and identity of Employees in the toppaid group, shall be made in accordance with Code Section 414(q) and the Treasury Regulations issued thereunder.
(dd) "Hour of Service", with respect to any individual, means:
(1)
Each hour for which the individual is directly or indirectly paid, or entitled to payment, for the performance of duties for the Employer or a
Related Employer, each such hour to be credited to the individual for the Eligibility Computation Period in which the duties were performed;
(2)
Each hour for which the individual is directly or indirectly paid, or entitled to payment, by the Employer or a Related Employer (including
payments made or due from a trust fund or insurer to which the Employer contributes or pays premiums) on account of a period of time during which no
duties are performed (irrespective of whether the employment relationship has terminated) due to vacation, holiday, illness, incapacity, disability, layoff, jury
duty, military duty, or leave of absence, each such hour to be credited to the individual for the Eligibility Computation Period in which such period of time
occurs, subject to the following rules:
(A) No more than 501 Hours of Service shall be credited under this paragraph (2) on
account of any single continuous period during which the individual performs no duties, unless the individual performs no duties because of military duty, the
individual's
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employment rights are protected by law, and the individual returns to employment with the Employer or a Related Employer during the period that his
employment rights are protected under Federal law;
(B)
Hours of Service shall not be credited under this paragraph (2) for a payment which solely reimburses the individual for medically-related
expenses, or which is made or due under a plan maintained solely for the purpose of complying with applicable worker's compensation, unemployment
compensation or disability insurance laws; and
(C)
If the period during which the individual performs no duties falls within two or more Eligibility Computation Periods and if the payment
made on account of such period is not calculated on the basis of units of time, the Hours of Service credited with respect to such period shall be allocated
between not more than the first two such Eligibility Computation Periods on any reasonable basis consistently applied with respect to similarly situated
individuals;
(3)
Each hour not counted under paragraph (1) or (2) for which he would have been scheduled to work for the Employer or a Related Employer
during the period that he is absent from work because of military duty, provided the individual's employment rights are protected under Federal law and the
individual returns to work with the Employer or a Related Employer during the period that his employment rights are protected, each such hour to be credited
to the individual for the Eligibility Computation Period for which he would have been scheduled to work; and
(4)
Each hour not counted under paragraph (1), (2), or (3) for which back pay, irrespective of mitigation of damages, has been either awarded or
agreed to be paid by the Employer or a Related Employer, shall be credited to the individual for the Eligibility Computation Period to which the award or
agreement pertains rather than the Eligibility Computation Period in which the award, agreement, or payment is made.
For purposes of paragraphs (2) and (4) above, Hours of Service shall be calculated in accordance with the provisions of Section 2530.200b-2(b) and
(c) of the Department of Labor regulations, which are incorporated herein by reference.
The Employer may elect to credit Hours of Service in accordance with one of the other equivalencies set forth in paragraphs (d), (e), or (f) of
Department of Labor Regulation Section 253 0.200b-3. If the Employer does not maintain records that accurately reflect the actual Hours of Service to be
credited to an Employee, 190 Hours of Service will be credited to the Employee for each month worked, unless the Employer has elected to credit Hours of
Service in accordance with one of the other equivalencies set forth in paragraphs (d), (e), or (f) of Department of Labor Regulation Section 253 0.200b-3, as
provided in Subsection 1 .04(b)(4) of the Adoption Agreement.
(ee) "Inactive Participant" means any individual who was an Active Participant, but is no longer
an Eligible Employee and who has an Account under the Plan.
(ff)

"Leased Employee" means any individual who provides services to the Employer or a
Related Employer (the "recipient") but is not otherwise an employee of the recipient if (1) such services are
provided pursuant to an agreement between the recipient and any other person (the "leasing organization"), (2) such individual has performed services for the
recipient (or for the recipient and any related persons within the meaning of Code Section 414(n)(6)) on a substantially full-time basis for at least one year,
and (3) such services are performed under primary direction of or control by the recipient. The determination of who is a Leased Employee shall be made in
accordance with any rules and regulations issued by the Secretary of the Treasury or his delegate.
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(gg) "Limitation Year" means the 12-consecutive-month period designated by the Employer in
Subsection 1.01(f) of the Adoption Agreement. If no other Limitation Year is designated by the Employer, the Limitation Year shall be the calendar year. All
qualified plans of the Employer and any Related Employer must use the same Limitation Year. If the Limitation Year is amended to a different 12consecutive-month period, the new Limitation Year must begin on a date within the Limitation Year in which the amendment is made.
(hh) "Matching Employer Contribution" means any contribution made by the Employer to the
Plan in accordance with Section 5.08 or 5.09 on account of an Active Participant's eligible contributions, as elected by the Employer in Subsection 1.11(c) of
the Adoption Agreement.
(ii) "Nonelective Employer Contribution" means any contribution made by the Employer to the
Plan in accordance with Section 5.10.
(jj) "Non-Highly Compensated Employee" means any Employee who is not a Highly
Compensated Employee.
(kk) "Normal Retirement Age" means the normal retirement age specified in Subsection 1.14(a)
of the Adoption Agreement. If the Employer enforces a mandatory retirement age in accordance with Federal law, the Normal Retirement Age is the lesser of
that mandatory age or the age specified in Subsection 1.14(a) of the Adoption Agreement.
(ll) "Participant" means any individual who is either an Active Participant or an Inactive
Participant.
(mm) "Permissible Investment" means each investment specified by the Employer as available for
investment of assets of the Trust and agreed to by the Trustee and the Volume Submitter Sponsor. The Permissible Investments under the Plan shall be listed
in the Service Agreement.
(nn) "Plan" means the plan established by the Employer in the form of the volume submitter plan,
as set forth herein as a new plan or as an amendment to an existing plan, by executing the Adoption Agreement, together with any and all amendments hereto.
(oo) "Plan Year" means the 12-consecutive-month period ending on the date designated in
Subsection 1.01(d) of the Adoption Agreement, except that the initial Plan Year of a new Plan may consist of fewer than 12 months, calculated from the
Effective Date listed in Subsection 1.01 (g)(1) of the Adoption Agreement through the end of such initial Plan Year, in which event Compensation for such
initial Plan Year shall be treated as provided in Subsection 2.01(k). Additionally, in the event the Plan has a short Plan year, i.e., a Plan Year consisting of
fewer than 12 months, otherwise applicable limits and requirements that are applied on a Plan Year basis shall be prorated, but only if and to the extent
required by law.
(pp) "Qualified Matching Employer Contribution" means any contribution made by the
Employer to the Plan on account of Deferral Contributions or Employee Contributions made by or on behalf of Active Participants in accordance with Section
5.09, that may be included in determining whether the Plan meets the "ADP" test described in Section 6.03.
(qq) "Qualified Nonelective Employer Contribution" means any contribution made by the
Employer to the Plan on behalf of Non-Highly Compensated Employees in accordance with Section 5.07, that may be included in determining whether the
Plan meets the "ADP" test described in Section 6.03 or the "ACP" test described in Section 6.06.
(rr) "Reemployment Commencement Date" means the date on which an Employee who
terminates employment with the Employer and all Related Employers first performs an Hour of Service following such termination of employment.
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(ss) "Related Employer" means any employer other than the Employer named in
Subsection 1.02(a) of the Adoption Agreement if the Employer and such other employer are members of a controlled group of corporations (as defined in
Code Section 414(b)) or an affiliated service group (as defined in Code Section 414(m)), or are trades or businesses (whether or not incorporated) which are
under common control (as defined in Code Section 414(c)), or such other employer is required to be aggregated with the Employer pursuant to regulations
issued under Code Section 4 14(o).
(tt)

"Required Beginning Date" means:

(1)
for a Participant who is not a five percent owner, April 1 of the calendar year following the calendar year in which occurs the later of (i) the
Participant's retirement or (ii) the Participant's attainment of age 70 1/2; provided, however, that a Participant may elect to have his Required Beginning Date
determined without regard to the provisions of clause (i).
(2)

for a Participant who is a five percent owner, April 1 of the calendar year following the calendar year in which the Participant attains age 70 1/2.

Once the Required Beginning Date of a five percent owner or a Participant who has elected to have his Required Beginning Date determined in
accordance with the provisions of Section 2.01(tt)(1)(ii) has occurred, such Required Beginning Date shall not be re-determined, even if the Participant ceases
to be a five percent owner in a subsequent year or continues in employment with the Employer or a Related Employer.
For purposes of this Subsection 2.01(tt), a Participant is treated as a five percent owner if such Participant is a five percent owner as defined in
Code Section 416(i) (determined in accordance with Code Section 416 but without regard to whether the Plan is top-heavy) at any time during the Plan Year
ending with or within the calendar year in which such owner attains age 70 1/2.
(uu) "Rollover Contribution" means any distribution from an eligible retirement plan, as defined in Section 13.04, that an Employee elects to contribute to
the Plan in accordance with the provisions of Section 5.06.
(vv) "Roth 401(k) Contribution" means any Deferral Contribution made to the Plan by the Employer in accordance with the provisions of Subsection
5.03(b) that is not excludable from gross income and is intended to satisfy the requirements of Code Section 402A.
(ww) "Self-Employed Individual" means an individual who has Earned Income for the taxable year from the Employer or who would have had Earned
Income but for the fact that the trade or business had no net profits for the taxable year, including, but not limited to, a partner in a partnership, a sole
proprietor, a member in a limited liability company or a shareholder in a subchapter S corporation.
(xx) "Service Agreement" means the agreement between the Employer and the Volume Submitter Sponsor (or an agent or affiliate of the Volume
Submitter Sponsor) relating to the provision of investment and other services to the Plan and shall include any addendum to the agreement and any other
separate written agreement between the Employer and the Volume Submitter Sponsor (or an agent or affiliate of the Volume Submitter Sponsor) relating to
the provision of services to the Plan.
(yy) "Severance Date" means the earlier of (i) the date an Employee retires, dies, quits, or is discharged from employment with the Employer and all
Related Employers or (ii) the 12-month anniversary of the date on which the Employee was otherwise first absent from employment; provided, however, that
if an individual terminates or is absent from employment with the Employer and all Related Employers because of military duty, such individual shall not
incur a Severance Date if his employment rights are protected under Federal law and he returns to employment with the Employer or a Related Employer
within the period during which he retains such employment rights, but, if he does not return to
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such employment within such period, his Severance Date shall be the earlier of (1) the first anniversary of the date his absence commenced or (2) the last day
of the period during which he retains such employment rights.
(zz)

"Trust" means the trust created by the Employer in accordance with the provisions of Section 20.01.

(aaa) "Trust Agreement" means the agreement between the Employer and the Trustee, as set forth in Article 20, under which the assets of the Plan are
held, administered, and managed.
(bbb) "Trustee" means the trustee designated in Section 1.03 of the Adoption Agreement, or its successor or permitted assigns. The term Trustee shall
include any delegate of the Trustee as may be provided in the Trust Agreement.
(ccc)

"Trust Fund" means the property held in Trust by the Trustee for the benefit of Participants and their Beneficiaries.

(ddd) "Vesting Service" means an Employee's service that is taken into account in determining his vested interest in his Matching Employer and
Nonelective Employer Contributions Accounts as may be required under Section 1.16 of the Adoption Agreement. Vesting Service shall be credited in
accordance with Article 3.
(eee) "Volume Submitter Sponsor" means Fidelity Management & Research Company or its successor.
2.02. Interpretation and Construction of Terms. Where required by the context, the noun, verb, adjective, and
adverb forms of each defined term shall include any of its other forms. Pronouns used in the Plan are in the masculine gender but include the feminine gender
unless the context clearly indicates otherwise. Wherever used herein, the singular shall include the plural, and the plural shall include the singular, unless the
context requires otherwise.
2.03. Special Effective Dates. Some provisions of the Plan are only effective beginning as of a specified date or
until a specified date. Any such special effective dates are specified within Plan text where applicable and are exceptions to the general Plan Effective Date as
defined in Section 2.01(p).
Article 3.

Service.

3.01. Crediting of Eligibility Service. If the Employer has selected an Eligibility Service requirement in
Subsection 1.04(b) of the Adoption Agreement for an Eligible Employee to become an Active Participant, Eligibility Service shall be credited to an Employee
as follows:
(a)
If the Employer has selected the one year or two years of Eligibility Service requirement described in Subsection 1.04(b) of the Adoption
Agreement, an Employee shall be credited with a year of Eligibility Service for each Eligibility Computation Period during which the Employee has been
credited with the number of Hours of Service specified in that Subsection, as applicable.
(b)
If the Employer has selected a days or months of Eligibility Service requirement described in Subsection 1.04(b) of the Adoption Agreement, an
Employee shall be credited with Eligibility Service for the aggregate of the periods beginning with the Employee's Employment Commencement Date (or
Reemployment Commencement Date) and ending on his subsequent Severance Date; provided, however, that an Employee who has a Reemployment Date
within the 12-consecutive-month period following the earlier of the first date of his absence or his Severance Date shall be credited with Eligibility Service for
the period between his Severance Date and his Reemployment Date. A day of Eligibility Service shall be
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credited for each day on which an Employee is credited with Eligibility Service. Months of Eligibility Service shall be measured from the Employee's
Employment Commencement Date or Reemployment Commencement Date to the corresponding date in the applicable following month.
3.02. Re-Crediting of Eligibility Service Following Termination of Employment. An Employee whose employment with the Employer and all Related
Employers terminates and who is subsequently reemployed by the Employer or a Related Employer shall be re-credited upon reemployment with his
Eligibility Service earned prior to his termination of employment.
Crediting of Vesting Service. If the Plan provides for Matching Employer and/or Nonelective Employer
3.03.
Contributions that are not 100 percent vested when made, Vesting Service shall be credited to an Employee, subject to any exclusions elected by the
Employer in Subsection 1.16(b) of the Adoption Agreement, for the aggregate of the periods beginning with the Employee's Employment Commencement
Date (or Reemployment Commencement Date) and ending on his subsequent Severance Date; provided, however, that an Employee who has a
Reemployment Date within the 12-consecutive-month period following the earlier of the first date of his absence or his Severance Date shall be credited with
Vesting Service for the period between his Severance Date and his Reemployment Date. Fractional periods of a year shall be expressed in terms of days.
3.04.
Application of Vesting Service to a Participant's Account Following a Break in Vesting Service. The
following rules describe how Vesting Service earned before and after a Break in Vesting Service shall be applied for purposes of determining a Participant's
vested interest in his Matching Employer and Nonelective Employer Contributions Accounts.
(a)
If a Participant incurs five-consecutive Breaks in Vesting Service, all years of Vesting Service earned by the Employee after such Breaks in
Service shall be disregarded in determining the Participant's vested interest in his Matching Employer and Nonelective Employer Contributions Account
balances attributable to employment before such Breaks in Vesting Service. However, Vesting Service earned both before and after such Breaks in Vesting
Service shall be included in determining the Participant's vested interest in his Matching Employer and Nonelective Employer Contributions Account
balances attributable to employment after such Breaks in Vesting Service.
(b)
If a Participant incurs fewer than five-consecutive Breaks in Vesting Service, Vesting Service earned both before and after such Breaks in
Vesting Service shall be included in determining the Participant's vested interest in his Matching Employer and Nonelective Employer Contributions Account
balances attributable to employment both before and after such Breaks in Vesting Service.
3.05.
Service with Predecessor Employer. If the Plan is the plan of a predecessor employer, an Employee's
Eligibility and Vesting Service shall include years of service with such predecessor employer. In any case in which the Plan is not the plan maintained by a
predecessor employer, service for an employer specified in Section 1.17 of the Adoption Agreement shall be treated as Eligibility and/or Vesting Service as
specified in Subsection 1. 17(a)(1) and/or Subsection 1. 17(a)(2) of the Adoption Agreement.
3.06. Change in Service Crediting. If an amendment to the Plan or a transfer from employment as an Employee covered under another qualified plan
maintained by the Employer or a Related Employer results in a change in the method of crediting Eligibility and/or Vesting Service with respect to a
Participant between the Hours of Service crediting method set forth in Section 2530.200b-2 of the Department of Labor Regulations and the elapsed-time
crediting method set forth in Section 1.41 0(a)-7 of the Treasury Regulations, each Participant with respect to whom the method of crediting Eligibility and/or
Vesting Service is changed shall have his Eligibility and/or Vesting Service determined using either the Hours of Service method for the entire Eligibility
Computation Period and/or Plan Year, for vesting purposes, or the elapsed time method for the entire Eligibility Computation Period and/or Plan Year, for
vesting purposes, whichever provides the greater period of Eligibility Service and/or Vesting Service.
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Article 4.

Participation.

4.01. Date of Participation . If the Plan is an amendment, as indicated in Subsection 1.01(g)(2)(B) of the Adoption Agreement, all employees who were
active participants in the Plan immediately prior to the Effective Date shall continue as Active Participants on the Effective Date, provided that they are
Eligible Employees on the Effective Date. If elected by the Employer in Subsection 1.04(f) of the Adoption Agreement, all Eligible Employees who are in the
service of the Employer on the date specified in Subsection 1.04(f) (and, if this is an amendment, as indicated in Subsection 1.01 (g)(2)(B) of the Adoption
Agreement, were not active participants in the Plan immediately prior to that date) shall become Active Participants on the date elected by the Employer in
Subsection 1.04(f) of the Adoption Agreement. Any other Eligible Employee shall become an Active Participant in the Plan on the Entry Date coinciding with
or immediately following the date on which he first satisfies the eligibility requirements set forth in Subsections 1.04(a) and (b) of the Adoption Agreement.
Any age and/or Eligibility Service requirement that the Employer elects to apply in determining an Eligible Employee's eligibility to make Deferral
Contributions shall also apply in determining an Eligible Employee's eligibility to make Employee Contributions, if Employee Contributions are permitted
under the Plan, and to receive Qualified Nonelective Employer Contributions. An Eligible Employee who has met the eligibility requirements with respect to
certain contributions, but who has not met the eligibility requirements with respect to other contributions, shall become an Active Participant in accordance
with the provisions of the preceding paragraph, but only with respect to the contributions for which he has met the eligibility requirements.
Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, if the Employer selects in Subsection 1.01 (g)(5) of the Adoption Agreement that the Plan is a
frozen plan, no Employee who was not already an Active Participant on the date the Plan was frozen shall become an Active Participant while the Plan is
frozen. If the Employer amends the Plan to remove the freeze, Employees shall again become Active Participants in accordance with the provisions of the
amended Plan.
4.02. Transfers Out of Covered Employment. If any Active Participant ceases to be an Eligible Employee, but continues in the employ of the Employer or
a Related Employer, such Employee shall cease to be an Active Participant, but shall continue as an Inactive Participant until his entire Account balance is
forfeited or distributed. An Inactive Participant shall not be entitled to receive an allocation of contributions or forfeitures under the Plan for the period that he
is not an Eligible Employee and wages and other payments made to him by the Employer or a Related Employer for services other than as an Eligible
Employee shall not be included in Compensation for purposes of determining the amount and allocation of any contributions to the Account of such Inactive
Participant. Such Inactive Participant shall continue to receive credit for Vesting Service completed during the period that he continues in the employ of the
Employer or a Related Employer.
4.03.
Transfers Into Covered Employment. If an Employee who is not an Eligible Employee becomes an Eligible Employee, such Eligible Employee
shall become an Active Participant immediately as of his transfer date if such Eligible Employee has already satisfied the eligibility requirements and would
have otherwise previously become an Active Participant in accordance with Section 4.01. Otherwise, such Eligible Employee shall become an Active
Participant in accordance with Section 4.01.
Wages and other payments made to an Employee prior to his becoming an Eligible Employee by the Employer or a Related Employer for services
other than as an Eligible Employee shall not be included in Compensation for purposes of determining the amount and allocation of any contributions to the
Account of such Eligible Employee.
4.04. Resumption of Participation Following Reemployment. If a Participant who terminates employment with the Employer and all Related Employers is
reemployed as an Eligible Employee, he shall again become an Active Participant on his Reemployment Commencement Date. If a former Employee is
reemployed as an Eligible Employee on or after an Entry Date coinciding with or following the date on which he met the age and service requirements elected
by the Employer in Section 1.04 of the Adoption Agreement, he shall become an Active Participant on his Reemployment Commencement Date. Any other
former Employee who is reemployed as an
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Eligible Employee shall become an Active Participant as provided in Section 4.01 or 4.03. Any distribution which a Participant is receiving under the Plan at
the time he is reemployed by the Employer or a Related Employer shall cease, except as otherwise required under Section 12.04.
Article 5.

Contributions.

5.01. Contributions Subject to Limitations. All contributions made to the Plan under this Article 5 shall be
subject to the limitations contained in Article 6.
5.02.
Compensation Taken into Account in Determining Contributions. In determining the amount or allocation of any contribution that is based on a
percentage of Compensation, only Compensation paid to a Participant prior to termination for services rendered to the Employer while employed as an
Eligible Employee shall be taken into account. Except as otherwise specifically provided in this Article 5, for purposes of determining the amount and
allocation of contributions under this Article 5, Compensation shall not include any amounts elected by the Employer with respect to such contributions in
Subsection 1.05(a) or (b), as applicable, of the Adoption Agreement.
If the initial Plan Year of a new plan consists of fewer than 12 months, calculated from the Effective Date listed in Subsection 1.01 (g)(1) of the
Adoption Agreement through the end of such initial Plan Year, except as otherwise provided in this paragraph, Compensation for purposes of determining the
amount and allocation of contributions under this Article 5 for such initial Plan Year shall include only Compensation for services during the period beginning
on the Effective Date listed in Subsection 1.01 (g)(1) of the Adoption Agreement and ending on the last day of the initial Plan Year. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, to the extent selected in Subsection 1 .05(b)(1)(A) or (2)(A) of the Adoption Agreement, Compensation for purposes of determining the amount
and allocation of Nonelective Employer Contributions, other than 401(k) Safe Harbor Nonelective Employer Contributions, under this Article 5 for such
initial Plan Year shall include Compensation for the full 12-consecutive-month period ending on the last day of the initial Plan Year.
5.03.
Deferral Contributions. If so provided in Subsection 1.07(a) of the Adoption Agreement, each Active Participant may elect to execute a salary
reduction agreement with the Employer to reduce his Compensation by an amount, as specified in Subsection 1.07(a) of the Adoption Agreement, for each
payroll period. Except as specifically elected by the Employer within Subsections 1.07(a) of the Adoption Agreement, with respect to each payroll period, an
Active Participant may not elect to make Deferral Contributions in excess of the percentage of Compensation specified by the Employer in Subsection 1 .
07(a)(1)(A) of the Adoption Agreement and Subsection 5.03(a) below. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Employer has elected 401(k) Safe Harbor
Matching Contributions in Option 1.11 (a)(3) of the Adoption Agreement, a Participant must be permitted to make Deferral Contributions under the Plan
sufficient to receive the full 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contribution provided under Subsection (a)(1) or (2), as applicable of the 401(k) Safe
Harbor Matching Employer Contributions Addendum to the Adoption Agreement.
An Active Participant's salary reduction agreement shall become effective on the first day of the first payroll period for which the Employer can
reasonably process the request, but not earlier than the later of (a) the effective date of the provisions permitting Deferral Contributions or (b) the date the
Employer adopts such provisions. The Employer shall make a Deferral Contribution on behalf of the Participant corresponding to the amount of said
reduction. Under no circumstances may a salary reduction agreement be adopted retroactively.
An Active Participant may elect to change or discontinue the amount by which his Compensation is reduced by notice to the Employer as provided
in Subsection 1 .07(a)(1)(C) or (D) of the Adoption Agreement. Notwithstanding the Employer's election in Subsection 1 .07(a)(1)(C) or (D) of the Adoption
Agreement, if the Employer has elected 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions in Subsection 1.11 (a)(3) of the Adoption Agreement or 40
1(k) Safe Harbor Nonelective Employer Contributions in; Subsection 1. 12(a)(3) of the Adoption Agreement, an Active Participant may elect to change or
discontinue the amount by which his Compensation is reduced by notice to the Employer within a reasonable period, as specified by the Employer (but not
less than 30 days), of receiving the notice described in Section 6.09.
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Based upon the Employer's elections in Subsection 1.07(a) of the Adoption Agreement, the following special types of Deferral Contributions may
be made to the Plan:
(a)
Catch-Up Contributions. If elected by the Employer in Subsection 1 .07(a)(4) of the Adoption Agreement, an Active Participant who has
attained or is expected to attain age 50 before the close of the calendar year shall be eligible to make Catch-Up Contributions to the Plan in excess of an
otherwise applicable Plan limit, but not in excess of (i) the dollar limit in effect under Code Section 414(v)(2)(B)(i) for the calendar year or (ii) when added to
the other Deferral Contributions made by the Participant for the calendar year, the deferral limit described in Subsection 1 .07(a)(1)(A) of the Adoption
Agreement, provided such deferral limit is not less than 75 percent. Except as otherwise elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, if the Employer
elects to provide for Catch-Up Contributions pursuant to Subsection 1 .07(a)(4) of the Adoption Agreement, such deferral limit shall be 75 percent of
Compensation. An otherwise applicable Plan limit is a limit that applies to Deferral Contributions without regard to Catch-Up Contributions, including, but
not limited to, (1) the dollar limitation on Deferral Contributions under Code Section 402(g), described in Section 6.02, (2) the limitations on annual additions
in effect under Code Section 415, described in Section 6.12, and (3) the limitation on Deferral Contributions for Highly Compensated Employees under Code
Section 401(k)(3), described in Section 6.03.
In the event that the deferral limit described in Subsection 1 .07(a)(1)(A) of the Adoption Agreement or the administrative limit described in
Section 6.05, as applicable, is changed during the Plan Year, for purposes of determining Catch-Up Contributions for the Plan Year, such limit shall be
determined using the time-weighted average method described in Section 1.414(v)-1 (b)(2)(i)(B)(1) of the Treasury Regulations, applying the alternative
definition of compensation permitted under Section 1.414(v)- 1(b)(2)(i)(B)(2) of the Treasury Regulations.
(b)
Roth 401(k) Contributions. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary, if the Employer elects in Subsection 1 .07(a)(5) of
the Adoption Agreement to permit Roth 401(k) Contributions, then a Participant may irrevocably designate all or a portion of his Deferral Contributions made
pursuant to Subsection 1.07(a) of the Adoption Agreement as Roth 401(k) Contributions that are includible in the Participant's gross income at the time
deferred, pursuant to Code Section 402A and any applicable guidance or regulations issued thereunder. A Participant may change his designation
prospectively with respect to future Deferral Contributions as of the date or dates elected by the Employer in Subsection 1 .07(a)(1)(C) of the Adoption
Agreement. The Administrator will maintain all such contributions made pursuant to Code Section 402A separately and make distributions in accordance with
the Plan unless required to do otherwise by Code Section 402A and any applicable guidance or regulations issued thereunder.
(c)
Automatic Enrollment Contributions. If the Employer elected Option 1 .07(a)(6) of the Adoption Agreement, for each Active Participant to
whom the Employer has elected to apply the automatic enrollment contribution provisions, such Active Participant's Compensation shall be reduced by the
percentage specified by the Employer in Option 1 .07(a)(6) of the Adoption Agreement. These amounts shall be contributed to the Plan on behalf of such
Active Participant as Deferral Contributions.
An Active Participant's Compensation shall continue to be reduced and Deferral Contributions made to the Plan on his behalf until the Active
Participant elects to change or discontinue the percentage by which his Compensation is reduced by notice to the Employer as provided in Subsection 1 .07(a)
(1)(C) or (D) of the Adoption Agreement. An Eligible Employee may affirmatively elect not to have his Compensation reduced in accordance with this
Subsection 5.03(c) by notice to the Employer within a reasonable period ending no later than the date Compensation subject to reduction hereunder becomes
available to the Active Participant.
If the Employer elected Option 1.07(b) of the Adoption Agreement, the deferral election of an Active Participant on whose behalf Deferral
Contributions are being made pursuant to the automatic enrollment provisions described above shall be increased annually by the percentage of Compensation
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specified in Subsection 1 .07(b)(1) of the Adoption Agreement, unless and until the percentage of Compensation being contributed on behalf of the Active
Participant reaches the limit specified in Subsection 1 .07(b)(2) of the Adoption Agreement or, if none, in Subsection 1 .07(a)(1) of the Adoption Agreement.
An Active Participant may affirmatively elect not to have his deferral election increased in accordance with the provisions of this paragraph by notice to the
Employer within a reasonable period ending no later than the date Compensation subject to the increase becomes available to the Active Participant.
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Section or of any Participant's salary reduction agreement, in no event shall a Participant be permitted
to make Deferral Contributions in excess of his "effectively available Compensation." A Participant's "effectively available Compensation" is his
Compensation remaining after all applicable amounts have been withheld (e.g., tax-withholding and withholding of contributions to a cafeteria plan).
Employee Contributions. If so provided by the Employer in Subsection 1.08(a) of the Adoption
5.04.
Agreement, each Active Participant may elect to make non-deductible Employee Contributions to the Plan in accordance with the rules and procedures
established by the Employer and subject to the limits provided in Subsection 1.08(a) of the Adoption Agreement. An Active Participant may not elect to make
non-deductible Employee Contributions in excess of the percentage of Compensation specified by the Employer in Subsection 1 .08(a)(1) of the Adoption
Agreement.
5.05.
No Deductible Employee Contributions. No deductible Employee Contributions may be made to the Plan. Deductible Employee Contributions
made prior to January 1, 1987 shall be maintained in a separate Account. No part of the deductible Employee Contributions Account shall be used to purchase
life insurance.
5.06.
Rollover Contributions. If so provided by the Employer in Subsection 1.09(a) of the Adoption
Agreement, an Eligible Employee who is or was entitled to receive an eligible rollover distribution, as defined in Code Section 402(c)(4) and Treasury
Regulations issued thereunder, including an eligible rollover distribution received by the Eligible Employee as a surviving spouse or as a spouse or former
spouse who is an alternate payee under a qualified domestic relations order, from an eligible retirement plan, as defined in Section 13.04, may elect to
contribute all or any portion of such distribution to the Trust directly from such eligible retirement plan (a "direct rollover") or within 60 days of receipt of
such distribution to the Eligible Employee. Rollover Contributions shall only be made in the form of cash, allowable Fund Shares, or promissory notes
evidencing a plan loan to the Eligible Employee; provided, however, that Rollover Contributions shall only be permitted in the form of promissory notes if the
Plan otherwise provides for loans.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Plan shall not accept the following as Rollover Contributions:
(a)

any rollover of after-tax employee contributions that is not made by a direct rollover;

(b)
if elected by the Employer in Subsection 1 .09(a)(1) of the Adoption Agreement, a direct rollover of after-tax employee contributions from a
qualified plan described in Code Section 401(a) or 403(a);
(c)
any rollover of after-tax employee contributions from an annuity contract described in Code Section 403(b) or from an individual retirement
account or annuity described in Code Section 408(a) or (b);
(d)

any rollover of nondeductible individual retirement account or annuity contributions;

(e)
any rollover of after-tax employee contributions from an eligible deferred compensation plan described in Code Section 457(b) that is
maintained by a state, political subdivision of a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or political subdivision of a state;
(f)
if elected by the Employer in Subsection 1 .09(a)(2) of the Adoption Agreement, any rollover of "designated Roth contributions", as defined in
Subsection 6.01(e);
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(g)
any rollover of the non-taxable portion of an Eligible Employee's "designated Roth contributions", as defined in Subsection 6.01(e), that is not
made by a direct rollover; or
(h)

any rollover of "designated Roth contributions", as defined in Subsection 6.01(e), from a Roth IRA described in Code Section 408A.

To the extent the Plan accepts Rollover Contributions of after-tax employee contributions, the Plan will separately account for such contributions,
including separate accounting for the portion of the Rollover Contribution that is includible in gross income and the portion that is not includible in gross
income.
Any rollover of "designated Roth contributions", as defined in Subsection 6.01(e), shall be subject to the requirements of Code Section 402(c). To
the extent the Plan accepts Rollover Contributions of "designated Roth contributions", the Plan will separately account for such contributions in accordance
with the provisions of Section 7.01, including separate accounting for the portion of the Rollover Contribution that is includible in gross income and the
portion that is not includible in gross income, if applicable. If the Plan accepts a direct rollover of "designated Roth contributions", the Trustee and the Plan
Administrator shall be entitled to rely on a statement from the distributing plan's administrator identifying (i) the Eligible Employee's basis in the rolled over
amounts and (ii) the date on which the Eligible Employee's 5-taxable-year period of participation (as required under Code Section 402A(d)(2) for a qualified
distribution of "designated Roth contributions") started under the distributing plan. If the 5-taxable-year period of participation under the distributing plan
would end sooner than the Eligible Employee's 5- taxable-year period of participation under the Plan, the 5-taxable-year period of participation applicable
under the distributing plan shall continue to apply with respect to the Rollover Contribution.
An Eligible Employee who has not yet become an Active Participant in the Plan in accordance with the provisions of Article 3 may make a
Rollover Contribution to the Plan. Such Eligible Employee shall be treated as a Participant under the Plan for all purposes of the Plan, except eligibility to
have Deferral Contributions made on his behalf and to receive an allocation of Matching Employer or Nonelective Employer Contributions.
The Administrator shall develop such procedures and require such information from Eligible Employees as it deems necessary to ensure that
amounts contributed under this Section 5.06 meet the requirements for tax-deferred rollovers established by this Section 5.06 and by Code Section 402(c). No
Rollover Contributions may be made to the Plan until approved by the Administrator.
If a Rollover Contribution made under this Section 5.06 is later determined by the Administrator not to have met the requirements of this Section
5.06 or of the Code or Treasury regulations, the Trustee shall, within a reasonable time after such determination is made, and on instructions from the
Administrator, distribute to the Employee the amounts then held in the Trust attributable to such Rollover Contribution.
A Participant's Rollover Contributions Account shall be subject to the terms of the Plan, including Article 14, except as otherwise provided in this
Section 5.06.
5.07. Qualified Nonelective Employer Contributions. The Employer may, in its discretion, make a Qualified Nonelective Employer Contribution for the
Plan Year in any amount necessary to satisfy or help to satisfy the "ADP" test, described in Section 6.03, and/or the "ACP" test, described in Section 6.06.
Unless the Employer elects the allocation provisions in Subsection 1.1 0(a)(1) of the Adoption Agreement, any Qualified Nonelective Employer Contribution
shall be allocated among the Accounts of Non-Highly Compensated Employees who were Active Participants at any time during the Plan Year in the ratio
that each eligible Active Participant's "testing compensation", as defined in Subsection 6.01(r), for the Plan Year bears to the total "testing compensation" paid
to all eligible Active Participants for the Plan Year. If the Employer elects the allocation provisions in Subsection 1.1 0(a)(1) of the Adoption Agreement, any
Qualified Nonelective Employer Contribution shall be allocated among the Accounts of only those Non-Highly Compensated Employees who are designated
by the Employer and who were Active Participants at any time during the Plan Year and shall be allocated to each such Non-Highly Compensated Employee
in the amount determined by the Employer; provided, however, that the amount of any Qualified Nonelective Contribution included in a Non-Highly
Compensated Employee's "contribution percentage
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amounts", as defined in Subsection 6.01(c), shall not exceed 5% of such Non-Highly Compensated Employee's "testing compensation", as defined in
Subsection 6.01(r), and the amount of any Qualified Nonelective Contribution included as " in a Non-Highly Compensated Employee's "includable
contributions", as defined in Subsection 6.01(n), shall not exceed 5% of such Non-Highly Compensated Employee's "testing compensation", as defined in
Subsection 6.01(r).
Participants shall not be required to satisfy any Hours of Service or employment requirement for the Plan Year in order to receive an allocation of
Qualified Nonelective Employer Contributions.
Qualified Nonelective Employer Contributions shall be distributable only in accordance with the distribution provisions that are applicable to
Deferral Contributions; provided, however, that a Participant shall not be permitted to take a hardship withdrawal of amounts credited to his Qualified
Nonelective Employer Contributions Account after the later of December 31, 1988 or the last day of the Plan Year ending before July 1, 1989.
Matching Employer Contributions. If so provided by the Employer in Section 1.11 of the Adoption Agreement, the Employer shall make a
5.08.
Matching Employer Contribution on behalf of each of its "eligible" Participants. For purposes of this Section 5.08, an "eligible" Participant means any
Participant who was an Active Participant during the Contribution Period, who meets the requirements in Subsection 1.11(e) of the Adoption Agreement or
Section 1.13 of the Adoption Agreement, as applicable, and who had eligible contributions, as elected by the Employer in Subsection 1.11(c) of the Adoption
Agreement, made on his behalf during the Contribution Period. The amount of the Matching Employer Contribution shall be determined in accordance with
Subsection 1.11(a) and/or (b) of the Adoption Agreement and/or the 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions Addendum to the Adoption
Agreement, as applicable.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless otherwise elected in Subsection 1.11 (c)(1)(A) of the Adoption Agreement, the Employer shall not make
Matching Employer Contributions, other than 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions, with respect to an "eligible" Participant's Catch-Up
Contributions. If, due to application of a Plan limit, Matching Employer Contributions other than 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions are
attributable to Catch-Up Contributions, such Matching Employer Contributions, plus any income and minus any loss allocable thereto, shall be forfeited and
applied as provided in Section 11.09.
5.09.
Qualified Matching Employer Contributions. If so provided by the Employer in Subsection 1.11(f) of
the Adoption Agreement, prior to making its Matching Employer Contribution (other than any 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contribution) to the
Plan, the Employer may designate all or a portion of such Matching Employer Contribution as a Qualified Matching Employer Contribution. The Employer
shall notify the Trustee of such designation at the time it makes its Matching Employer Contribution. Qualified Matching Employer Contributions shall be
distributable only in accordance with the distribution provisions that are applicable to Deferral Contributions; provided, however, that a Participant shall not
be permitted to take a hardship withdrawal of amounts credited to his Qualified Matching Employer Contributions Account after the later of December 31,
1988 or the last day of the Plan Year ending before July 1, 1989.
If the amount of an Employer's Qualified Matching Employer Contribution is determined based on a Participant's Compensation, and the Qualified
Matching Employer Contribution is necessary to satisfy the "ADP" test described in Section 6.03, the compensation used in determining the amount of the
Qualified Matching Employer Contribution shall be "testing compensation", as defined in Subsection 6.01(r). If the Qualified Matching Employer
Contribution is not necessary to satisfy the "ADP" test described in Section 6.03, the compensation used to determine the amount of the Qualified Matching
Employer Contribution shall be Compensation as defined in Subsection 2.01(k), modified as provided in Section 5.02.
5.10.
Nonelective Employer Contributions. If so provided by the Employer in Section 1.12 of the Adoption
Agreement, the Employer shall make Nonelective Employer Contributions to the Trust in accordance with Subsection 1.12(a) and/or (b) of the Adoption
Agreement to be allocated among "eligible" Participants. For purposes of this Section 5.10, an "eligible" Participant means any Participant who was an Active
Participant during the period for which the contribution is made and who meets the requirements in Subsection 1.12(d) of the Adoption
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Agreement or Section 1.13 of the Adoption Agreement, as applicable. Nonelective Employer Contributions shall be allocated as follows:
(a)
If the Employer has elected a fixed contribution formula, Nonelective Employer Contributions shall be allocated among "eligible" Participants in
the manner specified in Section 1.12 of the Adoption Agreement or the 401(k) Safe Harbor Nonelective Employer Contributions Addendum to the Adoption
Agreement, as applicable.
(b)
If the Employer has elected a discretionary contribution amount, Nonelective Employer Contributions shall be allocated among "eligible"
Participants, as determined in accordance with Section 1.12 and Section 1.13 of the Adoption Agreement, as follows:
(1)
If the non-integrated formula is elected in Subsection 1. 12(b)(1) of the Adoption Agreement, Nonelective Employer Contributions shall be
allocated to "eligible" Participants in the ratio that each "eligible" Participant's Compensation bears to the total Compensation paid to all "eligible"
Participants for the Contribution Period.
(2)
If the integrated formula is elected in Subsection 1. 12(b)(2) of the Adoption Agreement, Nonelective Employer Contributions shall be allocated
in the following steps:
(A)
First, to each "eligible" Participant in the same ratio that the sum of the "eligible" Participant's Compensation and "excess Compensation" for the
Plan Year bears to the sum of the Compensation and "excess Compensation" of all "eligible" Participants for the Plan Year. This allocation as a percentage of
the sum of each "eligible" Participant's Compensation and "excess Compensation" shall not exceed the "permitted disparity limit", as defined in Section 1.12
of the Adoption Agreement.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if in any Plan Year an "eligible" Participant has reached the "cumulative permitted disparity limit", such "eligible"
Participant shall receive an allocation under this Subsection 5.10(b)(2)(A) based on two times his Compensation for the Plan Year, rather than the sum of his
Compensation and "excess Compensation" for the Plan Year. If an "eligible" Participant did not benefit under a qualified defined benefit plan or target benefit
plan for any Plan Year beginning on or after January 1, 1994, the "eligible" Participant shall have no "cumulative disparity limit".
(B)
Second, if any Nonelective Employer Contributions remain after the allocation in Subsection 5.1 0(b)(2)(A), the remaining Nonelective Employer
Contributions shall be allocated to each "eligible" Participant in the same ratio that the "eligible" Participant's Compensation for the Plan Year bears to the
total Compensation of all "eligible" Participants for the Plan Year.
Notwithstanding the provisions of Subsections 5.10(b)(2)(A) and (B) above, if in any Plan Year an "eligible" Participant benefits under another
qualified plan or simplified employee pension, as defined in Code Section 408(k), that provides for or imputes permitted disparity, the Nonelective Employer
Contributions for the Plan Year allocated to such "eligible" Participant shall be in the ratio that his Compensation for the Plan Year bears to the total
Compensation paid to all "eligible" Participants.
For purposes of this Subsection 5.10(b)(2), the following definitions shall apply:
(C)
"Cumulative permitted disparity limit" means 35 multiplied by the sum of an "eligible" Participant's annual permitted disparity fractions, as
defined in Sections 1 .401(l)-5(b)(3) through (b)(7) of the Treasury Regulations, attributable to the
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"eligible" Participant's total years of service under the Plan and any other qualified plan or simplified employee pension, as defined in Code Section 408(k),
maintained by the Employer or a Related Employer. For each Plan Year commencing prior to January 1, 1989, the annual permitted disparity fraction shall be
deemed to be one, unless the Participant never accrued a benefit under any qualified plan or simplified employee pension maintained by the Employer or a
Related Employer during any such Plan Year. In determining the annual permitted disparity fraction for any Plan Year, the Employer may elect to assume that
the full disparity limit has been used for such Plan Year.
(D) "Excess Compensation" means Compensation in excess of the "integration level" specified by the Employer in Subsection 1. 12(b)(2) of the Adoption
Agreement.
Vested Interest in Contributions. A Participant's vested interest in the following sub-accounts shall be
5.11.
100 percent:
(a)

his Deferral Contributions Account;

(b)

his Qualified Nonelective Employer Contributions Account;

(c)

his Qualified Matching Employer Contributions Account;

(d)

his 401(k) Safe Harbor Nonelective Employer Contributions Account;

(e)

his 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions Account;

(f)

his Rollover Contributions Account;

(g)

his Employee Contributions Account; and

(h)

his deductible Employee Contributions Account.

Except as otherwise specifically provided in the Vesting Schedule Addendum to the Adoption Agreement or as may be required under Section
15.05, a Participant's vested interest in his Nonelective Employer Contributions Account attributable to Nonelective Employer Contributions other than those
described in Subsection 5.11(d) above, shall be determined in accordance with the vesting schedule elected by the Employer in Subsection 1.1 6(c)(1) of the
Adoption Agreement. Except as otherwise specifically provided in the Vesting Schedule Addendum to the Adoption Agreement, a Participant's vested interest
in his Matching Employer Contributions Account attributable to Matching Employer Contributions other than those described in Subsection 5.11(e) above,
shall be determined in accordance with the vesting schedule elected by the Employer in Subsection 1. 16(c)(2) of the Adoption Agreement.
5.12.
Time for Making Contributions. The Employer shall pay its contribution for each Plan Year not later
than the time prescribed by law for filing the Employer's Federal income tax return for the fiscal (or taxable) year with or within which such Plan Year ends
(including extensions thereof).
If the Employer has elected the payroll period as the Contribution Period in Subsection 1.11(d) of the Adoption Agreement, the Employer shall
remit any 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions made during a Plan Year quarter to the Trustee no later than the last day of the immediately
following Plan Year quarter.
The Employer should remit Employee Contributions and Deferral Contributions to the Trustee as of the earliest date on which such contributions
can reasonably be segregated from the Employer's general assets, but not later than the 15th business day of the calendar month following the month in which
such amount otherwise would
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have been paid to the Participant, or within such other time frame as may be determined by applicable regulation or legislation.
The Trustee shall have no authority to inquire into the correctness of the amounts contributed and remitted to the Trustee, to determine whether any
contribution is payable under this Article 5, or to enforce, by suit or otherwise, the Employer's obligation, if any, to make a contribution to the Trustee. The
Trustee is a directed trustee pursuant to ERISA Section 403(a)(1) for all purposes, and, specifically, has no responsibility or authority to collect Plan
contributions or loan repayments or to pursue any claim the Plan might have with respect to loan repayments or Plan contributions.
5.13. Return of Employer Contributions. The Trustee shall, upon request by the Employer, return to the Employer the amount (if any) determined under
Section 20.23. Such amount shall be reduced by amounts attributable thereto which have been credited to the Accounts of Participants who have since
received distributions from the Trust, except to the extent such amounts continue to be credited to such Participants' Accounts at the time the amount is
returned to the Employer. Such amount shall also be reduced by the losses of the Trust attributable thereto, if and to the extent such losses exceed the gains
and income attributable thereto, but shall not be increased by the gains and income of the Trust attributable thereto, if and to the extent such gains and income
exceed the losses attributable thereto. To the extent such gains exceed losses, the gains shall be forfeited and applied as provided in Section 11.09. In no event
shall the return of a contribution hereunder cause the balance of the individual Account of any Participant to be reduced to less than the balance which would
have been credited to the Account had the mistaken amount not been contributed.
5.14. Frozen Plan. If the Employer has selected in Subsection 1.01(g)(5) of the Adoption Agreement that the
Plan is a frozen plan, then during the period that the Plan is a frozen Plan and notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary, no further
contributions may be made to the Plan in accordance with this Article 5. If the Employer amends the Plan to remove the freeze, contributions shall resume in
accordance with the provisions of the amended Plan.
Article 6.
6.01.

Limitations on Contributions.

Special Definitions. For purposes of this Article, the following definitions shall apply:

(a) "Annual additions" mean the sum of the following amounts allocated to an Active Participant
for a Limitation Year:
(1)
all employer contributions allocated to an Active Participant's account under qualified defined contribution plans maintained by the "415
employer", including amounts applied to reduce employer contributions as provided under Section 11.09, but excluding amounts treated as Catch- Up
Contributions;
(2)
all employee contributions allocated to an Active Participant's account under a qualified defined contribution plan or a qualified defined benefit
plan maintained by the "415 employer" if separate accounts are maintained with respect to such Active Participant under the defined benefit plan;
(3)

all forfeitures allocated to an Active Participant's account under a qualified defined contribution plan maintained by the "415 employer";

(4)

all amounts allocated to an "individual medical benefit account" which is part of a pension or annuity plan maintained by the "415 employer";

(5)
all amounts derived from contributions paid or accrued after December 31, 1985, in taxable years ending after such date, which are attributable
to post-retirement medical benefits
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allocated to the separate account of a key employee, as defined in Code Section 41 9A(d)(3), under a "welfare benefit fund" maintained by the "415
employer"; and
(6)

all allocations to an Active Participant under a "simplified employee pension".

(b)
"Contribution percentage" means the ratio (expressed as a percentage) of (1) the "contribution percentage amounts" allocated to an "eligible
participant's" Accounts for the Plan Year to (2) the "eligible participant's" "testing compensation" for the Plan Year.
(c)
(1)
(A)

"Contribution percentage amounts" mean those amounts included in applying the "ACP" test.
"Contribution percentage amounts" include the following:
any Employee Contributions made by an "eligible participant" to the Plan;

(B)
any Matching Employer Contributions on eligible contributions as elected by the Employer in Subsection 1.11(c) of the Adoption Agreement,
made for the Plan Year, but excluding (A) Qualified Matching Employer Contributions that are taken into account in satisfying the "ADP" test described in
Section 6.03 and (B) Matching Employer Contributions that are forfeited either to correct "excess aggregate contributions" or because the contributions to
which they relate are "excess deferrals", "excess contributions", "excess aggregate contributions", or Catch-Up Contributions (in the event the Plan does not
provide for Matching Employer Contributions with respect to Catch-Up Contributions);
(C)
if elected, Qualified Nonelective Employer Contributions, excluding Qualified Nonelective Employer Contributions that are taken into account
in satisfying the "ADP" test described in Section 6.03;
(D)
if elected, 401(k) Safe Harbor Nonelective Employer Contributions, to the extent such contributions are not required to satisfy the safe harbor
contribution requirements under Section 1.401(k)-3(b) of the Treasury Regulations, excluding 401(k) Safe Harbor Nonelective Employer Contributions that
are taken into account in satisfying the "ADP" test described in Section 6.03; and
(E)
if elected, Deferral Contributions, provided that the "ADP" test described in Section 6.03 is satisfied both including Deferral Contributions
included as "contribution percentage amounts" and excluding such Deferral Contributions.
(2) Notwithstanding the foregoing, for any Plan Year in which the "ADP" test described in Section 6.03 is deemed satisfied pursuant to Section 6.09 with
respect to some or all Deferral Contributions, "contribution percentage amounts" shall not include the following:
(A)

any Deferral Contributions with respect to which the "ADP" test is deemed satisfied; and

(B)

if elected, the following Matching Employer Contributions:

(i) if the requirements described in Section 6.10 for deemed satisfaction of
the "ACP" test with respect to some or all Matching Employer Contributions are met, those Matching Employer Contributions with respect to which the
"ACP" test is deemed satisfied; or
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(ii) if the "ADP" test is deemed satisfied using 401(k) Safe Harbor
Matching Employer Contributions, but the requirements described in Section 6.10 for deemed satisfaction of the "ACP" test with respect to Matching
Employer Contributions are not met, any Matching Employer Contributions made on behalf of an "eligible participant" for the Plan Year that do not exceed
four percent of the "eligible participant's" Compensation for the Plan Year.
(3) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Subsection, if an Employer elects to change
from the current year testing method described in Subsection 1 .06(a)(1) of the Adoption Agreement to the prior year testing method described in Subsection
1 .06(a)(2) of the Adoption Agreement, the following shall not be considered "contribution percentage amounts" for purposes of determining the "contribution
percentages" of Non-Highly Compensated Employees for the prior year immediately preceding the Plan Year in which the change is effective:
(A)
year;

Qualified Matching Employer Contributions that were taken into account in satisfying the "ADP" test described in Section 6.03 for such prior

(B)
Qualified Nonelective Employer Contributions that were taken into account in satisfying the "ADP" test described in Section 6.03 or the
"ACP" test described in Section 6.06 for such prior year;
(C)
401(k) Safe Harbor Nonelective Employer Contributions that were taken into account in satisfying the "ADP" test described in Section 6.03 or
the "ACP" test described in Section 6.06 for such prior year or that were required to satisfy the safe harbor contribution requirements under Section
1.401(k)-3(b) of the Treasury Regulations for such prior year; and
(D)

all Deferral Contributions.

To be included in determining an "eligible participant's" "contribution percentage" for a Plan Year, Employee Contributions must be made to the
Plan before the end of such Plan Year and other "contribution percentage amounts" must be allocated to the "eligible participant's" Account as of a date within
such Plan Year and made before the last day of the 12-month period immediately following the Plan Year to which the "contribution percentage amounts"
relate. If an Employer has elected the prior year testing method described in Subsection 1 .06(a)(2) of the Adoption Agreement, "contribution percentage
amounts" that are taken into account for purposes of determining the "contribution percentages" of Non-Highly Compensated Employees for the prior year
relate to such prior year. Therefore, such "contribution percentage amounts" must be made before the last day of the Plan Year being tested.
(d)
"Deferral ratio" means the ratio (expressed as a percentage) of (1) the amount of "includable contributions" made on behalf of an Active
Participant for the Plan Year to (2) the Active Participant's "testing compensation" for such Plan Year. An Active Participant who does not receive "includable
contributions" for a Plan Year shall have a "deferral ratio" of zero.
(e)
"Designated Roth contributions" mean any Roth 401(k) Contributions made to the Plan and any "elective deferrals" made to another plan that
would be excludable from a Participant's income, but for the Participant's election to designate such contributions as Roth contributions and include them in
income.
(f)
"Determination year" means (1) for purposes of determining income or loss with respect to "excess deferrals", the calendar year in which the
"excess deferrals" were made and (2) for purposes of determining income or loss with respect to "excess contributions", and "excess aggregate contributions",
the Plan Year in which such "excess contributions" or "excess aggregate contributions" were made.
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(g) "Elective deferrals" mean all employer contributions, other than Deferral Contributions, made on
behalf of a Participant pursuant to an election to defer under any qualified cash or deferred arrangement as described in Code Section 401(k), any simplified
employee pension cash or deferred arrangement as described in Code Section 402(h)(1)(B), any eligible deferred compensation plan under Code Section 457,
any plan as described under Code Section 501(c)(18), and any employer contributions made on behalf of a Participant pursuant to a salary reduction
agreement for the purchase of an annuity contract under Code Section 403(b). "Elective deferrals" include "designated Roth contributions" made to another
plan. "Elective deferrals" do not include any deferrals properly distributed as excess "annual additions" or any deferrals treated as catch-up contributions in
accordance with the provisions of Code Section 414(v).
(h) "Eligible participant" means any Active Participant who is eligible to make Employee
Contributions, or Deferral Contributions (if the Employer takes such contributions into account in calculating "contribution percentages"), or to receive a
Matching Employer Contribution. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the term "eligible participant" shall not include any Active Participant who is included in a
unit of Employees covered by an agreement which the Secretary of Labor finds to be a collective bargaining agreement between employee representatives and
one or more employers.
(i)

"Excess aggregate contributions" with respect to any Plan Year mean the excess of

(1)
The aggregate "contribution percentage amounts" actually taken into account in computing the average "contribution percentages" of "eligible
participants" who are Highly Compensated Employees for such Plan Year, over
(2)
The maximum amount of "contribution percentage amounts" permitted to be made on behalf of Highly Compensated Employees under Section
6.06 (determined by reducing "contribution percentage amounts" made for the Plan Year on behalf of "eligible participants" who are Highly Compensated
Employees in order of their "contribution percentages" beginning with the highest of such "contribution percentages").
"Excess aggregate contributions" shall be determined after first determining "excess deferrals" and then determining "excess contributions".
(j)

"Excess contributions" with respect to any Plan Year mean the excess of

(1)
The aggregate amount of "includable contributions" actually taken into account in computing the average "deferral percentage" of Active
Participants who are Highly Compensated Employees for such Plan Year, over
(2)
The maximum amount of "includable contributions" permitted to be made on behalf of Highly Compensated Employees under Section 6.03
(determined by reducing "includable contributions" made for the Plan Year on behalf of Active Participants who are Highly Compensated Employees in order
of their "deferral ratios", beginning with the highest of such "deferral ratios").
(k) "Excess deferrals" mean those Deferral Contributions and/or "elective deferrals" that are
includable in a Participant's gross income under Code Section 402(g) to the extent such Participant's Deferral Contributions and/or "elective deferrals" for a
calendar year exceed the dollar limitation under such Code Section for such calendar year.
(l) "Excess 415 amount" means the excess of an Active Participant's "annual additions" for the
Limitation Year over the "maximum permissible amount".
(m)

"415 employer" means the Employer and any other employers which constitute a controlled
group of corporations (as defined in Code Section 414(b) as modified by Code Section 415(h)) or which

The CORPORATEplan for RetirementSM
© 2008 FMR LLC
All rights reserved.
23

constitute trades or businesses (whether or not incorporated) which are under common control (as defined in Code Section 4 14(c) as modified by Code
Section 415(h)) or which constitute an affiliated service group (as defined in Code Section 4 14(m)) and any other entity required to be aggregated with the
Employer pursuant to regulations issued under Code Section 4 14(o).
(n)

"Includable contributions" mean those amounts included in applying the "ADP" test.

(1)

"Includable contributions" include the following:

(A)
any Deferral Contributions made on behalf of an Active Participant, including "excess deferrals" of Highly Compensated Employees and
"designated Roth contributions", except as specifically provided in Subsection 6.01(n)(2);
(B)
if elected, Qualified Nonelective Employer Contributions, excluding Qualified Nonelective Employer Contributions that are taken into account
in satisfying the "ACP" test described in Section 6.06; and
(C)
if elected, Qualified Matching Employer Contributions on Deferral Contributions or Employee Contributions made for the Plan Year; provided,
however, that the maximum amount of Qualified Matching Employer Contributions included in "includable contributions" with respect to an Active
Participant shall not exceed the greater of 5% of the Active Participant's "testing compensation" or 100% of his Deferral Contributions for the Plan Year.
(2)

"Includable contributions" shall not include the following:

(A)
Catch-Up Contributions, except to the extent that a Participant's Deferral Contributions are classified as Catch-Up Contributions as provided in
Section 6.04 solely because of a failure of the "ADP" test described in Section 6.03;
(B)
"excess deferrals" of Non-Highly Compensated Employees that arise solely from Deferral Contributions made under the Plan or plans
maintained by the Employer or a Related Employer;
(C)

Deferral Contributions that are taken into account in satisfying the "ACP" test described in Section 6.06;

(D)

additional elective contributions made pursuant to Code Section 4 14(u) that are treated as Deferral Contributions;

(E)
for any Plan Year in which the "ADP" test described in Section 6.03 is deemed satisfied pursuant to Section 6.09 with respect to some or all
Deferral Contributions, the following:
(i)

any Deferral Contributions with respect to which the "ADP" test is deemed satisfied; and

(ii)
Qualified Matching Employer Contributions, except to the extent that the "ADP" test described in Section 6.03 must be satisfied with respect to some
Deferral Contributions and such Qualified Matching Employer Contributions are used in applying the "ADP" test.
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(3) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Subsection, if an Employer elects to change from the current year testing method described in Subsection 1 .
06(a)(1) of the Adoption Agreement to the prior year testing method described in Subsection 1 .06(a)(2) of the Adoption Agreement, the following shall not
be considered "includable contributions" for purposes of determining the "deferral ratios" of Non-Highly Compensated Employees for the prior year
immediately preceding the Plan Year in which the change is effective:
(A)

Deferral Contributions that were taken into account in satisfying the "ACP" test described in Section 6.06 for such prior year;

(B)
Qualified Nonelective Employer Contributions that were taken into account in satisfying the "ADP" test described in Section 6.03 or the "ACP"
test described in Section 6.06 for such prior year;
(C)
401(k) Safe Harbor Nonelective Employer Contributions that were taken into account in satisfying the "ADP" test described in Section 6.03 or
the "ACP" test described in Section 6.06 for such prior year or that were required to satisfy the safe harbor contribution requirements under Section
1.401(k)-3(b) of the Treasury Regulations for such prior year;
(D)
401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions that were taken into account in satisfying the "ADP" test described in Section 6.03 for
such prior year or that were required to satisfy the safe harbor contribution requirements under Section 1.401(k)- 3(c) of the Treasury Regulations for such
prior year; and
(E)

all Qualified Matching Employer Contributions.

To be included in determining an Active Participant's "deferral ratio" for a Plan Year, "includable contributions" must be allocated to the
Participant's Account as of a date within such Plan Year and made before the last day of the 12-month period immediately following the Plan Year to which
the "includable contributions" relate. If an Employer has elected the prior year testing method described in Subsection 1 .06(a)(2) of the Adoption Agreement,
"includable contributions" that are taken into account for purposes of determining the "deferral ratios" of Non-Highly Compensated Employees for the prior
year relate to such prior year. Therefore, such "includable contributions" must be made before the last day of the Plan Year being tested.
(o)

"Individual medical benefit account" means an individual medical benefit account as defined in Code Section 415(l)(2).

(p)
"Maximum permissible amount" means for a Limitation Year with respect to any Active Participant the lesser of (1) the maximum dollar
amount permitted for the Limitation Year under Code Section 41 5(c)(1)(A) adjusted as provided in Code Section 415(d) (e.g., $42,000 for the Limitation
Year ending in 2005) or (2) 100 percent of the Active Participant's Compensation for the Limitation Year. If a short Limitation Year is created because of an
amendment changing the Limitation Year to a different 12- consecutive-month period, the dollar limitation specified in clause (1) above shall be adjusted by
multiplying it by a fraction the numerator of which is the number of months in the short Limitation Year and the denominator of which is 12.
The Compensation limitation specified in clause (2) above shall not apply to any contribution for medical benefits within the meaning of Code
Section 401(h) or 419A(f)(2) after separation from service which is otherwise treated as an "annual addition" under Code Section 41 9A(d)(2) or 41 5(l)(1).
(q)

"Simplified employee pension" means a simplified employee pension as defined in Code Section 408(k).
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(r) "Testing compensation" means compensation as defined in Code Section 414(s). "Testing compensation" shall be based on the amount actually paid to
a Participant during the "testing year" or, at the option of the Employer, during that portion of the "testing year" during which the Participant is an Active
Participant; provided, however, that if the Employer elected different Eligibility Service requirements for purposes of eligibility to make Deferral
Contributions and to receive Matching Employer Contributions, then "testing compensation" must be based on the amount paid to a Participant during the full
"testing year".
The annual "testing compensation" of each Active Participant taken into account in applying the "ADP" test described in Section 6.03 and the
"ACP" test described in Section 6.06 for any "testing year" shall not exceed the annual compensation limit under Code Section 401(a)(17) as in effect on the
first day of the "testing year" (e.g., $210,000 for the "testing year" beginning in 2005). This limit shall be adjusted by the Secretary to reflect increases in the
cost of living, as provided in Code Section 401(a)(17)(B); provided, however, that the dollar increase in effect on January 1 of any calendar year is effective
for "testing years" beginning in such calendar year. If a Plan determines "testing compensation" over a period that contains fewer than 12 calendar months (a
"short determination period"), then the Compensation limit for such "short determination period" is equal to the Compensation limit for the calendar year in
which the "short determination period" begins multiplied by the ratio obtained by dividing the number of full months in the "short determination period" by
12; provided, however, that such proration shall not apply if there is a "short determination period" because (1) an election was made, in accordance with any
rules and regulations issued by the Secretary of the Treasury or his delegate, to apply the "ADP" test described in Section 6.03 and/or the "ACP" test
described in Section 6.06 based only on Compensation paid during the portion of the "testing year" during which an individual was an Active Participant or
(2) an Employee is covered under the Plan for fewer than 12 calendar months or (3) there is a short initial Plan Year.
(s)
(1)

"Testing year" means
if the Employer has elected the current year testing method in Subsection 1 .06(a)(1) of the Adoption Agreement, the Plan Year being tested.

(2)
if the Employer has elected the prior year testing method in Subsection 1 .06(a)(2) of the Adoption Agreement, the Plan Year immediately
preceding the Plan Year being tested.
(t)

"Welfare benefit fund" means a welfare benefit fund as defined in Code Section 419(e).

To the extent that types of contributions defined in Section 2.01 are referred to in this Article 6, the defined term includes similar contributions
made under other plans where the context so requires.
6.02. Code Section 402(g) Limit on Deferral Contributions. In no event shall the amount of Deferral Contributions, other than Catch-Up Contributions,
made under the Plan for a calendar year, when aggregated with the "elective deferrals" made under any other plan maintained by the Employer or a Related
Employer, exceed the dollar limitation contained in Code Section 402(g) in effect at the beginning of such calendar year.
A Participant may assign to the Plan any "excess deferrals" made during a calendar year by notifying the Administrator on or before March 15
following the calendar year in which the "excess deferrals" were made of the amount of the "excess deferrals" to be assigned to the Plan. A Participant is
deemed to notify the Administrator of any "excess deferrals" that arise by taking into account only those Deferral Contributions made to the Plan and those
"elective deferrals" made to any other plan maintained by the Employer or a Related Employer. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, "excess
deferrals", plus any income and minus any loss allocable thereto, as determined under Section 6.08, shall be distributed no later than April 15 to any
Participant to whose Account "excess deferrals" were so assigned for the preceding calendar year and who claims "excess deferrals" for such calendar year. In
the event that "excess deferrals" are allocated to a Participant's Deferral Contributions Accounts, such "excess deferrals" will be distributed first from the
Participant's Deferral Contributions for the Plan Year other than his Roth 40 1(k) Contributions then from his Roth 40 1(k) Contributions.
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"Excess deferrals" to be distributed to a Participant for a calendar year shall be reduced by any "excess contributions" for the Plan Year beginning
within such calendar year that were previously distributed or re- characterized in accordance with the provisions of Section 6.04.
Any Matching Employer Contributions attributable to "excess deferrals", plus any income and minus any loss allocable thereto, as determined
under Section 6.08, shall be forfeited and applied as provided in Section 11.09.
"Excess deferrals" shall be treated as "annual additions" under the Plan, unless such amounts are distributed no later than the first April 15
following the close of the calendar year in which the "excess deferrals" were made.
6.03. Additional Limit on Deferral Contributions ("ADP" Test). Unless the Employer has elected in Subsection 1.11 (a)(3) or Subsection 1. 12(a)(3) of
the Adoption Agreement to make 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions or 401(k) Safe Harbor Nonelective Employer Contributions for a
Plan Year, notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary, the Deferral Contributions, excluding additional elective contributions made
pursuant to Code Section 4 14(u) that are treated as Deferral Contributions and Catch-Up Contributions (except to the extent that a Participant's Deferral
Contributions are classified as Catch-Up Contributions as provided in Section 6.04 solely because of a failure of the "ADP" test described herein), made with
respect to the Plan Year on behalf of Active Participants who are Highly Compensated Employees for such Plan Year may not result in an average "deferral
ratio" for such Active Participants that exceeds the greater of:
(a)
the average "deferral ratio" for the "testing year" of Active Participants who are Non-Highly Compensated Employees for the "testing year"
multiplied by 1.25; or
(b)
the average "deferral ratio" for the "testing year" of Active Participants who are Non-Highly Compensated Employees for the "testing year"
multiplied by two, provided that the average "deferral ratio" for Active Participants who are Highly Compensated Employees for the Plan Year being tested
does not exceed the average "deferral ratio" for Participants who are Non-Highly Compensated Employees for the "testing year" by more than two percentage
points.
For the first Plan Year in which the Plan provides a cash or deferred arrangement, the average "deferral ratio" for Active Participants who are NonHighly Compensated Employees used in determining the limits applicable under Subsections 6.03(a) and (b) shall be either three percent or the actual average
"deferral ratio" for such Active Participants for such first Plan Year, as elected by the Employer in Section 1.06(b) of the Adoption Agreement.
The "deferral ratios" of Active Participants who are included in a unit of Employees covered by an agreement which the Secretary of Labor finds to
be a collective bargaining agreement shall be disaggregated from the "deferral ratios" of other Active Participants and the provisions of this Section 6.03 shall
be applied separately with respect to each group.
The "deferral ratio" for any Active Participant who is a Highly Compensated Employee for the Plan Year being tested and who is eligible to have
"includable contributions" allocated to his accounts under two or more cash or deferred arrangements described in Code Section 401(k) that are maintained by
the Employer or a Related Employer, shall be determined as if such "includable contributions" were made under the Plan. If a Highly Compensated Employee
participates in two or more cash or deferred arrangements that have different plan years, all "includable contributions" made during the Plan Year under all
such arrangements shall be treated as having been made under the Plan. Notwithstanding the foregoing, certain plans, and contributions made thereto, shall be
treated as separate if mandatorily disaggregated under regulations under Code Section 40 1(k).
If this Plan satisfies the requirements of Code Section 401(k), 401 (a)(4), or 410(b) only if aggregated with one or more other plans, or if one or
more other plans satisfy the requirements of such Code Sections only if aggregated with this Plan, then this Section 6.03 shall be applied by determining the
"deferral ratios" of Employees as if all such plans were a single plan. Plans may be aggregated in order to satisfy Code Section 401(k) only if they have the
same plan year and use the same method to satisfy the "ADP" test.
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Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if the Plan permits Employees to make Deferral Contributions prior to the time the Employees
have completed the minimum age and service requirements of Code Section 410(a)(1)(A) and the Employer elects, pursuant to Code Section 410(b)(4)(B), to
disaggregate the Plan into two component plans for purposes of complying with Code Section 410(b)(1), one benefiting Employees who have completed such
minimum age and service requirements and the other benefiting Employees who have not, the Plan must be disaggregated in the same manner for ADP testing
purposes, unless the Plan applies the alternative rule in Code Section 401(k)(3)(F). In determining the component plans for purposes of such disaggregation,
the Employer may apply the maximum entry dates permitted under Code Section 410(a)(4).
The Employer shall maintain records sufficient to demonstrate satisfaction of the "ADP" test and the amount of Qualified Nonelective Employer
Contributions and/or Qualified Matching Employer Contributions used in such test.
Allocation and Distribution of "Excess Contributions". Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan, the "excess contributions" allocable to
6.04.
the Account of a Participant, plus any income and minus any loss allocable thereto, as determined under Section 6.08, shall be distributed to the Participant no
later than the last day of the Plan Year immediately following the Plan Year in which the "excess contributions" were made, unless the Employer elected
Catch-Up Contributions in Subsection 1 .07(a)(4) of the Adoption Agreement and such "excess contributions" are classified as Catch-Up Contributions.
If "excess contributions" are to be distributed from the Plan and such "excess contributions" are distributed more than 2 1/2 months after the last
day of the Plan Year in which the "excess contributions" were made, a ten percent excise tax shall be imposed on the Employer maintaining the Plan with
respect to such amounts.
The "excess contributions" allocable to a Participant's Account shall be determined by reducing the "includable contributions" made for the Plan
Year on behalf of Active Participants who are Highly Compensated Employees in order of the dollar amount of such "includable contributions", beginning
with the highest such dollar amount. "Excess contributions" allocated to a Participant for a Plan Year shall be reduced by the amount of any "excess deferrals"
previously distributed for the calendar year ending in such Plan Year.
"Excess contributions" shall be treated as "annual additions".
For purposes of distribution, "excess contributions" shall be considered allocated among a Participant's Deferral Contributions Accounts and, if
applicable, the Participant's Qualified Nonelective Employer Contributions Account and/or Qualified Matching Employer Contributions Account in the order
prescribed and communicated to the Trustee, which order shall be uniform with respect to all Participants and nondiscriminatory. In the event that "excess
contributions" are allocated to a Participant's Deferral Contributions Accounts, such "excess contributions" will be distributed first from the Participant's
Deferral Contributions for the Plan Year other than his Roth 40 1(k) Contributions then from his Roth 401(k) Contributions.
Any Matching Employer Contributions attributable to "excess contributions", plus any income and minus any loss allocable thereto, as determined
under Section 6.08, shall be forfeited and applied as provided in Section 11.09.
6.05. Reductions in Deferral Contributions to Meet Code Requirements. If the Administrator anticipates that the Plan will not satisfy the "ADP" and/or
"ACP" test for the year, the Administrator may reduce the rate of Deferral Contributions of Participants who are Highly Compensated Employees to an
amount determined by the Administrator to be necessary to satisfy the "ADP" and/or "ACP" test.
6.06. Limit on Matching Employer Contributions and Employee Contributions ("ACP" Test). The provisions of this Section 6.06 shall not apply to
Active Participants who are included in a unit of Employees covered by an agreement which the Secretary of Labor finds to be a collective bargaining
agreement between employee representatives and one or more employers. The provisions of this Section shall not apply to Matching
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Employer Contributions made on account of amounts deferred pursuant to Code Section 457 under a separate eligible deferred compensation plan.
Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary, Matching Employer Contributions and Employee Contributions made with respect
to a Plan Year by or on behalf of "eligible participants" who are Highly Compensated Employees for such Plan Year may not result in an average
"contribution percentage" for such "eligible participants" that exceeds the greater of:
(a)
the average "contribution percentage" for the "testing year" of "eligible participants" who are Non- Highly Compensated Employees for the
"testing year" multiplied by 1.25; or
(b)
the average "contribution percentage" for the "testing year" of "eligible participants" who are Non- Highly Compensated Employees for the
"testing year" multiplied by two, provided that the average "contribution percentage" for the Plan Year being tested of "eligible participants" who are Highly
Compensated Employees does not exceed the average "contribution percentage" for the "testing year" of "eligible participants" who are Non-Highly
Compensated Employees for the "testing year" by more than two percentage points.
For the first Plan Year in which the Plan provides for "contribution percentage amounts" to be made, the "ACP" for "eligible participants" who are
Non-Highly Compensated Employees used in determining the limits applicable under paragraphs (a) and (b) of this Section 6.06 shall be either three percent
or the actual "ACP" of such eligible participants for such first Plan Year, as elected by the Employer in Section 1.06(b) of the Adoption Agreement.
The "contribution percentage" for any "eligible participant" who is a Highly Compensated Employee for the Plan Year and who is eligible to have
"contribution percentage amounts" allocated to his accounts under two or more plans described in Code Section 401(a) that are maintained by the Employer or
a Related Employer, shall be determined as if such "contribution percentage amounts" were contributed to the Plan. If a Highly Compensated Employee
participates in two or more such plans that have different plan years, all "contribution percentage amounts" made during the Plan Year under such other plans
shall be treated as having been contributed to the Plan. Notwithstanding the foregoing, certain plans shall be treated as separate if mandatorily disaggregated
under Treasury Regulations issued under Code Section 401(m).
If this Plan satisfies the requirements of Code Section 40 1(m), 401 (a)(4) or 410(b) only if aggregated with one or more other plans, or if one or
more other plans satisfy the requirements of such Code Sections only if aggregated with this Plan, then this Section 6.06 shall be applied by determining the
"contribution percentages" of Employees as if all such plans were a single plan. Plans may be aggregated in order to satisfy Code Section 401(m) only if they
have the same plan year and use the same method to satisfy the "ACP" test.
Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if the Plan permits Employees to make Employee Contributions and/or receive Matching
Employer Contributions prior to the time the Employees have completed the minimum age and service requirements of Code Section 410(a)(1)(A) and the
Employer elects, pursuant to Code Section 410(b)(4)(B), to disaggregate the Plan into two component plans for purposes of complying with Code Section
410(b)(1), one benefiting Employees who have completed such minimum age and service requirements and the other benefiting Employees who have not, the
Plan must be disaggregated in the same manner for ACP testing purposes, unless the Plan applies the alternative rule in Code Section 401(m)(5)(C). In
determining the component plans for purposes of such disaggregation, the Employer may apply the maximum entry dates permitted under Code Section 41
0(a)(4).
The Employer shall maintain records sufficient to demonstrate satisfaction of the "ACP" test and the amount of Deferral Contributions, Qualified
Nonelective Employer Contributions, and/or Qualified Matching Employer Contributions used in such test.
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6.07.
Allocation, Distribution, and Forfeiture of "Excess Aggregate Contributions". Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, the "excess
aggregate contributions" allocable to the Account of a Participant, plus any income and minus any loss allocable thereto, as determined under Section 6.08,
shall be forfeited, if forfeitable, or if not forfeitable, distributed to the Participant no later than the last day of the Plan Year immediately following the Plan
Year in which the "excess aggregate contributions" were made. If such excess amounts are distributed more than 2 1/2 months after the last day of the Plan
Year in which such "excess aggregate contributions" were made, a ten percent excise tax shall be imposed on the Employer maintaining the Plan with respect
to such amounts.
The "excess aggregate contributions" allocable to a Participant's Account shall be determined by reducing the "contribution percentage amounts"
made for the Plan Year on behalf of "eligible participants" who are Highly Compensated Employees in order of the dollar amount of such "contribution
percentage amounts", beginning with the highest such dollar amount.
"Excess aggregate contributions" shall be treated as "annual additions".
"Excess aggregate contributions" shall be forfeited or distributed from a Participant's Employee Contributions Account, Matching Employer
Contributions Account and, if applicable, the Participant's Deferral Contributions Account and/or Qualified Nonelective Employer Contributions Account in
the order prescribed and communicated to the Trustee, which order shall be uniform with respect to all Participants and nondiscriminatory. In the event that
"excess aggregate contributions" are allocated to a Participant's Deferral Contributions Accounts, such "excess aggregated contributions" will be distributed
first from the Participant's Deferral Contributions for the Plan Year other than his Roth 401(k) Contributions then from his Roth 401(k) Contributions.
Forfeitures of "excess aggregate contributions" shall be applied as provided in Section 11.09.
6.08. Income or Loss on Distributable Contributions. The income or loss allocable to "excess deferrals", "excess contributions", and "excess aggregate
contributions" shall be determined under one of the following methods:
(a)
the income or loss attributable to such distributable contributions shall be the sum of (i) the income or loss for the "determination year" allocable
to the Participant's Account to which such contributions were made multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the amount of the distributable
contributions and the denominator of which is the balance of the Participant's Account to which such contributions were made, determined as of the end of the
"determination year" without regard to any income or loss occurring during the "determination year", plus (ii) 10 percent of the amount determined under (i)
multiplied by the number of whole calendar months between the end of the "determination year" and the date of distribution, counting the calendar month of
distribution if distribution occurs after the 15th of the month; or
(b)
the income or loss attributable to such distributable contributions shall be the sum of (i) the income or loss on such contributions for the
"determination year", determined under any other reasonable method, plus (ii) the income or loss on such contributions for the "gap period", determined under
such other reasonable method. Any reasonable method used to determine income or loss hereunder shall be used consistently for all Participants in
determining the income or loss allocable to distributable contributions hereunder and shall be the same method that is used by the Plan in allocating income or
loss to Participants' Accounts. For purposes of this paragraph, the "gap period" means the period between the end of the "determination year" and the date of
distribution; provided, however, that income or loss for the "gap period" may be determined as of a date that is no more than seven days before the date of
distribution.
6.09. Deemed Satisfaction of "ADP" Test. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Article 6 to the contrary, if the Employer has elected in Subsection
1.11 (a)(3) or Subsection 1. 12(a)(3) of the Adoption Agreement to make 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions or 401(k) Safe Harbor
Nonelective Employer Contributions, , the Plan shall be deemed to have satisfied the "ADP" test described in Section 6.03 for a Plan Year provided all of the
following requirements are met:
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(a) The 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contribution or 401(k) Safe Harbor Nonelective Employer Contribution must be allocated to an Active
Participant's Account as of a date within such Plan Year and must be made before the last day of the 12-month period immediately following such Plan Year.
(b) If the Employer has elected to make 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions, such 40 1(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions
must be made with respect to Deferral Contributions made by the Active Participant for such Plan Year.
(c) The Employer shall provide to each Active Participant during the Plan Year a comprehensive notice, written in a manner calculated to be understood by
the average Active Participant, of the Active Participant's rights and obligations under the Plan. If the Employer either (i) is considering amending its Plan to
satisfy the "ADP" test using 401(k) Safe Harbor Nonelective Employer Contributions, as provided in Section 6.11, or (ii) has selected 401(k) Safe Harbor
Nonelective Employer Contributions under Subsection 1. 12(a)(3) of the Adoption Agreement and selected Subsection (a)(2), but not Subsection (a)(2)(A) of
the 401(k) Safe Harbor Nonelective Employer Contributions Addendum, the notice shall include a statement that the Plan may be amended to provide a
401(k) Safe Harbor Nonelective Employer Contribution for the Plan Year. The notice shall be provided to each Active Participant within one of the following
periods, whichever is applicable:
(1)
if the Employee is an Active Participant 90 days before the beginning of the Plan Year, within the period beginning 90 days and ending 30 days,
or any other reasonable period, before the first day of the Plan Year; or
(2)
if the Employee becomes an Active Participant after the date described in paragraph (f) above, within the period beginning 90 days before and
ending on the date he becomes an Active Participant.
If the notice provides that the Plan may be amended to provide a 401(k) Safe Harbor Nonelective Employer Contribution for the Plan Year and the
Plan is amended to provide such contribution, a supplemental notice shall be provided to all Active Participants stating that a 401(k) Safe Harbor Nonelective
Employer Contribution in the specified amount shall be made for the Plan Year. Such supplemental notice shall be provided to Active Participants at least 30
days before the last day of the Plan year.
(d) If the Employer has elected to make 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions, the ratio of Matching Employer Contributions made on
behalf of each Highly Compensated Employee for the Plan Year to each such Highly Compensated Employee's eligible contributions for the Plan Year is not
greater than the ratio of Matching Employer Contributions to eligible contributions that would apply to any Non-Highly Compensated Employee for whom
such eligible contributions are the same percentage of Compensation, adjusted as provided in Section 5.02, for the Plan Year.
(e) Except as otherwise provided in Subsection 6.11(b), or with respect to the Plan Year described in (2) below the Plan is amended to provide for 401(k)
Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions or 40 1(k) Safe Harbor Nonelective Employer Contributions before the first day of such Plan Year, and except
as otherwise provided in Subsection 6.11(d) or with respect to a Plan Year described in (1) through (4) below, such provisions remain in effect for an entire
12-month Plan Year. The 12-month Plan Year requirement shall not apply to:
(1) The first Plan Year of a newly established Plan (other than a successor plan) if such Plan Year is at least 3 months long, provided that the 3-month
requirement shall not apply in the case of a newly established employer that establishes a plan as soon as administratively feasible;
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(2)
The Plan Year in which a cash or deferred arrangement is first added to an existing plan (other than a successor plan) if the cash or deferred
arrangement is effective no later than 3 months before the end of such Plan Year;
(3)
Any short Plan Year resulting from a change in Plan Year if (i) the Plan satisfied the safe harbor requirements for the immediately preceding
Plan Year and (ii) the Plan satisfies the safe harbor requirements for the immediately following Plan Year (or the immediately following 12 months, if the
following Plan Year has fewer than 12 months);
(4)
The final Plan Year of a terminating Plan if any of the following applies: (i) the Plan would satisfy the provisions of paragraph Subsection
6.11(d) below, other than the provisions of paragraph Subsection 6.11 (d)(3), treating the termination as an election to reduce or suspend 40 1(k) Safe Harbor
Matching Employer Contributions; (ii) the termination is in connection with a transaction described in Code Section 410(b)(6)(C); or (iii) the Employer incurs
a substantial business hardship comparable to a substantial business hardship described in Code Section 412(d).
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Section, if the Employer has elected a more stringent eligibility requirement in Section 1.04 of the
Adoption Agreement for 40 1(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions or 401(k) Safe Harbor Nonelective Employer Contributions than for Deferral
Contributions, the Plan shall be disaggregated and treated as two separate plans pursuant to Code Section 410(b)(4)(B). The separate disaggregated plan that
satisfies Code Section 401(k)(12) shall be deemed to have satisfied the "ADP" test. The other disaggregated plan shall be subjected to the "ADP" test
described in Section 6.03.
If the Employer has elected in Subsection (a)(1)(B) or (a)(2)(B) of the 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions Addendum to the
Adoption Agreement or Section (b) of the 401(k) Safe Harbor Nonelective Employer Contributions Addendum to the Adoption Agreement to exclude
collectively-bargained employees from receiving 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions or 401(k) Safe Harbor Nonelective Employer
Contributions, the Plan shall be deemed to have satisfied the "ADP" test only with respect to those employees who are eligible to receive such contributions.
The remainder of the Plan shall be subjected to the "ADP" test described in Section 6.03.
Except as otherwise provided in Subsection 6.11(d) regarding amendments suspending or eliminating 40 1(k) Safe Harbor Matching Contributions,
a plan that does not meet the requirements specified in (a) through (e) above with respect to a Plan Year may not default to ADP testing in accordance with
Section 6.03 above.
6.10.
Deemed Satisfaction of "ACP" Test With Respect to Matching Employer Contributions. The portion of the Plan that is deemed to satisfy the
"ADP" test pursuant to Section 6.09 shall also be deemed to have satisfied the "ACP" test described in Section 6.06 with respect to Matching Employer
Contributions, if Matching Employer Contributions to the Plan for the Plan Year meet all of the following requirements:
(a)
Matching Employer Contributions meet the requirements of Subsections 6.09(a) and (b) as if they were 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer
Contributions;
(b)

the percentage of eligible contributions matched does not increase as the percentage of Compensation contributed increases;

(c)
the ratio of Matching Employer Contributions made on behalf of each Highly Compensated Employee for the Plan Year to each such Highly
Compensated Employee's eligible contributions for the Plan Year is not greater than the ratio of Matching Employer Contributions to eligible contributions
that would apply to each Non-Highly Compensated Employee for whom such eligible contributions are the same percentage of Compensation, adjusted as
provided in Section 5.02, for the Plan Year;
(d)

eligible contributions matched do not exceed six percent of a Participant's Compensation; and
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(e) if the Employer elected in Subsection 1.11 (a)(2) or 1.11(b) of the Adoption Agreement to provide discretionary Matching Employer Contributions, the
Employer also elected in Subsection 1.11 (a)(2)(A) or 1.11 (b)(1) of the Adoption Agreement, as applicable, to limit the dollar amount of such discretionary
Matching Employer Contributions allocated to a Participant for the Plan Year to no more than four percent of such Participant's Compensation for the Plan
Year.
The portion of the Plan not deemed to have satisfied the "ACP" test pursuant to this Section shall be subject to the "ACP" test described in Section
6.06 with respect to Matching Employer Contributions.
If the Plan provides for Employee Contributions, the "ACP" test described in Section 6.06 must be applied with respect to such Employee
Contributions.
6.11. Changing Testing Methods. Notwithstanding any other provisions of the Plan, if the Employer elects to
change between the "ADP" testing method and the safe harbor testing method, the following shall apply:
(a) Except as otherwise specifically provided in this Section or Subsection 6.09(e), the Employer may not change from the "ADP" testing method to the safe
harbor testing method unless Plan provisions adopting the safe harbor testing method are adopted before the first day of the Plan Year in which they are to be
effective and remain in effect for an entire 12-month Plan Year.
(b) A Plan may be amended during a Plan Year to make 401(k) Safe Harbor Nonelective Employer Contributions to satisfy the testing rules for such Plan
Year if:
(1)
The Employer provides both the initial and subsequent notices described in Section 6.09 for such Plan Year within the time period prescribed in
Section 6.09.
(2)
The Employer amends its Adoption Agreement no later than 30 days prior to the end of such Plan Year to provide for 401(k) Safe Harbor
Nonelective Employer Contribution in accordance with the provisions of the 401(k) Safe Harbor Nonelective Employer Contributions Addendum to the
Adoption Agreement.
(c) Except as otherwise specifically provided in this Section, a Plan may not be amended during the Plan Year to discontinue 401(k) Safe Harbor
Nonelective or Matching Employer Contributions and revert to the "ADP" testing method for such Plan Year.
(d) A Plan may be amended to reduce or suspend 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Contributions on future contributions during a Plan Year and revert to the
"ADP" testing method for such Plan Year if:
(1)
All Active Participants are provided notice of the reduction or suspension describing (i) the consequences of the amendment, (ii) the procedures
for changing their salary reduction agreements and (iii) the effective date of the reduction or suspension.
(2)
The reduction or suspension of 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Contributions is no earlier than the later of (i) 30 days after the date the notice
described in paragraph (1) is provided to Active Participants or (ii) the date the amendment is adopted.
(3)
Active Participants are given a reasonable opportunity before the reduction or suspension occurs, including a reasonable period after the notice
described in paragraph (1) is provided to Active Participants, to change their salary reduction agreements elections.
(4)
The Plan makes 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions in accordance with the provisions of the Adoption Agreement in effect
prior to the amendment with respect to Deferral Contributions made through the effective date of the amendment.
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If the Employer amends its Plan in accordance with the provisions of this paragraph (d), the "ADP" test described in Section 6.03 shall be applied
as if it had been in effect for the entire Plan Year using the current year testing method in Subsection 1 .06(a)(1) of the Adoption Agreement.
6.12.

Code Section 415 Limitations. Notwithstanding any other provisions of the Plan, the following limitations shall apply:

(a) Employer Maintains Single Plan: If the "415 employer" does not maintain any other qualified defined contribution plan or any "welfare benefit fund",
"individual medical benefit account", or "simplified employee pension" in addition to the Plan, the provisions of this Subsection 6.12(a) shall apply.
(1)
If a Participant does not participate in, and has never participated in any other qualified defined contribution plan, "welfare benefit fund",
"individual medical benefit account", or "simplified employee pension" maintained by the "415 employer", which provides an "annual addition", the amount
of "annual additions" to the Participant's Account for a Limitation Year shall not exceed the lesser of the "maximum permissible amount" or any other
limitation contained in the Plan. If a contribution that would otherwise be contributed or allocated to the Participant's Account would cause the "annual
additions" for the Limitation Year to exceed the "maximum permissible amount", the amount contributed or allocated shall be reduced so that the "annual
additions" for the Limitation Year shall equal the "maximum permissible amount".
(2)
Prior to the determination of a Participant's actual Compensation for a Limitation Year, the "maximum permissible amount" may be determined
on the basis of a reasonable estimation of the Participant's Compensation for such Limitation Year, uniformly determined for all Participants similarly
situated. Any Employer contributions based on estimated annual Compensation shall be reduced by any "excess 415 amounts" carried over from prior
Limitation Years.
(3)
As soon as is administratively feasible after the end of the Limitation Year, the "maximum permissible amount" for such Limitation Year shall
be determined on the basis of the Participant's actual Compensation for such Limitation Year.
(4)
If there is an "excess 415 amount" with respect to a Participant for a Limitation Year as a result of the estimation of the Participant's
Compensation for the Limitation Year, the allocation of forfeitures to the Participant's Account, or a reasonable error in determining the amount of Deferral
Contributions that may be made on behalf of the Participant under the limits of this Section 6.12, such "excess 415 amount" shall be disposed of as follows:
(A)

Any Employee Contributions that have not been matched shall be reduced to the extent necessary to reduce the "excess 415 amount".

(B)
If after application of Subsection 6. 12(a)(4)(A) an "excess 415 amount" still exists, any Employee Contributions that have been matched and
the Matching Employer Contributions attributable thereto shall be reduced to the extent necessary to reduce the "excess 415 amount".
(C)
If after application of Subsection 6. 12(a)(4)(B) an "excess 415 amount" still exists, any Deferral Contributions that have not been matched shall
be reduced to the extent necessary to reduce the "excess 415 amount". If both pre-tax Deferral Contributions and Roth 401(k) Contributions have been made
on behalf of a Participant, the pre-tax Deferral Contributions that have not been matched shall be reduced first. If there is still an "excess 415 amount" after all
such pre-tax Deferral Contributions have been distributed, then Roth 401(k) Contributions that have not been matched shall be reduced to the extent
necessary.
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(D)
If after application of Subsection 6.12(a)(4)(C) an "excess 415 amount" still exists, any Deferral Contributions that have been matched and the
Matching Employer Contributions attributable thereto shall be reduced to the extent necessary to reduce the "excess 415 amount". If both pre-tax Deferral
Contributions and Roth 401(k) Contributions have been made on behalf of a Participant, the pre-tax Deferral Contributions that have been matched and the
Matching Contributions attributable thereto shall be reduced first. If there is still an "excess 415 amount" after all such pre-tax Deferral Contributions have
been distributed, then Roth 401(k) Contributions that have been matched and the Matching Contributions attributable thereto shall be reduced to the extent
necessary.
(E)
If after the application of Subsection 6. 12(a)(4)(D) an "excess 415 amount" still exists, any Nonelective Employer Contributions shall be
reduced to the extent necessary to reduce the "excess 415 amount".
(F)
If after the application of Subsection 6. 12(a)(4)(E) an "excess 415 amount" still exists, any Qualified Nonelective Employer Contributions shall
be reduced to the extent necessary to reduce the "excess 415 amount".
Employee Contributions and Deferral Contributions that are reduced as provided above shall be returned to the Participant. Any income allocable
to returned Employee Contributions or Deferral Contributions shall also be returned or shall be treated as additional "annual additions" for the Limitation
Year in which the excess contributions to which they are allocable were made.
If Matching Employer, Nonelective Employer, or Qualified Nonelective Employer Contributions to a Participant's Account are reduced as an
"excess 415 amount", as provided above, then such "excess 415 amount" shall be allocated and re-allocated among Active Participants, except to the extent
such allocation or re-allocation pursuant to the provisions of the Plan would cause an Active Participant to exceed the limitations contained in this Section. If
any excess remains after allocation and re-allocation has been made as provided in the preceding sentence, then such excess shall be held unallocated in a
suspense account established for the Limitation Year and shall be allocated and re-allocated among Active Participants for the next Limitation Year.
If a suspense account is in existence at any time during the Limitation Year pursuant to this Subsection 6. 12(a)(4), it shall participate in the
allocation of the Trust Fund's investment gains and losses. All amounts in the suspense account must be allocated to the Accounts of Active Participants
before any Employer contribution may be made for the Limitation Year.
Except as otherwise specifically provided in this Subsection 6.12, "excess 415 amounts" may not be distributed to Participants.
(b)

Employer Maintains Multiple Defined Contribution Type Plans: Unless the Employer specifies

another method for limiting "annual additions" in the 415 Correction Addendum to the Adoption Agreement, if the "415 employer" maintains any other
qualified defined contribution plan or any "welfare benefit fund", "individual medical benefit account", or "simplified employee pension" in addition to the
Plan, the provisions of this Subsection 6.12(b) shall apply.
(1) If a Participant is covered under any other qualified defined contribution plan or any "welfare benefit fund", "individual medical benefit account", or
"simplified employee pension" maintained by the "415 employer", that provides an "annual addition", the amount of "annual additions" to the Participant's
Account for a Limitation Year shall not exceed the lesser of
(A) the "maximum permissible amount", reduced by the sum of any "annual additions" to the Participant's accounts for the same Limitation Year under
such other
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qualified defined contribution plans and "welfare benefit funds", "individual medical benefit accounts", and "simplified employee pensions", or
(B)

any other limitation contained in the Plan.

If the "annual additions" with respect to a Participant under other qualified defined contribution plans, "welfare benefit funds", "individual medical
benefit accounts", and "simplified employee pensions" maintained by the "415 employer" are less than the "maximum permissible amount" and a contribution
that would otherwise be contributed or allocated to the Participant's Account under the Plan would cause the "annual additions" for the Limitation Year to
exceed the "maximum permissible amount", the amount to be contributed or allocated shall be reduced so that the "annual additions" for the Limitation Year
shall equal the "maximum permissible amount". If the "annual additions" with respect to the Participant under such other qualified defined contribution plans,
"welfare benefit funds", "individual medical benefit accounts", and "simplified employee pensions" in the aggregate are equal to or greater than the
"maximum permissible amount", no amount shall be contributed or allocated to the Participant's Account under the Plan for the Limitation Year.
(2)
Prior to the determination of a Participant's actual Compensation for the Limitation Year, the amounts referred to in Subsection 6. 12(b)(1)(A)
above may be determined on the basis of a reasonable estimation of the Participant's Compensation for such Limitation Year, uniformly determined for all
Participants similarly situated. Any Employer contribution based on estimated annual Compensation shall be reduced by any "excess 415 amounts" carried
over from prior Limitation Years.
(3)
As soon as is administratively feasible after the end of the Limitation Year, the amounts referred to in Subsection 6. 12(b)(1)(A) shall be
determined on the basis of the Participant's actual Compensation for such Limitation Year.
(4)
Notwithstanding the provisions of any other plan maintained by a "415 employer", if there is an "excess 415 amount" with respect to a
Participant for a Limitation Year as a result of estimation of the Participant's Compensation for the Limitation Year, the allocation of forfeitures to the
Participant's account under any qualified defined contribution plan maintained by the "415 employer", or a reasonable error in determining the amount of
Deferral Contributions that may be made on behalf of the Participant to the Plan or any other qualified defined contribution plan maintained by the "415
employer" under the limits of this Subsection 6.12(b), such "excess 415 amount" shall be deemed to consist first of the "annual additions" allocated to this
Plan and shall be reduced as provided in Subsection 6.12(a)(4).
Article 7.

Participants' Accounts.

7.01.
Individual Accounts. The Administrator shall establish and maintain an Account for each Participant that shall reflect Employer and Employee
contributions made on behalf of the Participant and earnings, expenses, gains and losses attributable thereto, and investments made with amounts in the
Participant's Account. The Administrator shall separately account for any Deferral Contributions made on behalf of a Participant and the earnings, expenses,
gains and losses attributable thereto. The Administrator shall establish and maintain such other accounts and records as it decides in its discretion to be
reasonably required or appropriate in order to discharge its duties under the Plan. The Administrator shall notify the Trustee of all Accounts established and
maintained under the Plan.
If "designated Roth contributions", as defined in Section 6.01, are held under the Plan either as Rollover Contributions or because of an Active
Participant's election to make Roth 401(k) Contributions under the terms of the Plan, separate accounts shall be maintained with respect to such "designated
Roth contributions." Contributions and withdrawals of "designated Roth contributions" will be credited and debited to the "designated Roth contributions"
sub-account maintained for each Participant within the Participant's Account. The Plan will maintain
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a record of the amount of "designated Roth contributions" in each such sub-account. Gains, losses, and other credits or charges will be separately allocated on
a reasonable and consistent basis to each Participant's "designated Roth contributions" sub-account and the Participant's other sub-accounts within the
Participant's Account under the Plan. No contributions other than "designated Roth contributions" and properly attributable earnings will be credited to each
Participant's "designated Roth contributions" sub-account.
Valuation of Accounts. Participant Accounts shall be valued at their fair market value at least annually as of a "determination date", as defined in
7.02.
Subsection 15.01(a), in accordance with a method consistently followed and uniformly applied, and on such date earnings, expenses, gains and losses on
investments made with amounts in each Participant's Account shall be allocated to such Account.
Article 8.

Investment of Contributions.

Manner of Investment. All contributions made to the Accounts of Participants shall be held for investment by the Trustee. Except as otherwise
8.01.
specifically provided in Section 20.10, the Accounts of Participants shall be invested and reinvested only in Permissible Investments selected by the Employer
and designated in the Service Agreement. The Trustee shall have no responsibility for the selection of investment options under the Trust and shall not render
investment advice to any person in connection with the selection of such options.
8.02.

Investment Decisions. Investments shall be directed by the Employer or by each Participant or both, in

accordance with the Employer's election in Subsection 1.24 of the Adoption Agreement. Pursuant to Section 20.04, the Trustee shall have no discretion or
authority with respect to the investment of the Trust Fund; however, an affiliate of the Trustee may exercise investment management authority in accordance
with Subsection (e) below.
(a)
With respect to those Participant Accounts for which Employer investment direction is elected, the Employer (in its capacity as a named
fiduciary under ERISA) has the right to direct the Trustee in writing with respect to the investment and reinvestment of assets comprising the Trust Fund in
the Permissible Investments designated in the Service Agreement.
(b)
With respect to those Participant Accounts for which Participant investment direction is elected, each Participant shall direct the investment of
his Account among the Permissible Investments designated in the Service Agreement. The Participant shall file initial investment instructions using
procedures established by the Administrator, selecting the Permissible Investments in which amounts credited to his Account shall be invested.
(1)
While any balance remains in the Account of a Participant after his death, the Beneficiary of the Participant shall make decisions as to the
investment of the Account as though the Beneficiary were the Participant. To the extent required by a qualified domestic relations order as defined in Code
Section 414(p), an alternate payee shall make investment decisions with respect to any segregated account established in the name of the alternate payee as
provided in Section 18.04.
(2)
If the Trustee receives any contribution under the Plan as to which investment instructions have not been provided, such amount shall be
invested in the Permissible Investment selected by the Employer for such purposes.
To the extent that the Employer elects to allow Participants to direct the investment of their Account in Section 1.24 of the Adoption Agreement,
the Plan is intended to constitute a plan described in ERISA Section 404(c) and regulations issued thereunder. The fiduciaries of the Plan shall be relieved of
liability for any losses that are the direct and necessary result of investment instructions given by the Participant, his Beneficiary, or an alternate payee under a
qualified domestic relations order. The Employer shall not be relieved of fiduciary responsibility for the selection and monitoring of the Permissible
Investments under the Plan.
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(c)
All dividends, interest, gains and distributions of any nature received in respect of Fund Shares shall be reinvested in additional shares of that
Permissible Investment.
(d)

Expenses attributable to the acquisition of investments shall be charged to the Account of the Participant for which such investment is made.

(e)
The Employer may appoint an investment manager (which may be the Trustee or an affiliate) to determine the allocation of amounts held in
Participants' Accounts among various investment options (the "Managed Account" option) for Participants who direct the Trustee to invest any portion of
their accounts in the Managed Account option. The investment options utilized under the Managed Account option may be those generally available under the
Plan or may be as selected by the investment manager for use under the Managed Account option. Participation in the Managed Account option shall be
subject to such conditions and limitations (including account minimums) as may be imposed by the investment manager. The Employer may also appoint an
investment manager (which may be the Trustee or an affiliate) to manage any Permissible Investment subject to management by such investment manager.
8.03. Participant Directions to Trustee. The method and frequency for change of investments shall be determined under (a) the rules applicable to the
Permissible Investments selected by the Employer and designated in the Service Agreement and (b) any additional rules of the Employer limiting the
frequency of investment changes, which are included in a separate written administrative procedure adopted by the Employer and accepted by the Trustee.
The Trustee shall have no duty to inquire into the investment decisions of a Participant or to advise him regarding the purchase, retention, or sale of assets
credited to his Account.
Article 9.

Participant Loans.

9.01. Special Definition. For purposes of this Article, a "participant" is any Participant or Beneficiary, including an alternate payee under a qualified
domestic relations order, as defined in Code Section 414(p), who is a party-in-interest (as determined under ERISA Section 3(14)) with respect to the Plan.
9.02. Participant Loans. If so provided by the Employer in Section 1.18 of the Adoption Agreement, the Administrator shall allow "participants" to apply
for a loan from their Accounts under the Plan, subject to the provisions of this Article 9.
9.03. Separate Loan Procedures. All Plan loans shall be made and administered in accordance with separate loan procedures that are hereby incorporated
into the Plan by reference.
9.04. Availability of Loans. Loans shall be made available to all "participants" on a reasonably equivalent basis. Loans shall not be made available to
"participants" who are Highly Compensated Employees in an amount greater than the amount made available to other "participants".
9.05. Limitation on Loan Amount. No loan to any "participant" shall be made to the extent that such loan when added to the outstanding balance of all
other loans to the "participant" would exceed the lesser of (a) $50,000 reduced by the excess (if any) of the highest outstanding balance of plan loans during
the one-year period ending on the day before the loan is made over the outstanding balance of plan loans on the date the loan is made, or (b) one- half the
present value of the "participant's" vested interest in his Account. For purposes of the above limitation, plan loans include all loans from all plans maintained
by the Employer and any Related Employer.
9.06. Interest Rate. Subject to the requirements of the Servicemembers Civil Relief Act, all loans shall bear a reasonable rate of interest as determined by
the Administrator based on the prevailing interest rates charged by persons in the business of lending money for loans which would be made under similar
circumstances. The determination of a reasonable rate of interest must be based on appropriate regional factors unless the Plan is administered on a national
basis in which case the Administrator may establish a uniform reasonable rate of interest applicable to all regions.
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9.07.
Level Amortization. All loans shall by their terms require that repayment (principal and interest) be amortized in level payments, not less than
quarterly, over a period not extending beyond five years from the date of the loan unless such loan is for the purchase of a "participant's" primary residence.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the amortization requirement may be waived while a "participant" is on a leave of absence from employment with the
Employer and any Related Employer either without pay or at a rate of pay which, after withholding for employment and income taxes, is less than the amount
of the installment payments required under the terms of the loan, provided that the period of such waiver shall not exceed one year, unless the "participant" is
absent because of military leave during which the "participant" performs services with the uniformed services (as defined in chapter 43 of title 38 of the
United States Code), regardless of whether such military leave is a qualified military leave in accordance with the provisions of Code Section 4 14(u).
Installment payments must resume after such leave of absence ends or, if earlier, after the first year of such leave of absence, in an amount that is not less than
the amount of the installment payments required under the terms of the original loan. Unless a "participant" is absent because of military leave, as discussed
below, no waiver of the amortization requirements shall extend the period of the loan beyond five years from the date of the loan, unless the loan is for
purchase of the "participant's" primary residence. If a "participant" is absent because of military leave during which the "participant" performs services with
the uniformed services (as defined in chapter 43 of title 38 of the United States Code), regardless of whether such military leave is a qualified military leave in
accordance with the provisions of Code Section 4 14(u), waiver of the amortization requirements may extend the period of the loan to the maximum period
permitted for such loan under the separate loan procedures extended by the period of such military leave.
9.08. Security. Loans must be secured by the "participant's" vested interest in his Account not to exceed 50 percent of such vested interest. If the provisions
of Section 14.04 apply to a Participant, a Participant must obtain the consent of his or her spouse, if any, to use his vested interest in his Account as security
for the loan. Spousal consent shall be obtained no earlier than the beginning of the 90-day period that ends on the date on which the loan is to be so secured.
The consent must be in writing, must acknowledge the effect of the loan, and must be witnessed by a Plan representative or notary public. Such consent shall
thereafter be binding with respect to the consenting spouse or any subsequent spouse with respect to that loan.
9.09.
Loan Repayments. If a "participant's" loan is being repaid through payroll withholding, the Employer shall remit any such loan repayment to the
Trustee as of the earliest date on which such amount can reasonably be segregated from the Employer's general assets, but not later than the earlier of (a) the
close of the period specified in the separate loan procedures for preventing a default or (b) the 15th business day of the calendar month following the month in
which such amount otherwise would have been paid to the "participant".
9.10.

Default. The Administrator shall treat a loan in default if

(a)
any scheduled repayment remains unpaid at the end of the period specified in the separate loan procedures (unless payment is not made due to a
waiver of the amortization schedule for a "participant" who is on a leave of absence, as described in Section 9.07), or
(b)

there is an outstanding principal balance existing on a loan after the last scheduled repayment date.

Upon default, the entire outstanding principal and accrued interest shall be immediately due and payable. If a distributable event (as defined by the
Code) has occurred, the Administrator shall direct the Trustee to foreclose on the promissory note and offset the "participant's" vested interest in his Account
by the outstanding balance of the loan. If a distributable event has not occurred, the Administrator shall direct the Trustee to foreclose on the promissory note
and offset the "participant's" vested interest in his Account as soon as a distributable event occurs. The Trustee shall have no obligation to foreclose on the
promissory note and offset the outstanding balance of the loan except as directed by the Administrator.
9.11.
Effect of Termination Where Participant has Outstanding Loan Balance. If a Participant has an outstanding loan balance at the time his
employment terminates, the entire outstanding principal and accrued interest shall be immediately due and payable. Any outstanding loan amounts that are
immediately due and payable hereunder shall be treated in accordance with the provisions of Sections 9.10 and 9.12 as if the Participant had
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defaulted on the outstanding loan. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a Participant with an outstanding loan balance terminates employment with the Employer
and all Related Employers under circumstances that do not constitute a separation from service, as described in Subsection 12.01(b), such Participant may
elect, within 60 days of such termination, to roll over the outstanding loan to an eligible retirement plan, as defined in Section 13.04, that accepts such
rollovers.
Deemed Distributions Under Code Section 72(p). Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 9.10, if a "participant's" loan is in default, the
9.12.
"participant" shall be treated as having received a taxable "deemed distribution" for purposes of Code Section 72(p), whether or not a distributable event has
occurred. The tax treatment of that portion of a defaulted loan that is secured by Roth 401(k) Contributions shall be determined in accordance with Code
Section 402A and guidance issued thereunder.
The amount of a loan that is a deemed distribution ceases to be an outstanding loan for purposes of Code Section 72, except as otherwise
specifically provided herein, and a Participant shall not be treated as having received a taxable distribution when the Participant's Account is offset by the
outstanding balance of the loan amount as provided in Section 9.10. In addition, interest that accrues on a loan after it is deemed distributed shall not be
treated as an additional loan to the Participant and shall not be included in the income of the Participant as a deemed distribution. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, unless a Participant repays a loan that has been deemed distributed, with interest thereon, the amount of such loan, with interest, shall be considered
an outstanding loan under Code Section 72(p) for purposes of determining the applicable limitation on subsequent loans under Section 9.05.
If a Participant makes payments on a loan that has been deemed distributed, payments made on the loan after the date it was deemed distributed
shall be treated as Employee Contributions to the Plan for purposes of increasing the Participant's tax basis in his Account, but shall not be treated as
Employee Contributions for any other purpose under the Plan, including application of the "ACP" test described in Section 6.06 and application of the Code
Section 415 limitations described in Section 6.12.
The provisions of this Section 9.12 regarding treatment of loans that are deemed distributed shall not apply to loans made prior to January 1, 2002,
except to the extent provided under the transition rules in Q & A 22(c)(2) of Section 1 .72(p)-l of the Treasury Regulations.
9.13.
Determination of Vested Interest Upon Distribution Where Plan Loan is Outstanding. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, the
portion of a "participant's" vested interest in his Account that is held by the Plan as security for a loan outstanding to the "participant" in accordance with the
provisions of this Article shall reduce the amount of the Account payable at the time of death or distribution, but only if the reduction is used as repayment of
the loan. If less than 100 percent of a "participant's" vested interest in his Account (determined without regard to the preceding sentence) is payable to the
"participant's" surviving spouse or other Beneficiary, then the Account shall be adjusted by first reducing the "participant's" vested interest in his Account by
the amount of the security used as repayment of the loan, and then determining the benefit payable to the surviving spouse or other Beneficiary.
Article 10. In-Service Withdrawals.
Availability of In-Service Withdrawals. Except as otherwise permitted under Section 11.02 with respect to Participants who continue in
10.01.
employment past Normal Retirement Age, or as required under Section 12.04 with respect to Participants who continue in employment past their Required
Beginning Date, a Participant shall not be permitted to make a withdrawal from his Account under the Plan prior to retirement or termination of employment
with the Employer and all Related Employers, if any, except as provided in this Article.
Withdrawal of Employee Contributions. a Participant may elect to withdraw, in cash, up to 100 percent of the amount then credited to his
10.02.
Employee Contributions Account. Such withdrawals may be made at any time, unless the Employer elects in Subsection 1. 19(c)(1)(A) of the Adoption
Agreement to limit the frequency of such withdrawals.
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10.03. Withdrawal of Rollover Contributions. A Participant may elect to withdraw, in cash, up to 100 percent of the amount then credited to his Rollover
Contributions Account. Such withdrawals may be made at any time.
10.04.
Age 59 1/2 Withdrawals. If so provided by the Employer in Subsection 1.19(b) of the Adoption Agreement or the In-Service Withdrawals
Addendum to the Adoption Agreement, a Participant who continues in employment as an Employee and who has attained the age of 59 1/2 is permitted to
withdraw upon request all or any portion of his Accounts specified by the Employer in Subsection 1.19(b) of the Adoption Agreement or the In- Service
Withdrawals Addendum to the Adoption Agreement, as applicable.
Hardship Withdrawals. If so provided by the Employer in Subsection 1.19(a) of the Adoption Agreement, a Participant who continues in
10.05.
employment as an Employee may apply to the Administrator for a hardship withdrawal of all or any portion of (a) his Deferral Contributions Account
(excluding any earnings thereon accrued after the later of December 31, 1988 or the last day of the last Plan Year ending before July 1, 1989), if elected by the
Employer in Subsection 1.1 9(a)(1)(A) of the Adoption Agreement or (b), if elected by the Employer in Subsection 1.1 9(a)(1)(B) of the Adoption Agreement,
such Accounts as may be specified in Section (c) of the In- Service Withdrawals Addendum to the Adoption Agreement. The minimum amount that a
Participant may withdraw because of hardship is the dollar amount specified by the Employer in Subsection 1.19(a) of the Adoption Agreement, if any.
For purposes of this Section 10.05, a withdrawal is made on account of hardship if made on account of an immediate and heavy financial need of
the Participant where such Participant lacks other available resources. The Administrator shall direct the Trustee with respect to hardship withdrawals and
those withdrawals shall be based on the following special rules:
(a)

The following are the only financial needs considered immediate and heavy:

(1)
expenses incurred or necessary for medical care (that would be deductible under Code Section 213(d), determined without regard to whether the
expenses exceed any applicable income limit) of the Participant, the Participant's spouse, children, or dependents;
(2)

costs directly related to the purchase (excluding mortgage payments) of a principal residence for the Participant;

(3)
payment of tuition, related educational fees, and room and board for the next 12 months of post-secondary education for the Participant, the
Participant's spouse, children or dependents (as defined in Code Section 152, without regard to subsections (b)(1), (b)(2), and (d)(1)(B) thereof);
(4)

payments necessary to prevent the eviction of the Participant from, or a foreclosure on the mortgage on, the Participant's principal residence;

(5)
payments for funeral or burial expenses for the Participant's deceased parent, spouse, child, or dependent (as defined in Code Section 152,
without regard to subsection (d)(1)(B) thereof);
(6)
expenses for the repair of damage to the Participant's principal residence that would qualify for a casualty loss deduction under Code Section 165
(determined without regard to whether the loss exceeds any applicable income limit); or
(7)
any other financial need determined to be immediate and heavy under rules and regulations issued by the Secretary of the Treasury or his
delegate; provided, however, that any such financial need shall constitute an immediate and heavy need under this paragraph (7) no sooner than
administratively practicable following the date such rule or regulation is issued.
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(b)

A distribution shall be considered as necessary to satisfy an immediate and heavy financial need of the Participant only if:

(1)
The Participant has obtained all distributions, other than the hardship withdrawal, and all nontaxable (at the time of the loan) loans currently
available under all plans maintained by the Employer or any Related Employer;
(2)
The Participant suspends Deferral Contributions and Employee Contributions to the Plan for the 6-month period following receipt of his
hardship withdrawal. The suspension must also apply to all elective contributions and employee contributions to all other qualified plans and non- qualified
plans maintained by the Employer or any Related Employer, other than any mandatory employee contribution portion of a defined benefit plan, including
stock option, stock purchase, and other similar plans, but not including health and welfare benefit plans (other than the cash or deferred arrangement portion
of a cafeteria plan); and
(3)
The withdrawal amount is not in excess of the amount of an immediate and heavy financial need (including amounts necessary to pay any
Federal, state or local income taxes or penalties reasonably anticipated to result from the distribution).
10.06. Preservation of Prior Plan In-Service Withdrawal Rules. As indicated by the Employer in Subsection 1.19(d) of the Adoption Agreement, to the
extent required under Code Section 411 (d)(6), in-service withdrawals that were available under a prior plan shall be available under the Plan.
(a)

The following provisions shall apply to preserve prior in-service withdrawal provisions.

(1)
If the Plan is an amendment and restatement of a prior plan document or is a transferee plan of a prior plan that provided for in-service
withdrawals from a Participant's vested interest in his Matching Employer and/or Nonelective Employer Contributions Accounts of amounts that have been
held in such Accounts for a specified period of time, a Participant shall be entitled to withdraw at any time prior to his termination of employment, any vested
interest in amounts attributable to such Employer Contributions held in such Accounts for the period of time specified by the Employer in Subsection 1.1 9(d)
(1)(A) of the Adoption Agreement. Any such withdrawal shall be subject to any restrictions applicable under the prior plan or document that the Employer
elects in Subsection 1.1 9(d)(1)(A)(i) of the Adoption Agreement to continue under the Plan as amended and restated hereunder (other than any mandatory
suspension of contributions restriction).
(2)
If the Plan is an amendment and restatement of a prior plan document or is a transferee plan of a prior plan that provided for in-service
withdrawals from a Participant's vested interest in his Matching Employer and/or Nonelective Employer Contributions Accounts by Participants with at least
60 months of participation, a Participant with at least 60 months of participation shall be entitled to withdraw at any time prior to his termination of
employment, his vested interest held in such Accounts. Any such withdrawal shall be subject to any restrictions applicable under the prior plan or document
that the Employer elects in Subsection 1.1 9(d)(1)(B)(i) of the Adoption Agreement to continue under the Plan as amended and restated hereunder (other than
any mandatory suspension of contributions restriction).
(3)
If the Plan is an amendment and restatement of a prior plan document or is a transferee plan of a prior plan that provided for in-service
withdrawals from a Participant's vested interest in his Matching Employer and/or Nonelective Employer Contributions Accounts under any other
circumstances, a Participant who has met any applicable requirements, as set forth in the In- Service Withdrawals Addendum to the Adoption Agreement,
shall be entitled to withdraw at any time prior to his termination of employment his vested interest held in such Accounts. Any such withdrawal shall be
subject to any restrictions applicable under the prior plan or document that the
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Employer elects to continue under the Plan as amended and restated hereunder, as set forth in the In-Service Withdrawal Addendum to the Adoption
Agreement.
(b) If the Plan is a transferee plan of a prior profit sharing plan that provided for in-service withdrawals from any portion of a Participant's
Account other than his Employee Contributions and/or Rollover Contributions Accounts, a Participant who has met any applicable requirements, as set forth
in the In-Service Withdrawals Addendum to the Adoption Agreement, shall be entitled to withdraw at any time prior to his termination of employment his
vested interest in amounts attributable to such prior profit sharing accounts, subject to any restrictions applicable under the prior plan that the Employer elects
to continue under the Plan as amended and restated hereunder (other than any mandatory suspension of contributions restriction), as set forth in the In-Service
Withdrawals Addendum to the Adoption Agreement.
Restrictions on In-Service Withdrawals. The following restrictions apply to any in-service withdrawal made from a Participant's Account under
10.07.
this Article:
(a)
If the provisions of Section 14.04 apply to a Participant's Account, the Participant must obtain the consent of his spouse, if any, to obtain an inservice withdrawal.
(b)
In-service withdrawals under this Article shall be made in a lump sum payment, except that if the provisions of Section 14.04 apply to a
Participant's Account, the Participant shall receive the in-service withdrawal in the form of a "qualified joint and survivor annuity", as defined in Subsection
14.01(a), unless the consent rules in Section 14.05 are satisfied.
(c)
Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary other than the provisions of Section 11.02 or 12.04, a Participant shall not be
permitted to make an in-service withdrawal from his Account of amounts attributable to contributions made to a money purchase pension plan, except
employee and/or rollover contributions that were held in a separate account(s) under such plan.
Article 11.

Right to Benefits.

Normal or Early Retirement. Each Participant who continues in employment as an Employee until his Normal Retirement Age or, if so provided
11.01.
by the Employer in Subsection 1.14(b) of the Adoption Agreement, Early Retirement Age, shall have a vested interest in his Account of 100 percent
regardless of any vesting schedule elected in Section 1.16 of the Adoption Agreement. If a Participant retires upon the attainment of Normal or Early
Retirement Age, such retirement is referred to as a normal retirement.
11.02.
Late Retirement. If a Participant continues in employment as an Employee after his Normal Retirement Age, he shall continue to have a 100
percent vested interest in his Account and shall continue to participate in the Plan until the date he establishes with the Employer for his late retirement. Until
he retires, he has a continuing right to elect to receive distribution of all or any portion of his Account in accordance with the provisions of Articles 12 and 13;
provided, however, that a Participant may not receive any portion of his Deferral Contributions, Qualified Nonelective Employer Contributions, Qualified
Matching Employer Contributions, 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions, or 401(k) Safe Harbor Nonelective Employer Contributions
Accounts prior to his attainment of age 59 1/2.
11.03. Disability Retirement. If so provided by the Employer in Subsection 1.14(c) of the Adoption Agreement, a Participant who becomes disabled while
employed as an Employee shall have a 100 percent vested interest in his Account regardless of any vesting schedule elected in Section 1.16 of the Adoption
Agreement. An Employee is considered disabled if he satisfies any of the requirements for disability retirement selected by the Employer in Section 1.15 of
the Adoption Agreement and terminates his employment with the Employer. Such termination of employment is referred to as a disability retirement.
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11.04.
Death. A Participant who dies while employed as an Employee shall have a 100 percent vested interest in his Account and his designated
Beneficiary shall be entitled to receive the balance of his Account, plus any amounts thereafter credited to his Account. If a Participant whose employment as
an Employee has terminated dies, his designated Beneficiary shall be entitled to receive the Participant's vested interest in his Account.
A copy of the death notice or other sufficient documentation must be filed with and approved by the Administrator. If upon the death of the
Participant there is, in the opinion of the Administrator, no designated Beneficiary for part or all of the Participant's Account, such amount shall be paid to his
surviving spouse or, if none, to his estate (such spouse or estate shall be deemed to be the Beneficiary for purposes of the Plan). If a Beneficiary dies after
benefits to such Beneficiary have commenced, but before they have been completed, and, in the opinion of the Administrator, no person has been designated
to receive such remaining benefits, then such benefits shall be paid in a lump sum to the deceased Beneficiary's estate.
Subject to the requirements of Section 14.04, a Participant may designate a Beneficiary, or change any prior designation of Beneficiary by giving
notice to the Administrator using procedures established by the Administrator. If more than one person is designated as the Beneficiary, their respective
interests shall be as indicated on the designation form. In the case of a married Participant, the Participant's spouse shall be deemed to be the designated
Beneficiary unless the Participant's spouse has consented to another designation in the manner described in Section 14.06. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a
Participant's Account is subject to the requirements of Section 14.04 and the Employer has specified in Subsection 1 .20(c)(2)(B)(ii) of the Adoption
Agreement that less than 100 percent of the Participant's Account that is subject to Section 14.04 shall be used to purchase the “qualified preretirement
survivor annuity”, as defined in Section 14.01, the Participant may designate a Beneficiary other than his spouse for the portion of his Account that would not
be used to purchase the “qualified preretirement survivor annuity,” regardless of whether the spouse consents to such designation.
11.05.
Other Termination of Employment. If a Participant terminates his employment with the Employer and all Related Employers, if any, for any
reason other than death or normal, late, or disability retirement, he shall be entitled to a termination benefit equal to the sum of (a) his vested interest in the
balance of his Matching Employer and/or Nonelective Employer Contributions Account(s), other than the balance attributable to 40 1(k) Safe Harbor
Matching Employer and/or 401(k) Safe Harbor Nonelective Employer Contributions, such vested interest to be determined in accordance with the vesting
schedule(s) selected by the Employer in Section 1.16 of the Adoption Agreement, and (b) the balance of his Deferral, Employee, Qualified Nonelective
Employer, 401(k) Safe Harbor Nonelective Employer, Qualified Matching Employer, 40 1(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer, and Rollover Contributions
Accounts.
11.06.
Application for Distribution. Except as provided in Subsection 1.21(a) of the Adoption Agreement or Section 13.02, a Participant (or his
Beneficiary, if the Participant has died) who is entitled to a distribution hereunder must make application, using procedures established by the Administrator,
for a distribution from his Account and no such distribution shall be made without proper application.
11.07. Application of Vesting Schedule Following Partial Distribution. If a distribution from a Participant's Matching Employer and/or Nonelective
Employer Contributions Account has been made to him at a time when his vested interest in such Account balance is less than 100 percent, the vesting
schedule(s) in Section 1.16 of the Adoption Agreement shall thereafter apply only to the balance of his Account attributable to Matching Employer and/or
Nonelective Employer Contributions allocated after such distribution. The balance of the Account from which such distribution was made shall be transferred
to a separate account immediately following such distribution.
At any relevant time prior to a forfeiture of any portion thereof under Section 11.08, a Participant's vested interest in such separate account shall be
equal to P(AB+(RxD))-(RxD), where P is the Participant's vested interest expressed as a percentage at the relevant time determined under Section 11.05; AB
is the account balance of the separate account at the relevant time; D is the amount of the distribution; and R is the ratio of the account balance at the relevant
time to the account balance after distribution. Following a forfeiture of any portion of such separate account under Section 11.08 below, the Participant's
vested interest in any balance in such separate account shall remain 100 percent.
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11.08.
Forfeitures. If a Participant terminates his employment with the Employer and all Related Employers before his vested interest in his Matching
Employer and/or Nonelective Employer Contributions Accounts is 100 percent, the non-vested portion of his Account (including any amounts credited after
his termination of employment) shall be forfeited by him as follows:
(a)
If the Inactive Participant elects to receive distribution of his entire vested interest in his Account, the non-vested portion of his Account shall be
forfeited upon the complete distribution of such vested interest, subject to the possibility of reinstatement as provided in Section 11.10. For purposes of this
Subsection, if the value of an Employee's vested interest in his Account balance is zero, the Employee shall be deemed to have received a distribution of his
vested interest immediately following termination of employment.
(b)
If the Inactive Participant elects not to receive distribution of his vested interest in his Account following his termination of employment, the
non-vested portion of his Account shall be forfeited after the Participant has incurred five consecutive Breaks in Vesting Service.
No forfeitures shall occur solely as a result of a Participant's withdrawal of Employee Contributions.
Application of Forfeitures. Any forfeitures occurring during a Plan Year shall be applied to reduce the contributions of the Employer, unless the
11.09.
Employer has elected in Subsection 1.1 6(f)(1) of the Adoption Agreement that such remaining forfeitures shall be allocated among the Accounts of Active
Participants who are eligible to receive allocations of Nonelective Employer Contributions for the Plan Year in which the forfeiture occurs. Forfeitures that
are allocated among the Accounts of eligible Active Participants shall be allocated as provided in the Adoption Agreement. Notwithstanding any other
provision of the Plan to the contrary, forfeitures shall first be used to pay administrative expenses under the Plan, if so directed by the Employer. To the extent
that forfeitures are not used to reduce administrative expenses under the Plan, as directed by the Employer, forfeitures will be applied in accordance with this
Section 11.09.
Pending application, forfeitures shall be held in the Permissible Investment selected by the Employer for such purpose.
Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary, in no event may forfeitures be used to reduce the Employer's obligation to remit to
the Trust (or other appropriate Plan funding vehicle) loan repayments made pursuant to Article 9, Deferral Contributions or Employee Contributions.
11.10. Reinstatement of Forfeitures. If a Participant forfeits any portion of his Account under Subsection 11.08(a) because of distribution of his complete
vested interest in his Account, but again becomes an Eligible Employee, then the amount so forfeited, without any adjustment for the earnings, expenses,
losses, or gains of the assets credited to his Account since the date forfeited, shall be recredited to his Account (or to a separate account as described in
Section 11.07, if applicable) if he repays the entire amount of his distribution not attributable to Employee Contributions before the earlier of:
(a)

his incurring five-consecutive Breaks in Vesting Service following the date complete distribution of his vested interest was made to him; or

(b)

five years after his Reemployment Date.

If an Employee is deemed to have received distribution of his complete vested interest as provided in Section 11.08, the Employee shall be deemed
to have repaid such distribution on his Reemployment Date.
Upon such an actual or deemed repayment, the provisions of the Plan (including Section 11.07) shall thereafter apply as if no forfeiture had
occurred. The amount to be recredited pursuant to this paragraph shall be derived first from the forfeitures, if any, which as of the date of recrediting have yet
to be applied as provided in
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Section 11.09 and, to the extent such forfeitures are insufficient, from a special contribution to be made by the Employer.
Adjustment for Investment Experience. If any distribution under this Article 11 is not made in a single payment, the amount retained by the
11.11.
Trustee after the distribution shall be subject to adjustment until distributed to reflect the income and gain or loss on the investments in which such amount is
invested and any expenses properly charged under the Plan and Trust to such amounts.
Article 12. Distributions.
12.01.

Restrictions on Distributions.

(a)
Severance from Employment Rule. A Participant, or his Beneficiary, may not receive a distribution from the Participant's Deferral Contributions,
Qualified Nonelective Employer Contributions, Qualified Matching Employer Contributions, 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions or 40
1(k) Safe Harbor Nonelective Employer Contributions Accounts earlier than upon the Participant's severance from employment with the Employer and all
Related Employers, death, or disability, except as otherwise provided in Article 10, Section 11.02 or Section 12.04. If the Employer elected Subsection
1.21(c) of the Adoption Agreement, distribution from the Participant's Deferral Contributions, Qualified Nonelective Employer Contributions, Qualified
Matching Employer Contributions, 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions or 401(k) Safe Harbor Nonelective Employer Contributions
Accounts may be further postponed in accordance with the provisions of Subsection 12.01(b) below.
(b)
Same Desk Rule. If elected by the Employer in Subsection 1.21(c) of the Adoption Agreement, a Participant, or his Beneficiary, may not receive
a distribution from the Participant's Deferral Contributions, Qualified Nonelective Employer Contributions, Qualified Matching Employer Contributions,
401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions or 401(k) Safe Harbor Nonelective Employer Contributions Accounts earlier than upon the
Participant's separation from service with the Employer and all Related Employers, death, or disability, except as otherwise provided in Article 10, Section
11.02 or Section 12.04. Notwithstanding the foregoing, amounts may also be distributed from such Accounts, in the form of a lump sum only, upon
(1)
The disposition by a corporation to an unrelated corporation of substantially all of the assets (within the meaning of Code Section 409(d)(2))
used in a trade or business of such corporation if such corporation continues to maintain the Plan with respect to the Participant after the disposition, but only
with respect to former Employees who continue employment with the corporation acquiring such assets.
(2)
The disposition by a corporation to an unrelated entity of such corporation's interest in a subsidiary (within the meaning of Code Section 409(d)
(3)) if such corporation continues to maintain the Plan with respect to the Participant, but only with respect to former Employees who continue employment
with such subsidiary.
In addition to the distribution events described in paragraph (a) or (b) above, as applicable, such amounts may also be distributed upon the
termination of the Plan provided that the Employer does not maintain another defined contribution plan (other than an employee stock ownership plan as
defined in Code Section 4975(e)(7) or 409(a), a simplified employee pension plan as defined in Code Section 408(k), a SIMPLE IRA plan as defined in Code
Section 408(p), a plan or contract described in Code Section 403(b) or a plan described in Code Section 457(b) or (f)) at any time during the period beginning
on the date of plan termination and ending 12 months after all assets have been distributed from the Plan. Subject to Section 14.04, such a distribution must be
made in a lump sum.
12.02.
Timing of Distribution Following Retirement or Termination of Employment. Except as otherwise elected by the Employer in Subsection
1.21(b) of the Adoption Agreement and provided in the Postponed Distribution Addendum to the Adoption Agreement, the balance of a Participant's vested
interest in his Account
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shall be distributable upon his termination of employment with the Employer and all Related Employers, if any, because of death, normal, early, or disability
retirement (as permitted under the Plan), or other termination of employment. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Participant may elect to postpone distribution
of his Account until the date in Subsection 1.21(a) of the Adoption Agreement, unless the Employer has elected in Subsection 1 .20(e)(1) of the Adoption
Agreement to cash out de minimus Accounts and the Participant's vested interest in his Account does not exceed the amount subject to automatic distribution
pursuant to Section 13.02. A Participant who elects to postpone distribution has a continuing election to receive such distribution prior to the date as of which
distribution is required, unless such Participant is reemployed as an Employee.
12.03. Participant Consent to Distribution . No distribution shall be made to the Participant before he reaches his Normal Retirement Age (or age 62, if
later) without the Participant's consent, unless the Employer has elected in Subsection 1.20 (e) (1) of the Adoption Agreement to cash out de minimus
Accounts and the Participant's vested interest in his Account does not exceed the amount subject to automatic distribution pursuant to Section 13.02. Such
consent shall be made within the 90-day period ending on the Participant's Annuity Starting Date.
If a Participant's vested interest in his Account exceeds the maximum cash out limit permitted under Code Section 411 (a)(11)(A) ($5,000 as of
January 1, 2005), the consent of the Participant's spouse must also be obtained if the Participant's Account is subject to the provisions of Section 14.04, unless
the distribution shall be made in the form of a "qualified joint and survivor annuity" or "qualified preretirement survivor annuity" as those terms are defined in
Section 14.01. A spouse's consent to early distribution, if required, must satisfy the requirements of Section 14.06.
Neither the consent of the Participant nor the Participant's spouse shall be required to the extent that a distribution is required to satisfy Code
Section 401 (a)(9) or Code Section 415. In addition, upon termination of the Plan if it does not offer an annuity option (purchased from a commercial
provider) and if the Employer or any Related Employer does not maintain another defined contribution plan (other than an employee stock ownership plan as
defined in Code Section 4975(e)(7)) the Participant's Account shall, without the Participant's consent, be distributed to the Participant. However, if any
Related Employer maintains another defined contribution plan (other than an employee stock ownership plan as defined in Code Section 4975(e)(7)) then the
Participant's Account shall be transferred, without the Participant's consent, to the other plan if the Participant does not consent to an immediate distribution.
12.04. Required Commencement of Distribution to Participants . In no event shall distribution to a Participant commence later than the date in Section
1.21(a) of the Adoption Agreement, which date shall not be later than the earlier of the dates described in (a) and (b) below:
(a)
unless the Participant (and his spouse, if appropriate) elects otherwise, the 60th day after the close of the Plan Year in which occurs the latest of
(i) the date on which the Participant attains Normal Retirement Age, or age 65, if earlier, (ii) the date on which the Participant's employment with the
Employer and all Related Employers ceases, or (iii) the 10th anniversary of the year in which the Participant commenced participation in the Plan; and
(b)

the Participant's Required Beginning Date.

Notwithstanding the provisions of Subsection 12.04(a) above, the failure of a Participant (and the Participant's spouse, if applicable) to consent to a
distribution shall be deemed to be an election to defer commencement of payment as provided in Section 12.02 above.
12.05. Required Commencement of Distribution to Beneficiaries. Subject to the requirements of Subsection 12.05(a) below, if a Participant dies before
his Annuity Starting Date, the Participant's Beneficiary shall receive distribution of the Participant's vested interest in his Account in the form provided under
Article 13 or 14, as applicable, beginning as soon as reasonably practicable following the date the Beneficiary's application for distribution is filed with the
Administrator. If distribution is to be made to a Participant's spouse, it shall be made
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available within a reasonable period of time after the Participant's death that is no less favorable than the period of time applicable to other distributions.
(a)
Death of Participant Before Distributions Begin. If the Participant dies before distributions begin, the Participant's entire vested interest will be
distributed, or begin to be distributed, no later than as follows:
(1)
If the Participant's surviving spouse is the Participant's sole “designated beneficiary,” then, except as otherwise elected under Subsection
12.05(b), minimum distributions, as described in Section 13.03, will begin to the surviving spouse by December 31 of the calendar year immediately
following the calendar year in which the Participant died, or by December 31 of the calendar year in which the Participant would have attained age 70 1/2, if
later.
(2)
If the Participant's surviving spouse is not the Participant's sole “designated beneficiary,” then, except as otherwise elected under Subsection
12.05(b), minimum distributions, as described in Section 13.03, will begin to the “designated beneficiary” by December 31 of the calendar year immediately
following the calendar year in which the Participant died.
(3)
If there is no “designated beneficiary” as of September 30 of the year following the year of the Participant's death, the Participant's entire vested
interest will be distributed by December 31 of the calendar year containing the fifth anniversary of the Participant's death.
(4)
If the Participant's surviving spouse is the Participant's sole “designated beneficiary” and the surviving spouse dies after the Participant but
before distributions to the surviving spouse begin, this Subsection 12.05(a), other than Subsection 12.05(a)(1), will apply as if the surviving spouse were the
Participant.
For purposes of this Subsection 12.05(a), unless Subsection 12.05(a)(4) applies, distributions are considered to begin on the Participant's Required
Beginning Date. If Subsection 12.05(a)(4) applies, distributions are considered to begin on the date distributions are required to begin to the surviving spouse
under Subsection 12.05(a)(1). If distributions under an annuity purchased from an insurance company irrevocably commence to the Participant before the
Participant's Required Beginning Date (or to the Participant's surviving spouse before the date distributions are required to begin to the surviving spouse under
Subsection 12.05(a)(1)), the date distributions are considered to begin is the date distributions actually commence.
(b) Election of 5-Year Rule. Participants or Beneficiaries may elect on an individual basis whether the 5-year rule described in Subsection 12.05(a)(3) or the
minimum distribution rule described in Section 13.03 applies to distributions after the death of a Participant who has a “designated beneficiary.” The election
must be made no later than the earlier of September 30 of the calendar year in which distribution would be required to begin under Subsection 12.05(a), or by
September 30 of the calendar year which contains the fifth anniversary of the Participant's (or, if applicable, the surviving spouse's) death. If neither the
Participant nor the Beneficiary makes an election under this Subsection 12.05(b), distributions will be made in accordance with Subsection 12.05(a) and
Section 13.03.
Subject to the requirements of Subsection 12.05(a) above, if a Participant dies on or after his Annuity Starting Date, but before his entire vested
interest in his Account is distributed, his Beneficiary shall receive distribution of the remainder of the Participant's vested interest in his Account beginning as
soon as reasonably practicable following the Participant's date of death in a form that provides for distribution at least as rapidly as under the form in which
the Participant was receiving distribution.
For purposes of this Section 12.05, “designated beneficiary” is as defined in Subsection 13.03(c)(1).
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12.06.
Whereabouts of Participants and Beneficiaries. The Administrator shall at all times be responsible for determining the whereabouts of each
Participant or Beneficiary who may be entitled to benefits under the Plan and shall direct the Trustee as to the maintenance of a current address of each such
Participant or Beneficiary. The Trustee shall be under no duty to make any distributions other than those for which it has received satisfactory direction from
the Administrator.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Trustee attempts to make a distribution in accordance with the Administrator's instructions but is unable to
make such distribution because the whereabouts of the distributee is unknown, the Trustee shall notify the Administrator of such situation and thereafter the
Trustee shall be under no duty to make any further distributions to such distributee until it receives further written instructions from the Administrator.
If the Administrator is unable after diligent attempts to locate a Participant or Beneficiary who is entitled to a benefit under the Plan, the benefit
otherwise payable to such Participant or Beneficiary shall be forfeited and applied as provided in Section 11.09. If a benefit is forfeited because the
Administrator determines that the Participant or Beneficiary cannot be found, such benefit shall be reinstated by the Employer if a claim is filed by the
Participant or Beneficiary with the Administrator and the Administrator confirms the claim to the Employer. Notwithstanding the above, forfeiture of a
Participant's or Beneficiary's benefit may occur only if a distribution could be made to the Participant or Beneficiary without obtaining the Participant's or
Beneficiary's consent in accordance with the requirements of Section 1.411(a)-11 of the Treasury Regulations.
Article 13.

Form of Distribution.

13.01. Normal Form of Distribution Under Profit Sharing Plan. Unless a Participant's Account is subject to the requirements of Section 14.03 or 14.04,
distributions to a Participant or to the Beneficiary of the Participant shall be made in a lump sum in cash or, if elected by the Participant (or the Participant's
Beneficiary, if applicable) and provided by the Employer in Section 1.20 of the Adoption Agreement, under a systematic withdrawal plan (installments). A
Participant (or the Participant's Beneficiary, if applicable) who is receiving distribution under a systematic withdrawal plan may elect to accelerate installment
payments or to receive a lump sum distribution of the remainder of his Account balance.
Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if distribution to a Participant commences on the Participant's Required Beginning Date as
determined under Subsection 2.01(tt), the Participant may elect to receive distributions under a systematic withdrawal plan that provides the minimum
distributions required under Code Section 401(a)(9), as described in Section 13.03.
Distributions shall be made in cash, except that distributions may be made in Fund Shares of marketable securities (as defined in Code Section 731
(c)(2)), other than Fund Shares of Employer Stock as defined in Section 20.12, at the election of the Participant, pursuant to the qualifying rollover of such
distribution to a Fidelity Investments® individual retirement account.
13.02.
Cash Out Of Small Accounts. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary, if the Employer elected to cash out small Accounts
as provided in Subsection 1 .20(e)(1) of the Adoption Agreement, and a Participant's vested interest in his Account does not exceed $1,000 the Participant's
vested interest in his Account shall be distributed in a lump sum following the Participant's termination of employment because of retirement, disability, or
other termination of employment. If elected by the Employer in Subsection 1 .20(e)(1)(A) of the Adoption Agreement, if a mandatory distribution greater than
$1,000 is made to a Participant in accordance with the provisions of this Section prior to the Participant's Normal Retirement Age (or age 62, if later) and the
Participant does not elect to have such distribution paid directly to an eligible retirement plan specified by the Participant in a direct rollover or to receive such
distribution directly, then the Administrator will pay the distribution in a direct rollover to an individual retirement plan designated by the Administrator. For
purposes of determining whether an amount being distributed pursuant to this Section 13.02 will be subject to a direct rollover by the Administrator, a
Participant's Roth 401(k) Contributions Account will be considered separately from the amount within the Participant's non-Roth Account.
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If the Employer elected to cash out small Accounts as provided in Subsection 1.20(e)(1) of the Adoption Agreement and if distribution is to be
made to a Participant's Beneficiary following the death of the Participant and the Beneficiary's vested interest in the Participant's Account does not exceed the
maximum cash out limit permitted under Code Section 411(a)(11)(A) ($5,000 as of January 1, 2005), distribution shall be made to the Beneficiary in a lump
sum following the Participant's death.
13.03. Minimum Distributions. Unless a Participant's vested interest in his Account is distributed in the form of an annuity purchased from an insurance
company or in a single sum on or before the Participant's Required Beginning Date, as of the first “distribution calendar year” distributions will be made in
accordance with this Section. If the Participant's vested interest in his Account is distributed in the form of an annuity purchased from an insurance company,
distributions thereunder will be made in accordance with the requirements of Code Section 401(a)(9) and the Treasury Regulations issued thereunder.
Notwithstanding the foregoing or any other provisions of this Section, distributions may be made under a designation made before January 1, 1984,
in accordance with Section 242(b)(2) of the Tax Equity and Fiscal Responsibility Act (TEFRA) and the provisions of Subsection 13.03(d) below.
(a) Required Minimum Distributions During a Participant's Lifetime. During a Participant's lifetime, the minimum amount that will be distributed for each
“distribution calendar year” is the lesser of:
(1)
the quotient obtained by dividing the Participant's “account balance” by the distribution period in the Uniform Lifetime Table set forth in Section
1.401(a)(9)-9 of the Treasury Regulations, using the Participant's age as of the Participant's birthday in the “distribution calendar year” or
(2)
if the Participant's sole “designated beneficiary” for the “distribution calendar year” is the Participant's spouse, the quotient obtained by dividing
the Participant's “account balance” by the number in the Joint and Last Survivor Table set forth in Section 1.401 (a)(9)-9 of the Treasury Regulations, using
the Participant's and spouse's attained ages as of the Participant's and spouse's birthdays in the “distribution calendar year.”
Required minimum distributions will be determined under this Subsection 13.03(a) beginning with the first “distribution calendar year” and up to
and including the “distribution calendar year” that includes the Participant's date of death.
(b) Required Minimum Distributions After Participant's Death.
(1) If a Participant dies on or after the date distributions begin and there is a “designated beneficiary,” the minimum amount that will be distributed for each
“distribution calendar year” after the year of the Participant's death is the quotient obtained by dividing the Participant's “account balance” by the longer of the
remaining “life expectancy” of the Participant or the remaining “life expectancy” of the Participant's “designated beneficiary,” determined as follows:
(A)
The Participant's remaining “life expectancy” is calculated using the age of the Participant in the year of death, reduced by one for each
subsequent year.
(B)
If the Participant's surviving spouse is the Participant's sole “designated beneficiary,” the remaining life expectancy of the surviving spouse is
calculated for each distribution calendar year after the year of the Participant's death using the surviving spouse's age as of the spouse's birthday in that year.
For “distribution calendar years” after the year of the surviving spouse's death, the remaining “life expectancy” of the surviving spouse is calculated using the
age of the surviving spouse as of the spouse's birthday in the calendar year of the spouse's death, reduced by one for each subsequent calendar year.
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(C) If the Participant's surviving spouse is not the Participant's sole “designated beneficiary,” the “designated beneficiary's” remaining “life expectancy” is
calculated using the age of the “designated beneficiary” in the year following the year of the Participant's death, reduced by one for each subsequent year.
(2)
If the Participant dies on or after the date distributions begin and there is no “designated beneficiary” as of September 30 of the year after the
year of the Participant's death, the minimum amount that will be distributed for each “distribution calendar year” after the year of the Participant's death is the
quotient obtained by dividing the Participant's “account balance” by the Participant's remaining “life expectancy” calculated using the age of the Participant in
the year of death, reduced by one for each subsequent year.
(3)
Unless the Participant or Beneficiary elects otherwise in accordance with Subsection 12.05(b), if the Participant dies before the date
distributions begin and there is a “designated beneficiary,” the minimum amount that will be distributed for each “distribution calendar year” after the year of
the Participant's death is the quotient obtained by dividing the Participant's “account balance” by the remaining “life expectancy” of the Participant's
“designated beneficiary,” determined as provided in Subsection 13.03(b)(1).
(4)
If the Participant dies before the date distributions begin and there is no “designated beneficiary” as of September 30 of the year following the
year of the Participant's death, distribution of the Participant's full vested interest in his Account will be completed by December 31 of the calendar year
containing the fifth anniversary of the Participant's death.
(5)
If the Participant dies before the date distributions begin, the Participant's surviving spouse is the Participant's sole “designated beneficiary,”
and the surviving spouse dies before distributions are required to begin to the surviving spouse under Subsection 12.05(a)(1), Subsections 13.03(b)(3) and (4)
will apply as if the surviving spouse were the Participant.
For purposes of this Subsection 13.03(b), unless Subsection 13.03(b)(5) applies, distributions are considered to begin on the Participant's Required
Beginning Date. If Subsection 13.03(b)(5) applies, distributions are considered to begin on the date distributions are required to begin to the surviving spouse
under Subsection 12.05(a)(1). If distributions under an annuity purchased from an insurance company irrevocably commence to the Participant before the
Participant's Required Beginning Date (or to the Participant's surviving spouse before the date distributions are required to begin to the surviving spouse under
Subsection 12.05(a)(1)), the date distributions are considered to begin is the date distributions actually commence.
(c) Definitions. For purposes of this Section 13.03, the following special definitions shall apply:
(1)
“ Designated beneficiary” means the individual who is the Participant's Beneficiary as defined under Section 2.01(g) and is the designated
beneficiary under Code Section 401(a)(9) and Section 1 .401(a)(9)-4 of the Treasury Regulations.
(2)
“Distribution calendar year ” means a calendar year for which a minimum distribution is required. For distributions beginning before the
Participant's death, the first “distribution calendar year” is the calendar year immediately preceding the calendar year which contains the Participant's
Required Beginning Date. For distributions beginning after the Participant's death, the first “distribution calendar year” is the calendar year in which
distributions are required to begin under Subsection 12.05(a). The required minimum distribution for the Participant's first “distribution calendar year” will be
made on or before the Participant's Required Beginning Date. The required minimum distribution for other “distribution calendar years,” including the
required minimum distribution for the “distribution calendar year” in which the Participant's Required
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Beginning Date occurs, will be made on or before December 31 of that “distribution calendar year.”
(3)

“Life expectancy” means life expectancy as computed by use of the Single Life Table in Section 1 .401(a)(9)-9 of the Treasury Regulations.

(4)
A Participant's “account balance” means the balance of the Participant's vested interest in his Account as of the last valuation date in the
calendar year immediately preceding the “distribution calendar year” (valuation calendar year) increased by the amount of any contributions made and
allocated or forfeitures allocated to the Account as of dates in the valuation calendar year after the valuation date and decreased by distributions made in the
valuation calendar year after the valuation date. The “account balance” for the valuation calendar year includes any amounts rolled over or transferred to the
Plan either in the valuation calendar year or in the “distribution calendar year” if distributed or transferred in the valuation calendar year.
(d) Section 242(b)(2) Elections. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Section and subject to
the requirements of Article 14, if applicable, distribution on behalf of a Participant, including a five-percent owner, may be made pursuant to an election under
Section 242(b)(2) of the Tax Equity and Fiscal Responsibility Act of 1982 and in accordance with all of the following requirements:
(1)
The distribution is one which would not have disqualified the Trust under Code Section 401(a)(9), if applicable, or any other provisions of Code
Section 40 1(a), as in effect prior to the effective date of Section 242(a) of the Tax Equity and Fiscal Responsibility Act of 1982.
(2)
The distribution is in accordance with a method of distribution elected by the Participant whose vested interest in his Account is being
distributed or, if the Participant is deceased, by a Beneficiary of such Participant.
(3)

Such election was in writing, was signed by the Participant or the Beneficiary, and was made before January 1, 1984.

(4)

The Participant had accrued a benefit under the Plan as of December 31, 1983.

(5)
The method of distribution elected by the Participant or the Beneficiary specifies the form of the distribution, the time at which distribution will
commence, the period over which distribution will be made, and in the case of any distribution upon the Participant's death, the Beneficiaries of the
Participant listed in order of priority.
A distribution upon death shall not be made under this Subsection 13.03(d) unless the information in the election contains the required information
described above with respect to the distributions to be made upon the death of the Participant. For any distribution which commences before January 1, 1984,
but continues after December 31, 1983, the Participant or the Beneficiary to whom such distribution is being made will be presumed to have designated the
method of distribution under which the distribution is being made, if this method of distribution was specified in writing and the distribution satisfies the
requirements in Subsections 13.03(d)(1) and (5). If an election is revoked, any subsequent distribution will be in accordance with the other provisions of the
Plan. Any changes in the election will be considered to be a revocation of the election. However, the mere substitution or addition of another Beneficiary (one
not designated as a Beneficiary in the election), under the election will not be considered to be a revocation of the election, so long as such substitution or
addition does not alter the period over which distributions are to be made under the election directly, or indirectly (for example, by altering the relevant
measuring life).
The Administrator shall direct the Trustee regarding distributions necessary to comply with the minimum distribution rules set forth in this Section
13.03.
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13.04.
Direct Rollovers. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary, a "distributee" may elect, at the time and in the manner
prescribed by the Administrator, to have any portion or all of an "eligible rollover distribution" paid directly to an "eligible retirement plan" specified by the
"distributee" in a direct rollover; provided, however, that a "distributee" may not elect a direct rollover with respect to a portion of an "eligible rollover
distribution" if such portion totals less than $500. In applying the $500 minimum on rollovers of a portion of a distribution, any "eligible rollover distribution"
from a Participant's Roth 401(k) Contributions Account will be considered separately from any "eligible rollover distribution" from the Participant's non-Roth
Account.
The portion of any "eligible rollover distribution" consisting of Employee Contributions may only be rolled over to an individual retirement
account or annuity described in Code Section 408(a) or (b) or to a qualified defined contribution plan described in Code Section 401(a) or 403(a) that provides
for separate accounting with respect to such accounts, including separate accounting for the portion of such "eligible rollover distribution" that is includible in
income and the portion that is not includible in income. That portion of any "eligible rollover distribution" consisting of Roth 401(k) Contributions, may only
be rolled over to another designated Roth account established for the individual under an applicable retirement plan described in Code Section 402A(e)(1) that
provides for "designated Roth contributions", as defined in Section 6.01, or to a Roth individual retirement account described in Code Section 408A, subject
to the rules of Code Section 402(c).
For purposes of this Section 13.04, the following definitions shall apply:
(a)
"Distributee" means a Participant, the Participant's surviving spouse, and the Participant's spouse or former spouse who is the alternate payee
under a qualified domestic relations order, who is entitled to receive a distribution from the Participant's vested interest in his Account.
(b)
"Eligible retirement plan" means an individual retirement account described in Code Section 408(a), an individual retirement annuity described
in Code Section 408(b), an annuity plan described in Code Section 403(a), a qualified defined contribution plan described in Code Section 401(a), an annuity
contract described in Code Section 403(b), an eligible deferred compensation plan described in Code Section 457(b) that is maintained by a state, political
subdivision of a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or political subdivision of a state, provided that such 457 plan provides for separate
accounting with respect to such rolled over amounts, that accepts "eligible rollover distributions", or a Roth individual retirement account described in Code
Section 408A.
(c)
"Eligible rollover distribution" means any distribution of all or any portion of the balance to the credit of the "distributee", except that an
"eligible rollover distribution" does not include the following:
(1)
any distribution that is one of a series of substantially equal periodic payments (not less frequently than annually) made for the life (or life
expectancy) of the "distributee" or the joint lives (or joint life expectancies) of the "distributee" and the "distributee's" designated beneficiary, or for a
specified period of ten years or more;
(2)

any distribution to the extent such distribution is required under Code Section 401(a)(9); or

(3)
any hardship withdrawal made in accordance with the provisions of Section 10.05 or the In-Service Withdrawals Addendum to the Adoption
Agreement.
13.05. Notice Regarding Timing and Form of Distribution. Within the period beginning 90 days before a Participant's Annuity Starting Date and ending
30 days before such date, the Administrator shall provide such Participant with written notice containing a general description of the material features of each
form of distribution available under the Plan and an explanation of the financial effect of electing each form of distribution available under the Plan. The
notice shall also inform the Participant of his right to defer receipt of the distribution until the date in Subsection 1.21(a) of the Adoption Agreement and his
right to make a direct rollover.
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Distribution may commence fewer than 30 days after such notice is given, provided that:
(a)
the Administrator clearly informs the Participant that the Participant has a right to a period of at least 30 days after receiving the notice to
consider the decision of whether or not to elect a distribution (and, if applicable, a particular distribution option);
(b)

the Participant, after receiving the notice, affirmatively elects a distribution, with his spouse's written consent, if necessary;

(c)

if the Participant's Account is subject to the requirements of Section 14.04, the following additional requirements apply:

(1)
the Participant is permitted to revoke his affirmative distribution election at any time prior to the later of (A) his Annuity Starting Date or (B) the
expiration of the seven-day period beginning the day after such notice is provided to him; and
(2)

distribution does not begin to such Participant until such revocation period ends.

Determination of Method of Distribution. Subject to Section 13.02, the Participant shall determine the method of distribution of benefits to
13.06.
himself and may determine the method of distribution to his Beneficiary. If the Participant does not determine the method of distribution to his Beneficiary or
if the Participant permits his Beneficiary to override his determination, the Beneficiary, in the event of the Participant's death, shall determine the method of
distribution of benefits to himself as if he were the Participant. A determination by the Beneficiary must be made no later than the close of the calendar year in
which distribution would be required to begin under Section 12.05 or, if earlier, the close of the calendar year in which the fifth anniversary of the death of the
Participant occurs.
13.07.
Notice to Trustee. The Administrator shall notify the Trustee in any medium acceptable to the Trustee, which may be specified in the Service
Agreement, whenever any Participant or Beneficiary is entitled to receive benefits under the Plan. The Administrator's notice shall indicate the form of
payment of benefits that such Participant or Beneficiary shall receive, (in the case of distributions to a Participant) the name of any designated Beneficiary or
Beneficiaries, and such other information as the Trustee shall require.
Article 14. Superseding Annuity Distribution Provisions.
14.01.

Special Definitions. For purposes of this Article, the following special definitions shall apply:

(a)
"Qualified joint and survivor annuity" means (1) if the Participant is not married on his Annuity Starting Date, an immediate annuity payable
for the life of the Participant or (2) if the Participant is married on his Annuity Starting Date, an immediate annuity for the life of the Participant with a
survivor annuity for the life of the Participant's spouse (to whom the Participant was married on the Annuity Starting Date) equal to 50 percent (or the
percentage designated in Subsection 1 .20(c)(2)(A)(i)(I) or 1 .20(c)(2)(B)(i), as applicable, of the Adoption Agreement) of the amount of the annuity which is
payable during the joint lives of the Participant and such spouse, provided that the survivor annuity shall not be payable to a Participant's spouse if such
spouse is not the same spouse to whom the Participant was married on his Annuity Starting Date.
(b)
"Qualified preretirement survivor annuity" means an annuity purchased with at least 50 percent of a Participant's vested interest in his
Account that is payable for the life of a Participant's surviving spouse. The Employer shall specify that portion of a Participant's vested interest in his Account
that is to be used to purchase the "qualified preretirement survivor annuity" in Section 1.20 of the Adoption Agreement.
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14.02.
(a)

Applicability. The provisions of this Article shall apply to a Participant's Account if:
the Plan includes assets transferred from a money purchase pension plan;

(b)
the Plan is an amendment and restatement of a plan that provided an annuity form of payment and such form of payment has not been
eliminated pursuant to Subsection 1.20(d) of the Adoption Agreement;
(c)
the Plan is an amendment and restatement of a plan that provided an annuity form of payment and such form of payment has been eliminated
pursuant to Subsection 1.20(d) of the Adoption Agreement, but the Participant elected a life annuity form of payment before the effective date of the
elimination;
(d)
the Participant's Account contains assets attributable to amounts directly or indirectly transferred from a plan that provided an annuity form of
payment and such form of payment has not been eliminated pursuant to Subsection 1.20(d) of the Adoption Agreement;
(e)
the Participant's Account contains assets attributable to amounts directly or indirectly transferred from a plan that provided an annuity form of
payment and such form of payment has been eliminated pursuant to Subsection 1.20(d) of the Adoption Agreement, but the Participant elected a life annuity
form of payment before the effective date of the elimination.
14.03. Annuity Form of Payment. To the extent provided in Section 1.20 of the Adoption Agreement, a Participant may elect distributions made in whole
or in part in the form of an annuity contract. Any annuity contract distributed under the Plan shall be subject to the provisions of this Section 14.03 and, to the
extent provided therein, Sections 14.04 through 14.09.
(a)
At the direction of the Administrator, the Trustee shall purchase the annuity contract on behalf of a Participant or Beneficiary from an insurance
company. Such annuity contract shall be nontransferable.
(b)
The terms of the annuity contract shall comply with the requirements of the Plan and distributions under such contract shall be made in
accordance with Code Section 401(a)(9) and the Treasury Regulations issued thereunder.
(c)
The annuity contract may provide for payment over the life of the Participant and, upon the death of the Participant, may provide a survivor
annuity continuing for the life of the Participant's designated Beneficiary. Such an annuity may provide for an annuity certain feature for a period not
exceeding the life expectancy of the Participant or, if the annuity is payable to the Participant and a designated Beneficiary, the joint life and last survivor
expectancy of the Participant and such Beneficiary. If the Participant dies prior to his Annuity Starting Date, the annuity contract distributed to the
Participant's Beneficiary may provide for payment over the life of the Beneficiary, and may provide for an annuity certain feature for a period not exceeding
the life expectancy of the Beneficiary. The types of annuity contracts provided under the Plan shall be limited to the types of annuities described in Section
1.20 of the Adoption Agreement and the Forms of Payment Addendum to the Adoption Agreement.
(d)
14.04.

(a)

The annuity contract must provide for nonincreasing payments.
"Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity" and "Qualified Preretirement Survivor Annuity" Requirements. The requirements of this Section
14.04 apply to a Participant's Account if:
the Plan includes assets transferred from a money purchase pension plan;

(b)
the Employer has selected in Subsection 1.20(c)(2)(B) of the Adoption Agreement that distribution in the form of a life annuity is the normal
form of distribution with respect to such Participant's Account; or
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(c) the Employer has selected in Subsection 1 .20(c)(2)(A) of the Adoption Agreement that distribution in the form of a life annuity is an optional form of
distribution with respect to such Participant's Account and the Participant is permitted to elect and has elected distribution in the form of an annuity contract
payable over the life of the Participant.
If a Participant's Account is subject to the requirements of this Section 14.04, distribution shall be made to the Participant with respect to such Account in the
form of a "qualified joint and survivor annuity" (with a survivor annuity in the percentage amount specified by the Employer in Subsection 1.20 of the
Adoption Agreement) in the amount that can be purchased with such Account unless the Participant waives the "qualified joint and survivor annuity" as
provided in Section 14.05. If the Participant dies prior to his Annuity Starting Date, distribution shall be made to the Participant's surviving spouse, if any, in
the form of a "qualified preretirement survivor annuity" in the amount that can be purchased with such Account unless the Participant waives the "qualified
preretirement survivor annuity" as provided in Section 14.05, or the Participant's surviving spouse elects in writing to receive distribution in one of the other
forms of payment provided under the Plan. A Participant's Account that is subject to the requirements of this Section 14.04 shall be used to purchase the
"qualified preretirement survivor annuity" and the balance of the Participant's vested interest in his Account that is not used to purchase the "qualified
preretirement survivor annuity" shall be distributed to the Participant's designated Beneficiary in accordance with the provisions of Sections 11.04 and 12.05.
14.05.

Waiver of the "Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity" and/or "Qualified Preretirement Survivor

Annuity" Rights. A Participant may waive the "qualified joint and survivor annuity" described in Section 14.04 and elect another form of
distribution permitted under the Plan at any time during the 90-day period ending on his Annuity Starting Date; provided, however, that if the Participant is
married, his spouse must consent in writing to such election as provided in Section 14.06.
A Participant may waive the "qualified preretirement survivor annuity" and designate a non-spouse Beneficiary at any time during the "applicable
election period"; provided, however, that the Participant's spouse must consent in writing to such election as provided in Section 14.06. The "applicable
election period" begins on the later of (1) the date the Participant's Account becomes subject to the requirements of Section 14.04 or (2) the first day of the
Plan Year in which the Participant attains age 35 or, if he terminates employment prior to such date, the date he terminates employment with the Employer
and all Related Employers. The "applicable election period" ends on the earlier of the Participant's Annuity Starting Date or the date of the Participant's death.
A Participant whose employment has not terminated may elect to waive the "qualified preretirement survivor annuity" prior to the Plan Year in which he
attains age 35, provided that any such waiver shall cease to be effective as of the first day of the Plan Year in which the Participant attains age 35.
A Participant's waiver of the "qualified joint and survivor annuity" or "qualified preretirement survivor annuity" shall be valid only if the applicable
notice described in Section 14.07 or 14.08 has been provided to the Participant.
14.06.
Spouse's Consent to Waiver. A spouse's written consent to a Participant's waiver of the "qualified joint and survivor annuity" or "qualified
preretirement survivor annuity" forms of distribution must acknowledge the effect of the Participant's election and must be witnessed by a Plan representative
or a notary public. In addition, the spouse's written consent must either (a) specify the form of distribution elected instead of the "qualified joint and survivor
annuity", if applicable, and that such form may not be changed (except to a "qualified joint and survivor annuity") without written spousal consent and specify
any non-spouse Beneficiary designated by the Participant, if applicable, and that such designation may not be changed without written spousal consent or (b)
acknowledge that the spouse has the right to limit consent as provided in clause (a) above, but permit the Participant to change the form of distribution elected
or the designated Beneficiary without the spouse's further consent.
A Participant's spouse shall be deemed to have given written consent to a Participant's waiver if the Participant establishes to the satisfaction of a
Plan representative that spousal consent cannot be obtained because the spouse cannot be located or because of other circumstances set forth in Code Section
401(a)(11) and Treasury Regulations issued thereunder.
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Any written consent given or deemed to have been given by a Participant's spouse hereunder shall be irrevocable and shall be effective only with
respect to such spouse and not with respect to any subsequent spouse.
A spouse's consent to a Participant's waiver shall be valid only if the applicable notice described in Section 14.07 or 14.08 has been provided to the
Participant.
Notice Regarding "Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity". The notice provided to a Participant under Section 14.05 shall include a written
14.07.
explanation of (a) the terms and conditions of the "qualified joint and survivor annuity" provided herein, (b) the financial effect of receiving payment under
the "qualified joint and survivor annuity", (c) the Participant's right to make, and the effect of, an election to waive the "qualified joint and survivor annuity",
(d) the rights of the Participant's spouse under Section 14.06, and (e) the Participant's right to revoke an election to waive the "qualified joint and survivor
annuity" prior to his Annuity Starting Date.
Notice Regarding "Qualified Preretirement Survivor Annuity". If a Participant's Account is subject to the requirements of Section 14.04, the
14.08.
Participant shall be provided with a written explanation of the "qualified preretirement survivor annuity" comparable to the written explanation provided with
respect to the "qualified joint and survivor annuity", as described in Section 14.07. Such explanation shall be furnished within whichever of the following
periods ends last:
(a)
the period beginning with the first day of the Plan Year in which the Participant reaches age 32 and ending with the end of the Plan Year
preceding the Plan Year in which he reaches age 35;
(b)

a reasonable period ending after the Employee becomes an Active Participant;

(c)

a reasonable period ending after Section 14.04 first becomes applicable to the Participant's Account; or

(d)

in the case of a Participant who separates from service before age 35, a reasonable period ending after such separation from service.

For purposes of the preceding sentence, the two-year period beginning one year prior to the date of the event described in Subsection 14.08(b), (c)
or (d) above, whichever is applicable, and ending one year after such date shall be considered reasonable, provided, that in the case of a Participant who
separates from service under Subsection 14.08(d) above and subsequently recommences employment with the Employer, the applicable period for such
Participant shall be redetermined in accordance with this Section 14.08.
14.09. Former Spouse. For purposes of this Article, a former spouse of a Participant shall be treated as the spouse or surviving spouse of the Participant,
and a current spouse shall not be so treated, to the extent required under a qualified domestic relations order, as defined in Code Section 414(p).
Article 15.
15.01.

Top-Heavy Provisions.

Definitions. For purposes of this Article, the following special definitions shall apply:

(a)
"Determination date " means, for any Plan Year subsequent to the first Plan Year, the last day of the preceding Plan Year. For the first Plan
Year of the Plan, "determination date" means the last day of that Plan Year.
(b)

" Determination period" means the Plan Year containing the "determination date".

(c)
"Distribution period " means (i) for any distribution made to an employee on account of severance from employment, death, disability, or
termination of a plan which would have been part of the
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“required aggregation group” had it not been terminated, the one-year period ending on the "determination date" and (ii) for any other distribution, the fiveyear period ending on the "determination date".
(d) "Key employee" means any Employee or former Employee (including any deceased Employee) who at any time during the "determination period" was
(1) an officer of the Employer or a Related Employer having annual Compensation greater than the dollar amount specified in Code Section 41 6(i)(1)(A)(I)
adjusted under Code Section 41 6(i)(1) for Plan Years beginning after December 31, 2002 (e.g., $135,000 for Plan Years beginning in 2005), (2) a fivepercent owner of the Employer or a Related Employer, or (3) a one-percent owner of the Employer or a Related Employer having annual Compensation of
more than $150,000. The determination of who is a "key employee" shall be made in accordance with Code Section 416(i)(1) and any applicable guidance or
regulations issued thereunder.
(e) "Permissive aggregation group" means the "required aggregation group" plus any other qualified plans of the Employer or a Related Employer which,
when considered as a group with the "required aggregation group", would continue to satisfy the requirements of Code Sections 401(a)(4) and 410.
(f)

"Required aggregation group" means:

(1)
Each qualified plan of the Employer or Related Employer in which at least one "key employee" participates, or has participated at any time
during the "determination period" or, unless and until modified by future Treasury guidance, any of the four preceding Plan Years (regardless of whether the
plan has terminated), and
(2)
any other qualified plan of the Employer or Related Employer which enables a plan described in Subsection 15.01(f)(1) above to meet the
requirements of Code Section 401(a)(4) or 410.
(g)

"Top-heavy plan" means a plan in which any of the following conditions exists:

(1)
group";

the "top-heavy ratio" for the plan exceeds 60 percent and the plan is not part of any "required aggregation group" or "permissive aggregation

(2)
the plan is a part of a "required aggregation group" but not part of a "permissive aggregation group" and the "top-heavy ratio" for the "required
aggregation group" exceeds 60 percent; or
(3)
percent.

the plan is a part of a "required aggregation group" and a "permissive aggregation group" and the "top-heavy ratio" for both groups exceeds 60

Notwithstanding the foregoing, a plan is not a "top-heavy plan" for a Plan Year if it consists solely of a cash or deferred arrangement that satisfies the
nondiscrimination requirements under Code Section 401(k) by application of Code Section 401(k)(12) and, if matching contributions are provided under such
plan, satisfies the nondiscrimination requirements under Code Section 401(m) by application of Code Section 401(m)(11).
(h)

"Top-heavy ratio" means:

(1)
With respect to the Plan, or with respect to any "required aggregation group" or "permissive aggregation group" that consists solely of defined
contribution plans (including any simplified employee pension, as defined in Code Section 408(k)), a fraction, the numerator of which is the sum of the
account balances of all "key employees" under the plans as of the "determination date" (including any part of any account balance distributed during the
"distribution period"), and the denominator of which is the sum of all account balances (including
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any part of any account balance distributed during the "distribution period") of all participants under the plans as of the "determination date". Both the
numerator and denominator of the "top- heavy ratio" shall be increased, to the extent required by Code Section 416, to reflect any contribution which is due
but unpaid as of the "determination date".
(2) With respect to any "required aggregation group" or "permissive aggregation group" that includes one or more defined benefit plans which, during the
"determination period", has covered or could cover an Active Participant in the Plan, a fraction, the numerator of which is the sum of the account balances
under the defined contribution plans for all "key employees" and the present value of accrued benefits under the defined benefit plans for all "key employees",
and the denominator of which is the sum of the account balances under the defined contribution plans for all participants and the present value of accrued
benefits under the defined benefit plans for all participants. Both the numerator and denominator of the "top-heavy ratio" shall be increased for any
distribution of an account balance or an accrued benefit made during the "distribution period" and any contribution due but unpaid as of the "determination
date".
For purposes of Subsections 15.01(h)(1) and (2) above, the value of accounts shall be determined as of the most recent "determination date" and the
present value of accrued benefits shall be determined as of the date used for computing plan costs for minimum funding that falls within 12 months of the
most recent "determination date", except as provided in Code Section 416 and the regulations issued thereunder for the first and second plan years of a defined
benefit plan. When aggregating plans, the value of accounts and accrued benefits shall be calculated with reference to the "determination dates" that fall
within the same calendar year.
The accounts and accrued benefits of a Participant who is not a "key employee" but who was a "key employee" in a prior year, or who has not
performed services for the Employer or any Related Employer at any time during the one-year period ending on the "determination date", shall be
disregarded. The calculation of the "top-heavy ratio", and the extent to which distributions, rollovers, and transfers are taken into account, shall be made in
accordance with Code Section 416 and the regulations issued thereunder. Deductible employee contributions shall not be taken into account for purposes of
computing the "top-heavy ratio".
For purposes of determining if the Plan, or any other plan included in a "required aggregation group" of which the Plan is a part, is a "top-heavy
plan", the accrued benefit in a defined benefit plan of an Employee other than a "key employee" shall be determined under the method, if any, that uniformly
applies for accrual purposes under all plans maintained by the Employer or a Related Employer, or, if there is no such method, as if such benefit accrued not
more rapidly than the slowest accrual rate permitted under the fractional accrual rate of Code Section 41 1(b)(1)(C).
15.02.
Application. If the Plan is or becomes a "top-heavy plan" in any Plan Year or is automatically deemed to be a "top-heavy plan" in accordance with
the Employer's selection in Subsection 1 .22(a)(1) of the Adoption Agreement, the provisions of this Article shall apply and shall supersede any conflicting
provision in the Plan. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the provisions of this Article shall not apply if Subsection 1 .22(a)(3) of the Adoption Agreement is
selected.
15.03.
Minimum Contribution. Except as otherwise specifically provided in this Section 15.03, the Nonelective Employer Contributions made for the
Plan Year on behalf of any Active Participant who is not a "key employee", when combined with the Matching Employer Contributions made on behalf of
such Active Participant for the Plan Year, shall not be less than the lesser of three percent (or five percent, if selected by the Employer in Subsection 1.22(b)
of the Adoption Agreement) of such Participant's Compensation for the Plan Year or, in the case where neither the Employer nor any Related Employer
maintains a defined benefit plan which uses the Plan to satisfy Code Section 401 (a)(4) or 410, the largest percentage of Employer contributions made on
behalf of any "key employee" for the Plan Year, expressed as a percentage of the "key employee's" Compensation for the Plan Year.
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Catch-Up Contributions made on behalf of a "key employee" for the Plan Year shall not be taken into account for purposes of determining the amount of the
minimum contribution required hereunder.
If an Active Participant is entitled to receive a minimum contribution under another qualified plan maintained by the Employer or a Related
Employer that is a "top-heavy plan", no minimum contribution shall be made hereunder unless the Employer has provided in Subsection 1 .22(b)(1) of the
Adoption Agreement that the minimum contribution shall be made under this Plan in any event. If the Employer has provided in Subsection 1 .22(b)(2) that an
alternative means shall be used to satisfy the minimum contribution requirements where an Active Participant is covered under multiple plans that are "topheavy plans", no minimum contribution shall be required under this Section, except as provided under the 416 Contributions Addendum to the Adoption
Agreement. If a minimum contribution is required to be made under the Plan for the Plan Year on behalf of an Active Participant who is not a "key employee"
and who is a participant in a defined benefit plan maintained by the Employer or a Related Employer that is aggregated with the Plan, the minimum
contribution shall not be less than five percent of such Participant's Compensation for the Plan Year.
The minimum contribution required under this Section 15.03 shall be made to the Account of an Active Participant even though, under other Plan
provisions, the Active Participant would not otherwise be entitled to receive a contribution, or would have received a lesser contribution for the Plan Year,
because (a) the Active Participant failed to complete the Hours of Service requirement selected by the Employer in Subsection 1.11(e) or 1.12(d) of the
Adoption Agreement, or (b) the Participant's Compensation was less than a stated amount; provided, however, that no minimum contribution shall be made
for a Plan Year to the Account of an Active Participant who is not employed by the Employer or a Related Employer on the last day of the Plan Year.
That portion of a Participant's Account that is attributable to minimum contributions required under this Section 15.03, to the extent required to be
nonforfeitable under Code Section 416(b), may not be forfeited under Code Section 41 1(a)(3)(B).
15.04. Determination of Minimum Required Contribution. For purposes of determining the amount of any minimum contribution required to be made
on behalf of a Participant who is not a "key employee" for a Plan Year, the Matching Employer Contributions made on behalf of such Participant and the
Nonelective Employer Contributions allocated to such Participant for the Plan Year shall be aggregated. If the aggregate amount of such contributions, when
expressed as a percentage of such Participant's Compensation for the Plan Year, is less than the minimum contribution required to be made to such Participant
under Section 15.03, the Employer shall make an additional contribution on behalf of such Participant in an amount that, when aggregated with the Matching
Employer Contributions and Nonelective Employer Contributions previously allocated to such Participant, will equal the minimum contribution required to be
made to such Participant under Section 15.03.
15.05.
Accelerated Vesting. For any Plan Year in which the Plan is or is deemed to be a "top-heavy plan" and all Plan Years thereafter, the top-heavy
vesting schedule provided in Subsection 1.22(c) of the Adoption Agreement shall automatically apply to the Plan. The top-heavy vesting schedule applies to
all benefits within the meaning of Code Section 41 1(a)(7) except those already subject to a vesting schedule which vests at least as rapidly in all cases as the
schedule elected in Subsection 1.22(c) of the Adoption Agreement, including benefits accrued before the Plan becomes a "top-heavy plan". Notwithstanding
the foregoing provisions of this Section 15.05, the top-heavy vesting schedule does not apply to the Account of any Participant who does not have an Hour of
Service after the Plan initially becomes or is deemed to have become a "top-heavy plan" and such Employee's Account attributable to Employer Contributions
shall be determined without regard to this Section 15.05.
15.06. Exclusion of Collectively-Bargained Employees. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Article 15, Employees who are included in a unit
covered by an agreement which the Secretary of Labor finds to be a collective bargaining agreement between employee representatives and one or more
employers shall not be included in determining whether or not the Plan is a "top-heavy plan". In addition, such Employees shall not be entitled to a minimum
contribution under Section 15.03 or accelerated vesting under Section 15.05, unless otherwise provided in the collective bargaining agreement.

The CORPORATEplan for RetirementSM
© 2008 FMR LLC
All rights reserved.
60

Article 16. Amendment and Termination.
16.01.
Amendments by the Employer that do Not Affect Volume submitter Status. The Employer reserves the authority through a board of directors'
resolution or similar action, subject to the provisions of Article 1 and Section 16.04, to amend the Plan as provided herein, and such amendment shall not
affect the status of the Plan as a volume submitter plan.
(a)
The Employer may amend the Adoption Agreement to make a change or changes in the provisions previously elected by it. Such amendment
may be made either by (1) completing an amended Adoption Agreement, or (2) adopting an amendment in the form provided by the Volume Submitter
Sponsor. Any such amendment must be filed with the Trustee.
(b)
The Employer may adopt certain model amendments published by the Internal Revenue Service which specifically provide that their adoption
shall not cause the Plan to be treated as an individually designed plan.
16.02.

Amendments by the Employer Adopting Provisions not Included in Volume Submitter Specimen

Plan. The Employer reserves the authority, subject to the provisions of Section 16.04, to amend the Plan by adopting provisions that are not
included in the Volume Submitter Sponsor's specimen plan. Any such amendment shall be made through use of the Superseding Provisions Addendum to the
Adoption Agreement. Any such amendment may affect the Plan's status as a volume submitter adopter.
16.03.
Amendment by the Volume Submitter Sponsor. Effective as of the date the Volume Submitter Sponsor receives approval from the Internal
Revenue Service of its Volume Submitter specimen plan, the Volume Submitter Sponsor may in its discretion amend the volume submitter plan at any time,
which amendment may also apply to the Plan maintained by the Employer. The Volume Submitter Sponsor shall satisfy any recordkeeping and notice
requirements imposed by the Internal Revenue Service in order to maintain its amendment authority. The Volume Submitter Sponsor shall provide a copy of
any such amendment to each Employer adopting its volume submitter plan at the Employer's last known address as shown on the books maintained by the
Volume Submitter Sponsor or its affiliates.
Notwithstanding the above, the Volume Submitter Sponsor will no longer have the authority to amend the Plan on behalf of an adopting Employer
as of the earlier of (a) the date the Internal Revenue Service requires the Employer to file Form 5300 as an individually-designed plan as a result of an
Employer amendment to the Plan to incorporate a type of plan that is not allowable in the Volume Submitter program, as described in Section 16.02 of Rev.
Proc. 2005-16 (or the successor thereto), or (b) the date the Employer's Plan is otherwise considered an individually-designed plan due to the nature and extent
of amendments, as described in Section 24.03 of Rev. Proc. 2005-16 (or the successor thereto).
16.04.
Amendments Affecting Vested Interest and/or Accrued Benefits. Except as permitted by Section 16.05, Section 1.20(d) of the Adoption
Agreement, and/or Code Section 41 1(d)(6) and regulations issued thereunder, no amendment to the Plan shall be effective to the extent that it has the effect
of decreasing a Participant's Account or eliminating an optional form of benefit with respect to benefits attributable to service before the amendment.
Furthermore, if the vesting schedule of the Plan is amended, the nonforfeitable interest of a Participant in his Account, determined as of the later of the date
the amendment is adopted or the date it becomes effective, shall not be less than the Participant's nonforfeitable interest in his Account determined without
regard to such amendment.
If the Plan's vesting schedule is amended because of a change to "top-heavy plan" status, as described in Subsection 15.01(g), the accelerated
vesting provisions of Section 15.05 shall continue to apply for all Plan Years thereafter, regardless of whether the Plan is a "top-heavy plan" for such Plan
Year.
If the Plan's vesting schedule is amended and an Active Participant's vested interest, as calculated by using the amended vesting schedule, is less in
any year than the Active Participant's vested interest calculated under the
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Plan's vesting schedule immediately prior to the amendment, the amended vesting schedule shall apply only to Employees first hired on or after the effective
date of the change in vesting schedule.
16.05.
Retroactive Amendments made by Volume Submitter Sponsor. An amendment made by the Volume Submitter Sponsor in accordance with
Section 16.03 may be made effective on a date prior to the first day of the Plan Year in which it is adopted if, in published guidance, the Internal Revenue
Service either permits or requires such an amendment to be made to enable the Plan and Trust to satisfy the applicable requirements of the Code and all
requirements for the retroactive amendment are satisfied.
Termination and Discontinuation of Contributions. The Employer has adopted the Plan with the intention and expectation that assets shall
16.06.
continue to be held under the Plan on behalf of Participants and their Beneficiaries indefinitely and, unless the Plan is a frozen plan as provided in Subsection
1.01 (g)(5) of the Adoption Agreement, that contributions under the Plan shall be continued indefinitely. However, said Employer has no obligation or
liability whatsoever to maintain the Plan for any length of time and may amend the Plan to discontinue contributions under the Plan or terminate the Plan at
any time without any liability hereunder for any such discontinuance or termination.
If the Plan is not already a frozen plan, the Employer may amend the Plan to discontinue further contributions to the Plan by selecting Subsection
1.01 (g)(5) of the Adoption Agreement. An Employer that has selected in Subsection 1.01 (g)(5) of the Adoption Agreement may change its selection and
provide for contributions under the Plan to recommence with the intention that such contributions continue indefinitely, as provided in the preceding
paragraph.
The Employer may terminate the Plan by written notice delivered to the Trustee. Notwithstanding the effective date of the termination of the Plan,
loan payments being made pursuant to Section 9.07 shall continue to be remitted to the Trust until the loan has been defaulted or distributed pursuant to
Sections 9.10 and 9.11 or Section 9.13, respectively.
16.07.
Distribution upon Termination of the Plan. Upon termination or partial termination of the Plan or complete discontinuance of contributions
thereunder, each Participant (including a terminated Participant with respect to amounts not previously forfeited by him) who is affected by such termination
or partial termination or discontinuance shall have a vested interest in his Account of 100 percent. Subject to Section 12.01 and Article 14, upon receipt of
instructions from the Administrator, the Trustee shall distribute to each Participant or other person entitled to distribution the balance of the Participant's
Account in a single lump sum payment. In the absence of such instructions, the Trustee shall notify the Administrator of such situation and the Trustee shall
be under no duty to make any distributions under the Plan until it receives instructions from the Administrator. Upon the completion of such distributions, the
Trust shall terminate, the Trustee shall be relieved from all liability under the Trust, and no Participant or other person shall have any claims thereunder,
except as required by applicable law.
If distribution is to be made to a Participant or Beneficiary who cannot be located, following the Administrator's completion of such search methods
as described in applicable Department of Labor guidance, the Administrator shall give instructions to the Trustee to roll over the distribution to an individual
retirement account established by the Administrator in the name of the missing Participant or Beneficiary, which account shall satisfy the requirements of the
Department of Labor automatic rollover safe harbor generally applicable to amounts less than or equal to the maximum cashout amount specified in Code
Section 401 (a)(3 1)(B)(ii) ($5,000 as of January 1, 2005) that are mandatorily distributed from the Plan. In the absence of such instructions, the Trustee shall
make no distribution to the distributee.
16.08.
Merger or Consolidation of Plan; Transfer of Plan Assets. In case of any merger or consolidation of the Plan with, or transfer of assets and
liabilities of the Plan to, any other plan, provision must be made so that each Participant would, if the Plan then terminated, receive a benefit immediately after
the merger, consolidation or transfer which is equal to or greater than the benefit he would have been entitled to receive immediately before the merger,
consolidation or transfer if the Plan had then terminated.
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Article 17.

Amendment and Continuation of Prior Plan; Transfer of Funds to or from Other Qualified Plans.

17.01. Amendment and Continuation of Prior Plan. In the event the Employer has previously established a plan (the "prior plan") which is a defined
contribution plan under the Code and which on the date of adoption of the Plan meets the applicable requirements of Code Section 401(a), the Employer may,
in accordance with the provisions of the prior plan, amend and restate the prior plan in the form of the Plan and become the Employer hereunder, subject to
the following:
(a)
Subject to the provisions of the Plan, each individual who was a Participant in the prior plan immediately prior to the effective date of such
amendment and restatement shall become a Participant in the Plan on the effective date of the amendment and restatement, provided he is an Eligible
Employee as of that date.
(b)
Except as provided in Section 16.04, no election may be made under the vesting provisions of the Adoption Agreement if such election would
reduce the benefits of a Participant under the Plan to less than the benefits to which he would have been entitled if he voluntarily separated from the service of
the Employer immediately prior to such amendment and restatement.
(c)
No amendment to the Plan shall decrease a Participant's accrued benefit or eliminate an optional form of benefit, except as permitted under
Subsection 1.20(d) of the Adoption Agreement.
(d)
The amounts standing to the credit of a Participant's account immediately prior to such amendment and restatement which represent the amounts
properly attributable to (1) contributions by the Participant and (2) contributions by the Employer and forfeitures shall constitute the opening balance of his
Account or Accounts under the Plan.
(e)
Amounts being paid to an Inactive Participant or to a Beneficiary in accordance with the provisions of the prior plan shall continue to be paid in
accordance with such provisions.
(f)
Any election and waiver of the "qualified preretirement survivor annuity", as defined in Section 14.01, in effect after August 23, 1984, under the
prior plan immediately before such amendment and restatement shall be deemed a valid election and waiver of Beneficiary under Section 14.04 if such
designation satisfies the requirements of Sections 14.05 and 14.06, unless and until the Participant revokes such election and waiver under the Plan.
(g)
All assets of the predecessor trust shall be invested by the Trustee as soon as reasonably practicable pursuant to Article 8. The Employer agrees
to assist the Trustee in any way requested by the Trustee in order to facilitate the transfer of assets from the predecessor trust to the Trust Fund.
17.02.
Transfer of Funds from an Existing Plan. The Employer may from time to time direct the Trustee, in accordance with such rules as the Trustee
may establish, to accept cash, allowable Fund Shares or participant loan promissory notes transferred for the benefit of Participants from a trust forming part
of another qualified plan under the Code, provided such plan is a defined contribution plan. Such transferred assets shall become assets of the Trust as of the
date they are received by the Trustee. Such transferred assets shall be credited to Participants' Accounts in accordance with their respective interests
immediately upon receipt by the Trustee. A Participant's vested interest under the Plan in transferred assets which were fully vested and nonforfeitable under
the transferring plan or which were transferred to the Plan in a manner intended to satisfy the requirements of subsection (b) of this Section 17.02 shall be
fully vested and nonforfeitable at all times. A Participant's interest under the Plan in transferred assets which were transferred to the Plan in a manner intended
to satisfy the requirements of subsection (a) of this Section 17.02 shall be determined in accordance with the terms of the Plan, but applying the Plan's vesting
schedule or the transferor plan's vesting schedule, whichever is more favorable, for each year of Vesting Service completed by the Participant. Such
transferred assets shall be invested by the Trustee in accordance with the provisions of Subsection 17.01(g) as if such assets were transferred from a prior
plan, as defined in Section 17.01. Except as
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otherwise provided below, no transfer of assets in accordance with this Section 17.02 may cause a loss of an accrued or optional form of benefit protected by
Code Section 41 1(d)(6).
The terms of the Plan as in effect at the time of the transfer shall apply to the amounts transferred regardless of whether such application would
have the effect of eliminating or reducing an optional form of benefit protected by Code Section 41 1(d)(6) which was previously available with respect to any
amount transferred to the Plan pursuant to this Section 17.02, provided that such transfer satisfies the requirements set forth in either (a) or (b):
(a)

(1) The transfer is conditioned upon a voluntary, fully informed election by the Participant to transfer his entire account balance to the
Plan. As an alternative to the transfer, the Participant is offered the opportunity to retain the form of benefit previously available to him
(or, if the transferor plan is terminated, to receive any optional form of benefit for which the participant is eligible under the transferor
plan as required by Code Section 41 1(d)(6));

(2)
If the defined contribution plan from which the transfer is made includes a qualified cash or deferred arrangement, the Plan includes a cash or
deferred arrangement;
(3)

The defined contribution plan from which the transfer is made is not a money purchase pension plan and

(4)
The transfer is made either in connection with an asset or stock acquisition, merger or other similar transaction involving a change in employer
of the employees of a trade or business (i.e., an acquisition or disposition within the meaning of Section 1 .410(b)-2(f) of the Treasury Regulations) or in
connection with the participant's change in employment status such that the participant is not entitled to additional allocations under the transferor plan.
(b)

(1)

(2)
account;

The transfer satisfies the requirements of subsection (a)(1) of this Section 17.02;
The transfer occurs at a time when the Participant is eligible, under the terms of the transferor plan, to receive an immediate distribution of his

(3)
The transfer occurs at a time when the participant is not eligible to receive an immediate distribution of his entire nonforfeitable account balance
in a single sum distribution that would consist entirely of an eligible rollover distribution within the meaning of Code Section 401(a)(31)(C); and
(4)
The amount transferred, together with the amount of any contemporaneous Code Section 401 (a)(3 1) direct rollover to the Plan, equals the
entire nonforfeitable account of the participant whose account is being transferred.
It is the Employer's obligation to ensure that all assets of the Plan, other than those maintained in a separate trust or fund pursuant to the provisions
of Section 20.10, are transferred to the Trustee. The Trustee shall have no liability for and no duty to inquire into the administration of such transferred assets
for periods prior to the transfer.
17.03. Acceptance of Assets by Trustee . The Trustee shall not accept assets which are not either in a medium proper for investment under the Plan, as set
forth in the Plan and the Service Agreement, or in cash. Such assets shall be accompanied by instructions in writing (or such other medium as may be
acceptable to the Trustee) showing separately the respective contributions by the prior employer and by the Participant, and identifying the assets attributable
to such contributions. The Trustee shall establish such accounts as may be necessary or appropriate to reflect such contributions under the Plan. The Trustee
shall hold such assets for investment in accordance with the provisions of Article 8, and shall in accordance with the instructions of the Employer make
appropriate credits to the Accounts of the Participants for whose benefit assets have been transferred.
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17.04.
Transfer of Assets from Trust. The Employer may direct the Trustee to transfer all or a specified portion of the Trust assets to any other plan or
plans maintained by the Employer or the employer or employers of an Inactive Participant or Participants, provided that the Trustee has received evidence
satisfactory to it that such other plan meets all applicable requirements of the Code, subject to the following:
(a)
The assets so transferred shall be accompanied by instructions from the Employer naming the persons for whose benefit such assets
have been transferred, showing separately the respective contributions by the Employer and by each Inactive Participant, if any, and identifying the assets
attributable to the various contributions. The Trustee shall not transfer assets hereunder until all applicable filing requirements are met. The Trustee shall have
no further liabilities with respect to assets so transferred.
(b)
A transfer of assets made pursuant to this Section 17.04 may result in the elimination or reduction of an optional form of benefit
protected by Code Section 41 1(d)(6), provided that the transfer satisfies the requirements set forth in either (1) or (2):
(1)

(i)

The transfer is conditioned upon a voluntary, fully informed election by the

Participant to transfer his entire Account to the other defined contribution plan. As an alternative to the transfer, the Participant is offered the opportunity to
retain the form of benefit previously available to him (or, if the Plan is terminated, to receive any optional form of benefit for which the Participant is eligible
under the Plan as required by Code Section 41 1(d)(6));
(ii)
If the Plan includes a qualified cash or deferred arrangement under Code Section 401(k), the defined contribution plan to which the transfer is
made must include a qualified cash or deferred arrangement; and
(iii)
The transfer is made either in connection with an asset or stock acquisition, merger or other similar transaction involving a change in employer
of the employees of a trade or business (i.e., an acquisition or disposition within the meaning of Section 1.41 0(b)-2(f) of the Treasury Regulations) or in
connection with the Participant's change in employment status such that the Participant becomes an Inactive Participant.
(2)
(ii)

(i)

The transfer satisfies the requirements of subsection (1)(i) of this Section 17.04;
The transfer occurs at a time when the Participant is eligible, under the terms of the Plan, to receive an immediate distribution of his benefit;

(iii)
The transfer occurs at a time when the Participant is not eligible to receive an immediate distribution of his entire nonforfeitable Account in a
single sum distribution that would consist entirely of an eligible rollover distribution within the meaning of Code Section 401 (a)(3 1)(C);
(iv)

The Participant is fully vested in the transferred amount in the transferee plan; and

(v)
The amount transferred, together with the amount of any contemporaneous Code Section 401 (a)(3 1) direct rollover to the transferee plan,
equals the entire nonforfeitable Account of the Participant whose Account is being transferred.
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Article 18.
18.01.

Miscellaneous.

Communication to Participants. The Plan shall be communicated to all Eligible Employees by the Employer promptly after the Plan is adopted.

18.02. Limitation of Rights. Neither the establishment of the Plan and the Trust, nor any amendment thereof, nor the creation of any fund or account, nor
the payment of any benefits, shall be construed as giving to any Participant or other person any legal or equitable right against the Employer, Administrator or
Trustee, except as provided herein; and in no event shall the terms of employment or service of any Participant be modified or in any way affected hereby. It
is a condition of the Plan, and each Participant expressly agrees by his participation herein, that each Participant shall look solely to the assets held in the Trust
for the payment of any benefit to which he is entitled under the Plan.
Nonalienability of Benefits. Except as provided in Code Sections 401(a)(13)(C) and (D) (relating to offsets ordered or required under a criminal
18.03.
conviction involving the Plan, a civil judgment in connection with a violation or alleged violation of fiduciary responsibilities under ERISA, or a settlement
agreement between the Participant and the Department of Labor in connection with a violation or alleged violation of fiduciary responsibilities under ERISA),
Section 1.401(a)-1 3(b)(2) of the Treasury Regulations (relating to Federal tax levies), or as otherwise required by law, the benefits provided hereunder shall
not be subject to alienation, assignment, garnishment, attachment, execution or levy of any kind, either voluntarily or involuntarily, and any attempt to cause
such benefits to be so subjected shall not be recognized. The preceding sentence shall also apply to the creation, assignment, or recognition of a right to any
benefit payable with respect to a Participant pursuant to a domestic relations order, unless such order is determined in accordance with procedures established
by the Administrator to be a qualified domestic relations order, as defined in Code Section 414(p), or any domestic relations order entered before January 1,
1985.
18.04. Qualified Domestic Relations Orders Procedures. The Administrator must establish reasonable procedures to determine the qualified status of a
domestic relations order. Upon receiving a domestic relations order, the Participant and any alternate payee named in the order shall be notified, in writing, of
the receipt of the order and the Plan's procedures for determining the qualified status of the order. Within a reasonable period of time after receiving the
domestic relations order, the Administrator must determine the qualified status of the order. The Participant and each alternate payee shall be provided notice
of such determination by mailing to the individual's address specified in the domestic relations order, or in a manner consistent with the Department of Labor
regulations.
If any portion of the Participant's Account is payable during the period the Administrator is making its determination of the qualified status of the
domestic relations order, the Administrator must make a separate accounting of the amounts payable. If the Administrator determines the order is a qualified
domestic relations order within 18 months of the date amounts first are payable following receipt of the order, the Administrator shall direct the Trustee to
distribute the payable amounts in accordance with the order. If the determination of the qualified status of the order is not made within the 18-month
determination period, the Administrator shall direct the Trustee to distribute the payable amounts in the manner the Plan would distribute if the order did not
exist and shall apply the order prospectively if the Administrator later determines that the order is a qualified domestic relations order.
The Trustee shall set up segregated accounts for each alternate payee as directed by the Administrator.
A domestic relations order shall not fail to be deemed a qualified domestic relations order merely because it permits distribution or requires
segregation of all or part of a Participant's Account with respect to an alternate payee prior to the Participant's earliest retirement age (as defined in Code
Section 414(p)) under the Plan. A distribution to an alternate payee prior to the Participant's attainment of the earliest retirement age is available only if the
order provides for distribution at that time and the alternate payee consents to a distribution occurring prior to the Participant's attainment of earliest
retirement age.
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Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Section or of a domestic relations order, if the Employer has elected to cash out small Accounts as
provided in Subsection 1 .20(e)(1) of the Adoption Agreement and the alternate payee's benefits under the Plan do not exceed the maximum cash out limit
permitted under Code Section 411 (a)(11)(A) ($5,000 as of January 1, 2005), distribution shall be made to the alternate payee in a lump sum as soon as
practicable following the Administrator's determination that the order is a qualified domestic relations order.
Application of Plan Provisions for Multiple Employer Plans. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary, if one of the
18.05.
Employers designated in Subsection 1.02(b) of the Adoption Agreement is or ceases to be a Related Employer (hereinafter "un-Related Employer"), the Plan
shall be treated as a multiple employer plan (as defined in Code Section 413(c)) in accordance with applicable guidance.
For the period, if any, that the Plan is a multiple employer plan, each un-Related Employer shall be treated as a separate Employer for purposes of
contributions, application of the "ADP" and "ACP" tests described in Sections 6.03 and 6.06, top-heavy determinations and application of the top-heavy
requirements under Article 15, and application of such other Plan provisions as the Employers determine to be appropriate. For any such period, the Volume
Submitter Sponsor shall continue to treat the Employer as participating in this volume submitter plan arrangement for purposes of notice or other
communications in connection with the Plan, and other Plan-related services. The Administrator shall be responsible for administering the Plan as a multiple
employer plan.
18.06.
Veterans Reemployment Rights. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary, contributions, benefits, and service credit with
respect to qualified military service shall be provided in accordance with Code Section 4 14(u) and the regulations thereunder. The Administrator shall notify
the Trustee of any Participant with respect to whom additional contributions are made because of qualified military service. Additional contributions made to
the Plan pursuant to Code Section 4 14(u) shall be treated as Deferral Contributions (if Option 1 .07(a)(5) is selected in the Adoption Agreement, including, to
the extent designated by the Participant, Roth 401(k) Contributions), Employee Contributions, Matching Employer Contributions, Qualified Matching
Employer Contributions, Qualified Nonelective Employer Contributions, or Nonelective Employer Contributions based on the character of the contribution
they are intended to replace; provided, however, that the Plan shall not be treated as failing to meet the requirements of Code Section 401 (a)(4), 401 (k)(3),
401 (k)(12), 401(m), 410(b), or 416 by reason of the making of or the right to make such contribution.
18.07. Facility of Payment. In the event the Administrator determines, on the basis of medical reports or other evidence satisfactory to the Administrator,
that the recipient of any benefit payments under the Plan is incapable of handling his affairs by reason of minority, illness, infirmity or other incapacity, the
Administrator may direct the Trustee to disburse such payments to a person or institution designated by a court which has jurisdiction over such recipient or a
person or institution otherwise having the legal authority under state law for the care and control of such recipient. The receipt by such person or institution of
any such payments shall be complete acquittance therefore, and any such payment to the extent thereof, shall discharge the liability of the Trust for the
payment of benefits hereunder to such recipient.
18.08.
Information between Employer and/or Administrator and Trustee. The Employer and/or Administrator will furnish the Trustee, and the Trustee
will furnish the Employer and/or Administrator, with such information relating to the Plan and Trust as may be required by the other in order to carry out their
respective duties hereunder, including without limitation information required under the Code and any regulations issued or forms adopted by the Treasury
Department thereunder or under the provisions of ERISA and any regulations issued or forms adopted by the Department of Labor thereunder.
18.09. Effect of Failure to Qualify Under Code. Notwithstanding any other provision contained herein, if the Employer's plan fails to be a qualified plan
under the Code, such plan can no longer participate in this volume submitter plan arrangement and shall be considered an individually designed plan.
18.10.
Directions, Notices and Disclosure. Any notice or other communication in connection with this Plan shall be deemed delivered in writing if
addressed as follows and if either actually delivered at said address or, in the case
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of a letter, three business days shall have elapsed after the same shall have been deposited in the United States mail, first-class postage prepaid and registered
or certified:
(a)

If to the Employer or Administrator, to it at the address as the Administrator shall direct pursuant to the Service Agreement;

(b)

If to the Trustee, to it at the address set forth in Subsection 1.03(a) of the Adoption Agreement;

or, in each case at such other address as the addressee shall have specified by written notice delivered in accordance with the foregoing to the addressor's then
effective notice address.
Any direction, notice or other communication provided to the Employer, the Administrator or the Trustee by another party which is stipulated to be
in written form under the provisions of this Plan may also be provided in any medium which is permitted under applicable law or regulation. Any written
communication or disclosure to Participants required under the provisions of this Plan may be provided in any other medium (electronic, telephone or
otherwise) that is permitted under applicable law or regulation.
18.11. Governing Law. The Plan and the accompanying Adoption Agreement shall be construed, administered and enforced according to ERISA, and to
the extent not preempted thereby, the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.
Discharge of Duties by Fiduciaries. The Trustee, the Employer and any other fiduciary shall discharge their duties under the Plan in accordance
18.12.
with the requirements of ERISA solely in the interests of Participants and their Beneficiaries and with the care, skill, prudence, and diligence under the
applicable circumstances that a prudent man acting in a like capacity and familiar with such matters would use in conducting an enterprise of like character
with like aims.
Article 19.

Plan Administration.

19.01. Powers and Responsibilities of the Administrator. The Administrator has the full power and the full responsibility to administer the Plan in all of
its details, subject, however, to the requirements of ERISA. The Administrator is the agent for service of legal process for the Plan. In addition to the powers
and authorities expressly conferred upon it in the Plan, the Administrator shall have all such powers and authorities as may be necessary to carry out the
provisions of the Plan, including the discretionary power and authority to interpret and construe the provisions of the Plan, such interpretation to be final and
conclusive on all persons claiming benefits under the Plan; to make benefit determinations; to utilize the correction programs or systems established by the
Internal Revenue Service (such as the Employee Plans Compliance and Resolution System) or the Department of Labor; and to resolve any disputes arising
under the Plan. The Administrator may, by written instrument, allocate and delegate its fiduciary responsibilities in accordance with ERISA Section 405,
including allocation of such responsibilities to an administrative committee formed to administer the Plan.
19.02. Nondiscriminatory Exercise of Authority. Whenever, in the administration of the Plan, any discretionary action by the Administrator is required,
the Administrator shall exercise its authority in a nondiscriminatory manner so that all persons similarly situated shall receive substantially the same
treatment.
19.03.
Claims and Review Procedures. As required under Section 2560.503-1(b)(2) of Regulations issued by the Department of Labor, the claims and
review procedures are described in detail in the Summary Plan Description for the Plan.
19.04. Named Fiduciary. The Administrator is a "named fiduciary" for purposes of ERISA Section 402(a)(1) and has the powers and responsibilities with
respect to the management and operation of the Plan described herein.
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19.05.
Costs of Administration. Unless paid by the Employer, all reasonable costs and expenses (including legal, accounting, and employee
communication fees) incurred by the Administrator and the Trustee in administering the Plan and Trust may be paid from the forfeitures (if any) resulting
under Section 11.08, or from the remaining Trust Fund. All such costs and expenses paid from the Trust Fund shall, unless allocable to the Accounts of
particular Participants, be charged against the Accounts of all Participants as provided in the Service Agreement.
Article 20.

Trust Agreement.

20.01. Acceptance of Trust Responsibilities. By executing the Adoption Agreement, the Employer establishes a trust to hold the assets of the Plan that are
invested in Permissible Investments. By executing the Adoption Agreement, the Trustee agrees to accept the rights, duties and responsibilities set forth in this
Article. If the Plan is an amendment and restatement of a prior plan, the Trustee shall have no liability for and no duty to inquire into the administration of the
assets of the Plan for periods prior to the date such assets are transferred to the Trust.
20.02. Establishment of Trust Fund. A trust is hereby established under the Plan. The Trustee shall open and maintain a trust account for the Plan and, as
part thereof, Accounts for such individuals as the Employer shall from time to time notify the Trustee are Participants in the Plan. The Trustee shall accept
and hold in the Trust Fund such contributions on behalf of Participants as it may receive from time to time from the Employer. The Trust Fund shall be fully
invested and reinvested in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Plan in Fund Shares or as otherwise provided in Section 20.10.
20.03.
Exclusive Benefit. The Trustee shall hold the assets of the Trust Fund for the exclusive purpose of providing benefits to Participants and
Beneficiaries and defraying the reasonable expenses of administering the Plan. No assets of the Plan shall revert to the Employer except as specifically
permitted by the terms of the Plan.
20.04.
Powers of Trustee. The Trustee shall have no discretion or authority with respect to the investment of the Trust Fund but shall act solely as a
directed trustee of the funds contributed to it. In addition to and not in limitation of such powers as the Trustee has by law or under any other provisions of the
Plan, the Trustee shall have the following powers, each of which the Trustee exercises solely as a directed trustee in accordance with the written direction of
the Employer except to the extent a Plan asset is subject to Participant direction of investment and provided that no such power shall be exercised in any
manner inconsistent with the provisions of ERISA:
(a)
to deal with all or any part of the Trust Fund and to invest all or a part of the Trust Fund in Permissible Investments, without regard to the law of
any state regarding proper investment;
(b)
to transfer to and invest all or any part of the Trust in any collective investment trust which is then maintained by a bank or trust company (or
any affiliate) and which is tax-exempt pursuant to Code Section 501(a) and Rev. Rul. 81-100; provided that such collective investment trust is a Permissible
Investment; and provided, further, that the instrument establishing such collective investment trust, as amended from time to time, shall govern any
investment therein, and is hereby made a part of the Plan and this Trust Agreement to the extent of such investment therein;
(c)

to retain uninvested such cash as the Named Fiduciary or Administrator may, from time to time, direct;

(d)

to sell, lease, convert, redeem, exchange, or otherwise dispose of all or any part of the assets constituting the Trust Fund;

(e)
to borrow funds from a bank or other financial institution not affiliated with the Trustee in order to provide sufficient liquidity to process Plan
transactions in a timely fashion, provided that the cost of borrowing shall be allocated in a reasonable fashion to the Permissible Investment(s) in need of
liquidity;
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(f)
to enforce by suit or otherwise, or to waive, its rights on behalf of the Trust, and to defend claims asserted against it or the Trust, provided that
the Trustee is indemnified to its satisfaction against liability and expenses;
(g)
to employ legal, accounting, clerical, and other assistance to carry out the provisions of this Trust and to pay the reasonable expenses of such
employment, including compensation, from the Trust if not paid by the Employer;
(h)

to compromise, adjust and settle any and all claims against or in favor of it or the Trust;

(i)
to oppose, or participate in and consent to the reorganization, merger, consolidation, or readjustment of the finances of any enterprise, to pay
assessments and expenses in connection therewith, and to deposit securities under deposit agreements;
(j)

to apply for or purchase annuity contracts in accordance with Article 14;

(k)
to hold securities unregistered, or to register them in its own name or in the name of nominees in accordance with the provisions of Section
2550.403a-1(b) of Department of Labor Regulations;
(l)
to appoint custodians to hold investments within the jurisdiction of the district courts of the United States and to deposit securities with stock
clearing corporations or depositories or similar organizations;
(m)
granted;

to make, execute, acknowledge and deliver any and all instruments that it deems necessary or appropriate to carry out the powers herein

(n)

generally to exercise any of the powers of an owner with respect to all or any part of the Trust Fund; and

(o)

to take all such actions as may be necessary under the Trust Agreement, to the extent consistent with applicable law.

The Employer specifically acknowledges and authorizes that affiliates of the Trustee may act as its agent in the performance of ministerial,
nonfiduciary duties under the Trust.
The Trustee shall provide the Employer with reasonable notice of any claim filed against the Plan or Trust or with regard to any related matter, or
of any claim filed by the Trustee on behalf of the Plan or Trust or with regard to any related matter.
20.05.
Accounts. The Trustee shall keep full accounts of all receipts and disbursements and other transactions hereunder. Within 120 days after the close
of each Plan Year and at such other times as may be appropriate, the Trustee shall determine the then net fair market value of the Trust Fund as of the close of
the Plan Year, as of the termination of the Trust, or as of such other time, whichever is applicable, and shall render to the Employer and Administrator an
account of its administration of the Trust during the period since the last such accounting, including all allocations made by it during such period.
20.06.
Approval of Accounts. To the extent permitted by law, the written approval of any account by the Employer or Administrator shall be final and
binding, as to all matters and transactions stated or shown therein, upon the Employer, Administrator, Participants and all persons who then are or thereafter
become interested in the Trust. The failure of the Employer or Administrator to notify the Trustee within six months after the receipt of any account of its
objection to the account shall, to the extent permitted by law, be the equivalent of written approval. If the Employer or Administrator files any objections
within such six month period with respect to any matters or transactions stated or shown in the account, and the Employer or Administrator and the Trustee
cannot amicably
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settle the question raised by such objections, the Trustee shall have the right to have such questions settled by judicial proceedings. Nothing herein contained
shall be construed so as to deprive the Trustee of the right to have judicial settlement of its accounts. In any proceeding for a judicial settlement of any account
or for instructions, the only necessary parties shall be the Trustee, the Employer and the Administrator.
Distribution from Trust Fund. The Trustee shall make such distributions from the Trust Fund as the Employer or Administrator may direct (in
20.07.
writing or such other medium as may be acceptable to the Trustee), consistent with the terms of the Plan and either for the exclusive benefit of Participants or
their Beneficiaries, or for the payment of expenses of administering the Plan.
Transfer of Amounts from Qualified Plan. If amounts are to be transferred to the Plan from another qualified plan or trust under Code Section 40
20.08.
1(a), such transfer shall be made in accordance with the provisions of the Plan and with such rules as may be established by the Trustee. The Trustee shall
only accept assets which are in a medium proper for investment under this Trust Agreement or in cash, and that are accompanied in a timely manner, as
agreed to by the Administrator and the Trustee, by instructions in writing (or such other medium as may be acceptable to the Trustee) showing separately the
respective contributions by the prior employer and the transferring Employee, the records relating to such contributions, and identifying the assets attributable
to such contributions. The Trustee shall hold such assets for investment in accordance with the provisions of this Trust Agreement.
20.09. Transfer of Assets from Trust. Subject to the provisions of the Plan, the Employer may direct the Trustee to transfer all or a specified portion of
the Trust assets to any other plan or plans maintained by the Employer or the employer or employers of an Inactive Participant or Participants, provided that
the Trustee has received evidence satisfactory to it that such other plan meets all applicable requirements of the Code. The assets so transferred shall be
accompanied by written instructions from the Employer naming the persons for whose benefit such assets have been transferred, showing separately the
respective contributions by the Employer and by each Participant, if any, and identifying the assets attributable to the various contributions. The Trustee shall
have no further liabilities with respect to assets so transferred.
20.10.
Separate Trust or Fund for Existing Plan Assets. With the consent of the Trustee, the Employer may maintain a trust or fund (including a group
annuity contract) under this volume submitter plan document separate from the Trust Fund for Plan assets which are not Permissible Investments listed in the
Service Agreement and which (i) are purchased prior to the adoption of this volume submitter plan document or (ii) are transferred to the Plan in connection
with the merger of another plan into the Plan, provided that such transferred assets were acquired by such other plan prior to the merger date specified for
such other plan in the Plan Mergers Addendum to the Adoption Agreement. The Trustee shall have no authority and no responsibility for the Plan assets held
in such separate trust or fund. The Employer shall be responsible for assuring that such separate trust or fund is maintained pursuant to a separate trust
agreement signed by the Employer and a trustee. The duties and responsibilities of the trustee of a separate trust shall be provided by the separate trust
agreement, between the Employer and the trustee of the separate trust. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary, in the event such
separate trust contains illiquid assets, to the extent a Participant's account is invested in such illiquid assets and Plan loans are otherwise available, such
illiquid assets shall be disregarded in determining the amount available as a loan from the Plan and shall in no event be included in a Plan loan.
Notwithstanding the preceding paragraph, the Trustee or an affiliate of the Trustee may agree in writing to provide ministerial recordkeeping
services for guaranteed investment contracts held in the separate trust or fund. The guaranteed investment contract(s) shall be valued as directed by the
Employer or the trustee of the separate trust.
The trustee of the separate trust shall be the owner of any insurance contract purchased prior to the adoption of this volume submitter plan
document. The insurance contract(s) must provide that proceeds shall be payable to the trustee of the separate trust; provided, however, that the trustee of the
separate trust shall be required to pay over all proceeds of the contract(s) to the Participant's designated Beneficiary in accordance with the distribution
provisions of this Plan. A Participant's spouse shall be the designated Beneficiary of the proceeds in all
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circumstances unless a qualified election has been made in accordance with Article 14. Under no circumstances shall the trust retain any part of the proceeds.
In the event of any conflict between the terms of the Plan and the terms of any insurance contract purchased hereunder, the Plan provisions shall control.
Any life insurance contracts held in the Trust Fund or in the separate trust are subject to the following limits:
(a)
Ordinary life - For purposes of these incidental insurance provisions, ordinary life insurance contracts are contracts with both nondecreasing
death benefits and nonincreasing premiums. If such contracts are held, less than 1/2 of the aggregate employer contributions allocated to any Participant shall
be used to pay the premiums attributable to them.
(b)
Term and universal life - No more than 1/4 of the aggregate employer contributions allocated to any participant shall be used to pay the
premiums on term life insurance contracts, universal life insurance contracts, and all other life insurance contracts which are not ordinary life.
(c)
Combination - The sum of 1/2 of the ordinary life insurance premiums and all other life insurance premiums shall not exceed 1/4 of the
aggregate employer contributions allocated to any Participant.
Self-Directed Brokerage Option. If one of the Permissible Investments under the Plan is Fidelity BrokerageLink®, the self-directed brokerage
20.11.
option ("BrokerageLink"), the Employer hereby directs the Trustee to use Fidelity Brokerage Services LLC ("FBSLLC") to purchase or sell individual
securities for each Participant BrokerageLink account ("PBLA") in accordance with investment directions provided by such Participant. The Employer directs
the Trustee to establish a PBLA with FBSLLC in the name of the Trustee for each Participant electing to utilize the BrokerageLink option. Each electing
Participant shall be granted limited trading authority over the PBLA established for such Participant, and FBSLLC shall accept and act upon instructions from
such Participants to buy, sell, exchange, convert, tender, trade and otherwise acquire and dispose of securities in the PBLA. The provision of BrokerageLink
shall be subject to the following:
(a)
Each Participant who elects to utilize the BrokerageLink option must complete a BrokerageLink Participant Acknowledgement Form which
incorporates the provisions of the BrokerageLink Account Terms and Conditions. Upon acceptance by FBSLLC of the BrokerageLink Participant
Acknowledgement Form, FBSLLC will establish a PBLA for the Participant. Participant activity in the PBLA will be governed by the BrokerageLink
Participant Acknowledgement Form and the BrokerageLink Account Terms and Conditions. If the BrokerageLink Participant Acknowledgement Form or the
BrokerageLink Account Terms and Conditions conflicts with the terms of this Trust, the Plan or an applicable statute or regulation, the Trust, the Plan or the
applicable statute or regulation shall control.
(b)
Any successor organization of FBSLLC, through reorganization, consolidation, merger or similar transactions, shall, upon consummation of
such transaction, become the successor broker in accordance with the terms of this authorization provision.
(c)
The Trustee and FBSLLC shall continue to rely on this direction provision until notified to the contrary. The Employer reserves the right to
terminate this direction upon written notice to FBSLLC (or its successor) and the Trustee, such termination to be implemented as soon as administratively
feasible. Such notice shall be deemed a direction to terminate BrokerageLink as an investment option.
(d)
The Trustee shall provide the Employer with a list of the types of securities which may not be purchased under BrokerageLink. Administrative
procedures governing investment in and withdrawals from a PBLA will also be provided to the Employer by the Trustee.
(e)
With respect to exchanges from the Participant's Account holding investments outside of the BrokerageLink option (hereinafter, the "SPO") into
the PBLA, the named fiduciary hereby directs the Trustee to submit for processing all instructions for purchases into the core account indicated in the
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BrokerageLink Account Terms and Conditions (the "BrokerageLink Core Account") received before the close of the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE") on
a particular date resulting from such exchange requests the next day that the NYSE is operating.
(f)
A Participant has the authority to designate an agent to have limited trading authority over assets in the PBLA established for such Participant.
Such agent as the Participant may designate shall have the same authority to trade in and otherwise transact business in the PBLA, in the same manner and to
the same extent as the Participant is otherwise empowered to do hereunder, and FBSLLC shall act upon instructions from the agent as if the instructions had
come from the Participant. Designation of an agent by the Participant is subject to acceptance by FBSLLC of a completed BrokerageLink Third Party Limited
Trading Authorization Form, the terms of which shall govern the activity of the Participant and the authorized agent. In the event that a provision of the
BrokerageLink Third Party Limited Trading Authorization Form conflicts with the terms of the BrokerageLink Participant Acknowledgement Form, the
BrokerageLink Account Terms and Conditions, this Trust, the Plan or an applicable statute or regulation, the terms of the BrokerageLink Participant
Acknowledgement Form, the Brokerage Link Account Terms and Conditions, this Trust, the Plan or the applicable statute or regulation shall control.
(g)
The Participant shall be solely responsible for receiving and responding to all trade confirmations, account statements, prospectuses, annual
reports, proxies and other materials that would otherwise be distributed to the owner of the PBLA. With respect to proxies for securities held in the PBLA,
FBSLLC shall send a copy of the meeting notice and all proxies and proxy solicitation materials, together with a voting direction form, to the Participant and
the Participant shall have the authority to direct the exercise of all shareholder rights attributable to those securities. The Trustee shall not exercise such rights
in the absence of direction from the Participant.
(h)
FBSLLC shall buy, sell, exchange, convert, tender, trade and otherwise acquire and dispose of securities in each PBLA, transfer funds to and
from the BrokerageLink Core Account and the SPO default fund, collect any fees or other remuneration due FBSLLC or any of its affiliates (other than the
Fidelity BrokerageLink Plan related Account Fee, which shall be assessed and collected as described in the Service Agreement), and make distributions to the
Participant, in accordance with the Service Agreement. No prior notice to or consent from the Participant is required. In the event of a transfer of the Plan to
another service provider, the directions of the Employer in transferring Plan assets shall control. Such transfers may be effected without notice to or consent
from the Participant.
(i)
FBSLLC may accept from the Participant changes to indicative data including, but not limited to, postal address, email address, and phone
number associated with the PBLA established for the Participant.
20.12.
Employer Stock Investment Option. If one of the Permissible Investments is equity securities issued by the Employer or a Related Employer
("Employer Stock"), such Employer Stock must be publicly traded and "qualifying employer securities" within the meaning of ERISA Section 407(d)(5). Plan
investments in Employer Stock shall be made via the Employer Stock Investment Fund (the "Stock Fund") which shall consist of either (i) the shares of
Employer Stock held for each Participant who participates in the Stock Fund (a "Share Accounting Stock Fund"), or (ii) a combination of shares of Employer
Stock and short-term liquid investments, consisting of mutual fund shares or commingled money market pool units as agreed to by the Employer and the
Trustee, which are necessary to satisfy the Stock Fund's cash needs for transfers and payments (a "Unitized Stock Fund"). Dividends received by the Stock
Fund are reinvested in additional shares of Employer Stock or, in the case of a Unitized Stock Fund, in short-term liquid investments. The determination of
whether each Participant's interest in the Stock Fund is administered on a share-accounting or a unitized basis shall be determined by the Employer's election
in the Service Agreement.
In the case of a Unitized Stock Fund, such units shall represent a proportionate interest in all assets of the Unitized Stock Fund, which includes
shares of Employer Stock, short-term investments, and at times, receivables for dividends and/or Employer Stock sold and payables for Employer Stock
purchased. A net asset value per unit shall
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be determined daily for each cash unit outstanding of the Unitized Stock Fund. The return earned by the Unitized Stock Fund shall represent a combination of
the dividends paid on the shares of Employer Stock held by the Unitized Stock Fund, gains or losses realized on sales of Employer Stock, appreciation or
depreciation in the market price of those shares owned, and interest on the short-term investments held by the Unitized Stock Fund. A target range for the
short-term liquid investments shall be maintained for the Unitized Stock Fund. The named fiduciary shall, after consultation with the Trustee, establish and
communicate to the Trustee in writing such target range and a drift allowance for such short-term liquid investments. Such target range and drift allowance
may be changed by the named fiduciary, after consultation with the Trustee, provided any such change is communicated to the Trustee in writing. The Trustee
is responsible for ensuring that the actual short-term liquid investments held in the Unitized Stock Fund fall within the agreed upon target range over time,
subject to the Trustee's ability to execute open-market trades in Employer Stock or to otherwise trade with the Employer.
Investments in Employer Stock shall be subject to the following limitations:
(a) Acquisition Limit. Pursuant to the Plan, the Trust may be invested in Employer Stock to the extent necessary to comply with investment directions under
Section 8.02 of the Plan. Notwithstanding the foregoing, effective for Deferral Contributions made for Plan Years beginning on or after January 1, 1999, the
portion of a Participant's Deferral Contributions that the Employer may require to be invested in Employer Stock for a Plan Year cannot exceed one percent of
such Participant's Compensation for the Plan Year.
(b) Fiduciary Duty of Named Fiduciary. The Administrator or any person designated by the Administrator as a named fiduciary under Section 19.01 (the
"named fiduciary") shall continuously monitor the suitability under the fiduciary duty rules of ERISA Section 404(a)(1) (as modified by ERISA Section
404(a)(2)) of acquiring and holding Employer Stock. The Trustee shall not be liable for any loss, or by reason of any breach, which arises from the directions
of the named fiduciary with respect to the acquisition and holding of Employer Stock, unless it is clear on their face that the actions to be taken under those
directions would be prohibited by the foregoing fiduciary duty rules or would be contrary to the terms of the Plan or this Trust Agreement.
(c) Execution of Purchases and Sales. Purchases and sales of Employer Stock shall be made on the open market on the date on which the Trustee receives in
good order all information and documentation necessary to accurately effect such purchases and sales or (i) if later, in the case of purchases, the date on which
the Trustee has received a transfer of the funds necessary to make such purchases, (ii) as otherwise provided in the Service Agreement, or (iii) as provided in
Subsection (d) below. Such general rules shall not apply in the following circumstances:
(1)

If the Trustee is unable to determine the number of shares required to be purchased or sold on such day;

(2)
If the Trustee is unable to purchase or sell the total number of shares required to be purchased or sold on such day as a result of market
conditions; or
(3)
If the Trustee is prohibited by the Securities and Exchange Commission, the New York Stock Exchange, or any other regulatory body from
purchasing or selling any or all of the shares required to be purchased or sold on such day.
In the event of the occurrence of the circumstances described in (1), (2), or (3) above, the Trustee shall purchase or sell such shares as soon as
possible thereafter and, in the case of a Share Accounting Stock Fund, shall determine the price of such purchases or sales to be the average purchase or sales
price of all such shares purchased or sold, respectively.
(d) Purchases and Sales from or to Employer. If directed by the Employer in writing prior to the trading date, the Trustee may purchase or sell Employer
Stock from or to the Employer if the purchase or
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sale is for adequate consideration (within the meaning of ERISA Section 3(18)) and no commission is charged. If Employer contributions or contributions
made by the Employer on behalf of the Participants under the Plan are to be invested in Employer Stock, the Employer may transfer Employer Stock in lieu of
cash to the Trust. In such case, the shares of Employer Stock to be transferred to the Trust will be valued at a price that constitutes adequate consideration
(within the meaning of ERISA Section 3(18)).
(e) Use of Broker to Purchase Employer Stock. The Employer hereby directs the Trustee to use Fidelity Capital Markets, Inc., an affiliate of the Trustee, or
any other affiliate or subsidiary of the Trustee (collectively, "Capital Markets"), to provide brokerage services in connection with all market purchases and
sales of Employer Stock for the Stock Fund, except in circumstances where the Trustee has determined, in accordance with its standard trading guidelines or
pursuant to Employer direction, to seek expedited settlement of trades. The Trustee shall provide the Employer with the commission schedule for such
transactions and a copy of Capital Markets' brokerage placement practices. The following shall apply as well:
(1)
Any successor organization of Capital Markets through reorganization, consolidation, merger, or similar transactions, shall, upon consummation
of such transaction, become the successor broker in accordance with the terms of this provision.
(2)
The Trustee shall continue to rely on this Employer direction until notified to the contrary. The Employer reserves the right to terminate this
authorization upon sixty (60) days written notice to Capital Markets (or its successor) and the Trustee and the Employer and the Trustee shall decide on a
mutually-agreeable alternative procedure for handling brokerage transactions on behalf of the Stock Fund.
(f) Securities Law Reports. The named fiduciary shall be responsible for filing all reports required under Federal or state securities laws with respect to the
Trust's ownership of Employer Stock; including, without limitation, any reports required under Section 13 or 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and
shall immediately notify the Trustee in writing of any requirement to stop purchases or sales of Employer Stock pending the filing of any report. The Trustee
shall provide to the named fiduciary such information on the Trust's ownership of Employer Stock as the named fiduciary may reasonably request in order to
comply with Federal or state securities laws.
(g) Voting and Tender Offers. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Trust Agreement the provisions of this Subsection shall govern the voting and
tendering of Employer Stock. For purposes of this Subsection, each Participant shall be designated as a named fiduciary under ERISA with respect to shares
of Employer Stock that reflect that portion, if any, of the Participant's interest in the Stock Fund not acquired at the direction of the Participant in accordance
with ERISA Section 404(c).
The Employer, after consultation with the Trustee, shall provide and pay for all printing, mailing, tabulation and other costs associated with the
voting and tendering of Employer Stock, except as required by law. The Trustee, after consultation with the Employer, shall prepare the necessary documents
associated with the voting and tendering of Employer Stock, unless the Employer directs the Trustee not to do so.
(1) Voting.
(A) When the issuer of the Employer Stock prepares for any annual or special meeting, the Employer shall notify the Trustee thirty (30) days in advance of
the intended record date and shall cause a copy of all proxy solicitation materials to be sent to the Trustee. If requested by the Trustee, the Employer shall
certify to the Trustee that the aforementioned materials represent the same information that is distributed to shareholders of Employer Stock. Based on these
materials the Trustee shall prepare a voting instruction form. At the time of mailing of notice of each annual or special
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stockholders' meeting of the issuer of the Employer Stock, the Employer shall cause a copy of the notice and all proxy solicitation materials to be sent to each
Participant with an interest in Employer Stock held in the Trust, together with the foregoing voting instruction form to be returned to the Trustee or its
designee. The form shall show the proportional interest in the number of full and fractional shares of Employer Stock credited to the Participant's SubAccounts held in the Stock Fund. The Employer shall provide the Trustee with a copy of any materials provided to the Participants and shall (if the mailing is
not handled by the Trustee) notify the Trustee that the materials have been mailed or otherwise sent to Participants.
(B) Each Participant with an interest in the Stock Fund shall have the right to direct the Trustee as to the manner in which the Trustee is to vote (including
not to vote) that number of shares of Employer Stock that is credited to his Account, if the Plan uses share accounting, or, if accounting is by units of
participation, that reflects such Participant's proportional interest in the Stock Fund (both vested and unvested). Directions from a Participant to the Trustee
concerning the voting of Employer Stock shall be communicated in writing, or by such other means mutually acceptable to the Trustee and the Employer.
These directions shall be held in confidence by the Trustee and shall not be divulged to the Employer, or any officer or employee thereof, or any other person,
except to the extent that the consequences of such directions are reflected in reports regularly communicated to any such persons in the ordinary course of the
performance of the Trustee's services hereunder. Upon its receipt of the directions, the Trustee shall vote the shares of Employer Stock that reflect the
Participant's interest in the Stock Fund as directed by the Participant. The Trustee shall not vote shares of Employer Stock that reflect a Participant's interest in
the Stock Fund for which the Trustee has received no direction from the Participant, except as required by law; provided, however, that the Employer (acting
as named fiduciary) may direct the Trustee in the Service Agreement to vote shares of Employer Stock that reflect a Participant's interest in the Stock Fund for
which the Trustee has received no directions from the Participant in the same proportion on each issue as it votes those shares that reflect all Participants'
interests in the Stock Fund (in the aggregate) for which it received voting instructions from Participants.
(2)

Tender Offers.

(A) Upon commencement of a tender offer for any securities held in the Trust that are Employer Stock, the Employer shall timely notify the Trustee in
advance of the intended tender date and shall cause a copy of all materials to be sent to the Trustee. The Employer shall certify to the Trustee that the
aforementioned materials represent the same information distributed to shareholders of Employer Stock. Based on these materials, and after consultation with
the Employer, the Trustee shall prepare a tender instruction form and shall provide a copy of all tender materials to be sent to each Participant with an interest
in the Stock Fund, together with the foregoing tender instruction form, to be returned to the Trustee or its designee. The tender instruction form shall show the
number of full and fractional shares of Employer Stock credited to the Participant's Account, if the Plan uses share accounting, or, if accounting is by units of
participation, that reflect the Participant's proportional interest in the Stock Fund (both vested and unvested). The Employer shall notify each Participant with
an interest in such Employer Stock of the tender offer and utilize its best efforts to timely distribute or cause to be distributed to the Participant the tender
materials and the tender instruction form described herein. The Employer shall provide the Trustee with a copy of any materials provided to the Participants
and shall (if the mailing is not handled by the Trustee) notify the Trustee that the materials have been mailed or otherwise sent to Participants.
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(B)
Each Participant with an interest in the Stock Fund shall have the right to direct the Trustee to tender or not to tender some or all of the shares
of Employer Stock that are credited to his Account, if the Plan uses share accounting, or, if accounting is by units of participation, that reflect such
Participant's proportional interest in the Stock Fund (both vested and unvested). Directions from a Participant to the Trustee concerning the tender of
Employer Stock shall be communicated in writing, or by such other means as is agreed upon by the Trustee and the Employer under the preceding paragraph.
These directions shall be held in confidence by the Trustee and shall not be divulged to the Employer, or any officer or employee thereof, or any other person,
except to the extent that the consequences of such directions are reflected in reports regularly communicated to any such persons in the ordinary course of the
performance of the Trustee's services hereunder. The Trustee shall tender or not tender shares of Employer Stock as directed by the Participant. Except as
otherwise required by law, the Trustee shall not tender shares of Employer Stock that are credited to a Participant's Account, if the Plan uses share accounting,
or, if accounting is by units of participation, that reflect a Participant's proportional interest in the Stock Fund for which the Trustee has received no direction
from the Participant.
(C)
A Participant who has directed the Trustee to tender some or all of the shares of Employer Stock that reflect the Participant's proportional
interest in the Stock Fund may, at any time prior to the tender offer withdrawal date, direct the Trustee to withdraw some or all of such tendered shares, and
the Trustee shall withdraw the directed number of shares from the tender offer prior to the tender offer withdrawal deadline. A Participant shall not be limited
as to the number of directions to tender or withdraw that the Participant may give to the Trustee.
(D)
A direction by a Participant to the Trustee to tender shares of Employer Stock that reflect the Participant's proportional interest in the Stock
Fund shall not be considered a written election under the Plan by the Participant to withdraw, or have distributed, any or all of his withdrawable shares. If the
Plan uses share accounting, the Trustee shall credit to the Participant's Account the proceeds received by the Trustee in exchange for the shares of Employer
Stock tendered from the Participant's Account. If accounting is by units of participation, the Trustee shall credit to each proportional interest of the Participant
from which the tendered shares were taken the proceeds received by the Trustee in exchange for the shares of Employer Stock tendered from that interest.
Pending receipt of direction (through the Administrator) from the Participant or the named fiduciary, as provided in the Plan, as to which of the remaining
Permissible Investments the proceeds should be invested in, the Trustee shall invest the proceeds in the Permissible Investment specified for such purposes in
the Service Agreement.
(h)
Shares Credited. If accounting with respect to the Stock Fund is by units of participation, then for all purposes of this Section 20.12, the number
of shares of Employer Stock deemed "reflected" in a Participant's proportional interest shall be determined as of the last preceding valuation date. The trade
date is the date the transaction is valued.
(i)
General. With respect to all rights other than the right to vote, the right to tender, and the right to withdraw shares previously tendered, in the case
of Employer Stock credited to a Participant's Account or proportional interest in the Stock Fund, the Trustee shall follow the directions of the Participant and
if no such directions are received, the directions of the named fiduciary. The Trustee shall have no duty to solicit directions from Participants. The
Administrator is responsible for ensuring that (i) the procedures established in accordance with the provisions of Subsection 20.12(g) are sufficient to
safeguard the confidentiality of the information described therein, (ii) such procedures are being followed, and (iii) an independent fiduciary, as described in
regulations issued under ERISA Section 404(c), is appointed when needed in accordance with those regulations.
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(j)

Conversion. All provisions in this Section 20.12 shall also apply to any securities received as a result of a conversion to Employer Stock.

Voting; Delivery of Information. The Trustee shall deliver, or cause to be executed and delivered, to the Employer or Administrator all notices,
20.13.
prospectuses, financial statements, proxies and proxy soliciting materials received by the Trustee relating to securities held by the Trust or, if applicable,
deliver these materials to the appropriate Participant or the Beneficiary of a deceased Participant. Unless provided otherwise in the Service Agreement, the
Trustee shall vote any securities held by the Trust in accordance with the instructions of the Participant or the Beneficiary of a deceased Participant and shall
not vote securities for which it has not received instructions.
20.14. Compensation and Expenses of Trustee. The Trustee's fee for performing its duties hereunder shall be such reasonable amounts as specified in the
Service Agreement or any other written agreement with the Employer. Such fee, any taxes of any kind which may be levied or assessed upon or with respect
to the Trust Fund, and any and all expenses, including without limitation legal fees and expenses of administrative and judicial proceedings, reasonably
incurred by the Trustee in connection with its duties and responsibilities hereunder shall, unless some or all have been paid by said Employer, be paid from
the Trust in the method specified in the Service Agreement.
20.15. Reliance by Trustee on Other Persons. The Trustee may rely upon and act upon any writing from any person authorized by the Employer or the
Administrator pursuant to the Service Agreement or any other written direction to give instructions concerning the Plan and may conclusively rely upon and
be protected in acting upon any written order from the Employer or the Administrator or upon any other notice, request, consent, certificate, or other
instructions or paper reasonably believed by it to have been executed by a duly authorized person, so long as it acts in good faith in taking or omitting to take
any such action. The Trustee need not inquire as to the basis in fact of any statement in writing received from the Employer or the Administrator.
The Trustee shall be entitled to rely on the latest certificate it has received from the Employer or the Administrator as to any person or persons
authorized to act for the Employer or the Administrator hereunder and to sign on behalf of the Employer or the Administrator any directions or instructions,
until it receives from the Employer or the Administrator written notice that such authority has been revoked.
Except with respect to instructions from a Participant as to the Participant's Account that are otherwise authorized under the Plan, the Trustee shall
be under no duty to take any action with respect to any Participant's Account (other than as specified herein) unless and until the Employer or the
Administrator furnishes the Trustee with written instructions on a form acceptable to the Trustee, and the Trustee agrees thereto in writing. The Trustee shall
not be liable for any action taken pursuant to the Employer's or the Administrator's written instructions (nor for the collection of contributions under the Plan,
nor the purpose or propriety of any distribution made thereunder).
20.16.
Indemnification by Employer. The Employer shall indemnify and save harmless the Trustee, and all affiliates, employees, agents and subcontractors of the Trustee, from and against any and all liability or expense (including reasonable attorneys' fees) to which the Trustee, or such other
individuals or entities, may be subjected by reason of any act or conduct being taken in the performance of any Plan-related duties, including those described
in this Trust Agreement and the Service Agreement, unless such liability or expense results from the Trustee's, or such other individuals' or entities',
negligence or willful misconduct.
20.17. Consultation by Trustee with Counsel. The Trustee may consult with legal counsel (who may be but need not be counsel for the Employer or the
Administrator) concerning any question which may arise with respect to its rights and duties under the Plan and Trust, and the opinion of such counsel shall,
to the extent permitted by law, be full and complete protection in respect of any action taken or omitted by the Trustee hereunder in good faith and in
accordance with the opinion of such counsel.
20.18.
Persons Dealing with the Trustee. No person dealing with the Trustee shall be bound to see to the application of any money or property paid or
delivered to the Trustee or to inquire into the validity or propriety of any transactions.
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20.19. Resignation or Removal of Trustee. The Trustee may resign at any time by written notice to the Employer, which resignation shall be effective 60
days after delivery to the Employer. The Trustee may be removed by the Employer by written notice to the Trustee, which removal shall be effective 60 days
after delivery to the Trustee or such shorter period as may be mutually agreed upon by the Employer and the Trustee.
Except in the case of Plan termination, upon resignation or removal of the Trustee, the Employer shall appoint a successor trustee. Any such
successor trustee shall, upon written acceptance of his appointment, become vested with the estate, rights, powers, discretion, duties and obligations of the
Trustee hereunder as if he had been originally named as Trustee in this Agreement.
Upon resignation or removal of the Trustee, the Employer shall no longer participate in this volume submitter plan and shall be deemed to have
adopted an individually designed plan. In such event, the Employer shall appoint a successor trustee within said 60-day period and the Trustee shall transfer
the assets of the Trust to the successor trustee upon receipt of sufficient evidence (such as a determination letter or opinion letter from the Internal Revenue
Service or an opinion of counsel satisfactory to the Trustee) that such trust shall be a qualified trust under the Code.
The appointment of a successor trustee shall be accomplished by delivery to the Trustee of written notice that the Employer has appointed such
successor trustee, and written acceptance of such appointment by the successor trustee. The Trustee may, upon transfer and delivery of the Trust Fund to a
successor trustee, reserve such reasonable amount as it shall deem necessary to provide for its fees, compensation, costs and expenses, or for the payment of
any other liabilities chargeable against the Trust Fund for which it may be liable. The Trustee shall not be liable for the acts or omissions of any successor
trustee.
20.20.

Fiscal Year of the Trust. The fiscal year of the Trust shall coincide with the Plan Year.

20.21. Amendment. In accordance with provisions of the Plan, and subject to the limitations set forth therein, this Trust Agreement may only be amended
by an instrument in writing signed by the Employer and the Trustee. No amendment to this Trust Agreement shall divert any part of the Trust Fund to any
purpose other than as provided in Section 20.03.
20.22.
Plan Termination. Upon termination or partial termination of the Plan or complete discontinuance of contributions thereunder, the Trustee shall
make distributions to the Participants or other persons entitled to distributions as the Employer or Administrator directs in accordance with the provisions of
the Plan. In the absence of such instructions and unless the Plan otherwise provides, the Trustee shall notify the Employer or Administrator of such situation
and the Trustee shall be under no duty to make any distributions under the Plan until it receives written instructions from the Employer or Administrator.
Upon the completion of such distributions, the Trust shall terminate, the Trustee shall be relieved from all liability under the Trust, and no Participant or other
person shall have any claims thereunder, except as required by applicable law.
20.23. Permitted Reversion of Funds to Employer. If it is determined by the Internal Revenue Service that the Plan does not initially qualify under Code
Section 401, all assets then held under the Plan shall be returned by the Trustee, as directed by the Administrator, to the Employer, but only if the application
for determination is made by the time prescribed by law for filing the Employer's return for the taxable year in which the Plan was adopted or such later date
as may be prescribed by regulations. Such distribution shall be made within one year after the date the initial qualification is denied. Upon such distribution
the Plan shall be considered to be rescinded and to be of no force or effect.
Contributions under the Plan are conditioned upon their deductibility under Code Section 404. In the event the deduction of a contribution made by
the Employer is disallowed under Code Section 404, such contribution (to the extent disallowed) must be returned to the Employer within one year of the
disallowance of the deduction.
Any contribution made by the Employer because of a mistake of fact must be returned to the Employer within one year of the contribution.
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20.24. Governing Law. This Trust Agreement shall be construed, administered and enforced according to ERISA and, to the extent not preempted thereby,
the laws of the State or Commonwealth in which the Trustee has its principal place of business.
20.25. Assignment and Successors. This Trust Agreement, and any of its rights and obligations hereunder, may not be assigned by any party without the
prior written consent of the other party(ies), and such consent may be withheld in any party's sole discretion. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Trustee may
assign this Agreement in whole or in part, and any of its rights and obligations hereunder, to a subsidiary or affiliate of the Trustee without consent of the
Employer. Any successor to the Trustee or successor trustee, either through sale or transfer of the business or trust department of the Trustee or successor
trustee, or through reorganization, consolidation, or merger, or any similar transaction of either the Trustee or successor trustee, shall, upon consummation of
the transaction, become the successor trustee under this Agreement. All provisions in this Trust Agreement shall extend to and be binding upon the parties
hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.
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Volume Submitter Defined Contribution Plan
ADDENDUM
RE: Code Sections 401(k) and 415 2007 Final Regulations

Katrina Emergency Tax Relief Act of 2005 and

Gulf Opportunity Zone Act of 2005
Amendments for Fidelity Basic Plan Document No. 14
PREAMBLE
Adoption and Effective Date of Amendment. This amendment of the Plan is adopted to reflect the final regulations under Internal Revenue Code (Code)
Sections 40 1(k) and 415 and to reflect amendments to the Code pursuant to the Katrina Emergency Tax Relief Act (“KETRA”) and the Gulf Opportunity
Zone Act of 2005 (“GOZA”).. This amendment is intended as good faith compliance with the requirements of Code Sections 40 1(k) and 415, KETRA, and
GOZA and is to be construed in accordance with guidance issued thereunder. This amendment shall be effective as described below.
Supersession of Inconsistent Provisions. This amendment shall supersede the provisions of the Plan to the extent those provisions are inconsistent with the
provisions of this amendment.
1.

Effective for Plan Years and Limitation Years beginning on and after July 1, 2007, the first paragraph of Section 2.01(k) is hereby amended in its
entirety, to provide as follows:

(k) “ Compensation” (subject to any adjustments thereto in Section 5.02, for purposes of determining the amount and allocation of contributions, or in
Section 6.12(c), for purposes of applying the Code Section 415 limitations) means wages as defined in Code Section 3401(a) (for purposes of income tax
withholding at the source) plus amounts that would be included in wages but for an election under Code Section 125(a), 132(f)(4), 402(e)(3), 402(h)(1)(B),
402(k), or 457(b) and all other payments of compensation to an Eligible Employee by the Employer (in the course of the Employer's trade or business) for
services to the Employer while employed as an Eligible Employee for which the Employer is required to furnish the Eligible Employee a written statement
under Code Sections 6041(d), 605 1(a)(3) and 6052. Compensation must be determined without regard to any rules under Code Section 3401(a) that limit the
remuneration included in wages based on the nature or location of the employment or the services performed (such as the exception for agricultural labor in
Code Section 3401(a)(2)). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, however, severance amounts paid after severance from employment shall be
excluded from Compensation.
(1) For purposes of this Section 2.01(k), “severance amounts” are any amounts paid after severance from employment, except a payment of regular
compensation for services during the Eligible Employee's regular working hours, or compensation for services outside the Eligible Employee's regular
working hours (such as overtime or shift differential), commissions, bonuses, or other similar payments provided such payment would have been made prior
to a severance from employment if the Eligible Employee had continued in employment with the Employer, provided such amounts are paid by the later of
(A) 2-1/2 months after or (B) the end of the Limitation Year that includes the date of the Eligible Employee's severance from employment (as defined in
Subsection 2.01 (k)(2) below).
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(2) For purposes of this Section 2.01(k), an Eligible Employee has a “severance from employment” when (i) the employee ceases to be an employee of an
employer (applying the aggregation rules in Code Section 414) maintaining a plan and (ii) in connection with a change of employment, the individual's new
employer does not maintain such plan with respect to the individual. The determination of whether an Eligible Employee ceases to be an employee of an
employer maintaining a plan is based on all of the relevant facts and circumstances.
2.

Effective for Plan Years and Limitation Years beginning on and after July 1, 2007, the third paragraph of Section 2.01(k) is hereby amended, in
its entirety to provide as follows:

Compensation shall generally be based on the amount actually paid to the Eligible Employee during the Plan Year or, for purposes of Article 5, if
so elected by the Employer in Subsection 1.05(b) of the Adoption Agreement, during that portion of the Plan Year during which the Eligible Employee is an
Active Participant. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, Compensation for purposes of Article 15 (Top-Heavy Provisions) shall be based on the amount
actually paid or made available to the Participant during the Plan Year. Compensation is treated as paid on a date if it is actually paid on that date or it would
have been paid on that date but for an election under Code Section 125, 132(f)(4), 401(k), 403(b), 408(k), 408(p)(2)(A)(i), or 457(b).
3.

Effective for Plan Years and Limitation Years beginning on and after July 1, 2007, Subsections (1), (2), and (3) of Section 2.01(k) are renumbered as Subsections (3), (4), and (5).

4.

Effective for Plan Years beginning on and after July 1, 2007, the first paragraph of Section 5.02 is hereby amended to provide as follows:

5.02 Compensation Taken into Account in Determining Contributions. In determining the amount
or allocation of any contribution that is based on Compensation, only Compensation paid to a Participant for services rendered to the Employer while
employed as an Eligible Employee shall be taken into account. Except as otherwise specifically provided in this Article 5, for purposes of determining the
amount and allocation of contributions under this Article 5, Compensation shall not include any amounts elected by the Employer with respect to such
contributions in Subsection 1.05(a) or (b), as applicable, of the Adoption Agreement.
5.
6.12.

Effective for Limitation Years beginning on and after July 1, 2007, Section 6.12 is hereby amended in its entirety to provide as follows:
Code Section 415 Limitations. Notwithstanding any other provisions of the Plan, the following

limitations shall apply:
(a)

Employer Maintains Single Plan: If the "415 employer" does not maintain any other qualified

defined contribution plan or any "welfare benefit fund", "individual medical benefit account", or "simplified employee pension" in addition to the Plan, the
provisions of this Subsection 6.12(a) shall apply.
(1) If a Participant does not participate in, and has never participated in any other qualified defined contribution plan, "welfare benefit fund", "individual
medical benefit account", or "simplified employee pension" maintained by the "415 employer", which provides an "annual addition", the amount of "annual
additions" to the Participant's Account for a Limitation Year shall not exceed the lesser of the "maximum permissible amount" or any other limitation
contained in the Plan. If a contribution that would otherwise be contributed or allocated to the Participant's Account would cause the "annual additions" for the
Limitation Year to exceed the "maximum permissible amount", the amount contributed or allocated shall be reduced so that the "annual additions" for the
Limitation Year shall equal the "maximum permissible amount".
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(2)
Prior to the determination of a Participant's actual Compensation for a Limitation Year, the "maximum permissible amount" may be determined
on the basis of a reasonable estimation of the Participant's Compensation for such Limitation Year, uniformly determined for all Participants similarly
situated. Any Employer contributions based on estimated annual Compensation shall be reduced by any "excess 415 amounts" carried over from prior
Limitation Years.
(3)
As soon as is administratively feasible after the end of the Limitation Year, the "maximum permissible amount" for such Limitation Year shall
be determined on the basis of the Participant's actual Compensation for such Limitation Year.
(b) Employer Maintains Multiple Defined Contribution Type Plans: Unless the Employer specifies another method for limiting "annual additions" in the
415 Correction Addendum to the Adoption Agreement, if the "415 employer" maintains any other qualified defined contribution plan or any "welfare benefit
fund", "individual medical benefit account", or "simplified employee pension" in addition to the Plan, the provisions of this Subsection 6.12(b) shall apply.
(1) If a Participant is covered under any other qualified defined contribution plan or any "welfare benefit fund", "individual medical benefit account", or
"simplified employee pension" maintained by the "415 employer", that provides an "annual addition", the amount of "annual additions" to the Participant's
Account for a Limitation Year shall not exceed the lesser of
(A)
the "maximum permissible amount", reduced by the sum of any "annual additions" to the Participant's accounts for the same Limitation Year
under such other qualified defined contribution plans and "welfare benefit funds", "individual medical benefit accounts", and "simplified employee pensions",
or
(B)

any other limitation contained in the Plan.

If the "annual additions" with respect to a Participant under other qualified defined contribution plans, "welfare benefit funds", "individual medical
benefit accounts", and "simplified employee pensions" maintained by the "415 employer" are less than the "maximum permissible amount" and a contribution
that would otherwise be contributed or allocated to the Participant's Account under the Plan would cause the "annual additions" for the Limitation Year to
exceed the "maximum permissible amount", the amount to be contributed or allocated shall be reduced so that the "annual additions" for the Limitation Year
shall equal the "maximum permissible amount". If the "annual additions" with respect to the Participant under such other qualified defined contribution plans,
"welfare benefit funds", "individual medical benefit accounts", and "simplified employee pensions" in the aggregate are equal to or greater than the
"maximum permissible amount", no amount shall be contributed or allocated to the Participant's Account under the Plan for the Limitation Year.
(2) Prior to the determination of a Participant's actual Compensation for the Limitation Year, the amounts referred to in Subsection 6.12(b)(1)(A) above
may be determined on the basis of a reasonable estimation of the Participant's Compensation for such Limitation Year, uniformly determined for all
Participants similarly situated. Any Employer contribution based on estimated annual Compensation shall be reduced by any "excess 415 amounts" carried
over from prior Limitation Years.
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(3) As soon as is administratively feasible after the end of the Limitation Year, the amounts referred to in Subsection 6.12(b)(1)(A) shall be determined on
the basis of the Participant's actual Compensation for such Limitation Year.
(c)

Adjustments to Compensation: Compensation for purposes of this Section 6.12 shall be subject to the following:

(1)

Compensation shall be based on compensation for all services to the "415 employer."

(2)
Compensation shall be based on the amount actually paid or made available to the Participant (or, if earlier, includible in the gross income of
the Participant) during the Limitation Year.
(3)
An Eligible Employee's severance from employment, as defined in Section 2.01(k), shall be applied using the modification to the employer
aggregation rules prescribed in Code Section 415(h).
(4)
Compensation shall include amounts paid by the later of (A) 2-1/2 months after or (B) the end of the Limitation Year that includes the date of
the Participant's severance from employment (as defined in Section 2.01(k), modified as provided in subparagraph (c)(3) above) if such amounts are either
payments for unused accrued bona fide sick, vacation, or other leave (but only if the Eligible Employee would have been able to use the leave if employment
had continued), or received by a Participant pursuant to a nonqualified unfunded deferred compensation plan, but only if the payment would have been paid to
the Participant at the same time if the Participant had not severed employment and only to the extent that the payment is includible in the Participant's gross
income.
(5)
Compensation shall include amounts that otherwise would be excluded as “severance amounts” if such amounts are paid to an individual who
does not currently perform services for the employer because of qualified military service (as used in Code Section 414(u)(1)) to the extent those amounts do
not exceed the amounts the individual would have received if the individual had continued to perform services for the employer rather than entering qualified
military service or to a Participant who is permanently and totally disabled.
(6)
provided
(A)
(B)
(C)

Compensation shall include amounts earned, but not paid during the Limitation Year solely because of the timing of pay periods and pay dates,

such amounts are paid during the first few weeks of the next Limitation Year;
such amounts are included on a uniform and consistent basis with respect to all similarly situated Participants; and
no such amounts are included in more than one Limitation Year.

In addition, for Limitation Years beginning on or after July 1, 2007, Compensation for purposes of this Section 6.12 shall not reflect compensation
for a year greater than the limit under Code Section 401(a)(17) that applies to that year.
(d) Corrections: In correcting an “excess 415 amount” in a Limitation Year beginning on or after July 1, 2007, the Employer may use any appropriate
correction under the Employee Plans Compliance Resolution System, or any successor thereto.
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(e)

Exclusion from Annual Additions: Restorative payments allocated to a Participant's Account,

which include payments made to restore losses to the Plan resulting from actions (or a failure to act) by a fiduciary for which there is a reasonable risk of
liability under Title I of ERISA or under other applicable federal or state law, where similarly situated Participants are similarly treated do not give rise to an
“annual addition” for any Limitation Year.
6.

Effective August 25, 2005, a new Section 10.08 is added at the end of Article 10 to provide as follows:

10.08 Qualified Hurricane Distributions. Qualified Individuals (as defined in subsection (b) below) may designate all or a portion of a qualifying
distribution as a Qualified Hurricane Distribution (as defined in subsection (a) below).
(a)

A “Qualified Hurricane Distribution” means any distribution made on or after the QHD

Effective Date (as defined in subsection (c) below) and before the QHD Distribution Date (as defined in subsection (d) below) to a Qualified Individual, to the
extent that such distribution, when aggregated with all other Qualified Hurricane Distributions to the Qualified Individual made under the Plan (and under any
other plan maintained by the Employer or a Related Employer), does not exceed $100,000. A Qualified Hurricane Distribution must be made in accordance
with and pursuant to the distribution provisions of the Plan, except that:
(1)
A Qualified Hurricane Distribution of amounts attributable to Nonelective Employer Contributions, Deferral Contributions and Qualified
Nonelective Employer contributions shall be deemed to be made after the occurrence of any distributable events otherwise applicable under Code section
401(k)(2)(B)(i), such as termination of employment (and shall be deemed permissible under Section 12.01), and
(2)
(b)

The requirements of Code sections 401 (a)(3 1), 402(f) and 3405 and Section 13.04 shall not apply.
A “Qualified Individual” means any individual whose principal place of abode on

(1)
August 28, 2005, is located in the Hurricane Katrina disaster area (as defined in Code section 1400M(2))and who has sustained an economic loss
by reason of Hurricane Katrina;
(2)
September 23, 2005, is located in the Hurricane Rita disaster area (as defined in Code section 1400M(4)) and who has sustained an economic loss
by reason of Hurricane Rita; or
(3)
October 23, 2005, is located in the Hurricane Wilma disaster area (as defined in Code section 1400M(6)) and who has sustained an economic loss
by reason of Hurricane Wilma.
(c)

The “QHD Effective Date” means

(1)

August 25, 2005, with respect to a Qualified Individual described in subsection (b)(1) above;

(2)

September 23, 2005, with respect to a Qualified Individual described in subsection (b)(2) above; and
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(3)
(d)

October 23, 2005, with respect to a Qualified Individual described in subsection (b)(3) above.
The “QHD Distribution Date” means

(1) January 1, 2007, with respect to a Qualified Individual described in subsection (b)(1), (2), or (3) above.
(e)
If the Employer elected to provide for Rollover Contributions in Subsection 1.09(a) of the Adoption Agreement, an Eligible Employee who
received a Qualified Hurricane Distribution, as defined herein, may repay to the Plan the Qualified Hurricane Distribution, provided the Qualified Hurricane
Distribution is eligible for tax-free rollover treatment. Any such re-contribution will be treated as having been made in a direct rollover to the Plan, provided it
is made during the three- year period beginning on the day after the date on which the Qualified Hurricane Distribution was received and does not exceed the
amount of such distribution.
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Volume Submitter Defined Contribution Plan
ADDENDUM

RE: Compensation Taken into Account
Amendment for Fidelity Basic Plan Document No. 14
Effective December 11, 2008, the first paragraph of Section 5.02 is hereby amended to provide as follows:
5.02
Compensation Taken into Account in Determining Contributions. In determining the amount or allocation of any contribution that is based on
Compensation, only Compensation paid to a Participant for services rendered to the Employer while employed as an Eligible Employee shall be taken into
account. Except as otherwise specifically provided in this Article 5, for purposes of determining the amount and allocation of contributions under this Article
5, Compensation shall not include reimbursements or other expense allowances, fringe benefits (cash and non-cash), moving expenses, deferred
compensation, welfare benefits, and any amounts elected by the Employer with respect to such contributions in Subsection 1.05(a) or (b), as applicable, of the
Adoption Agreement.
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Volume Submitter Defined Contribution Plan
ADDENDUM
RE: Pension Protection Act of 2006,
The Heroes Earnings Assistance and Relief Act of 2008,
The Worker, Retiree and Employee Recovery Act of 2008
And Code Sections 401(k) and 401(m) 2009 Proposed Regulations
Amendments for Fidelity Basic Plan Document No. 14
PREAMBLE
Adoption and Effective Date of Amendment. This amendment of the Plan is adopted to reflect statutory changes pursuant to the Pension Protection Act of
2006 (“PPA”) and the Heroes Earnings Assistance and Relief Act of 2008 (“HEART”) and related guidance. This amendment is intended as good faith
compliance with the requirements of the PPA and HEART and is to be construed in accordance with guidance issued thereunder.
Except as provided otherwise below, the amendments contained herein shall be effective for Plan Years beginning after December 31, 2006.
Supersession of Inconsistent Provisions. This amendment shall supersede the provisions of the Plan to the extent those provisions are inconsistent with the
provisions of this amendment.
Article 1.

Qualified Reservist Distribution. If elected by the Employer in Section (g) of the corresponding

Adoption Agreement Addendum, and notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, effective September 11, 2001 (or the later effective date elected by the
Employer in such Section (g)), a Participant ordered or called to active duty for a period in excess of 179 days or for an indefinite period after September 11,
2001 by reason of being a member of a reserve component (as defined in section 101 of title 37, United States Code), shall be eligible to elect to receive a
Qualified Reservist Distribution. For purposes of this Article 1, a “Qualified Reservist Distribution” means a distribution from the Participant's Account of
amounts attributable to Deferral Contributions, provided such distribution is made during the period beginning on the date of the order or call to active duty
and ending at the close of the active duty period.
Article 2.
2.1

Direct Rollover Distributions.

Employee Contributions. Effective for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2006, the portion of an

“eligible rollover distribution” consisting of after-tax Employee Contributions that are not includable in gross income may be rolled over in a direct rollover
distribution to an annuity contract described in Code section 403(b), provided such contract provides for separate accounting of amounts so transferred (and
earnings thereon).
2.2 Nonspouse Beneficiary Rollovers. Effective for distributions after December 31, 2006, a designated beneficiary (as defined in Code section 401(a)(9)
(E)) of a Participant who is not the surviving spouse of the Participant may elect to roll over such distribution to an individual retirement plan described in
clause (i) or (ii) of paragraph (8)(B) of Code section 402(c) established for the purposes of receiving such distribution.
2.3 Roth IRA. Effective for distributions after December 31, 2007, a Roth IRA described in Code section 408A shall be an “eligible retirement plan,” as
defined in Section 13.04(b).
Article 3.

Pre-Normal Retirement Age Pension Plan Distributions. If elected by the Employer in Section (a) of

the corresponding Adoption Agreement Addendum, and notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, effective for distributions in Plan Years beginning
after December 31, 2006 (or the later effective date elected by the Employer in such Section (a)), an Active Participant may elect to receive a distribution of
the portion of his Account attributable to pension plan contributions (if applicable) prior to the Active Participant's attainment of Normal Retirement Age,
provided such Active Participant has attained at least age 62.
Article 4. Qualified Optional Survivor Annuity. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if Article 14 is applicable to the Plan, then, effective
for Plan Years beginning after December 31, 2007 (subject to the effective date
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applicable in the event that the Plan is maintained pursuant to a collective bargaining agreement under certain circumstances, as described in section 4.3,
below), the Plan shall also permit the Participant, subject to the spousal consent rules described in Section 14.05, to elect a qualified optional survivor annuity,
which provides for a life annuity payable to the Participant and a survivor annuity payable to the Participant's beneficiary equal to either 75% or 50% as
described in 4.1 or 4.2 below, as applicable.
4.1

If the survivor annuity portion of the Plan's qualified joint and survivor annuity (as defined in Section 14.01) is less

than 75%, then the survivor annuity portion of the qualified optional survivor annuity shall be 75%.
4.2

If the survivor annuity portion of the Plan's qualified joint and survivor annuity (as defined in Section 14.01) is

greater than or equal to 75%, then the survivor annuity portion of the qualified optional survivor annuity shall be 50%.
4.3

(a)

Notwithstanding the effective date described above in this Article 4, if the Plan is maintained pursuant to one or more collective bargaining
agreements between employee representatives and one or more employers ratified on or before August 17, 2006, then this Article 4 shall be
effective for Plan Years beginning on and after the earlier ofThe later of-

(i)

January 1, 2008, or

(ii)

The date on which the last of such collective bargaining agreements terminates (determined without regard to any extension thereof
after August 17, 2006), or

(b)

January 1, 2009.

Article 5. Transfers to the Pension Benefit Guarantee Corporation upon Plan Termination. In the event that the Employer terminates the Plan, as
described in Section 16.06, and, at the time, the whereabouts of one or more distributees are unknown, as described in Section 12.06, and the Employer so
directs the Trustee, subject to applicable guidance, the Trustee shall transfer the Accounts of such distributees to the Pension Benefit Guarantee Corporation.
Article 6. Modification of rules governing Hardship Distributions. On and after August 17, 2006, a hardship withdrawal described in Section 10.05, if
otherwise available under the Plan, shall be available as a result of the financial needs described in paragraphs (1), (3) and (5) of subsection 10.05(a) for a
primary beneficiary under the Plan. For this purpose, a “primary beneficiary under the Plan” is an individual who is named as a beneficiary under the Plan and
has an unconditional right to all or a portion of the Participant's Account upon the death of the Participant.
Article 7. Removal of Gap Period Income. Effective for plan years beginning after December 31, 2007, notwithstanding anything in the Basic Plan
Document or Adoption Agreement (including addenda thereto) to the contrary, the calculation of income or loss allocable to "excess deferrals", "excess
contributions", and "excess aggregate contributions" shall be determined without regard to the period of time elapsing between the end of the “determination
year” and the date of distribution (also known as the “gap period”).
Article 8. Notification of a Participant for purposes of Automatic Enrollment Contributions. Notwithstanding anything in the Basic Plan Document or
Adoption Agreement (including addenda thereto) to the contrary, the Notification Date elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement (including
addenda thereto) may precede the Automatic Enrollment Effective Date.
Article 9. Modification of Provisions for QACA. Effective for plan years beginning after December 31, 2007, except where a different treatment is
indicated in this amendment or the PPA Addendum, any provision of the Plan applying to a 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contribution or a 401(k)
Safe Harbor Nonelective Employer Contribution, respectively, will apply to a QACA Matching Employer Contribution or a QACA Nonelective Employer
Contribution, respectively. In addition, effective for Plan Years beginning on and after January 1, 2010, the same constraints and requirements regarding
Compensation exclusions applied to QACA Matching Employer Contributions under the Plan shall apply for determining default deferral contributions under
the QACA pursuant to Section (b)(1) of the PPA Addendum.
Article 10. Changing Testing Methods. Effective for plan years beginning after December 31, 2007, Section 6.11 is amended by replacing it in its entirety
with the following:
6.11. Changing Testing Methods. Notwithstanding any other provisions of the Plan, if the Employer elects to change between the "ADP" testing method
and the safe harbor testing method, the following shall apply:
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(a) Except as otherwise specifically provided in this Section, Section 6.09, or applicable regulation, the Employer may not change from the "ADP" testing
method to the safe harbor testing method unless Plan provisions adopting the safe harbor testing method are adopted before the first day of the Plan Year in
which they are to be effective and remain in effect for an entire 12-month Plan Year.
(b) A Plan may be amended during a Plan Year to make safe harbor or QACA Nonelective Employer Contributions to satisfy the testing rules for such Plan
Year if:
(1)
The Employer provides both the initial and subsequent notices described in Section 6. 09 for such Plan Year within the time period prescribed in
Section 6.09.
(2)
The Employer amends its Adoption Agreement no later than 30 days prior to the end of such Plan Year to provide for 401(k) Safe Harbor
Nonelective Contribution or QACA Nonelective Employer Contribution in accordance with the provisions of the 401(k) Safe Harbor Nonelective Employer
Contributions Addendum to the Adoption Agreement or the PPA Addendum to the Adoption Agreement.
(c) Except as otherwise specifically provided in this Article, a Plan may not be amended during the Plan Year to discontinue 401(k) Safe Harbor
Nonelective Employer Contributions, 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions, QACA Nonelective Employer Contributions, or QACA
Matching Employer Contributions and revert to the "ADP" testing method for such Plan Year.
(d) A Plan may be amended to reduce or suspend 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions or QACA Matching Employer Contributions on
future contributions, or, effective on and after July 1, 2009, for an Employer which has incurred a substantial business hardship (comparable to a substantial
business hardship described in Code Section 412(c)), 401(k) Safe Harbor Nonelective Employer Contributions or QACA Nonelective Employer
Contributions, during a Plan Year and revert to the "ADP" testing method for such Plan Year if:
(1)
All Active Participants are provided notice of the reduction or suspension describing (i) the consequences of the amendment, (ii) the procedures
for changing their salary reduction agreements, and (iii) the effective date of the reduction or suspension.
(2)
The reduction or suspension of such contributions is no earlier than the later of (i) 30 days after the date the notice described in paragraph (a) is
provided to Active Participants or (ii) the date the amendment is adopted.
(3)
Active Participants are given a reasonable opportunity before the reduction or suspension occurs, including a reasonable period after the notice
described in paragraph (a) is provided to Active Participants, to change their salary reduction agreements elections.
(4)
The Plan satisfies the 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions or QACA Matching Employer Contributions provisions of the
Adoption Agreement in effect prior to the amendment with respect to Deferral Contributions made through the effective date of the amendment.
(5)
The Plan satisfies the 401(k) Safe Harbor Nonelective Employer Contributions or QACA Nonelective Contributions provisions of the Adoption
Agreement in effect prior to the amendment with respect to the safe harbor compensation (compensation meeting the requirements of Section 1.401(k)- 3(b)
(2) of the Treasury Regulations) paid through the effective date of the amendment.
If the Employer amends its Plan in accordance with the provisions of this Subsection (d), the "ADP" test described in Section 6.03 and the “ACP” test
described in Section 6.06 shall be applied as if it had been in effect for the entire Plan Year using the current year testing method in Subsection 1 .06(a)(1) of
the Adoption Agreement.
Article 11. Eligible Automatic Contribution Arrangement (EACA). Effective for plan years beginning after December 31, 2007, if the
Employer has elected in Section (e) of the PPA Addendum to the Adoption Agreement to have the Plan be an EACA, then references to “2 1/2” months in
Sections 6.04 and 6.07 of the Basic Plan Document are hereby changed to read “6” months. The Employer shall also provide to each Active Participant
covered by the EACA pursuant to Section (f) of the PPA Addendum to the Adoption Agreement a comprehensive notice, written in a manner calculated to be
understood by the average Active Participant, of the Active Participant's rights and obligations under the Plan within the time described in Section 6.09 for a
safe harbor contribution notice.
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Article 12.

Notice Timing Adjustment. Effective for plan years (and the notices issued therein) beginning after

December 31, 2006, references to a period of “90” days in Sections 12.03, 13.05 and 14.05 are hereby changed to “180” days in the text of each such section.
Article 13.

Diversification out of Employer Securities. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if one of

the Plan's Permissible Investments is Employer Securities, the following rules shall apply:
13.1

With respect to the portion of a Participant's or Beneficiary's Account attributable to:

(a)

Matching and/or Nonelective Employer Contributions and invested in Employer Securities, the Participant or Beneficiary shall be
permitted to exchange out of Employer Securities into any other Permissible Investment otherwise available, no later than the date on
which either (1) or (2) below is applicable:

(1)

If a Participant, the Participant has completed at least three years of service (as defined in section III.B. of Notice 2006-107,
or its successor), or

(2)

If a Beneficiary, the Beneficiary is the Beneficiary of a Participant who is either described in (1) above or who is deceased.

(b)
13.2

Deferral, Employee and/or Rollover Contributions and invested in Employer Securities, the Participant or Beneficiary shall immediately
be permitted to exchange out of Employer Securities into any other Permissible Investment otherwise available.
The Plan must have no fewer than three Permissible Investments, other than Employer Securities, each of which

must be diversified and have materially different risk and return characteristics. A Participant or Beneficiary who is permitted to exchange out of Employer
Securities pursuant to 13.1 above must be permitted to direct the investment of the proceeds from such an exchange out of Employer Securities into the
Permissible Investments described in this section 13.2. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this section 13.2:
(a)

The Plan shall not be treated as failing to meet the requirements of this section 13.2 merely because the Plan limits the time for
divestment and reinvestment to periodic, reasonable opportunities occurring no less frequently than quarterly; and

(b)

Except as provided in otherwise applicable guidance, the Plan shall not impose restrictions or conditions with respect to the investment
of Employer Securities that are not imposed on the investment of other assets of the Plan. This subsection (b) shall not apply to any
restrictions or conditions imposed by reason of the application of securities laws.

13.3
(a)

The following definitions apply for purposes of this Article 13“Employer Securities” shall mean publicly traded equity securities issued by the Employer Corporation,

provided that:
(1)

Except as provided in otherwise applicable regulations or in paragraph (2) of this subsection (a), if the Employer Securities
are not publicly traded they shall nevertheless be treated as publicly traded if any Employer Corporation, or any member of a
Controlled Group of Corporations that includes such Employer Corporation, has issued a class of stock that is a publicly
traded Employer Security.

(2)

Paragraph (1) shall be inapplicable if no Employer Corporation, or Parent Corporation of an Employer Corporation, has
issued any-

(A)

Publicly traded Employer Security, or

(B)

Any special class of stock that grants particular rights to, or bears particular risks for, the holder or issuer with
respect to the Employer Corporation or any Parent Corporation of an Employer Corporation that has issued any
Publicly Traded Employer Security.

(b) “Controlled group of Corporations” has the meaning given such term by Code section 1563(a), except that “50 percent” shall be substituted for “80
percent” each place it appears.
(c)

“Employer Corporation” means a corporation that is an employer maintaining the Plan.
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(d)
13.4

“Parent Corporation” has the meaning given such term by Code section 424(e).
The following transition rule applies to Employer Securities:

(a)

In the case of the portion of an Account to which subsection 13.1(a) applies and which consists of Employer Securities acquired in a Plan
Year beginning before January 1, 2007, subsection 13.1(a) shall only apply to the “applicable percentage” of such securities. This
subsection 13.4 (a) shall be applied separately with respect to each class of Employer Securities.

(b)

Subsection (a) shall not apply to a Participant who has attained age 55 and completed at least three years of service (as defined in
paragraph 13.1 (a)(1) above) before the first Plan Year beginning after December 31, 2005.

(c)

For purposes of subsection (a), the “applicable percentage” shall be determined as follows:

(1)
(2)

For the first Plan Year to which subsection 13.1(a) applies, the applicable percentage is 33.
For the second Plan Year to which subsection 13.1(a) applies, the applicable percentage is 66.
For the third Plan Year to which subsection 13.1(a) applies and following, the applicable percentage is 100.

(3)

13.5 Notwithstanding the effective date of this amendment, if the Plan is maintained pursuant to one or more collective bargaining agreements between
employee representatives and one or more employers ratified on or before August 17, 2006, then this Article 13 shall be effective for Plan Years beginning
after the earlier of(a)

The later of-

(i)

December 31, 2007, or

(ii)

The date on which the last of such collective bargaining agreements terminates (determined without regard to any extension
thereof after August 17, 2006), or

(b)

December 31, 2008.
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Volume Submitter Defined Contribution Plan
ADDENDUM

RE: In-kind Distributions
Amendment for Fidelity Basic Plan Document No. 14

Effective March 15, 2010, the following shall replace in its entirety the third paragraph of Section 13.01:
Distributions shall be made in cash, except that distributions may be made in Fund Shares of marketable securities (as defined in Code Section 731 (c)(2)),
other than Fund Shares of Employer Stock as defined in Section 20.12, at the election of the Participant and, to the extent each such security allows the
Trustee to facilitate such a transfer, pursuant to the qualifying rollover of such distribution to a Fidelity Investments® individual retirement account or a
taxable distribution directly to another Fidelity Investments® account.
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ADOPTION AGREEMENT
ARTICLE 1
PROFIT SHARING/401(K) PLAN
1.01
(a)

PLAN INFORMATION
Name of Plan:

This is the Celera 401(k) Plan (the “Plan”)
(b)

Type of Plan:

(1)

þ

401(k) Only

(2)

q

401(k) and Profit Sharing

(3)

q

Profit Sharing Only

(c)

Administrator Name (if not the Employer):

(d)

Plan Year End (month/day):

(e)

Three Digit Plan Number:

(f)

Limitation Year (check one):

12/31
001

(1)

þ

Calendar Year

(2)

q

Plan Year

(3)

q

Other:

(g)
(1)

Plan Status (check appropriate box(es)):
Adoption Agreement Effective Date: 08/11/2009

Note: The effective date specified above must be after the last day of the 2001 Plan Year.
(2)

The Adoption Agreement Effective Date is:

(A)

q

(B)

þ An amendment Effective Date (check one):

A new Plan Effective Date

(i)

q an amendment and restatement of this Basic Plan Document No. 14 and its Adoption
Agreement previously executed by the Employer;

(ii)

þ a conversion from Fidelity Basic Plan Document No. 02 and its Adoption Agreement to
Basic Plan Document No. 14 and its Adoption Agreement; or

(iii)

q

a conversion to Basic Plan Document No. 14 and its Adoption Agreement.

The original effective date of the Plan: 7/3/2008
(3)

q

Special Effective Dates. Certain provisions of the Plan shall be effective as of a date other than the date specified in
Subsection 1.01(g)(1) above. Please complete the Special Effective Dates Addendum to the Adoption Agreement
indicating the affected provisions and their effective dates.
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(4)

q Plan Merger Effective Dates . Certain plan(s) were merged into the Plan on or after the date specified in
Subsection 1.01(g)(1) above. The merged plans are listed in the Plan Mergers Addendum. Please complete the
appropriate subsection(s) of the Plan Mergers Addendum to the Adoption Agreement indicating the plan(s) that
have merged into the Plan and the effective date(s) of such merger(s).

(5)

q Frozen Plan . The Plan is currently frozen. Unless the Plan is amended in the future to provide otherwise, no
further contributions shall be made to the Plan. Plan assets will continue to be held on behalf of Participants and
their Beneficiaries until distributed in accordance with the Plan terms. (If this provision is selected, it will override
any conflicting provision selected in the Adoption Agreement.)

Note: While the Plan is frozen, no further contributions, including Deferral Contributions, Employee Contributions, and Rollover Contributions, may be made
to the Plan and no employee who is not already a Participant in the Plan may become a Participant.
1.02

EMPLOYER

(a)

Employer: Celera Corporation

(1)

Employer’s Tax Identification Number: 26-2028576

(2)

Employer’s Fiscal Year end: 12/31

(b)

The term “Employer” includes the following participating employers (choose one):

(1)

q

No other employers participate in the Plan.

(2)

þ

Certain other employers participate in the Plan. Please complete the Participating Employers Addendum.

1.03
(a)
Address:
1.04

TRUSTEE
Trustee Name: Fidelity Management Trust company
82 Devonshire Street
Boston, MA 02109
COVERAGE

All Employees who meet the conditions specified below shall be eligible to participate in the Plan:
(a)

Age Requirement (check one):

(1)

þ

no age requirement.

(2)

q

must have attained age:

(b)

(not to exceed 21).

Eligibility Service Requirement(s) − There shall be no eligibility service requirements for contributions to the Plan unless selected below
(check one):

(1)

q

(not to exceed 365) days of Eligibility Service requirement (no minimum Hours of Service can be required)

(2)

q

(not to exceed 12) months of Eligibility Service requirement (no minimum Hours of Services can be required)

(3)

q

one year of Eligibility Service requirement (at least
Eligibility Computation Period)

(not to exceed 1,000) Hours of Service are required during the
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(4)

q

two years of Eligibility Service requirement (at least
(not to exceed 1,000) Hours of Service are required during each
Eligibility Computation Period) (If Option 1.07(a) is elected, only one year of Eligibility Services is required for
Deferral Contributions.)

Note: If the Employer selects the two year Eligibility Service requirement, then contributions subject to such Eligibility Service requirement must be 100%
vested when made.
(5)

q

Hours of Service Crediting. Hours of Service will be credited in accordance with the equivalency selected in the Hours
of Service Equivalencies Addendum rather than in accordance with the equivalency described in Subsection
2.01(dd) of the Basic Plan Document. Please complete the Hours of Service Equivalencies Addendum.

(c)

Eligibility Computation Period − The Eligibility Computation Period is the 12-consecutive-month period beginning on an Employee’s
Employment Commencement Date and each 12-consecutive-month period beginning on an anniversary of his Employment
Commencement Date.

(d)

Eligible Class of Employees:

(1)

Generally, the Employees eligible to participate in the Plan are (choose one):

(A)

þ all Employees of the Employer.

(B)

q

only Employees of the Employer who are covered by (choose one):

(i)

q

any collective bargaining agreement with the Employer, provided that the agreement requires the
employees to be included under the Plan.

(ii)

q

the following collective bargaining agreement(s) with the Employer:

_________________________________________
_________________________________________
(2)

þ Notwithstanding the selection in Subsection 1.04(d)(1) above, certain Employees of the Employer are excluded from
participation in the Plan (check the appropriate box(es)):

Note: Certain employees (e.g., residents of Puerto Rico) are excluded automatically pursuant to Subsection 2.01(s) of the Basic Plan Document, regardless of
the Employer’s selection under this Subsection 1.04(d)(2).
(A)

þ employees covered by a collective bargaining agreement, unless the agreement requires the employees to be
included under the Plan. (Do not chose if Option 1.04(d)(1)(B) is selected above.)

(B)

q

(C)

þ Leased Employees as defined in Subsection 2.01(ff) of the Basic Plan Document.

(D)

þ nonresident aliens who do not receive any earned income from the Employer which constitutes United States
source income.

(E)

q

Highly Compensated Employees as defined in Subsection 2.01(cc) of the Basic Plan Document.

other:

_________________________________________
_________________________________________
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Note: The eligible group defined above must be a definitely determinable group and cannot be subject to the discretion of the Employer. In addition, the
design of the classifications cannot be such that the only Non-Highly Compensated Employees benefiting under the Plan are those with the lowest
compensation and/or the shortest periods of service and who may represent the minimum number of such employees necessary to satisfy coverage under Code
Section 410(b).
q

(i)

Notwithstanding this exclusion, any Employee who is excluded from participation solely because he
is in a group described below shall become an Eligible Employee eligible to participate in the
Plan on the Entry Date coinciding with or immediately following the date on which he first
satisfies the following requirements: (I) he attains age 21 and (II) he completes at least 1,000
Hours of Service during an Eligibility Computation Period. This Subsection 1.04(d)(2)(E)(i)
applies to the following excluded Employees (Must choose if an exclusion in (E) above
directly or indirectly imposes an age and/or service requirement for participation, for
example by excluding part-lime or temporary employees):

__________________________________________
__________________________________________
__________________________________________
Note: The Employer should exercise caution when excluding employees from participation in the Plan. Exclusion of employees may adversely affect the
Plan’s satisfaction of the minimum coverage requirements, as provided in Code Section 410(b).
(e)

Entry Date(s) – The Entry Date(s) shall be (check one):

(1)

q

the first day of each Plan Year and the first day of the seventh month of each Plan Year

(2)

q

the first day of each Plan Year and the first day of the fourth, seventh, and tenth months of each Plan Year

(3)

q

the first day of each month

(4)

þ immediate upon meeting the eligibility requirements specified in Subsections 1.04(a) and 1.04(b)

(5)

q

the first day of each Plan Year (Do not select if there is an Eligibility Service requirement of more than six months in
Subsection 1.04(b) for the type(s) of contribution or if there is an age requirement of more than 20 1/2 in Subsection
1.04(a) for the type(s) of contribution.)

Note: If another plan is merged in the Plan, the Plan may provide on the Plan Mergers Addendum that the effective date of the merger is also an Entry Date
with respect to certain Employees.
(f)

Date of Initial Participation – An Employee shall become a Participant unless excluded by Subsection 1.04(d) above on the Entry Date
coinciding with or immediately following the date the Employee completes the service and age requirement(s) in Subsections 1.04(a)
and (b), if any, except (check one):

(1)

þ no exceptions.

(2)

q

Employees employed on

(3)

q

Employees who meet the age and service requirement(s) of Subsections 1.04(a) and (b) on
Participants on that date.

shall become Participants on that date.
shall become
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1.05

COMPENSATION

Compensation for purposes of determining contributions shall be as defined in Subsection 2.01(k) of the Basic Plan Document, modified as provided
below.
(a)

Compensation Exclusions – Compensation shall exclude the item(s) selected below.

(1)

q

No exclusions.

(2)

q

Overtime pay.

(3)

þ Bonuses.

(4)

þ Commissions.

(5)

þ The value of restricted stock or of a qualified or a non-qualified stock option granted to an Employee by the Employer to
the extent such value is includable in the Employee’s taxable income.

(6)

þ Severance pay received prior to termination of employment. (Severance pay received following termination of
employment is always excluded for purposes of contributions.)

Note: If the Employer selects an option, other than (1) above, with respect to Nonelective Employer Contributions, Compensation must be tested to show that
it meets the requirements of Code Section 414(s) or the allocations must be tested to show that they meet the general test under regulations issued under Code
Section 401(a)(4). These exclusions shall not apply for purposes of the “Top-Heavy” requirements in Section 15.03, for allocating safe harbor Matching
Employer Contributions if Subsection 1.11(a)(3) is selected, for allocating safe harbor Nonelective Employer Contributions if Subsection 1.12(a)(3) is
selected, or for allocating non-safe harbor Nonelective Employer Contributions if the Integrated Formula is elected in Subsection 1.12(b)(2).
(b)

(1)

Compensation for the First Year of Participation − Contributions for the Plan Year in which an Employee first becomes a Participant
shall be determined based on the Employee’s Compensation as provided below. (Complete by checking the appropriate boxes.)
þ

q

(A)

(2)

(A)

Compensation for the entire Plan Year. (Complete (A) below, if applicable, with regard to the initial Plan Year of the
Plan.)

q

For purposes of determining the amount of Nonelective Employer Contributions, other than 401(k) Safe
Harbor Nonelective Employer Contributions, for all Employees who become Active Participants during
the initial Plan Year, Compensation for the 12-month period ending on the last day of the initial Plan
Year shall be used.

Only Compensation for the portion of the Plan Year in which the Employee is eligible to participate in the Plan.
(Complete (A) below, if applicable, with regard to the initial Plan Year of the Plan.)
q

For purposes of determining the amount of Nonelective Employer Contributions, other than 401(k) Safe
Harbor Nonelective Employer Contributions, for those Employees who become Active Participants on
the Effective Date of the Plan, Compensation for the 12-month period ending on the last day of the initial
Plan Year shall be used. For all other Employees, only Compensation for the period in which they are
eligible shall be used.
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1.06
(a)

TESTING RULES
ADP/ACP Present Testing Method − The testing method for purposes of applying the “ADP” and “ACP” tests described in Sections
6.03 and 6.06 of the Basic Plan Document shall be the (check one):

(1)

þ

Current Year Testing Method − The “ADP” or “ACP” of Highly Compensated Employees for the Plan Year shall be
compared to the “ADP” or ‘‘ACP” of Non-Highly Compensated Employees for the same Plan Year. (Must choose
if Option 1.11(a)(3), 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions, or Option 1.12(a)(3), 401(k) Safe
Harbor Formula, with respect to Nonelective Employer Contributions is checked.)

(2)

q

Prior Year Testing Method − The “ADP” or “ACP” of Highly Compensated Employees for the Plan Year shall be
compared to the “ADP” or “ACP” of Non-Highly Compensated Employees for the immediately preceding Plan
Year. (Do not choose if Option 1.10(a)(1), alternative allocation formula for Qualified Nonelective
Contributions.)

(3)

q

Not applicable. (Only if Option 1.01(b)(3), Profit Sharing Only, is checked and Option 1.08(a)(1), Future Employee
Contributions, and Option 1.11(a), Matching Employer Contributions, are not checked or Option 1.04(d)(2)(B),
excluding all Highly Compensated Employees from the eligible class of Employees, is checked.)

Note: Restrictions apply on elections to change testing methods.
(b)

(1)

(c)

(1)

(d)

(1)

First Year Testing Method − If the first Plan Year that the Plan, other than a successor plan, permits Deferral Contributions or
provides for either Employee or Matching Employer Contributions, occurs on or after the Effective Date specified in Subsection
1.01(g), the “ADP” and/or “ACP” test for such first Plan Year shall be applied using the actual “ADP” and/or “ACP” of Non-Highly
Compensated Employees for such first Plan Year, unless otherwise provided below.
q

The “ADP” and/or “ACP” test for the first Plan Year that the Plan permits Deferral Contributions or provides for either
Employee or Matching Employer Contributions shall be applied assuming a 3% “ADP” and/or “ACP” for NonHighly Compensated Employees. (Do not choose unless Plan uses prior year testing method described in
Subsection 1.06(a)(2).)

HCE Determinations: Look Back Year − The look back year for purposes of determining which Employees are Highly Compensated
Employees shall be the 12-consecutive-month period preceding the Plan Year unless otherwise provided below.
q

Calendar Year Determination − The look back year shall be the calendar year beginning within the preceding Plan
Year. (Do not choose if the Plan Year is the calendar year.)

HCE Determinations: Top Paid Group Election − All Employees with Compensation exceeding the dollar amount specified in Code
Section 414(q)(1)(B)(i) adjusted pursuant to Code Section 415(d) (e.g., $95,000 for “determination years” beginning in 2005 and
“look-back years” beginning in 2004) shall be considered Highly Compensated Employees, unless Top Paid Group Election below is
checked.
q

Top Paid Group Election − Employees with Compensation exceeding the dollar amount specified in Code Section
414(q)(1)(B)(i) adjusted pursuant to Code Section 415(d) (e.g., $95,000 for “determination years” beginning in
2005 and “look-back years” beginning in 2004 shall be considered Highly Compensated Employees only if they are
in the top paid group (the top 20% of Employees ranked by Compensation).
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Note : Plan provisions for Sections 1.06(c) and 1.06(d) must apply consistently to all retirement plans of the Employer for determination years that begin with
or within the same calendar year (except that Option 1.06(c)(1), Calendar Year Determination, shall not apply to calendar year plans).
1.07

DEFERRAL CONTRIBUTIONS

(a) þ

Deferral Contributions − Participants may elect to have a portion of their Compensation contributed to the Plan on a before-tax basis
pursuant to Code Section 401(k). Pursuant to Subsection 5.03(a) of the Basic Plan Document, if Catch-Up Contributions are selected
below, the Plan’s deferral limit is 75%, unless the Employer elects an alternative deferral limit in Subsection 1.07(a)(1)(A) below. If
Catch-Up Contributions are selected below, and the Employer has specified a percentage in Subsection 1.07(a)(1)(A) that is less than
75%, a Participant eligible to make Catch-Up Contributions shall (subject to the statutory limits in Treasury Regulation Section
1.414-1(v)(1)(i)) in any event be permitted to contribute in excess of the specified deferral limit up to 100% of the Participant’s
“effectively available Compensation” (i.e.., Compensation available after other withholding), as required by Treasury Regulation
Section 1.414(v)-1(e)(1)(ii)(B).

(1)

Regular Contributions − The Employer shall make a Deferral Contribution in accordance with Section 5.03 of the Basic Plan
Document on behalf of each Participant who has an executed salary reduction agreement in effect with the Employer for the payroll
period in question. Such Deferral Contribution shall not exceed the deferral limit specified in Subsection 5.03(a) of the Basic Plan
Document or in Subsection 1.07(a)(1)(A) below, as applicable. Check and complete the appropriate box(es), if any.

(A)

þ

The deferral limit is 40 % (must be a whole number multiple of one percent) of Compensation. (Unless a
different deferral limit is specified, the deferral limit shall be 75%. If Option 1.07(a)(4), Catch-Up
Contributions, is selected below, complete only if deferral limit is other than 75%)

(B)

q

Instead of specifying a percentage of Compensation, a Participants salary reduction agreement may specify a
dollar amount to be contributed each payroll period, provided such dollar amount does not exceed the
maximum percentage of Compensation specified in Subsection 5.03(a) of the Basic Plan Document or in
Subsection 1.07(a)(1)(A) above, as applicable.

(C)

A Participant may increase or decrease, on a prospective basis, his salary reduction agreement percentage o
Contributions are selected in Subsection 1.07(a)(5) below, the portion of his Deferral Contributions designate
Contributions (check one):

(i)

þ

as of the beginning of each payroll period.

(ii)

q

as of the first day of each month.

(iii)

q

(iv)

q

as of the first day of each calendar quarter.

(v)

q

as of the first day of each Plan Year.

(vi)

q

other. (Specify, but must be at least once per Plan Year).

as of each Entry Date. (Do not select if immediate entry is elected with respect to Deferral
Contributions in Subsection 1.04(e).)

____________________________________
____________________________________
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Note : Notwithstanding the Employer’s election hereunder, if Option 1.11(a)(3), 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions, or Option 1.12(a)(3),
401(k) Safe Harbor Formula, with respect to Nonelective Employer Contributions is checked, the Plan provides that an Active Participant may change his
salary reduction agreement percentage for the Plan Year within a reasonable period (not fewer than 30 days) of receiving the notice described in Section 6.09
of the Basic Plan Document.
(D)

A Participant may revoke, on a prospective basis, a salary reduction agreement at any time upon proper notice to the
in such case may not file a new salary reduction agreement until (check one):

(i)

þ

the beginning of the next payroll period.

(ii)

q

the first day of the next month.

(iii)

q

(iv)

q

as of the first day of each calendar quarter.

(v)

q

as of the first day of each Plan Year.

(vi)

q

other. (Specify, but must be at least once per Plan Year).

the next Entry Date. (Do not select if immediate entry is elected with respect to Deferral
Contributions in Subsection 1.04(e).)

_____________________________________
_____________________________________
(2)

q

Additional Deferral Contributions − The Employer shall allow a Participant upon proper notice and approval to enter
into a special salary reduction agreement to make additional Deferral Contributions in an amount up to 100% of
their effectively available Compensation for the payroll period(s) designated by the Employer.

(3)

q

Bonus Contributions − The Employer shall allow a Participant upon proper notice and approval to enter into a special
salary reduction agreement to make Deferral Contributions in an amount up to 100% of any Employer paid cash
bonuses designated by the Employer on a uniform and nondiscriminatory basis that are made for such Participants
during the Plan Year. The Compensation definition elected by the Employer in Subsection 1.05(a) must include
bonuses if bonus contributions are permitted. Unless a Participant has entered into a special salary reduction
agreement with respect to bonuses, the percentage deferred from any Employer paid cash bonus shall be (check (A)
or (B) below):

(A)

q

(B)

q

Zero.
The same percentage elected by the Participant for his regular contributions in accordance with Subsection
1.07(a)(1) above or deemed to have been elected by the Participant in accordance with Option 1.07(a)(6)
below.

Note: A Participant’s contributions under Subsection 1.07(a)(2) and/or (3) may not cause the Participant to exceed the percentage limit specified by the
Employer in Subsection 1.07(a)(1)(A) for the full Plan Year. If the Administrator anticipates that the Plan will not satisfy the “ADP” and/or “ACP” test for the
year, the Administrator may reduce the rate of Deferral Contributions of Participants who are Highly Compensated Employees to an amount objectively
determined by the Administrator to be necessary to satisfy the “ADP” and/or “ACP” test.
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(4)

þ

Catch-Up Contributions − The following Participants who have attained or are expected to attain age 50 before the
close of the calendar year will be permitted to make Catch-Up Contributions to the Plan, as described in Subsection
5.03(a) of the Basic Plan Document:

(A)

þ

(B)

q

All such Participants.
All such Participants except those covered by a collective-bargaining agreement under which retirement
benefits were a subject of good faith bargaining unless the bargaining agreement specifically provides for
Catch-Up Contributions to be made on behalf of such Participants.

Note: The Employer must not select Option 1.07(a)(4) above unless all “applicable plans” (except any plan that is qualified under Puerto Rican law or that
covers only employees who are covered by a collective bargaining agreement under which retirement benefits were a subject of good faith bargaining)
maintained by the Employer and by any other employer that is treated as a single employer with the Employer under Code Section 414(b), (c), (m), or (o) also
permit Catch-Up Contributions in the same dollar amount. An “applicable plan” is any 401(k) plan or any SIMPLE IRA plan, SEP, plan or contract that meets
the requirements of Code Section 403(b), or Code Section 457 eligible governmental plan that provides for elective deferrals.
(5)

q

Roth 401(k) Contributions. Participants shall be permitted to irrevocably designate pursuant to Subsection 5.03(b) of
the Basic Plan Document that a portion or all of the Deferral Contributions made under this Subsection 1.07(a) are
Roth 401(k) Contributions that are includable in the Participant’s gross income at the time deferred.

(6)

þ

Automatic Enrollment Contributions. Beginning on the effective date of this paragraph (6) (the “Automatic Enrollment
Effective Date”) and subject to the remainder of this paragraph (6), unless an Eligible Employee affirmatively elects
otherwise, his Compensation will be reduced by 3% (the “Automatic Enrollment Rate”), such percentage to be
increased in accordance with Option 1.07(b) (if applicable), for each payroll period in which he is an Active
Participant, beginning as indicated in Subsection 1.07(a)(6)(A) below, and the Employer will make a pre-tax
Deferral Contribution in such amount on the Participant’s behalf in accordance with the provisions of Subsection
5.03(c) of the Basic Plan Document (an “Automatic Enrollment Contribution”),

(A)

With respect to an affected Participant, Automatic Enrollment Contributions will begin as soon as administratively feasible on
(check one):

(i)

q

(ii)

þ

The Participant’s Entry Date.
30 (minimum of 30) days following the Participant’s date of hire, but no sooner than the
Participant’s Entry Date.

Within a reasonable period ending no later than the day prior to the date Compensation subject to the reduction would otherwise become available to the
Participant, an Eligible Employee may make an affirmative election not to have Automatic Enrollment Contributions made on his behalf. If an Eligible
Employee makes no such affirmative election, his Compensation shall be reduced and Automatic Enrollment Contributions will be made on his behalf in
accordance with the provisions of this paragraph (6), and Option 1.07(b) if applicable, until such Active Participant elects to change or revoke such Deferral
Contributions as provided in Subsection 1.07(a)(1)(C) or (D). Automatic Enrollment Contributions shall be made only on behalf of Active Participants who
are first hired by the Employer on or after the Automatic Enrollment Effective Date and do not have a Reemployment Commencement Date, unless otherwise
provided below.
(B)

þ

Additionally, subject to the Note below, unless such affected Participant affirmatively elects otherwise within
the reasonable period established by the Plan
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Administrator, Automatic Enrollment Contributions will be made with respect to the Employees described below. (Check all that apply.)
þ

(i)

Inclusion of Previously Hired Employees . On the later of the date specified in Subsection 1.07(a)
(6)(A) with regard to such Eligible Employee or as soon as administratively feasible on or
after the 30th day following the Notification Date specified in Subsection 1.07(a)(6)(B)(i)(I)
below, Automatic Enrollment Contributions will begin for the following Eligible Employees
who were hired before the Automatic Enrollment Effective Date and have not had a
Reemployment Commencement Date. (Complete (I), check (II) or (Ill), and complete (IV), if
applicable.)

(I)

Notification Date: 07/03/2008. (Date must be on or after the Automatic Enrollment Effective Date.)

(II)

þ

Unless otherwise elected in Subsection 1.07(a)(6)(B)(i)(IV) below, all such Employees
who have never had a Deferral Contribution election in place.

(III)

q

Unless otherwise elected in Subsection 1.07(a)(6)(B)(i)(IV) below, all such Employees
who have never had a Deferral Contribution election in place and were hired by the
Employer before the Automatic Enrollment Effective Date, but on or after the
following date:
.

(IV)

q

In addition to the group of Employees elected in Subsection 1.07(a)(6)(B)(i)(II) or (III)
above, any Employee described in Subsection 1.07(a)(6)(B)(i)(II) or (III) above, as
applicable, even if he has had a Deferral Contribution election in place previously,
provided he is not suspended from making Deferral Contributions pursuant to the
Plan and has a deferral rate of zero on the Notification Date.

þ

(ii)

Inclusion of Rehired Employees. Unless otherwise stated herein, each Eligible Employee having a
Reemployment Commencement Date on the date indicated in Subsection 1.07(a)(6)(A) above.
If Subsection 1.07(a)(6)(B)(i)(III) is selected, only such Employees with a Reemployment
Commencement on or after the date specified in Subsection 1.07(a)(6)(B)(i)(III) will be
automatically enrolled. If Subsection 1.07(a)(6)(B)(i) is not selected, only such Employees
with a Reemployment Commencement on or after the Automatic Enrollment Effective Date
will be automatically enrolled. If Subsection 1.07(a)(6)(A)(ii) has been elected above, for
purposes of Subsection 1.07(a)(6)(A) only, such Employee’s Reemployment Commencement
Date will be treated as his date of hire.

(b)

þ Automatic Deferral Increase: (Choose only if Automatic Enrollment Contributions are selected in Option 1.07(a)(6) above) −
Unless an Eligible Employee affirmatively elects otherwise after receiving appropriate notice, Deferral Contributions for each Active
Participant having Automatic Enrollment Contributions made on his behalf shall be increased annually by the whole percentage of
Compensation stated in Subsection 1.07(b)(1) below until the deferral percentage stated in Subsection 1.07(a)(1) is reached (except
that the increase will be limited to only the percentage needed to reach the limit stated in Subsection 1.07(a)(1), if applying the
percentage in Subsection 1.07(b)(1) would exceed the limit stated in Subsection 1.07(a)(1)), unless the Employer has elected a lower
percentage limit in Subsection 1.07(b)(2) below.

(1)

Increase by 1% (not to exceed 10%) of Compensation. Such increased Deferral Contributions shall be pre-tax Deferral Contributions.
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(2)

þ Limited to 6% of Compensation (not to exceed the percentage indicated in Subsection 1.07(a)(1)).

(3)

Notwithstanding the above, the automatic deferral increase shall not apply to a Participant within the first six months following the
date upon which Automatic Enrollment Contributions begin for such Participant.

1.08

EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS (AFTER TAX-CONTRIBUTIONS)

(a)

þ Future Employee Contributions − Participants may make voluntary, non-deductible, after-tax Employee Contributions pursuant
to Section 5.04 of the Basic Plan Document. The Employee Contribution made on behalf of an Active Participant each payroll period
shall not exceed the contribution limit specified in Subsection 1.08(a)(1) below.

(1)

The contribution limit is 75% (must be a whole number multiple of one percent) of Compensation.

(b)

q Frozen Employee Contributions − Participants may not currently make after-tax Employee Contributions to the Plan, but the
Employer does maintain frozen Employee Contributions Accounts.

1.09

ROLLOVER CONTRIBUTIONS

(a)

þ
Rollover Contributions − Employees may roll over eligible amounts from other qualified plans to the Plan subject to the
additional following requirements:

(1)

q

The Plan will not accept rollovers of after-tax employee contributions.

(2)

þ

The Plan will not accept rollovers of designated Roth contributions. (Must be selected if Roth 401(k) Contributions are
not elected in Subsection 1.07(a)(5).)

1.10
(a)

(1)

QUALIFIED NONELECTIVE EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS
Qualified Nonelective Employer Contributions − If any of the following Options is checked: 1.07(a), Deferral Contributions, 1.08(a)
(1), Future Employee Contributions or 1.11(a), Matching Employer Contributions, the Employer may contribute an amount which it
designates as a Qualified Nonelective Employer Contribution to be included in the “ADP” or “ACP” test. Unless otherwise provided
below, Qualified Nonelective Employer Contributions shall be allocated to all Participants who were eligible to participate in the Plan
at any time during the Plan Year and are Non-Highly Compensated Employees in the ratio which each such Participant’s “testing
compensation”, as defined in Subsection 6.01(r) of the Basic Plan Document, for the Plan Year bears to the total of all such
Participants’ “testing compensation” for the Plan Year.
q

Qualified Nonelective Employer Contributions shall be allocated only among those Participants who are Non-Highly
Compensated Employees and are designated by the Employer as eligible to receive a Qualified Nonelective
Employer Contribution for the Plan Year. The amount of the Qualified Nonelective Employer Contribution
allocated to each such Participant shall be as designated by the Employer, but not in excess of the “regulatory
maximum.” The “regulatory maximum” means 5% (10% for Qualified Nonelective Contributions made in
connection with the Employer’s obligation to pay prevailing wages under the Davis-Bacon Act) of the “testing
compensation” for such Participant for the Plan Year. The “regulatory maximum” shall apply separately with
respect to Qualified Nonelective Contributions to be included in the “ADP” test and Qualified Nonelective
Contributions to be included in the “ACP” test. (Cannot be selected if the Employer has elected prior year testing
in Subsection 1.06(a)(2).)
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1.11

MATCHING EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS

(a)

þ
Matching Employer Contributions − The Employer shall make Matching Employer Contributions on behalf of each of its
“eligible” Participants as provided in this Section 1.11. For purposes of this Section 1.11, an “eligible” Participant means any
Participant who is an Active Participant during the Contribution Period and who satisfies the requirements of Subsection 1.11(e) or
Section 1.13. (Check one):

(1)

þ

Non-Discretionary Matching Employer Contributions − The Employer shall make a Matching Employer
Contribution on behalf of each “eligible” Participant in an amount equal to the following percentage of the eligible
contributions made by the “eligible” Participant during the Contribution Period (complete all that apply):
þ

(A)

Flat Percentage Match:

(i)

100 % to all “eligible” Participants.
q

(B)

Tiered Match:

% of the first

% of the “eligible” Participant’s Compensation contributed to the Plan,

_________% of the next

% of the “eligible” Participant’s Compensation contributed to the Plan,

_________% of the next

% of the “eligible” Participant’s Compensation contributed to the Plan.

Note: The group of “eligible” Participants benefiting under each match rate must satisfy the nondiscriminatory coverage requirements of Code Section 410(b).
þ

(C)

Limit on Non-Discretionary Matching Employer Contributions (check the appropriate box(es)):
þ

(i)

Contributions in excess of 5 % of the “eligible” Participant’s Compensation for the Contribution
Period shall not be considered for non-discretionary Matching Employer Contributions.

Note: If the Employer elected a percentage limit in (i) above and requested the Trustee to account separately for matched and unmatched Deferral and/or
Employee Contributions made to the Plan, the non-discretionary Matching Employer Contributions allocated to each “eligible” Participant must be computed,
and the percentage limit applied, based upon each payroll period.
q

(ii)

(2)

q

Matching Employer Contributions for each “eligible” Participant for each Plan Year shall be limited
to $
.

Discretionary Matching Employer Contributions − The Employer may make a discretionary Matching Employer
Contribution on behalf of each “eligible” Participant in accordance with Section 5.08 of the Basic Plan Document in
an amount equal to a percentage of the eligible contributions made by each “eligible” Participant during the
Contribution Period. Discretionary Matching Employer Contributions may be limited to match only contributions
up to a specified percentage of Compensation or limit the amount of the match to a specified dollar amount.

Note: If the Matching Employer Contribution made in accordance with this Subsection 1.11(a)(2) matches different percentages of contributions for different
groups of “eligible” Participants, it may need to be tested to show that it meets the requirements of Code Section 401(a)(4), nondiscrimination in benefits,
rights, and features.
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q

(A)

4% Limitation on Discretionary Matching Employer Contributions for Deemed Satisfaction of “ACP” Test −
In no event may the dollar amount of the discretionary Matching Employer Contribution made on an
“eligible” Participant’s behalf for the Plan Year exceed 4% of the “eligible” Participant’s Compensation
for the Plan Year. (Only if Option 1.12(a)(3), 401(k) Safe Harbor Formula, with respect to Nonelective
Employer Contributions is checked.)

(3)

q

(b) q

Additional Matching Employer Contributions − The Employer may at Plan Year end make an additional Matching Employer
Contribution on behalf of each “eligible” Participant in an amount equal to a percentage of the eligible contributions made by each
“eligible” Participant during the Plan Year. (Only if Option 1.11(a)(1) or (3) is checked.) The additional Matching Employer
Contribution may be limited to match only contributions up to a specified percentage of Compensation or limit the amount of the
match to a specified dollar amount.

401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions − If the Employer elects one of the safe harbor formula
Options provided in the 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions Addendum to the Adoption
Agreement and provides written notice each Plan Year to all Active Participants of their rights and obligations
under the Plan, the Plan shall be deemed to satisfy the “ADP” test and, under certain circumstances, the “ACP” test.
(Only if Option 1.07(a), Deferral Contributions is checked.)

Note: If the additional Matching Employer Contribution made in accordance with this Subsection 1.11(b) matches different percentages of contributions for
different groups of “eligible” Participants, it may need to be tested to show that it meets the requirements of Code Section 401(a)(4), nondiscrimination in
benefits, rights, and features.
(1)

q

4% Limitation on additional Matching Employer Contributions for Deemed Satisfaction of “ACP” Test − In no
event may the dollar amount of the additional Matching Employer Contribution made on an “eligible” Participant’s
behalf for the Plan Year exceed 4% of the “eligible” Participant’s Compensation for the Plan Year. (Only if Option
1.11(a)(3), 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions, or Option 1.12(a(3), 401(k) Safe Harbor
Formula, with respect to Nonelective Employer Contributions is checked.)

Note: If the Employer elected Option 1.11(a)(3), 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions, above and wants to be deemed to have satisfied the
“ADP” test, the additional Matching Employer Contribution must meet the requirements of Section 6.09 of the Basic Plan Document. In addition to the
foregoing requirements, if the Employer elected Option 1.11(a)(3), 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions, or Option 1.12(a)(3), 401(k) Safe
Harbor Formula, with respect to Nonelective Employer Contributions, and wants to be deemed to have satisfied the “ACP” test with respect to Matching
Employer Contributions for the Plan Year, the eligible contributions matched may not exceed the limitations in Section 6.10 of the Basic Plan Document.
(c)
(1)

(A)

Contributions Matched − The Employer matches the following contributions (check appropriate box(es)):
Deferral Contributions − Deferral Contributions made to the Plan are matched at the rate specified in this Section 1.11. Catch-Up
Contributions are not matched unless the Employer elects Option 1.11(c)(1)(A) below.
q

Catch-Up Contributions made to the Plan pursuant to Subsection 1.07(a)(4) are matched at the rates specified
in this Section 1.11.

Note: Notwithstanding the above, if the Employer elected Option 1.11(a)(3), 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions, Deferral Contributions
shall be matched at the
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rate specified in the 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions Addendum to the Adoption Agreement without regard to whether they are CatchUp Contributions.
(d)

Contribution Period for Matching Employer Contributions − The Contribution Period for purposes of calculating the amount of
Matching Employer Contributions is:

(1)

q

each calendar month.

(2)

q

each Plan Year quarter.

(3)

þ

each Plan Year.

(4)

q

each payroll period.

The Contribution Period for additional Matching Employer Contributions described in Subsection 1.11(b) is the Plan Year.
Note : If Matching Employer Contributions are made more frequently than for the Contribution Period selected above, the Employer must calculate the
Matching Employer Contribution required with respect to the full Contribution Period, taking into account the “eligible” Participant’s contributions and
Compensation for the full Contribution Period, and contribute any additional Matching Employer Contributions necessary to “true up” the Matching
Employer Contribution so that the full Matching Employer Contribution is made for the Contribution Period.
(e)

Continuing Eligibility Requirement(s) − A Participant who is an Active Participant during a Contribution Period and makes eligible
contributions during the Contribution Period shall only be entitled to receive Matching Employer Contributions under Section 1.11 for
that Contribution Period if the Participant satisfies the following requirement(s) (Check the appropriate box(es). Options (3) and (4)
may not be elected together; Option (5) may not be elected with Option (2), (3), or (4); Options (2), (3), (4), (5), and (7) may not be
elected with respect to Matching Employer Contributions if Option 1.11(a)(3), 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions,
is checked or if Option 1.12(a)(3), 401(k) Safe Harbor Formula, with respect to Nonelective Employer Contributions is checked and
the Employer intends to satisfy the Code Section 401(m)(11) safe harbor with respect to Matching Employer Contributions):

(1)

þ

No requirements.

(2)

q

Is employed by the Employer or a Related Employer on the last day of the Contribution Period.

(3)

q

Earns at least 501 Hours of Service during the Plan Year. (Only if the Contribution Period is the Plan Year.)

(4)

q

Earns at least
Plan Year.)

(5)

q

Either earns at least 501 Hours of Service during the Plan Year or is employed by the Employer or a Related Employer on
the last day of the Plan Year. (Only if the Contribution Period is the Plan Year.)

(6)

q

Is not a Highly Compensated Employee for the Plan Year.

(7)

q

Is not a partner or a member of the Employer, if the Employer is a partnership or an entity taxed as a partnership.

(8)

q

Special continuing eligibility requirement(s) for additional Matching Employer Contributions. (Only if Option 1.11(b),
Additional Matching Employer Contributions, is checked.)

(A)

(not to exceed 1,000) Hours of Service during the Plan Year. (Only if the Contribution Period is the

The continuing eligibility requirement(s) for additional Matching Employer Contributions is/are:
of applicable eligibility requirement(s) from above. Options (2),
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(3), (4), (5), and (7) may not be elected with respect to additional Matching Employer Contributions if Option 1.11(a)(3), 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching
Employer Contributions, is checked or if Option 1.12(a)(3), 401(k) Safe Harbor Formula, with respect to Nonelective Employer Contributions is checked and
the Employer intends to satisfy the Code Section 401(m)(11) safe harbor with respect to Matching Employer Contributions.)
Note : If Option (2), (3), (4), or (5) is adopted during a Contribution Period, such Option shall not become effective until the first day of the next Contribution
Period. Matching Employer Contributions attributable to the Contribution Period that are funded during the Contribution Period shall not be subject to the
eligibility requirements of Option (2), (3), (4), or (5). If Option (2), (3), (4), (5), or (7) is elected with respect to any Matching Employer Contributions and if
Option 1.12(a)(3), 401(k) Safe Harbor Formula, is also elected, the Plan will not be deemed to satisfy the “ACP” test in accordance with Section 6.10 of the
Basic Plan Document and will have to pass the “ACP” test each year.
(f)

þ Qualified Matching Employer Contributions − Prior to making any Matching Employer Contribution hereunder (other than a
401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contribution), the Employer may designate all or a portion of such Matching Employer
Contribution as a Qualified Matching Employer Contribution that may be used to satisfy the “ADP” test on Deferral Contributions and
excluded in applying the “ACP” test on Employee and Matching Employer Contributions. Unless the additional eligibility
requirement is selected below, Qualified Matching Employer Contributions shall be allocated to all Participants who were Active
Participants during the Contribution Period and who meet the continuing eligibility requirement(s) described in Subsection 1.11(e)
above for the type of Matching Employer Contribution being characterized as a Qualified Matching Employer Contribution.

(1)

q

To receive an allocation of Qualified Matching Employer Contributions a Participant must also be a Non-Highly
Compensated Employee for the Plan Year.

Note: Qualified Matching Employer Contributions may not be excluded in applying the “ACP” test for a Plan Year if the Employer elected Option 1.11(a)(3),
401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions, or Option 1.12(a)(3), 401(k) Safe Harbor Formula, with respect to Nonelective Employer
Contributions, and the “ADP” test is deemed satisfied under Section 6.09 of the Basic Plan Document for such Plan Year.
1.12

NONELECTIVE EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS

If (a) or (b) is elected below, the Employer may make Nonelective Employer Contributions on behalf of each of its “eligible” Participants in accordance with
the provisions of this Section 1.12. For purposes of this Section 1.12, an “eligible” Participant means a Participant who is an Active Participant during the
Contribution Period and who satisfies the requirements of Subsection 1.12(d) or Section 1.13.
Note: An Employer may elect both a fixed formula and a discretionary formula. If both are selected, the discretionary formula shall be treated as an additional
Nonelective Employer Contribution and allocated separately in accordance with the allocation formula selected by the Employer.
(a)
(1)

(A)

q

Fixed Formula (check one or more):
q

Fixed Percentage Employer Contribution − For each Contribution Period, the Employer shall contribute for each
“eligible” Participant a percentage of such “eligible” Participant’s Compensation equal to):
_________% (not to exceed 25%) to all “eligible” Participants.

Note : The allocation formula in Option 1.12(a)(1)(A) above generally satisfies a design-based safe harbor pursuant to the regulations under Code Section
401(a)(4).
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q

(2)

(A)

Fixed Flat Dollar Employer Contribution − The Employer shall contribute for each “eligible” Participant an amount
equal to:
$

to all “eligible” Participants. (Complete (i) below).

(i)

The contribution amount is based on an “eligible” Participant’s service for the following period (check one of the fol

(I)

q

Each paid hour.

(II)

q

Each Plan Year.

(III)

q

Other:
(must be a period within the Plan Year that does not exceed one week
and is uniform with respect to all “eligible” Participants).

Note : The allocation formula in Option 1.12(a)(2)(A) above generally satisfies a design-based safe harbor pursuant to the regulations under Code Section
401(a)(4).
(3)

q

(b) q

Discretionary Formula − The Employer may decide each Contribution Period whether to make a discretionary Nonelective Employer
Contribution on behalf of “eligible” Participants in accordance with Section 510 of the Basic Plan Document.

(1)

q

Non-Integrated Allocation Formula − In the ratio that each “eligible” Participant’s Compensation bears to the total
Compensation paid to all “eligible” Participants for the Contribution Period.

(2)

q

Integrated Allocation Formula − As (1) a percentage of each “eligible” Participant’s Compensation plus (2) a
percentage of each “eligible” Participant’s Compensation in excess of the “integration level” as defined below. The
percentage of Compensation in excess of the “integration level” shall be equal to the lesser of the percentage of the
“eligible” Participant’s Compensation allocated under (1) above or the “permitted disparity limit” as defined below.

401(k) Safe Harbor Formula − The Nonelective Employer Contribution specified in the 401(k) Safe Harbor
Nonelective Employer Contributions Addendum is intended to satisfy the safe harbor contribution requirements
under Sections 401(k) and 401(m) of the Code such that the “ADP” test (and, under certain circumstances, the
“ACP” test) is deemed satisfied. Please complete the 401(k) Safe Harbor Nonelective Employer Contributions
Addendum to the Adoption Agreement. (Choose only if Option 1.07(a), Deferral Contributions is checked).

Note: An Employer that has elected Option 1.12(a)(3), 401(k) Safe Harbor Formula, may not take Nonelective Employer Contributions made to satisfy the
401(k) safe harbor into account in applying the integrated allocation formula described above.
(A)

“Integration level” means the Social Security taxable wage base for the Plan Year, unless the Employer elects a lesser amount
(ii) below.

(i)

____ % (not to exceed 100%) of the Social Security taxable wage base for the Plan Year, or

(ii)

$

(not to exceed the Social Security taxable wage base).

“Permitted disparity limit” means the percentage provided by the following table:
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The “Integration Level”

The “Permitted

is ______% of the

Disparity

Taxable Wage Base

Limit” is

20% or less

5.7%

More than 20%, but not more than 80%

4.3%

More than 80%, but less than 100%

5.4%

100%

5.7%

Note : An Employer who maintains any other plan that provides for Social Security Integration (permitted disparity) may not elect Option 1.12(b)(2).
(c)

Contribution Period for Nonelective Employer Contributions − The Contribution Period for purposes of calculating the amount of
Nonelective Employer Contributions is the Plan Year, unless the Employer elects another Contribution Period below. Regardless of
any selection made below, the Contribution Period for 401(k) Safe Harbor Nonelective Employer Contributions under Option 1.12(a)
(3) or Nonelective Employer Contributions allocated under an integrated formula selected under Option 1.12(b)(2) is the Plan Year.

(1)

q

each calendar month.

(2)

q

each Plan Year quarter.

(3)

q

each payroll period.

Note: If Nonelective Employer Contributions are made more frequently than for the Contribution Period selected above, the Employer must calculate the
Nonelective Employer Contribution required with respect to the full Contribution Period, taking into account the “eligible” Participant’s Compensation for the
full Contribution Period, and contribute any additional Nonelective Employer Contributions necessary to “true up” the Nonelective Employer Contribution so
that the full Nonelective Employer Contribution is made for the Contribution Period.
(d)

Continuing Eligibility Requirement(s) − A Participant shall only be entitled to receive Nonelective Employer Contributions for a Plan
Year under this Section 1.12 if the Participant is an Active Participant during the Plan Year and satisfies the following requirement(s)
(Cheek the appropriate box(es) − Options (3) and (4) may not be elected together; Option (5) may not be elected with Option (2), (3),
or (4); Options (2), (3), (4), (5), and (7) may not be elected with respect to Nonelective Employer Contributions under the fixed
formula if Option 1.12(a)(3), 401(k) Safe Harbor Formula, is checked):

(1)

q

No requirements.

(2)

q

Is employed by the Employer or a Related Employer on the last day of the Contribution Period.

(3)

q

Earns at least 501 Hours of Service during the Plan Year. (Only if the Contribution Period is the Plan Year.)

(4)

q

Earns at least
Plan Year.)

(5)

q

Either earns at least 501 Hours of Service during the Plan Year or is employed by the Employer or a Related Employer on
the last day of the Plan Year. (Only if the Contribution Period is The Plan Year.)
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(6)

q

Is not a Highly Compensated Employee for the Plan Year.

(7)

q

Is not a partner or a member of the Employer, if the Employer is a partnership or an entity taxed as a partnership.

(8)

q

(A)

Special continuing eligibility requirement(s) for discretionary Nonelective Employer Contributions. (Only if both
Options 1.12(a) and (b) are checked.)
The continuing eligibility requirement(s) for discretionary Nonelective Employer Contributions is/are:
applicable eligibility requirement(s) from above.)

(Fill in num

Note: If Option (2) (3), (4), or (5) is adopted during a Contribution Period, such Option shall not become effective until the first day of the next Contribution
Period. Nonelective Employer Contributions attributable to the Contribution Period that are funded during the Contribution Period shall not be subject to the
eligibility requirements of Option (2), (3), (4), or (5).
1.13
q

1.14
(a)

EXCEPTIONS TO CONTINUING ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS
Death, Disability, and Retirement Exceptions − All Participants who become disabled, as defined in Section 1.15, retire, as
provided in Subsection 1.14(a), (b), or (c), or die are excepted from any last day or Hours of Service requirement.
RETIREMENT
The Normal Retirement Age under the Plan is (check one).

(1)

q

age 65.

(2)

þ

age 59.5 (specify between 55 and 64).

(3)

q

(b)

þ
The Early Retirement Age is the date the Participant attains age 55.0 (specify 55 or greater) and completes 5.0 years of
Vesting Service.

later of age
(not to exceed 65) or the
Commencement Date.

(not to exceed 5th) anniversary of the Participant’s Employment

Note: If this Option is elected, Participants who are employed by the Employer or a Related Employer on the date they reach Early Retirement Age shall be
100% vested in their Accounts under the Plan.
(c) þ

A Participant who becomes disabled, as defined in Section 1.15, is eligible for disability retirement.

Note: If this Option is elected, Participants who are employed by the Employer or a Related Employer on the date they become disabled shall be 100% vested
in their Accounts under the Plan. Pursuant to Section 11.03 of the Basic Plan Document, a Participant is not considered to be disabled until he terminates his
employment with the Employer.
1.15

DEFINITION OF DISABLED

A Participant is disabled if he/she meets any of the requirements selected below (check the appropriate box(es)):
(a)

þ

The Participant satisfies the requirements for benefits under the Employer’s long-term disability plan.

(b)

þ

The Participant satisfies the requirements for Social Security disability benefits.

(c)

þ

The Participant is determined to be disabled by a physician approved by the Employer.
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1.16

VESTING

A Participant’s vested interest in Matching Employer Contributions and/or Nonelective Employer Contributions, other than 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching
Employer and/or 401(k) Safe Harbor Nonelective Employer Contributions elected in Subsection 1.11(a)(3) or 1.12(a)(3), shall be based upon his years of
Vesting Service and the schedule selected in Subsection 1.16(c) below, except as provided in Subsection 1.16(d) or (e) below and the Vesting Schedule
Addendum to the Adoption Agreement or as provided in Subsection 1.22(c).
(a)

When years of Vesting Service are determined, the elapsed time method shall be used.

(b)

q Years of Vesting Service shall exclude service prior to the Plan’s original Effective Date as listed in Subsection 1.01(g)(1) or
Subsection 1.01(g)(2), as applicable.

(c)

Vesting Schedule(s)

(1)

Nonelective Employer Contributions (check one):

(A)

þ

(B)

q

100% Vesting immediately

(C)

q

3 year cliff (see C below)

(D)

q

6 year graduated (see D below)

(E)

q

Other vesting (complete E1 below)

(2)

N/A - No Nonelective Employer Contributions other than 401(k) Safe Harbor Nonelective Employer
Contributions

Matching Employer Contributions (check one):

(A)

q

N/A - No Matching Employer Contributions other than 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions

(B)

q

100% Vesting immediately

(C)

q

3 year cliff (see C below)

(D)

q

6 year graduated (see D below)

(E)

þ

Other vesting (complete E2 below)

Years of Vesting Service
Applicable Vesting Schedule(s)
C

D

E1

0

0%

0%

____%

0.00 %

1

0%

0%

____%

25.00%

2

0%

20%

____%

50.00 %

3

100%

40%

____%

75.00%

4

100%

60%

____%

100.00 %

5

100%

80%

____%

100.00%

6 or more

100%

100%

____%

100%

Note: A schedule elected under El or E2 above must be at least as favorable as one of the schedules in C or D above.

E2
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Note: If the vesting schedule is amended and a Participant’s vested interest calculated using the amended vesting schedule is less in any year than the
Participant’s vested interest calculated under the Plan’s vesting schedule in effect immediately before the amendment, the amended vesting schedule shall
apply only to Employees hired on or after the effective date of the amendment. Please select paragraph (e) below and complete Section (b) of the Vesting
Schedule Addendum to the Adoption Agreement describing the vesting schedule in effect for Employees hired before the effective date of the amendment.
Note: If the vesting schedule is amended, the amended vesting schedule shall apply only to Participants who are Active Participants on or after the effective
date of the amendment not subject to the prior vesting schedule as provided in the preceding Note. Participants who are not Active Participants on or after that
date shall be subject to the prior vesting schedule. Please select paragraph (e) below and complete Section (b) of the Vesting Schedule Addendum to the
Adoption Agreement describing the prior vesting schedule.
(d) q

A less favorable vesting schedule than the vesting schedule selected in 1.16(c)(2) above applies to Matching Employer
Contributions made for Plan Years beginning before the EGTRRA effective date. Please complete Section (a) of the Vesting
Schedule Addendum to the Adoption Agreement.

(e) þ

A vesting schedule or schedules different from the vesting schedule(s) selected above applies to certain Participants. Please
complete Section (b) of the Vesting Schedule Addendum to the Adoption Agreement.
Application of Forfeitures − If a Participant forfeits any portion of his non-vested Account balance as provided in Section 6.02, 6.04,
6.07, or 11.08 of the Basic Plan Document, any portion of such forfeitures not used to pay Plan administrative expenses in accordance
with Section 11.09 of the Basic Plan Document shall be applied to reduce Employer Contributions unless otherwise specified below:

(f)

q

(1)

Forfeitures attributable to the following contributions shall be allocated among the Accounts of eligible Participants
otherwise eligible to receive an allocation of Nonelective Employer Contributions pursuant to Section 1.12 in the
manner described in Section 1.12(b)(1) (regardless of whether the Employer has selected Option 1.12(b)(1)).

(A)

q

Matching Employer Contributions.

(B)

q

Nonelective Employer Contributions.

1.17

PREDECESSOR EMPLOYER SERVICE
þ

(a)

For the following purposes, the following entities shall be treated as predecessor employers:
þ Eligibility Service, as described in Subsection 1.04(b), shall include service with the following predecessor employer(s):

(1)
Applera Corporation

þ Vesting Service, as described in Subsection 1.16(a), shall include service with the following predecessor employer(s):

(2)
Applera Corporation
1.18
(a)

PARTICIPANT LOANS
þ

Participant loans are allowed in accordance with Article 9 and loan procedures outlined in the Service Agreement.
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1.19

IN-SERVICE WITHDRAWALS

Participants may make withdrawals prior to termination of employment under the following circumstances (check the appropriate box(es)):
(a)

(1)

þ Hardship Withdrawals − Hardship withdrawals shall be allowed in accordance with Section 10.05 of the Basic Plan Document,
subject to a $500 minimum amount.
Hardship withdrawals will be permitted from:

(A)

q

(B)

þ

(b)

A Participant’s Deferral Contributions Account only.
The Accounts specified in the In-Service Withdrawals Addendum. Please complete Section (c) of the InService Withdrawals Addendum.

þ
Age 59 1/2 − Participants shall be entitled to receive a distribution of all or any portion of the following Accounts upon
attainment of age 59 1/2 (check one):

(1)

q

Deferral Contributions Account.

(2)

þ

All vested Account balances.

(c)
(1)

Withdrawal of Employee Contributions and Rollover Contributions
Unless otherwise provided below, Employee Contributions may be withdrawn in accordance with Section 10.02 of the Basic Plan
Document at any time.
q

(A)

Employees may not make withdrawals of Employee Contributions more frequently than:

_______________________________________________
_______________________________________________
(2)
(d)

(1)

(A)

Rollover Contributions may be withdrawn in accordance with Section 10.03 of the Basic Plan Document at any time.
þ
Protected In-Service Withdrawal Provisions − Check if the Plan was converted by plan amendment or received transfer
contributions from another defined contribution plan, and benefits under the other defined contribution plan were payable as (check
the appropriate box(es)):
q

an in-service withdrawal of vested amounts attributable to Employer Contributions maintained in a Participant’s Account
(check (A) and/or (B)):
q

q

(i)

(B)
(i)

for at least

q

(24 or more) months.
Special restrictions applied to such in-service withdrawals under the prior plan that the Employer
wishes to continue under the Plan as restated hereunder. Please complete the In Service
Withdrawals Addendum to the Adoption Agreement identifying the restrictions.

after the Participant has at least 60 months of participation.
q

Special restrictions applied to such in-service withdrawals under the prior plan that the Employer
wishes to continue under the Plan as restated hereunder. Please complete the In Service
Withdrawals Addendum to the Adoption Agreement identifying the restrictions.
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þ

(2)

1.20

another in-service withdrawal option that is a ‘protected benefit” under Code Section 411(d)(6). Please complete the InService Withdrawals Addendum to the Adoption Agreement identifying the in-service withdrawal option(s).

FORM OF DISTRIBUTIONS

Subject to Section 13.01, 13.02 and Article 14 of the Basic Plan Document, distributions under the Plan shall be paid as provided below. (Check the
appropriate box(es).)
Lump Sum Payments − Lump sum payments are always available under the Plan.

(a)
(b) q
(c)
(1)

Installment Payments − Participants may elect distribution under a systematic withdrawal plan (installments).
q

Annuities (Check if the Plan is retaining any annuity form(s) of payment.)
An annuity form of payment is available under the Plan for the following reason(s) (check (A) and/or (B), as applicable):

(A)

q

As a result of the Plan’s receipt of a transfer of assets from another defined contribution plan or pursuant to the
Plan terms prior to the Adoption Agreement Effective Date specified in Subsection 1.01(g)(1), benefits
were previously payable in the form of an annuity that the Employer elects to continue to be offered as a
form of payment under the Plan.

(B)

q

The Plan received a transfer of assets from a plan that was subject to the minimum funding requirements of
Code Section 412 and therefore an annuity form of payment is a protected benefit under the Plan in
accordance with Code Section 411(d)(6).

(2)
(A)

The normal form of payment under the Plan is (check (A) or (B)):
q

(i)

A lump sum payment.

Optional annuity forms of payment (check (I) and/or (II), as applicable). (Must check and complete (I) if a life ann
optional annuity forms of payment under the Plan.)
q

(I)

A married Participant who elects an annuity form of payment shall receive a qualified
joint and
% (at least 50% but not more than 100%) survivor annuity. An
unmarried Participant shall receive a single life annuity.

The qualified preretirement survivor annuity provided to the spouse of a married Participant who elects an annuity form of payment is purchased with
(at least 50%) of the Participant’s Account.
q

(II)

(B)

q

(i)

Other annuity form(s) of payment. Please complete Section (a) of the Forms of Payment
Addendum describing the other annuity form(s) of payment available under the
Plan.

A life annuity (complete (i) and (ii) and check (iii) if applicable.)
The normal form for married Participants is a qualified joint and
normal form for unmarried Participants is a single life annuity.

Plan Number 83041
The CORPORATEpIan for RetirementsSM

%

© 2008 FMR Corp.
All rights reserved.

% (at least 50% but not more than 100%) surv

83041-1244562461

Volume Submitter Defined Contribution Plan

23

(ii)

The qualified preretirement survivor annuity provided to a Participant’s spouse is purchased with
Participant’s Account.

(iii)

q

(d) q

% (at l

Other annuity form(s) of payment. Please complete Subsection (a) of the Forms of Payment
Addendum describing the other annuity form(s) of payment available under the Plan.

Eliminated Forms of Payment Not Protected Under Code Section 411(d)(6). Check if benefits were payable in a form of payment
that is no longer being offered after either the Adoption Agreement Effective Date specified in Subsection 1.01(g)(1) or, if forms of
payment are being eliminated by a separate amendment, the amendment effective date indicated on the Amendment Execution Page.

Note: A life annuity option will continue to be an available form of payment for any Participant who elected such life annuity payment before the effective
date of its elimination.
Cash Outs and Implementation of Required Rollover Rule

(e)

þ

(1)

If the vested Account balance payable to an individual is less than or equal to the cash out limit utilized for such
individual under Section 13.02 of the Basic Plan Document, such Account will be distributed in accordance with the
provisions of Section 13.02 or 18.04 of the Basic Plan Document. Unless otherwise elected below, the cash out
limit is $1 ,000.
q

(A)

1.21

The cash out limit utilized for Participants is the maximum cash out limit permitted under Code Section 411(a)
(11)(A) ($5,000 as of January 1, 2005). Any distribution greater than $1,000 that is made to a Participant
without the Participant’s consent before the Participant’s Normal Retirement Age (or age 62, if later) will
be rolled over to an individual retirement plan designated by the Plan Administrator.

TIMING OF DISTRIBUTIONS

Except as provided in Subsection 1.21(a), (b) or (c) and the Postponed Distribution Addendum to the Adoption Agreement, distribution shall be made to
an eligible Participant from his vested interest in his Account as soon as reasonably practicable following the Participant’s request for distribution
pursuant to Article 12 of the Basic Plan Document.
Distribution shall be made to an eligible Participant from his vested interest in his Account as soon as reasonably practicable
following the date the Participant’s application for distribution is received by the Administrator, but in no event later than his
Required Beginning Date, as defined in Subsection 2.01(tt).

(a)

(b) q

Postponed Distributions − Check if the Plan was converted by plan amendment from another defined contribution plan that provided
for the postponement of certain distributions from the Plan to eligible Participants and the Employer wants to continue to administer
the Plan using the postponed distribution provisions. Please complete the Postponed Distribution Addendum to the Adoption
Agreement indicating the types of distributions that are subject to postponement and the period of postponement.

Note: An Employer may not provide for postponement of distribution to a Participant beyond the 60th day following the close of the Plan Year in which (1)
the Participant attains Normal Retirement Age under the Plan, (2) the Participant’s 10th anniversary of participation in the Plan occurs, or (3) the Participant’s
employment terminates, whichever is latest.
(c) q

Preservation of Same Desk Rule − Check if the Employer wants to continue application of the same desk rule described in
Subsection 12.01(b) of the Basic Plan Document regarding distribution of Deferral Contributions, Qualified Nonelective
Employer Contributions, Qualified Matching Employer Contributions, 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions,
and 401(k) Safe Harbor
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Nonelective Employer Contributions. (If any of the above-listed contribution types were previously distributable upon severance from employment, this
Option may not be selected.)
1.22
(a)

TOP-HEAVY STATUS
The Plan shall be subject to the Top-Heavy Plan requirements of Article 15 (check one):

(1)

q

for each Plan Year, whether or not the Plan is a “top-heavy plan” as defined in Subsection 15.01(g) of the Basic Plan
Document.

(2)

þ

for each Plan Year, if any, for which the Plan is a “top-heavy plan” as defined in Subsection 15.01(g) of the Basic Plan
Document.

(3)

q

Not applicable. (Choose only if (A) Plan covers only employees subject to a collective bargaining agreement, or (B)
Option 1.11(a)(3), 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions, or Option 1.12(a)(3), 401(k) Safe
Harbor Formula, is selected, Option 1.16(f)(1) is not selected, and the Plan does not provide for Employee
Contributions or any other type of Employer Contributions.)

(b)

If the Plan is or is treated as a “top-heavy plan” for a Plan Year, each non-key Employee shall receive an Employer Contribution
of at least 3.0 (3 or 5)% of Compensation for the Plan Year in accordance with Section 15.03 of the Basic Plan Document. The
minimum Employer Contribution provided in this Subsection 1.22(b) shall be made under this Plan only if the Participant is not
entitled to such contribution under another qualified plan of the Employer, unless the Employer elects otherwise below:

(1)

q

The minimum Employer Contribution shall be paid under this Plan in any event.

(2)

q

Another method of satisfying the requirements of Code Section 416. Please complete the 416 Contributions Addendum to
the Adoption Agreement describing the way in which the minimum contribution requirements will be satisfied in
the event the Plan is or is treated as a “top-heavy plan”.

(3)

q

Not applicable. (Choose only if (A) Plan covers only employees subject to a collective bargaining agreement, or (B)
Option 1.11(a)(3), 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions, or Option 1.12(a)(3), 401(k) Safe
Harbor Formula, is selected, Option 1.16(f)(1) is not selected, and the Plan does not provide for Employee
Contributions or any other type of Employer Contributions.)

Note: The minimum Employer contribution may be less than the percentage indicated in Subsection 1.22(b) above to the extent provided in Section 15.03 of
the Basic Plan Document.
(c)

If the Plan is or is treated as a “top-heavy plan” for a Plan Year, the following vesting schedule shall apply instead of the
schedule(s) elected in Subsection 1.16(c) for such Plan Year and each Plan Year thereafter (check one):

(1)

q

Not applicable. (Choose only if one of the following applies: (A) Plan provides for Nonelective Employer Contributions
and the schedule elected in Subsection 1.16(c)(1) is at least as favorable in all cases as the schedules available
below, (B) Option 1.11(a)(3), 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions, or Option 1.12(a)(3),
401(k) Safe Harbor Formula, is selected, Option 1.16(f)(1) is not selected, and the Plan does not provide for
Employee Contributions or any other type of Employer Contributions, or (C) the Plan covers only employees
subject to a collective bargaining agreement.)

(2)

q

100% vested after

(3)

þ

Graded vesting:
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Years of Vesting Service

Vesting Percentage

Must be
At Least

0

0.00%

0%

1

25.00%

0%

2

50.00%

20%

3

75.00%

40%

4

100.00%

60%

5

100.00%

80%

6 or more

100.00%

100%

Note : If the Plan provides for Nonelective Employer Contributions and the schedule elected in Subsection 1.16(c)(1) is more favorable in all cases than the
schedule elected in Subsection 1.22(c) above, then the schedule in Subsection 1.16(c)(1) shall continue to apply even in Plan Years in which the Plan is a
“top-heavy plan”.
1.23
q

1.24

CORRECTION TO MEET 415 REQUIREMENTS UNDER MULTIPLE DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS
Other Order for Limiting Annual Additions − If the Employer maintains other defined contribution plans, annual additions to a
Participant’s Account shall be limited as provided in Section 6.12 of the Basic Plan Document to meet the requirements of Code
Section 415, unless the Employer elects this Option and completes the 415 Correction Addendum describing the order in which annual
additions shall be limited among the plans.
INVESTMENT DIRECTION

Investment Directions − Subject to Section 8.03 of the Basic Plan Document, Participant Accounts shall be invested (check one):
(a) q

in accordance with the investment directions provided to the Trustee by the Employer for allocating all Participant Accounts among
the Options listed in the Service Agreement.

(b) þ

in accordance with the investment directions provided to the Trustee by each Participant for allocating his entire Account among the
Options listed in the Service Agreement, except, in the event the Employer contributes shares of Employer Stock, as defined in
Section 20.12 of the Basic Plan Document, the Participant’s election shall be subject to the provisions of (b)(1) and/or (2), as elected:

(1)

q

Nonelective Employer Contributions shall remain invested in Employer Stock until the Participant who receives an
allocation of such contribution elects to invest amounts attributable to such contribution in another available
investment option.

(2)

q

Matching Employer Contributions shall remain invested in Employer Stock until the Participant who receives an
allocation of such contribution elects to invest amounts attributable to such contribution in another available
investment option.

(c) q

in accordance with the investment directions provided to the Trustee by each Participant for all contribution sources in his Account,
except that the following sources shall be invested in accordance with the investment directions provided by the Employer (check (1)
and/or (2)):

(1)

q

Nonelective Employer Contributions
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(2)

q

Matching Employer Contributions

The Employer must direct the applicable sources among the investment options listed in the Service Agreement.
Note : If the Employer directs that a portion or all of the applicable sources be invested in Employer Stock, such investment must be discontinued with respect
to any Participant who has completed three or more years of Vesting Service, and investment of the applicable sources must be diversified among the other
investment options listed in the Service Agreement.
1.25

ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS

The Employer may elect Option (a) below and complete the Additional Provisions Addendum to describe provisions which cannot be shown by making the
elections provided in this Adoption Agreement.
(a) q

1.26

The Employer has completed Additional Provisions Addendum to show the provisions of the Plan which supplement and/or alter
provisions of this Adoption Agreement.
SUPERSED1NG PROVISIONS

The Employer may elect Option (a) below and complete the Superseding Provisions Addendum to describe overriding provisions which cannot be shown
by making the elections provided in this Adoption Agreement.
(a) q

The Employer has completed Superseding Provisions Addendum to show the provisions of the Plan which supersede provisions of
this Adoption Agreement and/or the Basic Plan Document.

Note: If the Employer elects superseding provisions in Option (a) above, the Employer may not be permitted to rely on the Volume Submitter Sponsor’s
advisory letter for qualification of its Plan and may be required to apply for a determination letter as described in Section 1.27 below. In addition, such
superseding provisions may in certain circumstances affect the Plan’s status as a pre-approved volume submitter plan eligible for the 6-year remedial
amendment cycle.
1.27

RELIANCE ON ADVISORY LETTER

An adopting Employer may rely on an advisory letter issued by the Internal Revenue Service as evidence that this Plan is qualified under Code Section 401
only to the extent provided in Section 19.02 of Revenue Procedure 2005-16. The Employer may not rely on the advisory letter in certain other circumstances
or with respect to certain qualification requirements, which are specified in the advisory letter issued with respect to this Plan and in Section 19.03 of Revenue
Procedure 2005-16. In order to have reliance in such circumstances or with respect to such qualification requirements, application for a determination letter
must be made to Employee Plans Determinations of the Internal Revenue Service.
Failure to properly complete the Adoption Agreement and failure to operate the Plan in accordance with the terms of the Plan document may result in
disqualification of the Plan.
This Adoption Agreement may be used only in conjunction with Fidelity Basic Plan Document No. 14. The Volume Submitter Sponsor shall inform the
adopting Employer of any amendments made to the Plan or of the discontinuance or abandonment of the volume submitter plan document.
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1.28

ELECTRONIC SIGNATURE AND RECORDS

This Adoption Agreement, and any amendment thereto, may be executed or affirmed by an electronic signature or electronic record permitted under
applicable law or regulation, provided the type or method of electronic signature or electronic record is acceptable to the Trustee.
1.29

VOLUME SUBMITTER INFORMATION

Name of Volume Submitter Sponsor:
Address of Volume Submitter Sponsor:

Fidelity Management & Research Company
82 Devonshire Street

Boston, MA 02109
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EXECUTION PAGE
(Employer’s Copy)
The Fidelity Basic Plan Document No. 14 and the accompanying Adoption Agreement together comprise the Volume Submitter Defined Contribution Plan. It
is the responsibility of the adopting Employer to review this volume submitter plan document with its legal counsel to ensure that the volume submitter plan is
suitable for the Employer and that Adoption Agreement has been properly completed prior to signing.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Employer has caused this Adoption Agreement to be executed this 6th day of August, 2009.
Employer:

Celera Corporation

By:

/s/ William F. Wourms

Title:

Director, Compensation & Benefits

Note: Only one authorized signature is required to execute this Adoption Agreement unless the Employer’s corporate policy mandates two authorized
signatures.
Employer:

Celera Corporation

By:

/s/ Paul Arata

Title:

VP, HR & Administration

Accepted by: Fidelity Management Trust Company, as Trustee
By:

/s/ Phyllis Buckley

Title:

Authorized Signatory
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EXECUTION PAGE

(Trustee’s Copy)

The Fidelity Basic Plan Document No. 14 and the accompanying Adoption Agreement together comprise the Volume Submitter Defined Contribution Plan. It
is the responsibility of the adopting Employer to review this volume submitter plan document with its legal counsel to ensure that the volume submitter plan is
suitable for the Employer and that Adoption Agreement has been properly completed prior to signing.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Employer has caused this Adoption Agreement to be executed this 6 th day of August, 2009.
Employer:

Celera Corporation

By:

/s/ William F. Wourms

Title:

Director, Compensation & Benefits

Note : Only one authorized signature is required to execute this Adoption Agreement unless the Employer’s corporate policy mandates two authorized
signatures.
Employer:

Celera Corporation

By:

/s/ Paul Arata

Title:

VP, HR & Administration

Accepted by: Fidelity Management Trust Company, as Trustee
By:

/s/ Phyllis Buckley

Title:

Authorized Signatory
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PARTICIPATING EMPLOYERS ADDENDUM
for

me: Celera 401(k) Plan
(a)

q

Only the following Related Employers (as defined in Subsection 2.01(ss) of the Basic Plan Document) participate in the Plan (list each
participating Related Employer and its Employer Tax Identification Number):

Berkeley HeartLab, Inc., 33-0685751
(b)

þ All Related Employer(s) as defined in Subsection 2.01(ss) of the Basic Plan Document participate in the Plan.
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IN-SERVICE WITHDRAWALS ADDENDUM
for

me: Calera 401(k) Plan
(1)

Restrictions on In-Service Withdrawals of Amounts Held for Specified Period − The following restrictions apply to in-service
withdrawals made in accordance with Subsection 1.19(d)(1)(A) (cannot include any mandatory suspension of contributions
restriction):

________________________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________________________
(a)

Restrictions on In-Service Withdrawals Because of Participation in Plan for 60 or More Months − The following restrictions apply
to in-service withdrawals made in accordance with Subsection 1.19(d)(1)(B) (cannot include any mandatory suspension of
contributions restriction):

________________________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________________________
(b)

þ

Sources Available for In-Service Hardship Withdrawal − In-service hardship withdrawals are permitted from the sub-accounts specified
below, subject to the conditions applicable to hardship withdrawals under Section 10.05 of the Basic Plan Document:

Deferral Contributions and vested amounts from the following sub-accounts:
Match
Prior BHL Match.
(c)

þ

Other In-Service Withdrawal Provisions − In-service withdrawals from a Participant’s Accounts specified below shall be available to
Participants who satisfy the requirements also specified below:

Disability triggers the availability of an in-service withdrawal. For this purpose only, disability means the Participant, because of a physical or mental
disability, will be unable to perform the duties of his/her customary position of employment (or is unable to engage in any substantial gainful activity) for an
indefinite period which the Plan Administrator considers will be of long continued duration. A Participant also is disabled if he/she incurs the permanent loss
or loss of use of a member or function of the body, or is permanently disfigured, and incurs a Separation from Service. Employee Deferral Contributions,
Qualified Nonelective Employer Contributions (if applicable), Qualified Matching Employer Contributions (if applicable), Safe Harbor Contributions (if
applicable), Nonelective Employer Contributions (if applicable) and Matching Employer Contributions of money are available for this in-service withdrawal.
(1)

q

The following restrictions apply to a Participant’s Account following an in-service withdrawal made pursuant to (d) above (cannot
include any mandatory suspension of contributions restriction):

________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
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VESTING SCHEDULE ADDENDUM
for

me: Celera 401(k) Plan
(a)

(1)

q

Pre-EGTRRA Vesting Schedule Applies to Matching Employer Contributions made for Plan Years beginning before the EGTRRA
Effective Date
The following vesting schedule applies to Matching Employer Contributions made for Plan Years beginning before the EGTRRA
effective date specified in (a)(2) below:

Years of Vesting Service

(2)

Vested Interest

The EGTRRA effective date is: ______________
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(b)

þ Preserve Prior Vesting Schedule
A vesting schedule different from the vesting schedule selected in Section 1.16 applies to the Participants and contributions described
below.

(1)

The following vesting schedule applies to the class of Participants described in (b)(1)(B) and the contributions described in (b)(1)(C)
below:

(A)

Years of Vesting Service

Vested Interest

0

100

1

100

2

100

3

100

4

100

5

100

6

100

7

100

(B)

The vesting schedule specified in (b)(1)(A) above applies to the following class of Participants:

Berkeley HeartLab, Inc. 401(k) Plan participants with match assets transferred as of 01/01/2009
(C)
Prior BHL Match

The vesting schedule specified in (b)(1)(A) above applies to the following contributions:
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EFFECTIVE DATES FOR INTERIM LEGAL COMPLIANCE SNAP OFF ADDENDUM
for

me: Celera 401(k) Plan
Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary, to comply with changes required by the Economic Growth and Tax Relief Reconciliation
Act of 2001 (“EGTRRA”), Treasury regulations under Code Section 401(a)(9) (“401(a)(9) Regulations”), final Treasury regulations under Code Section
401(k) (“final 401(k) Regulations”), and final Treasury regulations under Code Section 401(m) (“final 401(m) Regulations”), the following provisions
shall apply effective as of the dates set forth below:
EGTRRA Compliance − Unless a later date is specified below, the following changes for compliance with EGTRRA were effective as
of the first day of the first Plan Year beginning on or after January 1, 2002:

(a)

(1)

Code Section 401(a)(17) Compensation Limit − The dollar limitation on compensation used to calculate contributions, apply the
limitations in effect under Code Section 415, apply the ADP and ACP tests, and apply the top-heavy rules was increased to $200,000,
as adjusted.

(2)

þ

Catch-Up Contributions − Unless a later date is specified below, the Plan was amended to provide for Catch-Up Contributions.

(A) þ

Later Effective Date . Catch-Up Contributions were permitted after the first day of the first Plan Year beginning on or after
1, 2002:

Later effective date: 07/03/2008 (month/day/year)
q

(B)

(3)

Discontinuation of Catch-Up Contributions. Catch-Up Contributions were discontinued effective as of:
(month/day/year)

Rollovers of After-Tax Contributions to the Plan − Unless otherwise specified below, the Plan accepted direct rollovers of after-tax
employee contributions from plans qualified under Code Section 401(a).

(A) q

Rollovers of After-Tax Contributions Never Permitted . The Plan has never accepted direct rollovers of after-tax em
contributions.

(B) q

Later Effective Date. The Plan did not accept direct rollovers of after-tax employee contributions until a date later than the f
of the first Plan Year beginning on or after January 1, 2002:
Effective Date:

(C) q

(4)

(month/day/year)

Discontinuation of After-Tax Rollovers. The Plan ceased to accept direct rollovers of after-tax employee contributions effe
of:
(month/day/year)
Rollovers from Other Eligible Retirement Plans − Unless otherwise specified below, in addition to accepting Rollover
Contributions from plans qualified under Code Section 401(a) or 403(a), the Plan was amended to accept Rollover Contributions from
annuity contracts described in Code Section 403(b) (excluding after-tax employee contributions), eligible plans under Code Section
457(b) maintained by a state, political subdivision of a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or political subdivision of a
state, and individual retirement accounts or annuities described in Code Section 408(a) or 408(b).

(A) q

Effective Date:

The Plan did not accept Rollover Contributions from annuity contracts described in Code Section 403(b) (excluding a
employee contributions) until a date later than the first day of the first Plan Year beginning on or after January 1, 2002:
(month/day/year) (cannot be later than the date the Plan was restated onto a Fidelity Prototype or Volume Submitter)
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(B) q

Effective Date:
(C) q

Effective Date:

The Plan did not accept Rollover Contributions from an eligible plans under Code Section 457(b) maintained by a state, p
subdivision of a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or political subdivision of a state until a date later than the firs
the first Plan Year beginning on or after January 1, 2002;
(month/day/year) (cannot be later than the date the Plan was restated onto a Fidelity Prototype or Volume Submitter)

The Plan did not accept Rollover Contributions from individual retirement accounts or annuities described in Code Section 40
408(b) until a date later than the first day of the first Plan Year beginning on or after January 1, 2002:
(month/day/year) (cannot be later than the date the Plan was restated onto a Fidelity Prototype or Volume Submitter)

(5)

Multiple Use Test − To the extent applicable, the provisions of the Plan proscribing multiple use of the alternative limitations under
Code Sections 401(k)(3)(A)(ii)(II) and 401(m)(2)(A)(ii), as provided in Treasury Regulations Section 1.401(m)-2, were deleted.

(6)

415 Limitations − The Plan was amended to reflect the Code Section 415 limitations in effect under EGTRRA, as described in
Section 6.12 of the Basic Plan Document.

(7) q

(A) q

Vesting of Matching Employer Contributions − Except as otherwise specified below, the Plan was amended to change the vesting
schedule applicable to Matching Employer Contributions to comply with EGTRRA for Participants who complete an Hour of Service
on or after the effective date. Unless otherwise elected below, the amended vesting schedule applies to all accrued benefits derived
from Matching Employer Contributions.

Delayed Effective Date for Bargained Plan . The Plan was maintained pursuant to one or more collective bargaining agre
ratified by June 1, 2001 and the effective date of the revised vesting schedule was later than the first day of the first Pla
beginning on or after January 1, 2002:

Effective Date:
(month/day/year) (cannot be later than the earlier of (i) January 1, 2006 or (ii) the later of the date on which the last of the
collective bargaining agreements described above terminates (without regard to any extension on or after June 1, 2001) or January 1, 2002)
(B) q

Grandfathered Application of Prior Vesting Schedule . The vesting schedule in effect before the amendment continues to a
the portion of a Participant’s accrued benefit derived from Matching Employer Contributions made to the Plan for a Pla
beginning before the effective date.

(8)

Loans by Owner-Employees and Shareholder-Employees − If the Plan provided for loans to Participants from Plan assets, the Plan
was amended to eliminate the restriction on loans to owner-employees, as defined in Code Section 401(c)(3), and shareholderemployees, as defined in ERISA Section 408(d)(3).

(9)

Hardship Withdrawals - Suspension of Contributions − Except as otherwise specified below, if the Plan provided for hardship
withdrawals in accordance with the safe harbor in Treasury Regulations Section 1.401(k)-1(d)(2)(iv)(B), the Plan was amended to
change the suspension period applicable to elective contributions and employee contributions from 12 months to 6 months.

(A) q

Effective Date:

Delayed Effective Date. The change in the suspension period was effective later than the first day of the first Plan Year begin
or after January 1, 2002:
(month/day/year) (cannot be later than the date the Plan was restated onto a Fidelity Prototype or Volume Submitter)
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(10)

Hardship Withdrawals - Elimination of Reduction in 402(g) Limit − Except as otherwise specified below, if the Plan provided for
hardship withdrawals in accordance with the safe harbor in Treasury Regulations Section 1.401(k)-1(d)(2)(iv)(B), the Plan was
amended to eliminate the reduction in the Code Section 402(g) limit for calendar years beginning on and after January 1, 2002 with
respect to Participants receiving a hardship withdrawal on or after January 1, 2001.

(A) q

Delayed Effective Date. The reduction in the 402(g) limit was eliminated for calendar years beginning on and after January 1
(cannot be later than the year following the date the Plan was restated onto a Fidelity Prototype or Volume Submitter) with
to Participants receiving a hardship withdrawal on or after January 1st of the year prior to the year indicated in this Subsection
(A).
þ

(11)

Distribution Upon Severance from Employment − The Plan was amended to permit distribution of Deferral Contributions,
Qualified Nonelective Contributions, Qualified Matching Contributions, 401(k) Safe Harbor Matching Employer
Contributions, and 401(k) Safe Harbor Nonelective Employer Contributions upon a Participant’s severance from employment
rather than requiring a separation from service.

(A) þ

Delayed Effective Date . Distribution upon severance from employment was not permitted until after the first day of the fi
Year beginning on or after January 1, 2002:

Effective Date: 07/03/2008 (month/day/year)
(B) q

Limitation on Rule . Distribution upon severance from employment was effective only for severances occurring
______________ (month/day/year)

(12)

Rollovers Out of the Plan − The Plan was amended to permit direct rollovers of “eligible rollover distributions” (as defined in
Subsection 13.04(c) of the Basic Plan Document) from the Plan by the Participant, the Participant’s surviving spouse, or the
Participant’s spouse or former spouse who is the alternate payee under a qualified domestic relations order to any “eligible retirement
plan” (as defined in Subsection 13.04(b) of the Basic Plan Document).

(13)

Top-Heavy Modifications − The Plan was amended to comply the top-heavy provisions with EGTRRA by: (i) modifying the
definition of “key employee” as provided in Subsection 15.01(d) of the Basic Plan Document, (ii) including for purposes of the topheavy determination any distribution made to an employee on account of severance from employment, death, disability, or termination
of a plan during the one-year period ending on the “determination date”, as defined in Subsection 15.01(a) of the Basic Plan
Document, and any other distribution made during the five-year period ending on the “determination date”, (iii) excluding for
purposes of the top-heavy determination the accrued benefits and accounts of any individual who has not performed services for the 1year period ending on the “determination date”, (iv) permitting matching contributions to be taken into account for purposes of
satisfying the top-heavy minimum contribution requirement, and (v) providing that the top-heavy provisions are inapplicable for years
in which a plan consists solely of a cash or deferred arrangement that meets the requirements of Code Section 401(k)(12) and, if
applicable, matching contributions with respect to which the requirements of Code Section 401(m)(11) are met.

(14)

q

Disregard Rollovers in Applying Cashout Rules − The Plan was amended to exclude Rollover Contributions in determining
whether a Participant’s Account exceeded the cashout limit specified in the Plan.

(A) q

Effective Date:

Delayed Effective Date . Rollover Contributions were not excluded for cashout purposes until after the first day of the first Pl
beginning on or after January 1, 2002:
(month/day/year)
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(B)

Rollover Contributions Included in Applying Cashout Rules. The Plan was further amended to include Rollover Contributions in
determining whether a Participant’s Account exceeded the cashout limit specified in the Plan as of the date specified below:

Effective Date:

(month/day/year) (cannot be later than the date the Plan was restated onto a Fidelity Prototype or Volume Submitter)

401(a)(9) Regulations Compliance − The Plan was amended to comply with 401(a)(9) Regulations as follows:

(b)

þ

(1)

Compliance with Proposed Regulations. The Plan was amended to apply the minimum distribution requirements of Code Section
401(a)(9) in accordance with the regulations under Code Section 401(a)(9) that were proposed in January 2001 with respect to
distributions made for the following calendar years:

(A)

q

2001 calendar year.

(B)

þ

2002 calendar year.

(2)

Compliance with Final Regulations. Except as otherwise specified below, the Plan was amended to apply the minimum distribution
requirements of Code Section 401(a)(9) in accordance with the final regulations under Code Section 401(a)(9) that were published in
April 2002 with respect to distributions made for calendar years beginning on or after January 2003.

(A) q

Earlier Effective Date. Distributions were made in accordance with the final regulations for calendar years beginning on
January 1, 2002.
Automatic Rollover Compliance − Except as otherwise specified below, if the Plan provided for cash outs of small benefits, effective
as of March 28, 2005, the Plan was amended to comply with the automatic rollover rules of EGTRRA by reducing the cashout limit
applicable to Participants to $1,000:

(c)

q

(1)
(A) q

Instead of reducing the cashout limit, the Plan was amended to provide that mandatory distributions greater than $1,000 would be
rolled over directly to an individual retirement plan designated by the Administrator.
The Plan was subsequently amended, as of the date specified below, to reduce the cashout limit to $1,000:

Effective Date:

(month/day/year)

Final 401(k) and 401(m) Regulations Compliance − Unless a different date is specified below, the following changes for compliance
with the final 401(k) and final 401(m) Regulations were effective as of the first day of the first Plan Year beginning on or after
January 1, 2006:

(d)

q

(1)

Earlier Effective Date. The Plan was amended to comply with the final 401(k) and final 401(m) Regulations effective as of the first
day of the following Plan Year:
(cannot be later than the 2006 Plan Year)

Note : If an earlier Plan Year is selected above, it must have ended after December 29, 2004 and the Plan must have been operated in compliance with the
final 401(k) and final 401(m) Regulations for the full Plan Year and all subsequent Plan Years.
(2)

Qualified Nonelective Contributions. Unless a later date is specified below, if the Plan provided for Qualified Nonelective
Contributions (“QNECs”) to be allocated pursuant to a “bottoms up” or other formula that could violate the requirements of Treasury
Regulations Section 1.401(k)-2(a)(6)(iv) or 1.401(m)-2(a)(6)(v) (excluding disproportionate QNECs in applying the ADP and ACP
tests), the QNEC allocation formula was amended to comply with such regulations.

(A) q

Later Effective Date. The QNEC allocation formula was amended after the general effective date for compliance
with the final 401(k) and final 401(m) Regulations described above.

Plan Number 83041
The CORPORATEpIan for RetirementsSM
Volume Submitter Defined Contribution Plan

© 2008 FMR Corp.
All rights reserved.
38

83041-1244562461

Effective Date:

(month/day/year) (cannot be later than the date the Plan was restated onto a Fidelity Prototype or Volume Submitter)

(3)

Gap Period Income . If not previously provided under the Plan, the Plan was amended to provide that for purposes of corrective
distributions of “excess deferrals”, “excess contributions”, and “excess aggregate contributions”, income and loss on such amounts
would be calculated for the gap period between the end of the “determination year” and the date of distribution.

(4)

Hardship Withdrawal Events . Unless a later date is specified below, if the Plan provided for hardship withdrawals upon the
occurrence of a deemed immediate and heavy financial need, as described in Treasury Regulations, the Plan was amended to add the
deemed needs described in Treasury Regulations Section 1.401(k)-1(d)(3)(iii)(B)(5) and (6) (funeral and casualty expenses).

(A) q

Later Effective Date. The additional deemed immediate and heavy financial needs were amended after the general effective
compliance with the final 401(k) and final 401(m) Regulations described above.

Effective Date:
q

(e)

(1)

(month/day/year) (cannot be later than the date the Plan was restated onto a Fidelity Prototype or Volume Submitter)
Roth 401(k) Contributions − Prior to the Adoption Agreement effective date specified in Subsection 1.01(g)(1), the Plan was amended to
provide for Roth 401(k) Contributions.
Effective Date . Unless a later effective date is specified below, Roth 401(k) Contributions were permitted beginning January 1, 2006.

(A)

Later effective date
q

(2)

q

(f)

Discontinuation of Roth 401(k) Contributions . Roth 401(k) Contributions were discontinued effective as of:
(month/day/year)

Rollovers of Roth 401(k) Contributions − Prior to the Adoption Agreement effective date specified in Subsection 1.01(g)(1), the Plan was
amended to permit rollovers of Roth Contributions into the Plan.
q

(1)

(A)

Direct Rollovers. Unless a later effective date is specified below, direct rollovers of Roth Contributions were permitted to be made
to the Plan from an applicable retirement plan described in Code Section 402A(e)(1), subject to Code Section 402(c),
beginning January 1, 2006.
Later effective date:

(B) q

(A)

(mon

Participant Rollovers. Unless a later effective date is specified below, “participant rollovers” of the taxable portion of a
distribution of Roth Contributions were permitted to be made to the Plan from an applicable retirement plan described in Code
Section 402A(e)(1). “Participant rollovers” are rollovers other than direct rollovers, as described in Code Section 401(a)(31).
Later effective date:

(B) q

(month/day/year) (cannot be prior to January 1, 2006)

Discontinuation of Direct Rollovers . Direct rollovers of Roth Contributions were discontinued effective as of:
year)
q

(2)

(month/day/year) (cannot be prior to January 1, 2006)

(month/day/year) (cannot be prior to January 1, 2006)

Discontinuation of Participant Rollovers . Direct rollovers of Roth Contributions were discontinued effective as of:
(month/day/year) (cannot be later than the date the Plan was restated onto a Fidelity Prototype or Volume Submitter)

Plan Number 83041
The CORPORATEpIan for RetirementsSM
Volume Submitter Defined Contribution Plan

© 2008 FMR Corp.
All rights reserved.
39

83041-1244562461

Exhibit 10.5
ADOPTION AGREEMENT
ARTICLE 1
NON-STANDARDIZED PROFIT SHARING/401(K) PLAN

1.01

PLAN INFORMATION
(g)

(1)

q

Plan Status (check appropriate box(es)):

New Plan Effective Date:

þ Amendment Effective Date: 1/1/2009

(2)
This is (check one):

þ an amendment and restatement of a Basic Plan Document No. 02 Adoption Agreement previously executed by

(A)

the Employer; or

q a conversion to a Basic Plan Document No. 02 Adoption Agreement.

(B)
The original effective date of the Plan:
(3)

q

(4)

q Special Effective Dates. Certain provisions of the Plan shall be effective as of a date other than the date specified above.

This is an amendment and restatement of the Plan and the Plan was not amended prior to the effective date specified in
Subsection 1.01(g)(2) above to comply with the requirements of the Acts specified in the Snap Off Addendum to
the Adoption Agreement. The provisions specified in the Snap Off Addendum are effective as of the dates specified
in the Snap Off Addendum, which dates may be prior to the Amendment Effective Date. Please read and complete,
if necessary, the Snap Off Addendum to the Adoption Agreement.

Please complete the Special Effective Dates Addendum to the Adoption Agreement indicating the affected
provisions and their effective dates.
(5)

þ Plan Merger Effective Dates. Certain plan(s) were merged into the Plan and certain provisions of the Plan are effective
with respect to the merged plan(s) as of a date other than the date specified above. Please complete the Special
Effective Dates Addendum to the Adoption Agreement indicating the plan(s) that have merged into the Plan and the
effective date(s) of such merger(s).
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1.02

EMPLOYER

(b)

The term “Employer” includes the following Related Employer(s) (as defined in Subsection 2.01(rr)) (list each participating
Related Employer and its Employer Tax Identification Number):

Employer:

Tax ID:

Berkeley HeartLab, Inc.

33-0685751
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1.05

COMPENSATION

Compensation for purposes of determining contributions shall be as defined in Section 5.02, modified as provided below.
(a)

Compensation Exclusions: Compensation shall exclude the item(s) listed below for purposes of determining Deferral Contributions,
Employee Contributions, if any, and Qualified Nonelective Employer Contributions, or, if Subsection 1.01(b)(3), Profit Sharing Only,
is selected, Nonelective Employer Contributions. Unless otherwise indicated in Subsection 1.05(b), these exclusions shall also apply
in determining all other Employer-provided contributions. (Check the appropriate box(es); Options (2), (3), (4), (5), and (6) may not
be elected with respect to Deferral Contributions if Option 1.10(a)(3), Safe Harbor Matching Employer Contributions, is checked):

(1)

q No exclusions.

(2)

q Overtime Pay.

(3)

þ Bonuses.

(4)

þ Commissions.

(5)

þ The value of a qualified or a non-qualified stock option granted to an Employee by the Employer to the extent such value
is includable in the Employee's taxable income.

(6)

þ Severance Pay.
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1.10

MATCHING EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS ( Only if Option 1.07(a), Deferral Contributions, is checked)
(a)

þ Basic Matching Employer Contributions (check one):
þ

(1)

Non-Discretionary Matching Employer Contributions - The Employer shall make a basic Matching Employer
Contribution on behalf of each Participant in an amount equal to the following percentage of a Participant's Deferral
Contributions during the Contribution Period (check (A) or (B) and, if applicable, (C)):

Note: Effective for Plan Years beginning on or after January 1, 1999, if the Employer elected Option 1.11(a)(3), Safe Harbor Formula, with respect to
Nonelective Employer Contributions and meets the requirements for deemed satisfaction of the "ADP" test in Section 6.10 for a Plan Year, the Plan will also
be deemed to satisfy the "ACP" test for such Plan Year with respect to Matching Employer Contributions if Matching Employer Contributions hereunder
meet the requirements in Section 6.11.
(A) þ
(B)

Single Percentage Match: 100%

q Tiered Match:

_____% of the first_____% of the Active Participant's Compensation contributed to the Plan,
_____% of the next _____% of the Active Participant's Compensation contributed to the Plan,
_____% of the next_____% of the Active Participant's Compensation contributed to the Plan.
Note: The percentages specified above for basic Matching Employer Contributions may not increase as the percentage of Compensation contributed
increases.
(C)
(i)

þ Limit on Non-Discretionary Matching Employer Contributions (check the appropriate box(es)):
þ Deferral Contributions in excess of 5% of the Participant's Compensation for the period in question
shall not be considered for non-discretionary Matching Employer Contributions.

Note: If the Employer elected a percentage limit in (i) above and requested the Trustee to account separately for matched and unmatched Deferral
Contributions made to the Plan, the non-discretionary Matching Employer Contributions allocated to each Participant must be computed, and the percentage
limit applied, based upon each payroll period.
(ii)
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1.13

RETIREMENT
(a)

The Normal Retirement Age under the Plan is (check one):

(1)

q age 65.

(2)

þ age 59.5 (specify between 55 and 64).

(3)

q later of age _____ (not to exceed 65) or the fifth anniversary of the Participant's Employment Commencement Date.
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1.14

DEFINITION OF DISABLED

A Participant is disabled if he/she (cheek the appropriate box(es)):
(a)

þ satisfies the requirements for benefits under the Employer's long-term disability plan.

(b)

þ satisfies the requirements for Social Security disability benefits.

(c)

þ is determined to be disabled by a physician approved by the Employer.
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1.15
(c)

VESTING

þ

A vesting schedule more favorable than the vesting schedule(s) selected above applies to certain Participants. Please complete
the Vesting Schedule Addendum to the Adoption Agreement.
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1.18
(d)

(1)
(A)

IN-SERVICE WITHDRAWALS

þ

Protected In-Service Withdrawal Provisions - Check if the Plan was converted by plan amendment or received transfer
contributions from another defined contribution plan, and benefits under the other defined contribution plan were payable as
(check the appropriate box(es)):

q an in-service withdrawal of vested employer contributions maintained in a Participant's Account (check (A) and/or (B)):
q for at least _____ (24 or more) months.
q

(i)

(B)

q after the Participant has at least 60 months of participation.
q

(i)

(2)

Special restrictions applied to such in-service withdrawals under the prior plan that the Employer
wishes to continue under the Plan as restated hereunder. Please complete the Protected InService Withdrawals Addendum to the Adoption Agreement identifying the restrictions.

Special restrictions applied to such in-service withdrawals under the prior plan that the Employer
wishes to continue under the Plan as restated hereunder. Please complete the Protected InService Withdrawals Addendum to the Adoption Agreement identifying the restrictions.

þ another in-service withdrawal option that is a "protected benefit" under Code Section 411(d)(6) or an in-service hardship
withdrawal option not otherwise described in Section 1.18(a). Please complete the Protected In-Service
Withdrawals Addendum to the Adoption Agreement identifying the in-service withdrawal option(s).
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AMENDMENT EXECUTION PAGE
This page is to be completed in the event the Employer modifies any prior election(s) or makes a new election(s) in this Adoption Agreement.
Attach the amended page(s) of the Adoption Agreement to this execution page.
The following section(s) of the Plan are hereby amended effective as of the date(s) set forth below:

Section Amended

Page

Effective Date

1.01(g)(5) & Special Effective Dates Addendum for Plan
Mergers

1 & 10

1/1/2009

1.02(b)

2

1/1/2009
1/1/2009

1.05(a)

3

1.10(a)(1)(C)(i)

4

1/1/2009

1.13(a)

5

1/1/2009

1.14

6

1/1/2009

1.15(c) & Vesting Addendum

7 & 12

1/1/2009

1.18(d) (2) & Protected In-Service Withdrawal Addendum

8 & 11

1/1/2009
1/1/2009

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Employer has caused this Amendment to be executed this 10th day of December, 2008.

Employer: Celera Corporation

Employer: Celera Corporation

By: /s/ Paul Arata

By: /s/ William F. Wourms
Title: Director Compensation & Benefits

Title: VP HR; Admin

Accepted by:
Fidelity Management Trust Company, as Trustee
By:
Title:

/s/ Michelle R. Muench

Date: 12-12-08

Authorized Signatory
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ADDENDUM
Re: SPECIAL EFFECTIVE DATES
for
Plan Name: Celera 401(k) Plan
(b)

þ

(1)

Plan Merger Effective Dates - The following plan(s) were merged into the Plan after the Effective Date indicated in Subsection 1.01(g)(1) or
(2), as applicable. The provisions of the Plan are effective with respect to the merged plan(s) as of the date(s) indicated below:
Name of merged plan: ______________________________________________

The Employee 401(k) Savings Plan of Applera Corporation
________________________________________________________________________
Effective Date:
(2)

7/3/2008
Name of merged plan: ______________________________________________

Berkeley HeartLab, Inc. 401(k) Plan
________________________________________________________________________
Effective Date:

1/1/2009

Plan Number: 83041
The CORPORATEplan for Retirement SM
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Non-Std PS Plan

ADDENDUM
Re: SPECIAL EFFECTIVE DATES
for
Plan Name: Celera 401(k) Plan
(d)

þ

Other In-Service Withdrawal Provisions - In-service withdrawals from a Participant's Accounts specified below shall be available to
Participants who satisfy the requirements also specified below:

Disability triggers the availability of an in-service withdrawal. For this purpose only, disability means the Participant, because of a physical or mental
disability, will be unable to perform the duties of his/her customary position of employment (or is unable to engage in any substantial gainful activity) for an
indefinite period which the Plan Administrator considers will be of long continued duration. A Participant also is disabled if he/she incurs the permanent loss
or loss of use of a member or function of the body, or is permanently disfigured, and incurs a Separation from Service. Employee Deferral Contributions,
Qualified Nonelective Employer Contributions (if applicable), Qualified Matching Employer Contributions (if applicable), Safe Harbor Contributions (if
applicable), Nonelective Employer Contributions (if applicable) and Matching Employer Contributions of money are available for this in-service withdrawal.
_______________________________________________________________________________
_______________________________________________________________________________
_______________________________________________________________________________
_______________________________________________________________________________
_______________________________________________________________________________

Plan Number: 83041
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ADDENDUM
Re: VESTING SCHEDULE
for
Plan Name:
(a)
(1)

Celera 401(k) Plan

More Favorable Vesting Schedule
The following vesting schedule applies to the class of Participants described in (a)(2) below:
Source: Prior BHL Match

(2)

Years of Service

Vesting Percent

Less than 1

100

1

100

The vesting schedule specified in (a)(1) above applies to the following class of Participants:

Berkeley HeartLab, Inc. 401(k) Plan participants with match assets transferred as of 01/01/2009

Plan Number: 83041
The CORPORATEplan for Retirement SM

© 2007 FMR Corp.
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Surya N. Mohapatra, certify that:

1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Quest Diagnostics Incorporated;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a.

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a.

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

April 27, 2012

By

/s/ Surya N. Mohapatra
Surya N. Mohapatra, Ph.D.
Chairman of the Board, President and
Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Robert A. Hagemann, certify that:

1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Quest Diagnostics Incorporated;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a.

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a.

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

April 27, 2012

By

/s/ Robert A. Hagemann
Robert A. Hagemann
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. § 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, the undersigned certifies that, to the best of my knowledge, the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31,
2012 of Quest Diagnostics Incorporated, as being filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission concurrently herewith, fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. § 78m or 78o(d)) and that the information contained in the
Quarterly Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Quest Diagnostics Incorporated.

Dated: April 27, 2012

/s/ Surya N. Mohapatra
Surya N. Mohapatra, Ph.D.
Chairman of the Board, President and
Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. § 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, the undersigned certifies that, to the best of my knowledge, the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31,
2012 of Quest Diagnostics Incorporated, as being filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission concurrently herewith, fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. § 78m or 78o(d)) and that the information contained in the
Quarterly Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Quest Diagnostics Incorporated.

Dated: April 27, 2012

/s/ Robert A. Hagemann
Robert A. Hagemann
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

